Geometric Symmetries and Topological Terms in F-theory and Field Theory

Andreas Kapfer



München, 25. August 2016

Geometric Symmetries and Topological Terms in F-theory and Field Theory

Andreas Kapfer

Dissertation an der Fakultät für Physik der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

> VORGELEGT VON ANDREAS KAPFER AUS WELDEN AM 25. AUGUST 2016

> > München, 2016

Erstgutachter: Prof. Dr. Dieter Lüst Zweitgutachter: PD Dr. Ralph Blumenhagen Abgabedatum: 25. August 2016 Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 6. Oktober 2016

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Die vorliegende Dissertation befasst sich mit topologischen Aspekten und arithmetischen Strukturen von Quantenfeldtheorie und String Theorie. Besonderes Augenmerk wird hierbei auf konsistente Trunkierungen von Supergravitation und Kompaktifizierungen von F-Theorie gelegt.

Der erste Teil behandelt die Brechung von Supersymmetrie in fünf Dimensionen. Wir konzentrieren uns hierbei auf den Übergang von $\mathcal{N} = 4$ auf $\mathcal{N} = 2$ in geeichter Supergravitation. Für bestimmte Klassen von einbettenden Tensoren sind wir in der Lage, die Theorie um das Vakuum zu großen Teilen zu analysieren. Es ist beachtlich, dass generisch Quantenkorrekturen zu Chern-Simons-Termen induziert werden, die unabhängig von der Skala der Supersymmetriebrechung sind. Wir untersuchen konkrete Beispiele konsistenter Trunkierungen von Supergravitation und M-Theorie, die diese Brechung von $\mathcal{N} = 4$ auf $\mathcal{N} = 2$ in fünf Dimensionen widerspiegeln. Insbesondere analysieren wir notwendige Bedingungen dafür, dass diese konsistenten Trunkierungen für phänomenologische Zwecke herangezogen werden können, indem wir fordern, dass sich die skaleninvarianten Korrekturen zu den Chern-Simons-Kopplungen konsistent verhalten.

Im zweiten Teil untersuchen wir Anomalien und große Eichtransformationen in kreisreduzierten Eichtheorien und F-Theorie. Wir setzen vier- und sechsdimensionale Eichtheorien mit gekoppelter Materie auf einen Kreis und klassifizieren alle großen Eichtransformationen, die die Randbedingungen der Materiefelder erhalten. Die Forderung, dass diese Abbildungen konsistent auf Quantenkorrekturen zu Chern-Simons-Kopplungen agieren sollen, liefert uns explizit alle höherdimensionalen Anomaliebedingungen. Bezogen auf Kompaktifizierungen von F-Theorie identifizieren wir die klassifizierten großen Eichtransformationen entlang des Kreises mit arithmetischen Strukturen auf elliptisch-gefaserten Calabi-Yau-Mannigfaltigkeiten über die duale Beschreibung mittels M-Theorie. Integrale Abelsche große Eichtransformationen entsprechen in der Tat freien Verschiebungen der Basis im Mordell-Weil-Gitter der rationalen Schnitte, während spezielle nicht-ganzzahlige nicht-Abelsche große Eichtransformationen zu torsionellen Verschiebungen in der Mordell-Weil-Gruppe gehören. Für ganzzahlige nicht-Abelsche große Eichtransformationen schlagen wir eine neue Gruppenstruktur auf aufgelösten elliptischen Faserungen vor. Auf dieselbe Weise bringen wir eine neuartige Gruppenopperation für Mehrfachschnitte auf Faserungen von Geschlecht Eins ohne echten Schnitt vor. Wir möchten betonen, dass diese arithmetischen Strukturen die Aufhebung aller Eichanomalien in F-Theorie-Kompaktifizierungen auf Calabi-Yau-Mannigfaltigkeiten sicherstellen.

Abstract

In this thesis we investigate topological aspects and arithmetic structures in quantum field theory and string theory. Particular focus is put on consistent truncations of supergravity and compactifications of F-theory.

The first part treats settings of supersymmetry breaking in five dimensions. We focus on an $\mathcal{N} = 4$ to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ breaking in gauged supergravity. For certain classes of embedding tensors we can analyze the theory around the vacuum to a great extent. Importantly, one-loop corrections to Chern-Simons terms are generically induced which are independent of the supersymmetry-breaking scale. We investigate concrete examples of consistent truncations of supergravity and M-theory which show this $\mathcal{N} = 4$ to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ breaking pattern in five dimensions. In particular, we analyze necessary conditions for these consistent truncations to be used as effective theories for phenomenology by demanding consistency of the scale-independent corrections to Chern-Simons couplings.

The second part is devoted to the study of anomalies and large gauge transformations in circle-reduced gauge theories and F-theory. We consider four- and sixdimensional matter-coupled gauge theories on the circle and classify all large gauge transformations that preserve the boundary conditions of the matter fields. Enforcing that they act consistently on one-loop Chern-Simons couplings in three and five dimensions explicitly yields all higher-dimensional gauge anomaly cancelation conditions. In the context of F-theory compactifications we identify the classified large gauge transformations along the circle with arithmetic structures on elliptically-fibered Calabi-Yau manifolds via the dual M-theory setting. Integer Abelian large gauge transformations correspond to free basis shifts in the Mordell-Weil lattice of rational sections while special fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations are matched to torsional shifts in the Mordell-Weil group. For integer non-Abelian large gauge transformations we suggest a new geometric group structure on resolved elliptic fibrations. In the same way we also propose a novel group operation for multi-sections in genus-one fibrations without a proper section. We stress that these arithmetic structures ensure the cancelation of all gauge anomalies in F-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau manifolds.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

A lot of people contributed in all kinds of different ways to support me in writing this thesis over the last three years.

First of all I am extremely grateful to Thomas Grimm who put confidence in my abilities and provided working conditions which could not have been any better. He was willing to discuss whenever I desired to, came up with projects and encouraged me to develop my own ideas. Besides his profound knowledge of the field he was also always listening carefully when I came up with a maybe contrary point of view.

Many thanks also to my official supervisor Dieter Lüst for gathering such a nice string theory group in Munich, which I'm very proud to have been part of.

I am grateful to my collaborators Denis Klevers and Severin Lüst, whom it was a pleasure to work with and learn from. Special thanks goes to Jan Keitel, who introduced me to SAGE, and from whose deep geometric knowledge (he would disclaim this characterization) I could always profit.

Many thanks to all (former) members of the *Grimm* group at the Max-Planck-Institut. Any single one of them helped me in solving problems more than once: Federico Bonetti, Pierre Corvilain, Sebastian Greiner, Kilian Mayer, Tom Pugh, Diego Regalado, Raffaele Savelli, Irene Valenzuela, Matthias Weissenbacher. Thanks to my office mate Michael Fuchs and the members of the other string theory group, especially Ralph Blumenhagen, Iñaki García Etxebarria, Daniela Herschmann, Rui Sun, Florian Wolf.

I'd like to express my deep gratitude to my family, who supported me from the start of my studies and took the load off me when needed.

Last but not least thanks to all of my friends, with whom I had a great time over the last three years, especially Antonia, Bob, Viki, Valle, Bärbel, Michi, Laura, Jana, Fabi, Julia, Leo, Matthle, Franzi, Peter, Dome, Alex, Maxl, Feldi, Kirsche, Anja, Mare, and also Alina, Friederike and Simone. "[...] Dann wurde ich Schall, und wer Schall wird, wird Welle. Ich wage zu behaupten: Wer weiß, wie es ist, eine Schallwelle zu sein, der ist den Geheimnissen des Universums schon ein gutes Stück nähergekommen. Und nun verstand ich es, das Geheimnis der Musik, ich verstand, warum sie allen anderen Künsten so turmhoch überlegen ist: Es ist ihre Körperlosigkeit. Wenn sie sich einmal von ihrem Instrument gelöst hat, dann gehört sie wieder ganz sich selbst, ist ein eigenständiges freies Geschöpf aus Schall, schwerelos, körperlos, vollkommen rein und in völligem Einklang mit dem Universum.[...]"

DIE STADT DER TRÄUMENDEN BÜCHER, W. MOERS (München, Piper)

Contents

4.4

Ι	In	troduction	15
1	Intr	oduction	17
	1.1	Towards a Final Theory	17
		1.1.1 Where We Stand	21
		1.1.2 Effective Theories	24
	1.2	The Framework of String Theory	25
		1.2.1 The Beginning	26
		1.2.2 The Two Superstring Revolutions	27
		1.2.3 The Different Branches Today	29
	1.3	Symmetries and Anomalies in Field Theory	31
		1.3.1 Global Symmetries vs. Gauge Symmetries	32
		1.3.2 Anomalies	33
	1.4	Outline of the Thesis	33
2	Pre	liminary Material	37
-	2.1	Recap of Anomalies in Quantum Field Theory	37
	$\frac{2.1}{2.2}$	One-Loop Chern-Simons Terms	41
		2.2.1 Three Dimensions	42
		2.2.2 Five Dimensions	44
II ca	P atior	artial Supersymmetry Breaking and Consistent Trun- ns	47
3	Ove	erview	49
4	Gaı	uged $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Supergravity in Five Dimensions and its Vacua	53
	4.1	Generalities	53
	4.2	Isolation of the Propagating Degrees of Freedom	57
	4.3	The Theory Around the Vacuum	60

63

5	Ger	eral Solution for Abelian Magnetic Gaugings	65
	5.1	Vacuum Conditions	65
	5.2	Tensorial Higgs and Super-Higgs Mechanism	66
	5.3	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ Mass Spectrum and Effective Action $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	70
		5.3.1 The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Spectrum	70
		5.3.2 General $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Action and Classical Matching	72
		5.3.3 One-loop Effects and Chern-Simons Terms	76
6	M- 7	$\Gamma heory on SU(2)-Structure Manifolds$	77
	6.1	Some Basics on $SU(2)$ -Structure Manifolds	77
	6.2	The Reduction Ansatz	78
	6.3	Dimensional Reduction of the Action	81
	6.4	Comparison with $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Supergravity	84
7	Par	tial Supergravity Breaking Applied to Consistent Truncations	87
	7.1	Quantum Effective Action of Consistent Truncations	87
	7.2	First Example: M-Theory on the Enriques Calabi-Yau	90
	7.3	Second Example: Type IIB Supergravity on a Squashed Sasaki-Einstein	
		Manifold	94
8	Ove	erview	101
9	Cire	cle Compactification of Gauge Theories	109
	9.1	General Setup	109
	9.2	Anomaly Cancelation	112
		0.2.1 Four Dimensions	
		9.2.1 Four Dimensions	112
	9.3	9.2.1 Four Dimensions	$\begin{array}{c} 112 \\ 115 \end{array}$
		9.2.1 Four Differsions	112 115 119
		9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	112 115 119 119
		9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	 112 115 119 119 122
10	Syn	9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	 112 115 119 119 122 127
10	Syn 10.1	9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions 0.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	112 115 119 119 122 127
10	Syn 10.1 10.2	9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	 112 115 119 119 122 127 127 130
10 11	Syn 10.1 10.2 The	9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions 0.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	112 115 119 122 127 127 130 137
10 11	Syn 10.1 10.2 The 11.1	9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions 0.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	112 115 119 122 127 127 130 137 137
10 11	Syn 10.1 10.2 The 11.1	9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions 0.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	112 115 119 122 127 127 130 137 137 138
10 11	Syn 10.1 10.2 The 11.1	9.2.1 Four Differsions 9.2.2 Six Dimensions 0.2.2 Six Dimensions Circle Compactification	112 115 119 122 127 127 130 137 137 138 142

CONTRACTO

		11.2.1 Fibering the Duality	145
	11.3	F-Theory and Elliptic Fibrations	147
		11.3.1 Gauge Symmetry, Matter and Yukawas	149
		11.3.2 The Topology of Elliptic Fibrations in F-Theory	152
12	Arit	hmetic Structures on Genus-One Fibrations	159
	12.1	Arithmetic Structures on Fibrations with Rational Sections	159
		12.1.1 On the Mordell-Weil Group and its Divisor Group Law	160
		12.1.2 The Free Part of the Mordell-Weil Group	161
		12.1.3 The Torsion Part of the Mordell-Weil Group	164
	12.2	Arithmetic Structures on Fibrations with Multi-Sections	165
		12.2.1 A Group Action for Fibrations with Multi-Sections	166
		12.2.2 The Generalized Shioda Map	171
	10.0	12.2.3 Extended Mordell-Weil Group and Large Gauge Transformations	173
	12.3	Arithmetic Structures on Fibrations with Exceptional Divisors	175
		12.3.1 A Group Action for Exceptional Divisors	175
		12.3.2 Arithmetic Group Structures from Higgs Transitions	178
13	The	Freedom of Picking the Zero-Section in F-Theory	183
IV	τ	Jnpublished Results and Ideas	187
14	Mor	e on the Arithmetic Structure of Genus-One Fibrations	189
	14.1	Constraints on the F-Theory Spectrum	189
	14.2	Towards a Graded Mordell-Weil Pseudo-Ring	191
15	Mor	e on Anomalies	195
	15.1	Gravitational Anomalies	195
	15.2	Chern-Simons Terms and Anomalies Revisited	196
\mathbf{V}	C	ondusions	100
v	U		199
16	Clos	sing Remarks and Future Directions	201
\mathbf{V}	I A	Appendices	205
۸	C		<u>م</u> ں ہ
\mathbf{A}	spac	cerime Conventions and Identifies	207
В	Deri	ivation of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Mass Terms and Couplings	209
	B.1	Fermion Masses	209
	B.2	Scalar Masses	211

\mathbf{C}	The Coset Representatives and Contracted Embedding Tensors for	r					
	SU(2)-Structure Manifolds	213					
	C.1 The Coset Representatives \mathcal{V}	213					
	C.2 The Contracted Embedding Tensors for Calabi-Yau Manifolds with $\chi = 0$) 215					
D	Comparison with Type IIA Supergravity on $SU(2)$ -Structure Mani-						
	folds	219					
\mathbf{E}	Lie Theory	221					
	E.1 Lie Theory Conventions	221					
	E.2 Trace Identities	222					
	E.2.1 Quadratic Trace Identities	222					
	E.2.2 Cubic Trace Identities	222					
	E.2.3 Quartic Trace Identities	226					
\mathbf{F}	Identities for Circle-Reduced Theories	233					
	F.1 One-Loop Chern-Simons Terms	233					
	F.1.1 Zeta Function Regularization	233					
	F.1.2 Three Dimensions	234					
	F.1.3 Five Dimensions	236					
	F.2 Coulomb Branch Identities	238					
	F.3 Large Gauge Transformations of Chern-Simons Terms	240					
G	Intersection Numbers	243					
н	Six-Dimensional Supermultiplets	245					

14

Part I Introduction

Chapter 1 Introduction

We start this thesis with a very general introduction which is directed mainly towards non-string theorists and at the beginning to some extent even towards non-physicists. In section 1.1 we review the general spirit of research in physics and the conceptually new approaches starting with the beginning of the 20th century. On our way we try to convey how a final theory could look like, and why physicists expect that there exists a unified description of all processes in nature. Our survey will be influenced by the historical proceedings as well as philosophical aspects. We also state the current status quo of high energy physics together with its open problems and possible resolutions. After that we aim to an understandable summary of what string theory is about in section 1.2. We put some emphasis on its original development, which was at first mainly influenced by considering string theory as a candidate for describing nature. However, we will also try to make clear that string theory is more than that. In particular, besides the question if it is the correct theory for the the world around us, it exists as an independent, presumably consistent framework which has influenced both mathematics and physics beyond its original scope. In this respect string theory is justified without reference to the outcome of any experiment. To proceed further, we find it useful to introduce the concept of symmetries and anomalies in quantum field theory for non-experts in section 1.3. These topics are very established in modern physics, and make up crucial parts of this thesis. In particular, we will explain why anomalies render a theory inconsistent. Finally, we provide an outline of this thesis in section 1.4. We shortly summarize the contents of the different parts there, and also state which kind of physical background is required for the understanding of the individual parts.

1.1 Towards a Final Theory

It seems to lie in our nature as human beings to be curios about the origin and the fate of the world we are living in. It is remarkable that we have always been asking questions and trying to get a picture of things which we are not directly confronted with in our everyday life. Where do we come from? Where do we go? What precisely is our world? These are aspects which have bothered people in the past and still haven't lost any of their fascination today. Already with the most primitive cultures there had come some kind of religious dogma to explain what had been in the beginning, how the world looks like from a distant point of view, and what will happen when it all ends. Indeed, it is a common ground of nearly all cultures to possess a myth of creation and an idea of the apocalypse.

While these two aspects had seemed to be far out of reach to be described via direct investigation, it has always been clear that at least some of the processes in nature follow certain rules. It is the subject of science to explain the latter based on a collection of fundamental principles which we would call a *theory*. When years passed by, bit by bit phenomena of nature got uncovered or even downgraded from divine events to ones that could be explained logically although sometimes the underlying principles, *i.e.* science itself, were considered to be God-given. However, the following categories had resisted a long time to be directly addressed by science (or still do):

1. Space and time

Is space just empty or is it made out of some kind of 'substance' (aether)?

Why are three spatial dimensions and one time dimension, or are there even more?

Is space curved, does it end somewhere, or is it infinite?

Is it just a static stage for physical processes, or is it dynamical?

2. The evolution of the universe

Does the universe have a beginning and an end in time?

If yes, how can they be described?

Do there even exist several universes?

3. The origin of matter

What are the fundamental building blocks of matter in nature? How can they be described?

Can matter be created, destroyed or converted?

4. The nature of forces and interactions

What is the origin of gravity? Which other forces do exist? How can they be described?

1.1. TOWARDS A FINAL THEORY

5. The origin of any theory or *the* final theory itself

Why do there exist things at all?

Where would a final theory come from, how is it 'selected' as *the* final theory?

It is the great achievement of the 20th century to directly accommodate for many questions in the (before inaccessible) categories 1-4, and it is the enormous task of the 21st century to reconcile 1-4 in one final theory. I for myself cannot imagine how one could ever approach point 5. Of course, as many others I am convinced that one can impose that a final theory should rely on simple principles, it should be aesthetically pleasing and maybe also unique concerning certain consistency conditions, *e.g.* as a consistent theory of quantum gravity. Although these guiding principles might lead us to finding the final theory in the end, they don't seem to explain the 'origin' of the latter. In contrast to mathematics, which exists as an abstract framework solely based on logic, physics is always subject to becoming reality.

Let us now start reviewing how a lot of the questions which we raised under the points 1-4 got answered in the 20th century. The first big step was taken in the year 1915 by Einstein and his theory of general relativity. It is fully justified to say that the latter is one of the greatest feats in science at all. Namely for the first time in history (apart from special relativity to some extent) a theory was proposed which made predictions about space and time itself. In particular, matter and energy were conjectured to act as a source for the latter. Furthermore gravitational interactions got explained as an effect of matter curving spacetime. Einstein's perception is fundamentally different from basically all theories which had been formulated before. Formerly space and time had been considered as some kind of unalterable stage on which physical processes take place. General relativity in contrast completely changed our picture in this respect. Even more, at the time when the theory was formulated no limitations of Newtonian gravity were known which could be resolved by general relativity. Therefore from a practical perspective a more fundamental theory for gravity was not desirable. However, general relativity came along with new predictions which were confirmed only afterwards thereby establishing it as a solid theory in physics. It is absolutely essential to comprehend the novelty of this approach: Before Einstein physics was done in such a way to consider phenomena which could not be explained by current concepts, and then propose a new theory which was able to explain these phenomena (perhaps in an aesthetically more pleasing way), and at best to predict new phenomena which serve as a test for the theory. Einstein simply omitted the first step and created a new theory out of his mind. This constitutes his outstanding achievement. Finally, it is worth pointing out that even another item in our list of topics was tackled by Einstein, namely for the first time a theory was able to make predictions about the origin and the future of the universe as a whole entity. This is clear since general relativity describes the dynamics of spacetime. Therefore, given the current status of the universe, one can (in principle at least) extrapolate the latter into the past and future using Einstein's field equations.

The second big revolution in physics of the 20th century took place with the arrival

of quantum mechanics and later quantum field theory, whose development took many centuries starting with the early experiments of Max Planck in the year 1900 until the formulation of the *Standard Model* of particle physics in the early 1970s.¹ Accordingly a lot of scientists have contributed to it over the years. Quantum mechanics first arose when scientists realized that at very tiny scales matter under some circumstances shows the behavior of particles and sometimes that of waves. This seemed to be an obvious contradiction to the at that time separated notions of particles on the one hand and waves on the other hand. Even more severe, it turned out that seemingly it was conceptually not possible to predict the exact result of the outcome of a single experiment but rather only the probability to obtain a certain result. This point of view was confirmed in all following experiments with no contradiction up to this day. Moreover, the beautiful mathematical structure of quantum states in an abstract, socalled Hilbert space was invoked in order to describe these processes and to calculate the probabilities. Loosely speaking, from that time on matter was understood as certain kind of waves, which in general 'contain' a superposition of many different possible values for observable quantities. When we carry out a measurement, we nevertheless obtain one unique value. As mentioned, only the probability of the outcome can be calculated exactly. The macroscopic, heuristic illustration of this quantum effect is for instance provided by the famous *Schrödinger's Cat* Gedankenexperiment. This is a (hopefully) fictional scenario where the outcome of an experiment at the quantum level 'decides' if a cat in a box gets killed by some kind of mechanism or not. The upshot is that the cat seems to be in a superposition of being alive and dead at the same time until one carries out a 'measurement' by opening the box and looking into it. Of course one should not take this illustration too seriously since the cat is far too big to be described by what physicists call a *coherent quantum state* for which our statements concerning superpositions hold. In classical physics, *i.e.* before the arrival of quantum mechanics, the situation was different: As soon as one knows all properties of a physical system at some point in time, one can (at least in principle) predict every measurement in the future because classical physics is deterministic. In quantum mechanics this is fundamentally different. Although in case you are given the abstract quantum state of a system at some point in time you can infer it for all other times, nevertheless the outcome of concrete measurements is only subject to probabilities.

In the further development quantum mechanics was then reconciled with special relativity. This resulted in the fascinating and powerful quantum theory of fields. Let us highlight some important aspects of this theory. Particles were defined in a very precise sense as certain quantum states associated to so-called field operators. The latter were even classified into different types according to their spacetime symmetry properties called *irreducible representations* of the *Poincaré group*. It was discovered

¹Of course this is just a landmark. Quantum field theory remains an active area of research today. There are many aspects which are still not settled yet, especially concerning strongly coupled field theories. Of course the same holds also true for general relativity, however, developing the foundations of the latter was a more confined process than in quantum field theory.

1.1. TOWARDS A FINAL THEORY

that for each particle there has to exist a partner called anti-particle and that particles can be created out of the vacuum, destroyed or converted. Interactions and forces (except for gravity) were nicely described by gauge theories, which are based on gauge symmetries as we will explain in subsection 1.3.1. To put it in a nutshell, quantum field theory has provided us with a very clear picture of what matter is, how it behaves and interacts. Note that quantum field theory was even able to predict new particles which were essential for keeping the theory consistent. Some of these were indeed discovered afterwards, like the famous Higgs boson.

Some people might call the third and last big step in the 20th century the development of string theory. However, in contrast to general relativity and quantum field theory, which both constitute extremely well tested theories with astonishing precise descriptions of nature, string theory is still a work in progress with not a single of its inherent predictions confirmed yet. Partly this is due to the fact that many predictions of string theory are made for scales which are hard to access for us. We will comment on what points in our list at the beginning of this section string theory can accommodate for, and how it can unify quantum field theory and general relativity in section 1.2. Before we do so it might be fruitful to review what the current accepted and tested status of physics is, and what the basic puzzles are that still remain.

1.1.1 Where We Stand...

In modern physics there are at the moment two in general accepted theories which describe nature to extremely high accuracy at the fundamental level: the Standard Model of particle physics (supplemented by neutrino masses) and the Λ CDM Model of cosmology. The Standard Model is based on quantum field theory while the ACDM Model is mainly characterized by general relativity. Before we explain these models in some detail, let us stress that up to now there exists no satisfactory theory which unifies both theories into a single framework although string theory seems to be a very promising candidate for achieving this. We will comment on the drawbacks of reconciling both theories in subsection 1.1.2. However, in most regimes of physical phenomena effects of either one or the other theory dominate. The Standard Model becomes important at small length scales, while the ACDM Model outweighs for settings with big masses. For example in particle colliders the length scales are usually very small and the masses also. That is why the effects of quantum field theory dominate over general relativity. In contrast, when one observes the behavior of stars and galaxies, the masses are quite high but the length scales are also very big. Therefore general relativity is trustworthy. However, there are settings where both theories become important but make contradicting predictions. This is the regime of the mysterious theory of quantum *qravity* with small length scales and big masses. For instance effects of quantum gravity should become important for the description of black holes or the Big Bang.

The Standard Model of particle physics describes all known interactions and forces (except for gravity), namely electromagnetism, the weak force and the strong force in



Figure 1.1: We list the field content of the *Standard Model*. Antiparticles are not listed. The picture is taken from *wikipedia.org*.

terms of so-called gauge theories. Gauge theories always come with a certain number of spin-one fields which are called gauge bosons. They mediate forces between matter fields. As already mentioned, gauge theories also have associated gauge symmetry groups, and in the case of the Standard Model these are given by

$$SU(3) \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y \to SU(3) \times U(1)_{\text{em}}$$
 (1.1)

The arrow indicates that the gauge group is spontaneously broken down to a subgroup. This is analogous to ferromagnetism for which the underlying theory is in principle invariant under rotations, but below a certain temperature the spins (or 'elementary magnets') all spontaneously align into one direction thus breaking the rotational invariance in this way. In the Standard Model a very similar effect is induced by the recently discovered Higgs field which mediates the symmetry breaking $SU(3) \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y \rightarrow SU(3) \times U(1)_{\rm em}$. In this way mass terms for the gauge bosons of the weak force, which are called W[±]- and Z-bosons, are induced. All other gauge bosons are massless, and for the strong force they are called gluons, and the one for electromagnetism is the well-known photon. The remaining fields of the theory have spin-¹/₂. These are called *leptons* and *quarks* and arrange in representations of the gauge groups, *i.e.* they in general carry charges under the gauge interactions. Their non-vanishing masses are also induced by the spontaneous symmetry breaking due to the Higgs field. We list the full field content of the Standard Model in Figure 1.1.

Let us now only shortly comment on the current widely accepted description of cosmology, the ACDM (Lambda cold dark matter) Model. It is based on the framework

1.1. TOWARDS A FINAL THEORY



Figure 1.2: We display the history of the universe according to current cosmological status. The picture is taken from *wikipedia.org*.

of general relativity with a small positive cosmological constant, *i.e.* positive energy density in the vacuum. According to this theory our universe was created in a Big Bang around 13.8 billion years ago. It is able to explain the formation of stars and galaxies as well as the cosmic microwave background. In recent years physicists in addition proposed an early era of cosmic inflation. According to the latter there should have existed an epoch of exponential expansion of the universe just in a tiny fraction of a second after the Big Bang. As we have already noted, string theory provides an attempt of reconciling the Standard Model with the Λ CDM Model. Indeed at the moment it becomes more and more attractive to try to realize the idea of inflation in string theory models. We depict the presumed history of the universe in Figure 1.2.

Apart from the issue of unifying both theories there are in addition several puzzles concerning fine-tuning which might have to be addressed. In the following we comment on what is called the *electroweak hierarchy problem* and the *cosmological constant problem*:

• The electroweak hierarchy problem states that in the framework of the Standard Model one would generically expect the Higgs mass to be much bigger than the observed value due to quantum corrections like the ones we describe in subsection 1.1.2. The fact that it is so small requires an unimaginable fine-tuning of parameters over many scales. Thus it is solely a problem of naturalness but no inconsistency of the theory in principle. However, by imposing a new symmetry called *supersymmetry* the measured value for the Higgs mass could lie in a range

which seems to be more natural.

• The cosmological constant problem is in a similar spirit. In fact, the cosmological constant is unnaturally small, and it is extremely hard to come up with extensions of our theories which render this smallness more natural.

For both of these puzzles there exists a possible philosophical resolution called the *anthropic principle*, which is widely discussed. It states that if the Higgs mass and the cosmological constant would acquire the more generic big values, life of any form in such a universe would not be possible. Therefore in this case observers which could measure these quantities could not exist. Finally, there are further issues like the abundance of *dark matter* or the *strong CP problem* for which there do not exist satisfactory explanations by current theories. However, we will not go into the details here.

1.1.2 Effective Theories

The notion of *effective field theory* in quantum field theory is of particular importance for this thesis since it appears in the context of consistent truncations in Part II and together with circle-compactified theories and F-theory in Part III. We therefore dedicate this subsection to a short introduction into the main ideas.

In principle one would naively expect a quantum field theory to be valid or even invariant at any energy scale. However, many quantities like the coupling constants to gauge interactions or the mass depend crucially on the energy scale. The extrapolation between the values for these objects at different scales is governed by the renormalization group flow. It can now happen that this procedure only yields good finite results as long as the energy is smaller than some maximal cut-off energy scale $E_{\rm max}$

$$E < E_{\max}, \qquad (1.2)$$

and breaks down as $E \to E_{\text{max}}$. This signals that the quantum field theory is only valid up to the scale E_{max} , and one calls it non-renormalizable. For energies above this bound there have to be new degrees of freedom which become relevant, *i.e.* massive fields which didn't play a role at energies far below E_{max} . The putative theory which includes also these degrees of freedom and is valid up to any energy scale is called an *ultraviolet completion*. The original theory is called an *effective theory* for the full, UVcomplete theory. Since fields which have masses higher than the cut-off scale E_{max} do not constitute relevant degrees of freedom for $E < E_{\text{max}}$, they can be removed from the description of the theory by a procedure which is called *integrating out*. Via this process one obtains an effective description of the light degrees of freedom with $E < E_{\text{max}}$. Note that in this so-obtained effective theory new couplings could have been generated or corrected. The latter usually scale with the energy and can therefore be neglected as one approaches $E \to 0$. In this thesis however we put special emphasis on corrections to Chern-Simons couplings in effective field theory. These have the crucial property of being *independent* of the mass scale and therefore have to be included at arbitrarily

1.2. THE FRAMEWORK OF STRING THEORY

low energies. For that reason they encode a lot of interesting physics as we will show in this thesis.

Let us give a nice historical example of a non-renormalizable effective theory which was first proposed and later the more fundamental theory was found. Indeed, in 1933 Fermi described the beta decay by directly coupling the involved matter fields to each other. This theory turned out to be non-renormalizable. Nevertheless much later when the more fundamental theory for the electroweak interactions was formulated, Fermi's theory could be understood in terms of an effective field theory with the massive gauge bosons integrated out. Put together, in the full theory massive gauge fields mediate the beta decay. By integrating them out a non-renormalizable coupling between the involved matter fields is generated.

We are now in a position to convey what goes wrong in trying to reconcile general relativity with quantum field theory. In fact, if we straightforwardly promote general relativity to a quantum field theory, we obtain a theory which is non-renormalizable. Therefore the latter can serve only as an effective theory which is valid at most up to the Planck scale around energies of 10^{19} GeV. At this scale we expect new degrees of freedom which guarantee a nice behavior in the ultraviolet. In string theory for instance these states are supposed to be provided by higher vibrational modes of the string.

Finally let us close by mentioning also a very important issue related to stronglycoupled quantum field theory. In order to evaluate certain processes for a given quantum field theory one usually uses the technique of perturbation theory. Loosely speaking this corresponds to making a Taylor expansion in the coupling constant. It is clear that this procedure breaks down if one reaches the regime of strong coupling. In this case the description of the theory in general changes completely in the sense that one has to work with different fundamental degrees of freedom. For instance the fundamental degrees of freedom of matter for the strong interactions at weak coupling are the quarks. However, as we move to low energies, the theory becomes strongly coupled. That is why in our world of small energy scales we only observe bound states of quarks, namely protons, neutrons, pions and so on. These constitute the appropriate degrees of freedom for strong coupling. Note that nevertheless the precise description of the strong interactions at strong coupling is still far from being well-understood.

1.2 The Framework of String Theory

"[...] From those incontrovertible premises, the librarian deduced that the Library is 'total'—perfect, complete, and whole—and that its bookshelves contain all possible combinations of the twenty-two orthographic symbols (a number which, though unimaginably vast, is not infinite)—that is, all that is able to be expressed, in every language. All—the detailed history of the future, the autobiographies of the archangels, the faithful catalog of the Library, thousands and thousands of false catalogs, the proof of the falsity of those false catalogs, a proof of the falsity of the true catalog, the gnostic gospel of Basilides, the commentary upon that gospel, the commentary on the commentary on that gospel, the

true story of your death, the translation of every book into every language, the interpolations of every book into all books, the treatise Bede could have written (but did not) on the mythology of the Saxon people, the lost books of Tacitus.

When it was announced that the Library contained all books, the first reaction was unbounded joy. All men felt themselves the possessors of an intact and secret treasure. There was no personal problem, no world problem, whose eloquent solution did not exist—somewhere in some hexagon. The universe was justified; the universe suddenly became congruent with the unlimited width and breadth of humankind's hope. At that period there was much talk of The Vindications—books of apologiæ and prophecies that would vindicate for all time the actions of every person in the universe and that held wondrous arcana for men's futures. Thousands of greedy individuals abandoned their sweet native hexagons and rushed downstairs, upstairs, spurred by the vain desire to find their Vindication. These pilgrims squabbled in the narrow corridors, muttered dark imprecations, strangled one another on the divine staircases, threw deceiving volumes down ventilation shafts, were themselves hurled to their deaths by men of distant regions. Others went insane.... The Vindications do exist (I have seen two of them, which refer to persons in the future, persons perhaps not imaginary), but those who went in quest of them failed to recall that the chance of a man's finding his own Vindication, or some perfidious version of his own, can be calculated to be zero.

At the same period there was also hope that the fundamental mysteries of mankind—the origin of the Library and of time—might be revealed. In all likelihood those profound mysteries can indeed be explained in words; if the language of the philosophers is not sufficient, then the multiform Library must surely have produced the extraordinary language that is required, together with the words and grammar of that language. For four centuries, men have been scouring the hexagons.... There are official searchers, the 'inquisitors'. I have seen them about their tasks: they arrive exhausted at some hexagon, they talk about a staircase that nearly killed them—some steps were missing—they speak with the librarian about galleries and staircases, and, once in a while, they take up the nearest book and leaf through it, searching for disgraceful or dishonorable words. Clearly, no one expects to discover anything [...]"

LA BIBLIOTECA DE BABEL, J. L. BORGES (transl. Andrew Hurley, New York, Penguin)

In this section we give a short overview over the various aspects of string theory. We do not go into detail here but rather aim towards a pedagogical introduction for non-string-theorists. Our treatment follows the historical development, starting with the attempt of describing the strong interactions via strings, over the first and second string revolution until today with the numerous different branches of string theory.

1.2.1 The Beginning

String theory was first considered in the late 1960s as an attempt to describe the strong interactions which was however abandoned in the 1970s in favor of quantum chromodynamics, an ordinary quantum field theory based on point particles. Luckily, shortly after that physicists got interested in what is now called bosonic string theory. While it is only a predecessor of the more advanced superstring theories which constitute the theories of interest today, it already showed many properties which excited people at that time and still do: String theory is about replacing point particles by extended onedimensional objects called strings, which can be either open or closed. These fields can vibrate, and different vibrational modes correspond to different particles, like the different vibrational modes of a violin generate different tones. Importantly, in the spectrum of vibrational modes there is always an excitation, which describes the fluctuation of a background spacetime metric. This was considered as a hint that string theory could be a candidate for a consistent theory of quantum gravity. Indeed, it is astonishing how string theory deals with the bad non-renormalizable infinities in quantum field theory associated to gravitational interactions. The extended nature of the string delocalizes interaction vertices, and the problematic ultraviolet regime is mapped by a so-called *duality* to the infrared regime which can be described easily. More precisely, this duality states that the physics of long strings at high energies is the same as the physics of short strings at low energies. Via a precise 'dictionary' these regimes can be mapped to each other. All these nice properties have already appeared in the early version of bosonic string theory. However, the latter suffers from a couple of important drawbacks which makes it impossible to consider it as a theory of the world around us. First, it cannot account for spacetime fermions, which are the fundamental building blocks of our world. Second, in the spectrum of the theory one finds tachyons, *i.e.* modes of imaginary mass. These signal an instability of the theory. While the tachyon in the sector of open strings is quite well understood (we are sitting at the maximum of a potential, and rolling down corresponds to so-called D-brane condensation), the implications of the tachyon in the closed string sector are not clear but might most certainly render spacetime itself unstable. Both issues, the presence of tachyons and the absence of spacetime fermions, soon got resolved by moving from bosonic string theory to superstring theory. By introducing a fermionic partner string for the bosonic string the theory acquires a new symmetry, namely two-dimensional supersymmetry. The latter is powerful enough to allow for stable solutions, and at the same time also leads to spacetime fermions, while keeping the nice properties in the ultraviolet regime. Indeed, it was found that there even exist five different superstring theories, which all require for consistency a total number of exactly ten spacetime dimensions. They are called type I, type IIA, type IIB, SO(32) heterotic and $E_8 \times E_8$ heterotic string theory.

1.2.2 The Two Superstring Revolutions

It was in the mid-1980s when several discoveries (now called the *first superstring revolution*), like for instance the anomaly cancelation of type I string theory via the Green-Schwarz mechanism, made physicists realize that superstring theories might be able to serve as fundamental theories of our world unifying quantum field theory and general relativity. The superfluous six dimensions out of the in total ten dimensions were argued to be very tiny in order to have escaped detection so far. Their description is captured by certain geometrical spaces which are solutions to the equations of motion of the theory. Importantly, much of the physics in the large four dimensions depends



Figure 1.3: We depict the famous M-theory star, which illustrates the unification of all five superstring theories and eleven-dimensional supergravity. These constitute certain limits of the still not very well understood framework of M-theory.

on the detailed shape of the six small dimensions. The process of rendering dimensions small is called compactification, and a big part of this thesis consists of considering the compactification of *F*-theory on Calabi-Yau manifolds to six and four large spacetime dimensions, respectively. We will have to say more about F-theory in a moment.

Another ten years later in the mid-1990s Edward Witten and Joseph Polchinski initiated the *second superstring revolution*. In fact, strong evidence was found that all five consistent superstring theories are linked together via dualities, and describe certain limits of a new conjectured eleven-dimensional theory, which Witten named M-theory, see Figure 1.3. Finally it was shown that string theories are not theories of strings only, but for consistency also have to allow for certain higher-dimensional, non-perturbative objects called branes.

In 1997 Juan Maldacena found the first concrete realization of the holographic principle in string theory, which in general conjectures that the properties of quantum gravity on some space is solely encoded by an ordinary quantum field theory on the lower-dimensional boundary of that space. Maldacena showed that the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory in four dimensions (which is a quantum field theory) is dual to type IIB string theory compactified on a five-sphere. The remaining five dimensions span a space of negative curvature called anti-de Sitter space. The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory is defined on the boundary of the latter.

One year before, in 1996, Cumrun Vafa and David Morrison formulated F-theory, which makes up a considerable part of this thesis. Let us therefore spend some time in order to heuristically describe some of its properties. We provide a much more detailed introduction in chapter 11. F-theory is a generalization of type IIB string theory. The latter possesses an inherent $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -symmetry which is also precisely the reparametrization symmetry of a two-dimensional torus. The idea of F-theory is to take this fact seriously, and extend the original ten spacetime dimensions to twelve by including an additional torus. Due to this property it is in F-theory even more crucial to analyze the compactification space in detail since most properties of physics in the remaining large dimensions can be directly read off from the geometry. In particular, the compactification spaces always have to include tori which in general collapse at some points. These encode gauge interactions and charged matter fields.

1.2.3 The Different Branches Today

We have seen that string theory, which had originally been developed to describe the strong interactions, turned out to be a much more powerful framework than anyone could have imagined. Indeed, today there exist many different areas and aspects of this field on which theorists work actively, most of them having application and impact also outside of string theory. The present subsection is meant as a short overview over the different branches of research within string theory. Note that we will not be able to do justice to all the branches but only focus on the most important ones. Moreover, we highlight their connection to quantum field theory and mathematics, which both profit a lot from developments in string theory, and conversely provide also crucial ingredients for the latter. The basic topics are also depicted in Figure 1.4.

The oldest branch is certainly the study of the fundamental aspects of string theory. It is however still one of the most mysterious and least understood ones despite the intriguing connections and hints that have been found. As already mentioned, starting with the second superstring revolution it became clear that all consistent five superstring theories are connected via (non-perturbative) dualities and constitute just different aspects of a more fundamental theory, namely M-theory. Nevertheless we still lack a full (non-perturbative) formulation of string theory or M-theory, respectively. There has been at least some progress in understanding the dynamics of the fundamental objects in M-theory, M2-branes and M5-branes. As we will explain in more detail in subsection 11.1.2, the former are described in the context of ABJM theory, but we still seem to scratch just the tip of the iceberg of the theories describing M5branes, namely the 6d(2,0) superconformal field theories. This is a nice example of how string theory broadened our knowledge of quantum field theory since interacting superconformal field theories in six dimensions were long thought not to exist. From a string theory perspective however they are expected to be present as the low-energy world-volume theories of multiple M5-branes. Furthermore, it is claimed that a certain class of F-theory compactifications exhausts the full class of consistent 6d(2,0) superconformal field theories. Apart from quantum field theory also for mathematics the fundamental aspects of string theory yield new inspirations and insights. For instance non-commutative and non-associative structures, which appear naturally in string the-



Figure 1.4: The different areas of string theory, quantum field theory and mathematics have strong influence on each other.

ory, opened up new branches in group theory. Moreover, in this thesis we conjecture new mathematical structures on genus-one curves from our intuition of F-theory.

Another active area of intense research is compactification of string theories and M-theory, respectively. Also the much of the original work of this thesis in Part II and Part III falls into this category. In general, compactifications to any number of remaining large spacetime dimensions are interesting on their own and offer new insights, also to quantum field theory and mathematics. However, the case of four non-compact spacetime dimensions is particularly important and investigated heavily since this is the number of (large) dimensions we observe in nature. Indeed, in the field of string phenomenology physicists try to reconcile the physics at the fundamental level of the world around us with string theory. This means that they in particular look for ways to realize the Standard Model of particle physics, which we introduced in subsection 1.1.1, as a string compactification to four spacetime dimensions. In the same way physicists also try to embed the Λ CDM Model and in particular also the concept of inflation into string theory. This branch is usually referred to as *string cosmology*. It is important to realize that the number of consistent string compactifications is unimaginably large. For this whole set people often use the term *string landscape*. There are some rough estimates on the size of the string landscape in the literature which are discussed heavily. The usual number of different vacua which people refer to is 10^{500} . Even if one does not believe in the quantity 10^{500} , it is unarguable that the number should be extremely big. At first it seems that we are in the same situation as the *inquisitors*, mentioned in the citation at the beginning of this section, looking for a needle in a haystack. But there are some important differences: The string landscape is certainly not *total* in the sense that every quantum field theory has a stringy realization, *i.e.* arises as a certain compactification of string theory. Nevertheless it seems hopeless to go on the quest for a compactification geometry which exactly yields the Standard Model and the ACDM Model with all their details. In contrast, what people do is trying to find out if general features of these models can in principle be realized in string theory. This means for instance: Is it possible to get the gauge group $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ in some way? Can the chiral spectrum and the observed mass hierarchies be generated? What are the restrictions on inflation in string theory? Luckily, many questions of this kind can be answered very generally in string theory. Thus the aim is not to obtain the exact values for couplings and masses, but it is rather about getting the big picture right. We now close our heuristic discussion of string theory and proceed with a general treatment concerning symmetries and anomalies.

1.3 Symmetries and Anomalies in Field Theory

The appearance of anomalies in quantum field theory makes up a crucial part of this thesis, especially in Part III. Therefore we heuristically discuss some basic background on symmetries in physics and quantum anomalies in general for the interested reader. We start with the introduction of global and local symmetries in subsection 1.3.1, and continue to explain in subsection 1.3.2 how the breakdown of symmetries under quantization leads to anomalies in quantum field theory. For a more advanced recap of the concept of anomalies we refer to section 2.1.

1.3.1 Global Symmetries vs. Gauge Symmetries

In physics the notion of a symmetry refers to transformations of the configuration space which map solutions of a particular theory again to solutions of the same theory. For instance consider the Poincaré group in the theory of electrodynamics. The continuous part of this group consists of translations in space and time, rotations in space and Lorentz boosts. Once we have found a solution in electrodynamics for some observer in spacetime, we can simply apply a Poincaré transformation and obtain in this way the solutions of the theory for all other observers related to the initial one by precisely this Poincaré transformation. Note that in contrast this does not work for observers with a relative acceleration, which are not related by Poincaré transformations.

The role of the Poincaré group in electrodynamics is an example of what one calls an invariance under a *global* symmetry group. We will find it important to distinguish between *global* and *gauge* (*local*) symmetries in this thesis (and also in general of course). Therefore let us explain the difference:

- For gauge symmetries the symmetry parameter, e.g. the rotation angle, is allowed to depend non-trivially on the spacetime coordinates. This implies that gauge symmetries only describe redundancies of the theory since certain 'degrees of freedom' can be removed by a gauge transformation. One can equally well describe the theory after getting rid of all redundancies, this is called gauge-fixing. However, from a technical and mathematical point of view it is often more appealing to keep them. In a strict sense gauge symmetries are not even 'symmetries' at all for precisely that reason. As we have already mentioned, the weak, strong and electromagnetic interactions are based on gauge symmetries and therefore called gauge theories.
- Global symmetries only allow for a symmetry parameter which is constant over spacetime. They cannot be used to remove degrees of freedom, that's why they constitute actual symmetries.

It is absolutely essential to keep in mind the fundamentally different natures of *global* and *gauge* symmetries. As we will explain in the next subsection, this difference renders a theory with an anomalous gauge symmetry inconsistent while anomalous global symmetries are in general not problematic. Finally, it is worth mentioning that it is believed that in a consistent full quantum gravity theory continuous global symmetries cannot exist, and all symmetries are gauge symmetries.

1.3.2 Anomalies

As already announced we now explain on a very basic level what quantum anomalies are, how they can arise, as well as their implications for a theory. Many quantum theories have an underlying classical theory, and the process of making the classical theory into a quantum theory is called quantization. It can happen that (global or gauge) symmetries break down under this quantization procedure, meaning that symmetries of the classical theory are not realized at the quantum level. In principle for global symmetries this constitutes no problem. On the one hand one might perhaps be interested in keeping certain global symmetries in the quantum theory, but inconsistencies of the theory itself do not arise. For gauge symmetries the situation is completely different. Since they parametrize only redundant, *i.e.* unphysical degrees of freedom in the theory, they should not disappear after quantization. In fact, an anomalous gauge symmetry renders the resulting quantum theory inconsistent. To put it in a nutshell, anomalies of global symmetries are in principle fine while gauge anomalies must always be canceled in order to retain a well-defined theory.

There are a lot of equivalent definitions of an anomaly. The most intuitive one on a basic level is the one just described. Note that there are also a lot of examples of theories which do not have an underlying classical description but are only defined at the quantum level. These can also suffer from quantum anomalies, however, at this heuristic stage we will not comment on such theories. Later in section 2.1 we introduce anomalies as non-conservation of certain currents, a definition which is independent of the existence of an underlying classical theory.

1.4 Outline of the Thesis

This thesis is divided into several different parts of which some can be read independently from each other. The introductory Part I is first in chapter 1 directed to readers without much background in string theory or quantum field theory. It conveys the general status of modern high energy physics as well as its historical origin and development. We give a short overview of the framework of string theory and its impact on other branches in mathematics and physics. Special emphasis is also put on effective field theories as well as the concept of anomalies in quantum field theory. Our aim is to put the work in this thesis in an understandable context for readers who are not experts in this field. Even non-physicists might be able to comprehend many of the points which are described in this chapter.

In the following chapter 2 we already require familiarity with quantum field theory at a very basic level. We review some important aspects and results which enter this thesis at several different stages. These are anomalies in quantum field theory in general, as well as Chern-Simons terms in three- and five-dimensional theories. Readers who are familiar with these concepts can safely skip this part or consult it if needed later.

The presentation of original results of this thesis starts in Part II. Fundamental

knowledge of supergravity is needed in order to understand this part. We investigate (partial) supersymmetry breaking of five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity, and in particular derive crucial properties of the effective theory around vacua with special emphasis on $\mathcal{N}=2$ vacua. Via a newly described tensorial Higgs mechanism tensors become massive by *eating up* a vector, similar to the Stückelberg mechanism. We fully analyze the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ effective theory for purely Abelian magnetic gaugings. The set of modes which become massive in this breaking procedure are shown to induce one-loop corrections to Chern-Simons terms which are independent of the supersymmetry breaking scale. We find concrete realizations of the breaking $\mathcal{N} = 4 \rightarrow \mathcal{N} = 2$ in consistent truncations of type IIB supergravity on five-dimensional (squashed) Sasaki-Einstein manifolds and M-theory on six-dimensional SU(2)-structure manifolds. The former truncation has already been described in the literature while the latter is derived here in detail. Exploiting the mentioned scale-invariant one-loop corrections we determine necessary conditions for consistent truncations to yield sensible effective theories. We test these constraints for our two examples of consistent truncations, and both times we obtain positive results. This part is based on the two publications [1,2]:

- T. W. Grimm, and A. Kapfer, "Self-Dual Tensors and Partial Supersymmetry Breaking in Five Dimensions," *JHEP* **1503** (2015) 008, 1402.3529
- T. W. Grimm, A. Kapfer, and S. Lüst, "Partial Supergravity Breaking and the Effective Action of Consistent Truncations," *JHEP* **1502** (2015) 093, 1409.0867

In Part III we present original work in the context of circle-reduced gauge theories and F-theory. At first in chapter 9 and chapter 10 we assume only basic knowledge of quantum field theory, and we already obtain interesting results in these chapters. In contrast, beginning with chapter 11 familiarity with string theory is essential. Note that the reader is not at all required to be an expert in F-theory since we give a short introduction into the relevant topics of this subject. We start Part III by reviewing the circle compactification of general four- and six-dimensional matter-coupled gauge theories along with the anomaly cancelation conditions of the uncompactified theories. Afterwards we classify large gauge transformations along the circle which preserve the boundary conditions of all matter fields. Exploiting these maps we describe a procedure to extract the higher-dimensional anomaly cancelation conditions from the reduced theories on the circle. In order to do so we evaluate the large gauge transformations on one-loop Chern-Simons terms, and demand that they have to act in a way which is consistent with quantization. This procedure yields all gauge anomaly cancelation conditions in four and six dimensions as well as the mixed gauge-gravitational anomalies in six dimensions. In the context of F-theory compactifications we derive a precise dictionary which matches our classification of large gauge transformations along the circle to arithmetic structures on genus-one fibrations. We also comment on the implications of different choices for the zero-section of F-theory compactifications, which is a related topic. Some of these arithmetic structures are well-known (e.g. the Mordell-Weil group of rational sections), others are conjectured in this work since they have not been described in the mathematical literature yet. We find further evidence for the existence of our newly derived arithmetic structures by considering concrete geometric examples. In particular we investigate how novel group structures arise in Higgs transitions as remnants of the familiar Mordell-Weil group structure. Importantly our findings establish the cancelation of gauge anomalies in Calabi-Yau compactifications of F-theory. The results of this part are published in [3,4]:

- T. W. Grimm, and A. Kapfer, "Anomaly Cancelation in Field Theory and F-theory on a Circle," *JHEP* **1605** (2016) 102, 1502.05398
- T. W. Grimm, A. Kapfer, and D. Klevers, "The Arithmetic of Elliptic Fibrations in Gauge Theories on a Circle," *JHEP* **1606** (2016) 112, 1510.04281

We stress that the two parts which contain the original work in this thesis, namely Part II and Part III, treat two in principle very different topics and can therefore be read completely independently from each other. The connecting piece is only the usage of one-loop Chern-Simons terms in order to probe topological properties of gauge theories (at least as our considerations are concerned). As mentioned before, a review of one-loop Chern-Simons terms is provided at the beginning of this thesis in chapter 2.

Finally, in Part IV we present further interesting ideas as well as first results which refer to Part III but have not been published yet. In fact, some topics are more or less settled and just have to be worked out in full detail, while others are still quite speculative. This part is on the one hand meant for the interested reader to demonstrate the universal applicability of the results in Part III to other interesting areas of research, and on the other hand provides a concrete starting point for future investigation along these lines.

The main part of this thesis concludes with a summary of our results in Part V accompanied by a short outlook. We complete our work with additional material in Part VI covering conventions, longish calculations and convenient tables which would spoil the readability of the main text.
Chapter 2

Preliminary Material

2.1 Recap of Anomalies in Quantum Field Theory

Anomalies in quantum field theory and string theory compactifications are very powerful objects. Because of their topological origin they are very robust quantities which nevertheless carry a considerable amount of information about the chiral spectrum. In this thesis anomalies play a very prominent role and enter at several stages. Indeed, in section 10.2 we discuss how one can obtain the gauge anomaly cancelation conditions of an arbitrary four- or six-dimensional theory after an additional circle compactification. These techniques are not only interesting on their own but also help us in better understanding the mechanisms underlying anomaly cancelation in F-theory compactifications. In particular combining the field theory results of section 10.2 with the arithmetic structures on elliptic fibrations, which we introduce in chapter 12, we are able to prove the cancelation of U(1) gauge anomalies in F-theory explicitly, and find strong evidence that an arithmetic structure for blow-up divisors should also ensure the cancelation of all non-Abelian gauge anomalies.

Since in the literature there are many excellent introductions into this well-known field, for example [5–9], we refrain from doing so in this thesis. We assume familiarity with the very basic facts about anomalies in quantum field theory. The interested reader is referred to these references for additional information. This chapter is far from being a survey of this vast topic, we rather recall some special aspects of anomalies, for instance anomaly polynomials, which are essential to understand the work of this thesis. We closely follow the notation and reasoning of [9] in this short recap.

In quantum field theory an anomaly \mathcal{A}_{Λ} of a symmetry appears when the conservation law for the symmetry current j^{μ}_{Λ} is violated

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}(x) = -D_{\mu} \langle j_{\Lambda}^{\mu} \rangle , \qquad (2.1)$$

where μ denotes the *d*-dimensional spacetime index, D_{μ} is the gauge covariant derivative, and the symmetry generators are given by T_{Λ} . The corresponding vector gauge field is denoted by $A_{\mu} = A_{\mu}^{\Lambda} T_{\Lambda}$. If the T_{Λ} generate only a global symmetry, we assume in the following without loss of generality that the latter is gauged by coupling to a background gauge field A_{μ} . Note that also (local) Lorentz transformations (or equivalently diffeomorphisms) can be anomalous. The results which we state here for genuine gauge symmetries hold in complete analogy also for local Lorentz transformations by simply replacing the gauge field A by the spin connection ω and the field strength F by the curvature two-form \mathcal{R} .

If the theory has a classical description in terms of an action, there are many different but equivalent ways of how to think of an anomaly. First it signals that the path-integral measure is not invariant under the respective symmetry although the classical action *is* invariant. Or stated differently, the regularization scheme does not preserve the symmetry. Equivalently one can also think of an anomaly as a non-invariance of the quantum effective action Γ under the classical symmetry

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\Gamma = \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \ \epsilon^{\Lambda}(x) \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}(x) \tag{2.2}$$

with $\epsilon = \epsilon^{\Lambda}(x)T_{\Lambda}$ the parameter of the variation.

The precise form of $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}(x)$ can be determined for example by evaluating the transformation of the path-integral measure of the chiral fields in the theory under a symmetry transformation, *i.e.* by calculating functional determinants. Recall that only chiral modes can induce anomalies. Equivalently one can also determine the index of the corresponding chiral kinetic operators. These procedures are nicely explained and carried out in full detail in [9]. The result for the anomaly is

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}(x) = \sum_{\substack{\text{chiral}\\\text{matter}}} c \ \epsilon^{\mu_1 \nu_1 \dots \mu_{d/2} \nu_{d/2}} \ \text{tr}_R \left(T_{\Lambda} \ \partial_{\mu_1} A_{\nu_1} \dots \partial_{\mu_{d/2}} A_{\nu_{d/2}} \right) + \mathcal{O}(A^{d/2+1}) \,, \tag{2.3}$$

with c a normalization constant depending on the type of fields, and the trace is taken in the representation R, in which the matter field which induces the anomaly transforms. When we treat anomalies for different fields in four and six dimensions later in this thesis, we will just state the values for c and rather than calculating them explicitly.

The structure (2.3) of $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}(x)$ suggests to rewrite the anomalous variation of the effective action in the language of differential forms

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\Gamma = \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \ \epsilon^{\Lambda}(x) \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}(x) = \sum_{\substack{\text{chiral}\\\text{matter}}} c \int q_d^1(R) \,, \tag{2.4}$$

where $q_d^1(R)$ is a *d*-form

$$q_d^1(R) := \operatorname{tr}_R(\epsilon \ (dA)^{d/2}) + \mathcal{O}(A^{d/2+1}) = \operatorname{tr}_R(\epsilon \ F^{d/2}) + \mathcal{O}(A^{d/2+1}).$$
(2.5)

It is important to notice that $q_d^1(R)$ is not uniquely determined. In particular the integral in (2.4) is invariant under adding exact forms $d\psi_{d-1}$ which vanish at infinity. Furthermore one is always free to add local counterterms $c \int \phi_d$ to the action. This

corresponds to adding the variation $\delta \phi_d$ to $q_d^1(R)$. To put it in a nutshell, the ambiguity of determining $q_d^1(R)$ is

$$q_d^1(R) \sim q_d^1(R) + \delta \phi_d + d\psi_{d-1}$$
. (2.6)

Nevertheless it would be desirable to find an unambiguous way of characterizing anomalies, and we will do so in the following by using characteristic classes thereby defining what is called the anomaly polynomial I(R) which corresponds to $q_d^1(R)$.

The first step is to formally extend our *d*-dimensional spacetime \mathcal{M}_d to $\mathcal{M}_d \times \mathcal{D}_2$, where \mathcal{D}_2 is the two-dimensional disc. Note that also the gauge fields and their gauge transformations are formally extended into the two new directions. Let us define the following characteristic class on $\mathcal{M}_d \times \mathcal{D}_2$

$$P_{d+2}(R) := \operatorname{tr}_R(F^{d/2+1}), \qquad (2.7)$$

which is a top degree form. It is easy to see that $P_{d+2}(R)$ is closed and gauge-invariant

$$dP_{d+2}(R) = \delta P_{d+2}(R) = 0.$$
(2.8)

By the Poincaré lemma the closedness of $P_{d+2}(R)$ implies that it is locally exact

$$P_{d+2}(R) \stackrel{\text{locally}}{=} dQ_{d+1}^{\text{CS}}(R), \qquad (2.9)$$

where $Q_{d+1}^{\text{CS}}(R)$ are locally defined (d+1)-forms which are called Chern-Simons forms. It is important to notice that the Chern-Simons forms are not uniquely defined. In fact one can always add exact forms to them

$$Q_{d+1}^{\rm CS}(R) \sim Q_{d+1}^{\rm CS}(R) + d\Phi_d$$
 (2.10)

with Φ_d a form of degree d. The fact that the variation of $P_{d+2}(R)$ vanishes implies that the variations of the Chern-Simons forms are closed

$$0 = \delta P_{d+2}(R) \stackrel{\text{locally}}{=} \delta \left(dQ_{d+1}^{\text{CS}}(R) \right) = d \left(\delta Q_{d+1}^{\text{CS}}(R) \right).$$
(2.11)

From this we can once again conclude by the Poincaré lemma that the variations of the Chern-Simons forms, which are defined on the individual simply connected patches, are exact

$$\delta Q_{d+1}^{\rm CS}(R) = dQ_d^1(R) \,, \tag{2.12}$$

with $Q_d^1(R)$ differential forms of degree d. Again for a fixed choice of $\delta Q_{d+1}^{\text{CS}}(R)$ the corresponding $Q_d^1(R)$ is not uniquely defined since one can add exact forms $d\Psi_{d-1}$. Putting this together with the ambiguity in defining the Chern-Simons forms (2.10) we obtain the following equivalence relation

$$Q_d^1(R) \sim Q_d^1(R) + \delta \Phi_d + d\Psi_{d-1}$$
. (2.13)

The equations (2.9), (2.12) together are called the *descent equations*. Let us stress once again that these considerations were carried out in the extended (d + 2)-dimensional spacetime $\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{D}_2$, and all differential forms $P_{d+2}(R)$, $Q_{d+1}^{CS}(R)$, $Q_d^1(R)$, Φ_d , Ψ_{d-1} , as well as the exterior derivative are defined on the latter. Also note that by ' δ ' we mean a standard gauge variation and not a BRST transformation in which the gauge parameter is replaced by a ghost field. For a nice exposition on the beautiful connection between anomalies and BRST cohomology we again refer to [9].

We are now in the position to connect this rather formal treatment to anomalies. Recall that we want to find a way to characterize anomalies in an unambiguous way. The crucial point is now that the unappealing equivalence relation of an anomaly (2.6) has precisely the same form as (2.13). We just need map differential forms on \mathcal{M}_d to their formal extensions on $\mathcal{M}_d \times \mathcal{D}_2$

$$q_d^1(R) \mapsto Q_d^1(R) \,, \tag{2.14a}$$

$$\phi_d \mapsto \Phi_d \,, \tag{2.14b}$$

$$\psi_{d-1} \mapsto \Psi_{d-1} \,. \tag{2.14c}$$

We can then characterize an anomaly \mathcal{A}_{Λ} by the anomaly polynomial I(R) which is defined without ambiguities on $\mathcal{M}_d \times \mathcal{D}_2$ via the characteristic class $P_{d+2}(R)$

$$I(R) := cP_{d+2}(R) \tag{2.15}$$

with the normalization constant c. The vanishing of an anomaly is then equivalent to the vanishing of the total anomaly polynomial I_{d+2}

$$I_{d+2} := I^{\text{GS}} + \sum_{\substack{\text{chiral}\\\text{matter}}} I(R) , \qquad (2.16)$$

where we included also an additional contribution I^{GS} coming from Green-Schwarz terms on which we shortly comment at the end of this section. There is one subtlety which we didn't mention explicitly. In the preceding analysis we focused on a single gauge factor. If there are simultaneously several non-Abelian and Abelian gauge factors as well as local Lorentz invariance present, there are also mixed anomalies, *i.e.* the field strengths of these three categories appear with mixed products in the \mathcal{A}_{Λ} and therefore also in the anomaly polynomial.

One can show that a quantum anomaly is a one-loop effect, for example by introducing a loop counting parameter $S \to \frac{1}{\lambda}S$ in the calculation of the functional determinant. More precisely, the fields which run in the loop are chiral modes, and the external legs are either gauge bosons or gravitons if we consider gravitational anomalies. The total number of external legs is given by d/2 + 1, *i.e.* by the number of field strength tensors in the anomaly polynomial. Note that these constitute background fields for the case of anomalies of global symmetries. We depict the form of these loops in Figure 2.1. When the external legs are all gravitons, we face a pure a gravitational anomaly, for



Figure 2.1: This is the general form of a one-loop contribution to the anomaly. The number of external legs is d/2 + 1, where d is the number of spacetime dimensions.

solely gauge bosons a pure *gauge* anomaly, and for mixed external legs (gravitons and gauge bosons) a *mixed gravitational-gauge* anomaly.

Note also that this characterization of anomalies in terms of polynomials in an extended space works also for theories without an underlying classical action, for example anomalies of six-dimensional non-Abelian tensor theories. It is not known if there exists an action for such theories. Nevertheless people determined the eight-dimensional anomaly polynomial, *e.g.* for the R-symmetry [10-20].

Finally to close this section let us mention that there can also sometimes appear additional classical contributions to anomalies which are crucial. Indeed, axions or twoform fields might transform in a non-trivial way under gauge transformations and render the *classical* action non-gauge-invariant. This results in modified Bianchi identities and is called *Green-Schwarz mechanism*. Indeed, it first arose in type I string theory canceling its gauge anomalies [21]. In this thesis our focus is on four dimensions, where the Green-Schwarz mechanism is mediated by gauged axions, and six dimensions, where two-forms are responsible for classical non-gauge-invariance [22, 23].

2.2 One-Loop Chern-Simons Terms

Throughout this thesis we frequently make use of one-loop corrections to Chern-Simons terms in three and five dimensions. They are induced from integrating out parityviolating massive modes, and by parity transformations we mean reflections of an odd number of spatial directions. Via this procedure the classical parity anomaly of the spectrum is transferred to the effective action since the Chern-Simons terms are not invariant under such transformations. Importantly, these loop-corrections are independent of the mass scale. We will see that this topological property makes them very robust quantities to encode crucial information about the spectrum. In chapter 7 we use them to formulate necessary conditions for a consistent truncation to be used as an effective theory for phenomenology. However, the presumably nicest and most important property is the relation of Chern-Simons terms to anomalies of theories in one dimension higher. While the precise relation was long unclear, we provide in section 10.2 the procedure of how to extract gauge anomalies in four and six dimensions from oneloop Chern-Simons terms in three and five dimensions, respectively, using large gauge transformations. In chapter 12 we show that this mechanism has a natural implementation in the M-theory to F-theory duality, and one can use geometric symmetries of the Weierstrass model in order to explicitly proof cancelation of gauge anomalies in F-theory.

2.2.1 Three Dimensions

Let us introduce our conventions for Chern-Simons terms in three dimensions. For a general theory of Abelian vector fields A^{Λ} with field strength $F^{\Lambda} = dA^{\Lambda}$ they take the form

$$S_{\rm CS} = \int \Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma} A^{\Lambda} \wedge F^{\Sigma} \,, \qquad (2.17)$$

where $\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ are constants.

Importantly, these terms might not only appear at the classical level but can also receive quantum corrections which are one-loop exact. The corresponding Feynman diagram is depicted in Figure 2.2. It is well-known that a massive charged spin-1/2-fermion $\psi^{1/2}$ contributes to $\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ as [24–26]

$$\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma}^{\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{2} q_{\Lambda} q_{\Sigma} \operatorname{sign}(m) , \qquad (2.18)$$

where q_{Λ} is the charge of the fermion under the U(1) gauge boson A^{Λ} and $\operatorname{sign}(m)$ is the sign of the mass m in the Lagrangian

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L} = -\bar{\psi}^{1/2}\mathcal{D}\psi^{1/2} + m\bar{\psi}^{1/2}\psi^{1/2}$$
(2.19)

with

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\psi}^{1/2} = \left(\nabla_{\mu} - iq_{\Lambda}A^{\Lambda}_{\mu}\right)\boldsymbol{\psi}^{1/2}. \qquad (2.20)$$

Let us shortly comment on the significance of sign(m). While the physical mass is of course positive semi-definite, the meaning of sign(m) can be understood as follows: The



Figure 2.2: This is the loop which induces Chern-Simons terms in three dimensions. The external legs are Abelian gauge bosons under which the spin-1/2 fermions running in the loop are charged.

Lorentz group in three dimensions SO(2, 1) has only one (real) spinor representation. However the Clifford algebra has two physically inequivalent representations related by $\gamma^{\mu} \rightarrow -\gamma^{\mu}$. Similarly, the massive little group has two spinor representations. The sign of m tells you under which spinor representation of the little group the massive particle transforms. However, for this to make sense you first have to fix a representation of the Clifford algebra since by a change of the latter $\gamma^{\mu} \rightarrow -\gamma^{\mu}$ one has $m \rightarrow -m$. In this thesis we choose the basis of the Clifford algebra in three dimensions in such a way that the circle-compactification of a four-dimensional left-handed spinor yields the following Kaluza-Klein contribution for the mass of the n-th Kaluza-Klein mode

$$m = \dots + \frac{n}{r}, \qquad (2.21)$$

where r is the radius of the circle.

Finally let us remark that the mass terms of the fermions violate parity. In particular, under such a transformation one finds $m \to -m$. This classical property is also present in the quantum setting after integrating out these modes since the Chern-Simons terms are also parity-odd.

2.2.2 Five Dimensions

Five-dimensional Chern-Simons terms for U(1) gauge fields take the general form

$$S_{\rm CS}^{\rm gauge} = -\frac{1}{12} \int k_{\Lambda \Sigma \Theta} A^{\Lambda} \wedge F^{\Sigma} \wedge F^{\Theta} , \qquad (2.22a)$$

$$S_{\rm CS}^{\rm grav} = -\frac{1}{4} \int k_{\Lambda} A^{\Lambda} \wedge \operatorname{tr}(\mathcal{R} \wedge \mathcal{R}), \qquad (2.22b)$$

where $k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$ and k_{Λ} are constants and \mathcal{R} is the five-dimensional curvature two-form. Although (2.22b) is higher-curvature, it plays an important role in our discussions.

In addition to Chern-Simons couplings which arise at the classical level the effective theory can admit one-loop induced Chern-Simons couplings from integrating out massive charged spin-¹/₂ fermions $\psi^{1/2}$, complex self-dual two-forms $B_{\mu\nu}$ in the sense of [27], and spin-³/₂ fermions $\psi^{3/2}_{\mu}$ [28–30]. The form of the corresponding Feynman graphs is depicted in Figure 2.3. The contributions of the individual fields are given by



Figure 2.3: This type of loops induces the Chern-Simons couplings $k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$, k_{Λ} in five dimensions. The external legs are either three Abelian gauge bosons or one Abelian gauge bosons plus two gravitons, respectively. The modes which run in the loop are spin-1/2 fermions, self-dual tensors and spin-3/2 fermions.

$$k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}^{\text{loop}} = c_{AFF} q_{\Lambda} q_{\Sigma} q_{\Theta} \operatorname{sign}(m), \qquad (2.23)$$

$$k_{\Lambda}^{\text{loop}} = c_{A\mathcal{R}\mathcal{R}} q_{\Lambda} \operatorname{sign}(m), \qquad (2.24)$$

where the c_{AFF} , $c_{A\mathcal{R}\mathcal{R}}$ depend on the type of field and are given in Table 2.1. The quantity q_{Λ} is the charge under A^{Λ} and $\operatorname{sign}(m)$ depends on the representation of the massive little group $SO(4) \cong SU(2) \times SU(2)$ (locally). In analogy to the situation in three dimensions, which we discussed before, SO(4) admits two spinor representations, and the Clifford algebra in five dimensions has again two inequivalent representations related by $\gamma^{\mu} \to -\gamma^{\mu}$. The full Lorentz group in five dimensions SO(4, 1) has only one

	Spin- $1/2$ fermion	Self-dual tensor	Spin- $^{3}/_{2}$ fermion
c_{AFF}	$\frac{1}{2}$	-2	$\frac{5}{2}$
c_{ARR}	-1	-8	19

Table 2.1: Normalization factors for one-loop Chern-Simons terms in five dimensions.

(pseudo-real) spinor representation. The quantity sign(m) is related to the representations of the massive little group $SO(4) \cong SU(2) \times SU(2)$ (locally) by

$$\operatorname{sign}(m) = \begin{cases} +1 & \text{for } (\frac{1}{2}, 0), (1, 0), (1, \frac{1}{2}), \\ -1 & \text{for } (0, \frac{1}{2}), (0, 1), (\frac{1}{2}, 1), \end{cases}$$
(2.25)

where we labeled representations of $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ by their spins. Again we fix the representation of the Clifford algebra by demanding that chiral six-dimensional modes on a circle precisely yield (2.25) interpreting the representations of $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ as the six-dimensional helicity group. For convenience let us display the Lagrangians of the five-dimensional fields

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{1/2} = -\bar{\psi}^{1/2}\mathcal{D}\psi^{1/2} + m\bar{\psi}^{1/2}\psi^{1/2}, \qquad (2.26a)$$

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_B = -\frac{1}{4}i\operatorname{sign}(m)\,\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma\tau}\bar{\boldsymbol{B}}_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{D}_{\rho}\boldsymbol{B}_{\sigma\tau} - \frac{1}{2}|m|\,\bar{\boldsymbol{B}}_{\mu\nu}\boldsymbol{B}^{\mu\nu}\,,\qquad(2.26\mathrm{b})$$

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{3/2} = -\bar{\psi}_{\mu}^{3/2}\gamma^{\mu\nu\rho}\mathcal{D}_{\nu}\psi_{\rho}^{3/2} + m\,\bar{\psi}_{\mu}^{3/2}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\psi_{\nu}^{3/2}\,,\tag{2.26c}$$

with

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\psi}^{1/2} = \left(\nabla_{\mu} - iq_{\Lambda}A^{\Lambda}_{\mu}\right)\boldsymbol{\psi}^{1/2}, \qquad (2.27a)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{[\mu}\boldsymbol{B}_{\nu\rho]} = \left(\partial_{[\mu} - iq_{\Lambda}A^{\Lambda}_{[\mu}\right)\boldsymbol{B}_{\nu\rho]}, \qquad (2.27b)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{[\mu}\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\nu]}^{3/2} = \left(\nabla_{[\mu} - iq_{\Lambda}A^{\Lambda}_{[\mu})\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\nu]}^{3/2}\right).$$
(2.27c)

Note that for the fermions again, as in three dimensions, the mass terms violate parity while for the massive tensor the kinetic term is not invariant.

Part II

Partial Supersymmetry Breaking and Consistent Truncations

Chapter 3

Overview

A systematic classification of supersymmetric vacua of supergravity theories in various dimensions has been a challenge since the first constructions of such theories. Supergravity theories with non-minimal supersymmetry can often admit Minkowski or anti-de Sitter ground states that preserve only a partial amount of supersymmetry. Finding such solutions is typically more involved than determining the fully supersymmetric solutions. For supergravity theories formulated in even spacetime dimensions various breaking patterns have been investigated in detail. For example the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ breaking in four-dimensional supergravity theories has been investigated already in [31–38]. Recently there has been a renewed interest in this direction [39–41], which was partially triggered by the application to flux compactifications of string theory [42]. The general analysis of [40] heavily employs the powerful techniques provided by the embedding tensor formalism [43, 44].

The general study of partial supersymmetry breaking in odd-dimensional theories has attracted much less attention. Such theories however possess the interesting new possibility that the dynamics of some fields can arise from Chern-Simons-type couplings that are topological in nature. As was pointed out already for three-dimensional supergravity theories [45] such couplings can allow for special supersymmetry breaking patterns. In this part we show that in five-dimensional supergravity theories with sixteen supercharges denoted as $\mathcal{N} = 4$, Chern-Simons-type couplings for two-form tensor fields can yield interesting new supersymmetry breaking patterns to vacua preserving eight supercharges denoted as $\mathcal{N}=2$. Such tensor fields can have first-order kinetic terms and become massive by a Stückelberg-like mechanism in which they eat a dynamical vector field [27, 46, 47]. The degrees of freedom of such tensors are counted by realizing that they have zero degrees of freedom before *eating* the vector but admit three degrees of freedom as massive fields. Hence they should be distinguished from tensors with standard kinetic and mass terms. They have been named *self-dual tensors* in [27], and we introduced them in subsection 2.2.2. The mechanism rendering the tensor fields massive by eating a vector will be called *tensorial Higgs mechanism* in the following.

We begin this part by studying general vacua of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity in five

dimensions using the embedding tensor formalism of [47] which encodes the gauging of global symmetries in a very convenient way. After assigning vacuum expectation values (VEVs) to the scalars we calculate the gravitino masses, *i.e.* the number of broken supersymmetries, the cosmological constant, the bosonic spectrum including mass terms and charges, as well as Chern-Simons terms. These quantities depend on the form of the embedding tensors contracted with the VEVs of the coset representatives of the scalar manifold. Once these objects are specified, one can fully analyze the theory around the vacuum. While such an analysis is possible for each considered vacuum, a classification of allowed vacua is beyond the scope of our work.

We continue by analyzing in full detail theories which are subject to a non-vanishing Abelian magnetic gauging only, *i.e.* gauged by a constant anti-symmetric matrix ξ_{MN} . The latter encodes the couplings of the five-dimensional self-dual tensors to the vector fields and the form of the first order kinetic terms. A non-trivial ξ_{MN} also induces vector gaugings and a scalar potential. We analyze the conditions on ξ_{MN} that yield partial supersymmetry breaking to an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Minkowski vacuum. The massless and massive $\mathcal{N} = 2$ spectrum comprising fluctuations around this vacuum are then determined systematically. We particularly stress the appearance of massive tensor fields and massive spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ and spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ fermions. This allows us to derive the key features of the effective $\mathcal{N}=2$ supergravity theory arising for the massless fluctuations around the ground state. The $\mathcal{N}=2$ effective action for the massless fields comprises two parts. Firstly, there are the classical couplings inherited from the underlying $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory. They are determined by truncating the original theory to the appropriately combined massless modes. At energy scales far below the supersymmetry breaking scale one might have expected that this determined already the complete $\mathcal{N}=2$ theory. However, as we show in detail in our work, the massive tensor, $spin^{-1/2}$ and $spin^{-3/2}$ modes have to actually be integrated out and generically induce non-trivial corrections. In fact, using the results of subsection 2.2.2 one infers that if these massive fields are charged under some vector field they generically induce non-trivial one-loop corrections to the Chern-Simons terms for the vector. One-loop corrections to the Chern-Simons terms due to massive charged spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ fermions have been considered in [28, 48], but we stress here that in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ breaking both massive tensors and gravitini alter the result crucially. These kind of one-loop corrections are independent of the mass scale of the fields and therefore have to be taken into account in a consistent effective theory at scales well below the supersymmetry breaking scale.

After this analysis we then extend and use our results on partial supersymmetry breaking and one-loop Chern-Simons terms as a tool to investigate consistent truncations of supergravity and string theory. In principle for a general compactification of some higher-dimensional theory on a compact manifold one has to include all massive and massless modes in the derivation of the effective action. In contrast, consistent truncations describe the dynamics only for a subset of all these modes. By definition these modes are chosen such that solutions of the lower-dimensional equations of motion lift to solutions of the higher-dimensional equations. It is this property that allows one to use the truncated theories as tools for constructing higherdimensional solutions. However, recently consistent truncations have also been used for phenomenology in non-Calabi-Yau compactifications. Consequently, the effective action derived from a consistent truncation should better match the genuine effective action with the whole tower of massive modes integrated out. Setups with partial supergravity breaking will allow us to derive necessary conditions for this agreement in theories where we already know parts of the effective action, like *e.g.* Calabi-Yau compactifications. We investigate this issue in the context of one-loop corrections to the Chern-Simons terms.

As an application we then make contact with M-theory compactifications on SU(2)structure manifolds. First we study general consistent truncations of M-theory on SU(2)-structure manifolds to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity before we restrict to the special case of Calabi-Yau manifolds with vanishing Euler number, which have SU(2)structure as well, as can be seen by the Poincaré-Hopf theorem. These spaces constitute $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Minkowski vacua of general $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity including massive modes. The same analysis has been carried out for the type IIA case in [49, 50]. Since the Chern-Simons terms in the genuine effective action of M-theory on a smooth Calabi-Yau threefold are not corrected by integrating out massive modes [51-53], we demand that one-loop Chern-Simons terms should also be absent in the effective action of a consistent truncation. For the analyzed example of the Enriques Calabi-Yau it turns out that the massive modes are not charged under any massless vector, and one-loop corrections therefore trivially cancel. This is one possible way to ensure that consistent truncations on SU(2)-structure threefolds that are also Calabi-Yau can be compatible with the genuine effective action. However, already in the considered consistent truncation for the Enriques Calabi-Yau we miss at the massless level a vector multiplet and a hypermultiplet which are not captured by our particular SU(2)-structure ansatz. Nevertheless, we argue that one can consistently complete the Chern-Simons terms including an additional massless vector.

As a second example we consider a particular consistent truncation of type IIB supergravity on a squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifold with RR-flux. This is again described by five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity, and indeed there are $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacua that are now AdS [54–56].¹ The most prominent example is certainly the fivesphere although our results hold for any squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifold. In the theory around the vacuum there are massive states that are charged under the gauged U(1) R-symmetry. Remarkably their one-loop corrections to the gauge and gravitational Chern-Simons terms cancel in a very non-trivial way. While we are not able to give a precise interpretation of this fact, it is an intriguing observation that such cancelations take place. We suspect that there could exist an underlying principle which ensures the vanishing of such scale-invariant corrections in consistent truncations. Let us however also stress that in the AdS case the existence of an effective theory can be generally questioned, since the AdS radius is linked to the size of the compactification

¹See also [57-70] for related works on this subject.

space. It is not hard to see that the squashed Sasaki-Einstein reductions of type IIB are reminiscent of the general SU(2)-structure reductions of M-theory considered before. It was indeed argued that there is a relation between these two settings when using T-duality [71–75] if one includes warping in the SU(2)-structure ansatz, which is in general quite difficult and beyond the scope of this thesis.

This part is organized as follows. In chapter 4 we review $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity in five dimensions using the embedding tensor formalism and evaluate the spectrum as well as the relevant parts of the Lagrangian around the vacuum in terms of contracted embedding tensors. We fully analyze supersymmetry breaking from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ in an Abelian configuration with a non-trivial embedding tensor ξ_{MN} in chapter 5. We in detail account for the tensorial Higgs mechanism as well as the super-Higgs mechanism, and we determine the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ spectrum and one-loop effective action. We argue that all massive multiplets generically induce one-loop corrections to the vector couplings of the theory that are independent of the supersymmetry breaking scale. We proceed in chapter 6 with the general description of M-theory compactifications on SU(2)-structure manifolds. In chapter 7, after stating some general remarks about the quantum effective action of consistent truncations, we analyze M-theory on the Enriques Calabi-Yau and type IIB supergravity consistent truncation on a squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifold.

Chapter 4

Gauged $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Supergravity in Five Dimensions and its Vacua

We start this chapter with a short review of some important facts about five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity theories in section 4.1. In section 4.2 we provide a tool to extract the propagating degrees of freedom out of the theory since the standard formulation in [47] uses vectors and dual tensors on equal footing. We study the vacua of this setup in section 4.3 by deriving the mass terms and charges of the scalar and tensor fields, and also by giving expressions for the vector masses, field strengths and Chern-Simons terms. The results depend on the precise form of the embedding tensors contracted with the scalar field VEVs. Since we are in particular interested in the amount of preserved supersymmetry in the vacuum, we also compute the mass terms of the gravitini in terms of the contracted embedding tensors. Finally, we derive some properties of the subclass of Minkowski vacua in section 4.4.

4.1 Generalities

Let us at the beginning state the general properties of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity in five dimensions along the lines of [46, 47].¹ First consider ungauged Maxwell-Einstein supergravity which couples *n* vector multiplets to a single gravity multiplet. Note that as long as the theory is not gauged, one can equally well replace the vector multiplets by dual tensor multiplets. The gravity multiplet has the field content

$$(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi^i_{\mu}, A^{ij}_{\mu}, A^0_{\mu}, \chi^i, \sigma)$$
 (4.1)

with the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, four spin-³/2 gravitini ψ^i_{μ} , six vectors $(A^{ij}_{\mu}, A^0_{\mu})$, four spin-¹/2 fermions χ^i and one real scalar σ . The indices of the fundamental representation of the R-symmetry group USp(4) are written as $i, j = 1, \ldots, 4$. The symplectic form of USp(4),

¹We stress that in our conventions five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity theories have 16 supercharges and thus are half-maximal supergravities.

denoted Ω , enjoys the following properties

$$\Omega_{ij} = -\Omega_{ji}, \qquad \Omega_{ij} = \Omega^{ij}, \qquad \Omega_{ij}\Omega^{jk} = -\delta_i^k.$$
(4.2)

Raising and lowering of USp(4) indices is carried out according to the rule

$$V^{i} = \Omega^{ij} V_{j}, \qquad V_{i} = V^{j} \Omega_{ji}.$$

$$(4.3)$$

The double index ij labels the **5** representation of USp(4) defined by the following properties

$$A^{ij}_{\mu} = -A^{ji}_{\mu}, \qquad A^{ij}_{\mu} \,\Omega_{ij} = 0, \qquad (A^{ij}_{\mu})^* = A_{\mu\,ij}.$$
(4.4)

Since USp(4) is the spin group of SO(5), we will often use the isomorphism $\mathfrak{so}(5) \cong \mathfrak{usp}(4)$ to switch between representations of both groups. The indices of the fundamental representation of SO(5) are denoted by $m, n = 1, \ldots, 5$, and the Kronecker delta δ_{mn} is used to raise and lower them. Moreover all massless fermions in this part of the thesis are supposed to be symplectic Majorana spinors. For further conventions and useful identities consult Appendix A. Finally we will often use the definition

$$\Sigma := e^{\sigma/\sqrt{3}},\tag{4.5}$$

where σ is the real scalar of the gravity multiplet (4.1).

Having introduced the gravity multiplet we can now further couple n vector multiplets labeled by $a, b = 6, \ldots, 5 + n$. The indices are again raised and lowered using the Kronecker delta δ_{ab} . The multiplets have the structure

$$(A^a_\mu, \lambda^{ia}, \phi^{ija}), \qquad (4.6)$$

where A^a_{μ} denote the vectors, λ^{ia} spin-1/2 fermions, and the ϕ^{ija} scalars in the **5** of USp(4).

The set of all scalars in the theory span the manifold

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_{5,n} \times SO(1,1), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{M}_{5,n} = \frac{SO(5,n)}{SO(5) \times SO(n)}, \qquad (4.7)$$

where we parametrize the coset $\mathcal{M}_{5,n}$ by the scalar fields ϕ^{ija} in the vector multiplets whereas the SO(1,1) part is captured by the scalar σ in the gravity multiplet. Hence the global symmetry group of the theory is found to be $SO(5,n) \times SO(1,1)$. Note that

$$\dim(\mathcal{M}_{5,n}) = \dim(SO(5,n)) - \dim(SO(5)) - \dim(SO(n)) = 5n.$$
(4.8)

We now define SO(5, n) indices $M, N = 1, \ldots, 5 + n$, which we can raise and lower with the SO(5, n) metric $(\eta_{MN}) = \text{diag}(-1, -1, -1, -1, -1, +1, \ldots, +1)$. The coupling of the vector multiplets to the gravity multiplet is realized by noting that all vectors

4.1. GENERALITIES

in the theory transform as a singlet A^0 and the fundamental representation A^M of SO(5, n):

$$(A^0, A^{ij}, A^n) \to (A^0, A^M),$$
 (4.9)

and they carry SO(1,1) charges -1 and 1/2 for A^0 and A^M , respectively. In terms of these representations the generators t_{MN} of SO(5,n) and t_0 of SO(1,1) read²

$$t_{MNP}^{Q} = 2\delta^{Q}_{[M}\eta_{N]P}, \qquad t_{0M}^{N} = -\frac{1}{2}\delta^{N}_{M}, \qquad t_{MN0}^{0} = 0, \qquad t_{00}^{0} = 1.$$
(4.10)

The most convenient way to describe the coset space $\mathcal{M}_{5,n}$ is via the coset representatives $\mathcal{V} = (\mathcal{V}_M{}^m, \mathcal{V}_M{}^a)$, here $m = 1, \ldots, 5$ and $a = 6, \ldots n + 5$ are the indices of the fundamental representations of SO(5) and SO(n), respectively. The definition is such that local $SO(5) \times SO(n)$ transformations act from the right while global SO(5, n)transformations on \mathcal{V} act from the left. It is important to notice that

$$\mathcal{V}_{M}{}^{a} = \eta_{MN} \, \mathcal{V}^{Na} \,, \qquad \mathcal{V}_{M}{}^{m} = -\eta_{MN} \, \mathcal{V}^{Nm} \,, \tag{4.11}$$

and also, since $(\mathcal{V}_M{}^m, \mathcal{V}_M{}^a) \in SO(5, n)$, we have

$$\eta_{MN} = -\mathcal{V}_M^{\ m} \mathcal{V}_{Nm} + \mathcal{V}_M^{\ a} \mathcal{V}_{Na} \,. \tag{4.12}$$

Furthermore we define a non-constant positive definite metric on the coset

$$M_{MN} := \mathcal{V}_M^{\ m} \mathcal{V}_{Nm} + \mathcal{V}_M^{\ a} \mathcal{V}_{Na} \tag{4.13}$$

with inverse given by M^{MN} , which is easy to check. Lastly we introduce

$$M_{MNPQR} := \varepsilon_{mnpqr} \mathcal{V}_M{}^m \mathcal{V}_N{}^n \mathcal{V}_P{}^p \mathcal{V}_Q{}^q \mathcal{V}_R{}^r, \qquad (4.14)$$

where ε_{mnpqr} is the (flat) five-dimensional Levi-Civita tensor.

We proceed with the gauging of global symmetries. The different possible gaugings are most conveniently described using the embedding tensors f_{MNP} , ξ_{MN} and ξ_M , which are totally antisymmetric in all indices. They determine the covariant derivative³

$$D_{\mu} = \nabla_{\mu} - A^{M}_{\mu} f_{M}^{\ NP} t_{NP} - A^{0}_{\mu} \xi^{MN} t_{MN} - A^{M}_{\mu} \xi^{N} t_{MN} - A^{M}_{\mu} \xi_{M} t_{0} \,. \tag{4.15}$$

Note that in the ungauged theory the embedding tensors are supposed to transform under the global symmetry group. Fixing a value for the tensor components the global symmetry group is then broken down to a subgroup. In this thesis we will mostly set $\xi_M = 0$ since the calculations simplify considerably and several interesting cases are

²All antisymmetrizations in this thesis include a factor of 1/n!.

³Note that a gauge coupling constant g can explicitly be included whenever an embedding tensor appears. However for simplicity we take g = 1 in the following.

already covered. However a non-vanishing ξ_M might also be included straightforwardly. Accordingly the covariant derivative (4.15) simplifies to

$$D_{\mu} = \nabla_{\mu} - A^{M}_{\mu} f_{M}^{\ NP} t_{NP} - A^{0}_{\mu} \xi^{MN} t_{MN} \,. \tag{4.16}$$

The embedding tensors are further subject to quadratic constraints which read in the case of $\xi_M = 0$

$$f_{R[MN}f_{PQ]}{}^{R} = 0, \qquad \qquad \xi_{M}{}^{Q}f_{QNP} = 0. \qquad (4.17)$$

For vanishing ξ_M the linear constraints on the embedding tensors [47] are trivially satisfied. There is an important issue with this kind of nontrivial gaugings which forces us to dualize some of the vector fields A^M_{μ} into two-forms $B_{\mu\nu M}$. Therefore we consider an action where both A^M_{μ} and $B_{\mu\nu M}$ are present in order to write down a general gauged supergravity with $\xi_M = 0.^4$ Using this approach the tensor fields $B_{\mu\nu M}$ carry no on-shell degrees of freedom. However, they can *eat up* a dynamical vector with three degrees of freedom and become massive. This will be treated in section 4.2.

The bosonic Lagrangian of this $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity theory is given by [46,47]

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\text{bos}} = -\frac{1}{2}R - \frac{1}{4}\Sigma^2 M_{MN} \mathcal{H}_{\mu\nu}^M \mathcal{H}^{\mu\nu\,N} - \frac{1}{4}\Sigma^{-4}F_{\mu\nu}^0 F^{\mu\nu\,0} - \frac{3}{2}\Sigma^{-2}(\nabla_{\mu}\Sigma)^2 + \frac{1}{16}(D_{\mu}M_{MN})(D^{\mu}M^{MN}) + \frac{1}{16\sqrt{2}}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda\sigma}\xi^{MN}B_{\mu\nu\,M}(D_{\rho}B_{\lambda\sigma\,N} + 4\eta_{NP}A_{\rho}^0\partial_{\lambda}A_{\sigma}^P + 4\eta_{NP}A_{\rho}^P\partial_{\lambda}A_{\sigma}^0) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda\sigma}A_{\mu}^0\left(\partial_{\nu}A_{\rho}^M\partial_{\lambda}A_{\sigma\,M} + \frac{1}{4}\xi_{MN}A_{\nu}^MA_{\rho}^N\partial_{\lambda}A_{\sigma}^0 - f_{MNP}A_{\nu}^MA_{\rho}^N\partial_{\lambda}A_{\sigma}^P\right) - \frac{1}{4}f_{MNP}f_{QRS}\Sigma^{-2}\left(\frac{1}{12}M^{MQ}M^{NR}M^{PS} - \frac{1}{4}M^{MQ}\eta^{NR}\eta^{PS} + \frac{1}{6}\eta^{MQ}\eta^{NR}\eta^{PS}\right) - \frac{1}{16}\xi_{MN}\xi_{PQ}\Sigma^4\left(M^{MP}M^{NQ} - \eta^{MP}\eta^{NQ}\right) - \frac{1}{6\sqrt{2}}f_{MNP}\xi_{QR}\Sigma M^{MNPQR},$$
(4.18)

where R denotes the Ricci scalar, and we define

$$\mathcal{H}^{M}_{\mu\nu} := 2 \,\partial_{[\mu} A^{M}_{\nu]} - \xi_{N}{}^{M} A^{0}_{\mu} A^{N}_{\nu} - f_{PN}{}^{M} A^{P}_{\mu} A^{N}_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \,\xi^{MN} B_{\mu\nu\,N}\,, \tag{4.19}$$

as well as

$$F^{0}_{\mu\nu} := \partial_{\mu}A^{0}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^{0}_{\mu}.$$
(4.20)

The vectors and dual tensors in this Lagrangian are subject to vector gauge transformations with scalar parameters (Λ^0, Λ^M) as well as standard two-form gauge transformations with one-form parameters $\Xi_{\mu M}$. This property will be of importance later since

⁴As long as ξ_M vanishes, we do not have to introduce a tensorial counterpart $B^0_{\mu\nu}$ for A^0_{μ} .

it allows us to remove some of the vectors from the action by gauge transformations. For our choice of gaugings, *i.e.* $\xi_M = 0$, the variation of the vectors reads

$$\delta A^{0}_{\mu} = \nabla_{\mu} \Lambda^{0}, \qquad \delta A^{M}_{\mu} = D_{\mu} \Lambda^{M} - \frac{1}{2} \xi^{MN} \Xi_{\mu N}.$$
 (4.21)

We now continue with the Lagrangian of the gravitino fields. To simplify our notation we introduce contractions of the embedding tensors with the coset representatives

$$\xi^{mn} := \mathcal{V}_M{}^m \mathcal{V}_N{}^n \xi^{MN}, \qquad \xi^{ab} := \mathcal{V}_M{}^a \mathcal{V}_N{}^b \xi^{MN}, \qquad \xi^{am} := \mathcal{V}_M{}^a \mathcal{V}_N{}^m \xi^{MN}, f^{mnp} := \mathcal{V}_M{}^m \mathcal{V}_N{}^n \mathcal{V}_P{}^p f^{MNP}, \qquad f^{mna} := \mathcal{V}_M{}^m \mathcal{V}_N{}^n \mathcal{V}_P{}^a f^{MNP}, \qquad \dots$$
(4.22)

Note that these objects are field-dependent and acquire a VEV in the vacuum. It is important to realize that the position of the SO(5, n)-indices M, N in (4.22) is essential because of (4.11). Using this notation we define what will be identified with the gravitino mass matrix

$$\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{ij} := \mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn} \Gamma_{mn}^{\quad ij} \tag{4.23}$$

with

$$\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn} := -\frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \xi^{mn} + \frac{1}{24} \epsilon^{mnpqr} f_{pqr}, \qquad \Gamma_{mn} := \Gamma_{[m} \Gamma_{n]}, \qquad (4.24)$$

where Γ_m are the SO(5) gamma matrices. We are now in the position to write down the relevant fermionic terms in the Lagrangian. For the purpose of this part we will find it sufficient to only recall the kinetic terms and the mass terms of the gravitini. The remaining quadratic terms of the fermions can be found in [46, 47]. The relevant part of the Lagrangian reads

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\rm grav} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\psi}^{i}_{\mu}\,\gamma^{\mu\nu\rho}\,\mathcal{D}_{\nu}\,\psi_{\rho\,i} + \frac{1}{2}i\,\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,ij}\,\bar{\psi}^{i}_{\mu}\,\gamma^{\mu\nu}\,\psi^{j}_{\nu}\,.$$
(4.25)

The precise form of the covariant derivative is of no importance for the moment, since we are only dealing with the gravitino mass in this part. This concludes our discussion of the general properties of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity in five dimensions.

4.2 Isolation of the Propagating Degrees of Freedom

The formulation of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity in terms of embedding tensors, as presented in [47], is a very powerful way to implement general gaugings of global symmetries. However, in order to study vacua and the resulting effective field theories we need to eliminate non-propagating degrees of freedom used in the democratic formulation of [47]. In particular, we have written down the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravities in terms of vectors and dual tensors. We eliminate redundant vectors in the action by tensor gauge transformations rendering the corresponding dual tensors the (massive) propagating degrees of freedom. All remaining tensors that are not involved in this gauging procedure turn out to decouple in the action and can therefore be consistently set to zero. In these cases the corresponding vectors constitute the appropriate formulation. In the following we carry out the necessary redefinition of vectors and tensors explicitly.

The isolation of the appropriate propagating degrees of freedom in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity depends on the form of the embedding tensor ξ^{MN} .⁵ This can easily be seen as follows. Consider the gauge transformations of the vectors A^M (4.21) as well as the variation of the action with respect to the tensors $B_{\mu\nu M}$

$$\delta A^M_\mu = D_\mu \Lambda^M - \frac{1}{2} \xi^{MN} \Xi_{\mu N}, \qquad \qquad \frac{\delta S}{\delta B_{\mu\nu M}} \sim \xi^{MN} (\dots)_N. \qquad (4.26)$$

Note that one can always find orthogonal transformations such that

$$(\xi^{MN}) \mapsto \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \xi^{\hat{M}\hat{N}} & \mathbf{0}^{\hat{M}\bar{N}} \\ \hline \mathbf{0}^{\bar{M}\hat{N}} & \mathbf{0}^{\bar{M}\bar{N}} \end{array} \right) , \qquad (4.27)$$

$$\hat{M}, \hat{N} = 1, \dots, \operatorname{rank}(\xi^{MN}) , \qquad \bar{M}, \bar{N} = \operatorname{rank}(\xi^{MN}) + 1, \dots, 5 + n ,$$

with $(\xi^{\hat{M}\hat{N}})$ a full-rank matrix. It is now easy to see that after appropriate partial gauge fixing one can invert $(\xi^{\hat{M}\hat{N}})$ to obtain

$$\delta A^{\hat{M}}_{\mu} = -A^{\hat{M}}_{\mu} \tag{4.28}$$

using tensor gauge transformations $\Xi_{\mu \hat{M}}$. The $A^{\hat{M}}_{\mu}$ are therefore pure gauge and can be removed from the action. The corresponding tensors $B_{\mu\nu\hat{M}}$ constitute the appropriate formulation. In contrast, we find for the remaining vectors and tensors

$$\delta A^{\bar{M}}_{\mu} = D_{\mu} \Lambda^{\bar{M}} , \qquad \qquad \frac{\delta S}{\delta B_{\mu\nu\bar{M}}} = 0 . \qquad (4.29)$$

The Lagrangian is therefore independent of the $B_{\mu\nu\bar{M}}$, which is why we can set them to zero. We are left with propagating vectors $A^{\bar{M}}$ subject to standard vector gauge transformations. To put it in a nutshell, one can see that the propagating degrees of freedom are captured by $A^{\bar{M}}_{\mu}$, $B_{\mu\nu\bar{M}}$. Moreover, for the pair $B^0_{\mu\nu}$, A^0_{μ} it turns out that the tensor $B^0_{\mu\nu}$ does not appear in the action and A^0_{μ} constitutes the field carrying the propagating degrees of freedom.

Note that this procedure easily generalizes if one allows for a non-vanishing ξ_M . In this case one just has to replace $\xi^{MN} \to 2Z^{M^0N^0}$ in the previous calculations, where

⁵We again stress that we set $\xi_M = 0$ unless stated differently.

 $M^0 = (0, M)$ and

$$Z^{MN} = \frac{1}{2}\xi^{MN}, \qquad \qquad Z^{0M} = -Z^{M0} = \frac{1}{2}\xi^{M}.$$
 (4.30)

One can then rotate $Z^{M^0N^0}$ into a full-rank part and zero-matrices as in (4.27). The fields A^0_{μ} and $B_{0\,\mu\nu}$ then also take part in the procedure of extracting the propagating degrees of freedom. As already mentioned several times, we nevertheless set $\xi_M = 0$ in the following.

In this thesis we are interested in deriving the Lagrangian around a vacuum of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory. In order to extract the propagating fields we therefore slightly modify the approach which we have just described since this proves convenient for our purposes. We start with the democratic formulation of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity reviewed in section 4.1 including the mentioned redundancies. Let us then assume that we have found a vacuum in which all scalars, *i.e.* $\langle \mathcal{V}_M{}^m \rangle$, $\langle \mathcal{V}_M{}^a \rangle$, $\langle \Sigma \rangle$, acquire a VEV. In analogy to (4.22) we define

$$B^m_{\mu\nu} := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle_M{}^m B^M_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \qquad B^a_{\mu\nu} := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle_M{}^a B^M_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.31a)$$

$$A^m_{\mu} := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle_M{}^m A^M_{\mu}, \qquad \qquad A^a_{\mu} := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle_M{}^a A^M_{\mu}. \qquad (4.31b)$$

Similarly we can introduce the gauge parameters (Λ^m, Λ^a) and (Ξ^m_μ, Ξ^a_μ) by setting

$$\Lambda^m := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle_M^m \Lambda^M, \qquad \Lambda^a := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle_M^a \Lambda^M, \qquad (4.32a)$$

$$\Xi^m_{\mu} := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle_M{}^m \Xi^M_{\mu} , \qquad \qquad \Xi^a_{\mu} := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle_M{}^a \Xi^M_{\mu} . \qquad (4.32b)$$

In this rotated basis the gauge transformations (4.21) read

$$\delta A^m_\mu = D_\mu \Lambda^m + \frac{1}{2} \xi^{mn} \Xi_{\mu n} - \frac{1}{2} \xi^{ma} \Xi_{\mu a} , \qquad (4.33a)$$

$$\delta A^{a}_{\mu} = D_{\mu} \Lambda^{a} + \frac{1}{2} \xi^{am} \Xi_{\mu m} - \frac{1}{2} \xi^{ab} \Xi_{\mu b} . \qquad (4.33b)$$

The elimination of redundant vectors and tensors is now carried out for the fluctuations around the vacuum rather than at a general point in the unbroken theory.

Note that there exist orthogonal matrices S such that the contracted embedding tensors (4.22) transform as

$$S^{T}\left(\frac{\xi^{mn} \mid \xi^{mb}}{\xi^{an} \mid \xi^{ab}}\right) S = \left(\frac{\xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}} \mid \mathbf{0}^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\bar{\mathcal{N}}}}{\mathbf{0}^{\bar{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}} \mid \mathbf{0}^{\bar{\mathcal{M}}\bar{\mathcal{N}}}}\right)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{M}}, \hat{\mathcal{N}} = 1, \dots, \operatorname{rank}(\xi^{MN}), \qquad \bar{\mathcal{M}}, \bar{\mathcal{N}} = \operatorname{rank}(\xi^{MN}) + 1, \dots, 5 + n,$$

$$(4.34)$$

where $(\xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}})$ is a full-rank matrix. In particular one can even choose an orthogonal matrix S such that $\langle \xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}} \rangle$ is block diagonal

$$\langle \xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}} \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 \varepsilon & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ 0 & \cdots & \gamma_{n_T} \varepsilon \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (4.35)$$

where $n_T = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{rank}(\xi_{MN})$, which turns out to be the number of complex tensors. Furthermore the $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_{n_T}$ are constants, and ε is the two-dimensional epsilon tensor. The indices $\mathcal{M}, \ \hat{\mathcal{M}}, \ \bar{\mathcal{M}}$ are raised and lowered with the Kronecker delta. Along the same lines as before, by inverting $\langle \xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}} \rangle$ and partial gauge fixing, we find that the propagating degrees of freedom in the vacuum are captured by $A^{\bar{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu}$ and $B_{\mu\nu\,\hat{\mathcal{M}}}$, where

$$(A^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}) = \begin{pmatrix} A^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu} \\ A^{\bar{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu} \end{pmatrix} := S^{T} \begin{pmatrix} A^{m}_{\mu} \\ A^{a}_{\mu} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (B_{\mu\nu\,\mathcal{M}}) = \begin{pmatrix} B_{\mu\nu\,\hat{\mathcal{M}}} \\ B_{\mu\nu\,\bar{\mathcal{M}}} \end{pmatrix} := S^{T} \begin{pmatrix} B_{\mu\nu\,m} \\ B_{\mu\nu\,a} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.36)

The gauge transformations are defined similarly, and one easily checks that the complement fields $A^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu}$ and $B_{\mu\nu\,\bar{\mathcal{M}}}$ can be eliminated from the action. For later convenience let us also define the dual elements

$$(A^{*\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}) = \begin{pmatrix} A^{*\hat{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu} \\ A^{*\bar{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu} \end{pmatrix} := S^{T}\eta S \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}} \\ A^{\bar{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu} \end{pmatrix} = S^{T}\eta \begin{pmatrix} A^{m}_{\mu} \\ A^{a}_{\mu} \end{pmatrix} \Big|_{A^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu} \equiv \mathbf{0}}, \quad (4.37a)$$

$$(B^{*}_{\mu\nu\,\mathcal{M}}) = \begin{pmatrix} B^{*}_{\mu\nu\,\hat{\mathcal{M}}} \\ B^{*}_{\mu\nu\,\bar{\mathcal{M}}} \end{pmatrix} := S^{T}\eta S \begin{pmatrix} B_{\mu\nu\,\hat{\mathcal{M}}} \\ \mathbf{0}_{\bar{\mathcal{M}}} \end{pmatrix} = S^{T}\eta \begin{pmatrix} B_{\mu\nu\,m} \\ B_{\mu\nu\,a} \end{pmatrix} \Big|_{B^{\mu\nu\,\bar{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu\nu\,\bar{\mathcal{M}}} \equiv \mathbf{0}}, \quad (4.37b)$$

where $\eta = \text{diag}(-1, -1, -1, -1, -1, +1, \dots, +1)$. Already at this stage it becomes obvious that the number of complex massive tensors is always given by $\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{rank}(\xi_{MN})$. Moreover a closer look at the Lagrangian (4.18) shows that the charge of the tensors is independent of the vacuum. This will become important in section 5.2. Unfortunately for the vectors such simple statements are not possible since most of the properties depend crucially on the precise form of the vacuum.

4.3 The Theory Around the Vacuum

Having studied the redefinition of vectors and tensors in order to isolate the propagating degrees of freedom we are now in a position to derive crucial parts of the action around a general vacuum. In particular, we display the mass terms and charges of the scalars and tensors as well as the field strengths, Chern-Simons terms and mass terms of the vectors in a general form which depends on the (field-dependent) contracted embedding tensors (4.22). Inserting the expressions for the latter for a certain example one is interested in then easily yields the precise spectrum and the action. Furthermore we derive the formulae for the cosmological constant as well as the gravitino masses.

Before writing down the Lagrangian, let us define the fluctuations of the scalars σ and \mathcal{V} around their VEVs

$$\sigma = \langle \sigma \rangle + \tilde{\sigma} \,, \tag{4.38a}$$

$$\mathcal{V} = \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle \exp\left(\phi^{ma}[t_{ma}]\right), \qquad (4.38b)$$

4.3. THE THEORY AROUND THE VACUUM

where $[t_{ma}]_M^N = 2\delta_{[m}^N \eta_{a]M}$. The ϕ^{ma} capture the unconstrained fluctuations around the VEVs of the coset representatives. We also define indices $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}, \ldots$ in expressions like $f_{\mathcal{M}ma}$ using the same transformation as in (4.34). Furthermore we set

$$\eta_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}} := (S^T \eta S)_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}}, \qquad (4.39)$$

where S is the matrix of (4.34) and $\eta = \text{diag}(-1, -1, -1, -1, -1, +1, \dots, +1)$.

The relevant part of the Lagrangian of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity around the vacuum then reads

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{16\sqrt{2}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda\sigma} \xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}} B^*_{\mu\nu\,\hat{\mathcal{M}}} \mathcal{D}_{\rho} B^*_{\lambda\sigma\,\hat{\mathcal{N}}} - \frac{1}{16} \Sigma^2 \xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}} \xi^{\hat{\mu}}_{\hat{\mathcal{M}}} B^*_{\mu\nu\,\hat{\mathcal{N}}} B^{*\mu\nu}_{\hat{\mathcal{P}}} - \frac{1}{4} \Sigma^2 F^{\bar{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}_{\bar{\mathcal{M}}} - \frac{1}{4} \Sigma^{-4} F^0_{\mu\nu} F^{0\,\mu\nu} - \frac{\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda\sigma}}{\sqrt{2}} A^0_{\mu} \left(\partial_{\nu} A^*_{\rho} \bar{\mathcal{M}} \partial_{\lambda} A_{\sigma\,\bar{\mathcal{M}}} - f_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}\mathcal{P}} A^*_{\nu} \mathcal{M} A^*_{\rho} \partial_{\lambda} A^*_{\sigma} - \frac{1}{4} \xi_{\hat{\mathcal{N}}\hat{\mathcal{P}}} A^*_{\nu} A^*_{\rho} \partial_{\lambda} A^*_{\sigma} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \phi^{ma} - \xi^{ma} A^0_{\mu} - f_{\mathcal{M}} {}^{ma} A^*_{\mu} \right) \left(\mathcal{D}^{\mu} \phi_{ma} - \xi_{ma} A^{0\,\mu} - f^{\mathcal{N}}_{ma} A^{*\mu}_{\mathcal{N}} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \tilde{\sigma} \, \partial^{\mu} \tilde{\sigma} - \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{M}^2_{ma\,nb} \, \phi^{ma} \phi^{nb} - \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{M}^2 \, \tilde{\sigma}^2 - \mathbf{M}^2_{ma} \, \phi^{ma} \tilde{\sigma} \,, \qquad (4.40)$$

with

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\phi^{ma} := \partial_{\mu}\phi^{ma} - A^{0}_{\mu}\phi^{nb}\left(\xi_{b}^{a}\delta^{m}_{n} - \xi_{n}^{m}\delta^{a}_{b}\right) - A^{*\mathcal{M}}_{\mu}\phi^{nb}\left(f_{\mathcal{M}b}^{a}\delta^{m}_{n} - f_{\mathcal{M}n}^{m}\delta^{a}_{b}\right),$$
(4.41a)

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rho}B^*_{\lambda\sigma\hat{\mathcal{N}}} := \partial_{\rho}B^*_{\lambda\sigma\hat{\mathcal{N}}} - \xi^{\hat{\mathcal{P}}\hat{\mathcal{Q}}} \eta_{\hat{\mathcal{N}}\hat{\mathcal{Q}}} A^0_{\rho} B^*_{\lambda\sigma\hat{\mathcal{P}}}, \qquad (4.41b)$$

$$F^{\mathcal{M}}_{\mu\nu} := 2 \,\partial_{[\mu} A^{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu]} - f_{\mathcal{NP}}{}^{\mathcal{M}} A^{*\mathcal{N}}_{\mu} A^{*\mathcal{P}}_{\nu}, \qquad (4.41c)$$

$$F^{0}_{\mu\nu} := 2 \,\partial_{[\mu} A^{0}_{\nu]} \,, \tag{4.41d}$$

and

$$\mathbf{M}_{ma\,nb}^{2} := \Sigma^{-2} \Big(f_{abp} f_{mn}^{p} + f_{abc} f_{mn}^{c} + f_{anp} f_{mb}^{p} + f_{anc} f_{mb}^{c} + \delta_{mn} f_{acp} f_{b}^{cp} + \delta_{ab} f_{mcp} f_{n}^{cp} \Big) \\ + \frac{1}{3\sqrt{2}} \Sigma \Big(3 \varepsilon_{mnpqr} f_{ab}^{p} \xi^{qr} + 6 \varepsilon_{mnpqr} f_{a}^{pq} \xi_{b}^{r} + \varepsilon_{mnpqr} f^{pqr} \xi_{ab} \\ + \frac{3}{2} \delta_{ab} \varepsilon_{mspqr} f_{n}^{sp} \xi^{qr} - \delta_{ab} \varepsilon_{mspqr} f^{spq} \xi_{n}^{r} \Big)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{4} \Big(2 \xi_{mn} \xi_{ab} + 2 \xi_{mb} \xi_{an} + \delta_{mn} \xi_{ac} \xi_{b}^{c} + \delta_{mn} \xi_{ap} \xi_{b}^{p} + \delta_{ab} \xi_{mp} \xi_{n}^{p} + \delta_{ab} \xi_{mc} \xi_{n}^{c} \Big),$$

$$2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1) \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (-1) \sum_{m=0}^{$$

$$\mathbf{M}^{2} := \Sigma^{-2} \left(-\frac{1}{9} f_{mnp} f^{mnp} + \frac{1}{3} f_{mna} f^{mna} \right) + \frac{4}{3} \Sigma^{4} \xi^{ma} \xi_{ma} + \frac{1}{18\sqrt{2}} \Sigma \varepsilon_{mnpqr} f^{mnp} \xi^{qr} ,$$
(4.42b)

$$\mathbf{M}_{ma}^{2} := -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \Sigma^{-2} f_{a}^{bn} f_{mbn} + \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \Sigma^{4} \Big(\xi_{ab} \xi_{m}^{b} + \xi_{an} \xi_{m}^{n} \Big) \\ + \frac{1}{6\sqrt{6}} \varepsilon_{mnpqr} \Sigma \Big(3 f_{a}^{np} \xi^{qr} - 2 f^{npq} \xi_{a}^{r} \Big) .$$
(4.42c)

We stress that (4.40) is not the full bosonic Lagrangian around the vacuum since there are additional couplings which are not displayed. However, around an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum, which is the kind of vacuum we are most interested in, the included terms together with the residual supersymmetry turn out to be sufficient to determine the full effective action apart from the metric on the quaternionic manifold. In fact, as we discuss in more detail along our analysis in subsection 5.3.2, the effective theory is inferred by knowing the gauge symmetry, Chern-Simons terms as well as the masses and charges of the fields. This data is indeed captured by (4.40), at least for the bosonic sector. It is also important to keep in mind that all contracted embedding tensors are meant to be evaluated in the vacuum.

Let us comment on some of the properties of the action (4.40). Closer inspection of (4.40) shows that the scalars ϕ^{ma} are coupled to the vectors with standard minimal couplings as well as with Stückelberg couplings. This implies that some of the scalars ϕ^{ma} constitute the longitudinal degrees of freedom of massive vectors. We also see that it is in general possible to preserve a non-Abelian gauge group in the vacuum corresponding to a subset of the $A^{\tilde{\mathcal{M}}}_{\mu}$. For this non-Abelian subgroup the corresponding Chern-Simons terms can in general appear. The tensors are in general charged only under a U(1) gauge symmetry. As already mentioned, the number of massive tensors is given by $\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{rank}(\xi_{MN})$ which is obvious in (4.40) since their mass matrix, determined by $\xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}}$, is full-rank. In contrast, note that the mass matrices of vectors and scalars are in general not full-rank.

To proceed further one has to specify the precise form of the contracted embedding tensors to study the spectrum and the action case by case. In particular, one has to diagonalize the mass matrices or gauge-interaction matrices of all fields, normalize the kinetic terms, and possibly complexify the fields. We explicitly carry out this procedure for the special case of vanishing f_{MNP} in subsection 5.3.1 and for examples of consistent truncations in section 7.2 and section 7.3 although not presenting all the details of the computations. The standard form for the Lagrangians of the massive fields are displayed in (2.26).

To close this general discussion, let us comment on the cosmological constant in the vacuum. It can be extracted from the value of the scalar potential, which reads in terms of contracted embedding tensors

$$V = -\frac{1}{12}\Sigma^{-2}f^{mnp}f_{mnp} + \frac{1}{4}\Sigma^{-2}f^{mna}f_{mna} + \frac{1}{4}\Sigma^{4}\xi^{am}\xi_{am} + \frac{1}{6\sqrt{2}}\Sigma\varepsilon_{mnpqr}f^{mnp}\xi^{qr}.$$
(4.43)

Furthermore, since we are in particular interested in vacua preserving $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry, it is desirable to formulate a general condition for a certain set of contracted embedding tensors. Since massless gravitini are in one-to-one correspondence with preserved supersymmetries, the remaining amount of supersymmetry in the vacuum can be determined from the mass terms of the gravitini (4.25). The four eigenvalues of the

4.4. GENERAL PROPERTIES OF MINKOWSKI VACUA

mass matrix $(\mathbf{M}_{\psi i}^{j})$ denoted by $\pm m_{\psi \pm}$ are given by [76]

$$m_{\psi\pm} = \sqrt{2 \,\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn} \,\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,mn} \mp \sqrt{8 \left(\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn} \,\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,mn}\right)^2 - 16 \,\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn} \,\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,np} \,\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{pq} \,\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,qm}}} \,. \tag{4.44}$$

Additionally the masses of the gravitini receive contributions from a possibly non-trivial cosmological constant $\Lambda = \langle V \rangle$

$$\delta m_{\psi} = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{4} \sqrt{-\langle V \rangle} \,. \tag{4.45}$$

The condition for preserved $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry can then be formulated as

$$m_{\psi+} - \delta m_{\psi} \stackrel{!}{=} 0. \qquad (4.46)$$

We have now provided all formulae to check, given a set of contracted embedding tensors, if the associated vacuum preserves supersymmetry and has a non-trivial cosmological constant. The spectrum and the most relevant terms of the Lagrangian are calculated easily using (4.40). In the next section we characterize the subclass of Minkowski vacua according to their amount of preserved supersymmetry.

4.4 General Properties of Minkowski Vacua

Let us for this section assume that we have found a vacuum of the original $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory with

$$\langle V \rangle = 0 \tag{4.47}$$

which is by definition of Minkowski type.⁶ Therefore $\delta m_{\psi} = 0$ in (4.45) and the gravitino masses are simply given by (4.44). Noting that the sum $\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn} \mathbf{M}_{\psi mn}$ is quadratic in each summand there are only three qualitatively different possibilities for gravitino masses and thus for the amount of preserved supersymmetry in the vacuum which we list in Table 4.1. We stress that we do not aim for a classification of possible vacua but rather investigate properties of certain classes of vacua. Since in the following we are mainly interested in partial supersymmetry breaking vacua from $\mathcal{N} = 4 \rightarrow \mathcal{N} = 2$, let us focus on the solutions to the second condition in Table 4.1

$$\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn}\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,np}\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{pq}\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,qm} = \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn}\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,mn})(\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{pq}\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,pq}) \neq 0.$$
(4.48)

First we bring the antisymmetric matrix \mathbf{M}_{ψ}^{mn} into block diagonal form by orthogonal transformations

$$\mathbf{M}_{\psi} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} m_1 \varepsilon & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_2 \varepsilon & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (4.49)$$

⁶We provide explicit examples of Minkowski vacua in the upcoming chapters.

Supersymmetry	Condition		
$\mathcal{N}=4$	$\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn}=0 orall m,n$		
$\mathcal{N}=2$	$\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn}\mathbf{M}_{\psinp}\mathbf{M}_{\psinp}^{pq}\mathbf{M}_{\psiqm} = \frac{1}{4}(\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn}\mathbf{M}_{\psimn})(\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{pq}\mathbf{M}_{\psipq}) \neq 0$		
$\mathcal{N} = 0$	all others		

Table 4.1: We collect the characterization for the amount of supersymmetry in Minkowski vacua.

where ε is the two-dimensional epsilon tensor and $m_1, m_2 \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the expression for the gravitino masses (4.44) becomes

$$m_{\psi\pm} = 2|m_1 \mp m_2|. \tag{4.50}$$

The condition (4.48) then just states that

$$m_1 = \pm m_2 \neq 0 \tag{4.51}$$

in order to preserve $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry.

Finally let us provide the group-theoretical interpretation for (4.48). When we go from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry, the R-symmetry USp(4) is broken as follows

$$USp(4) \to SU(2)_R \times SU(2)_F$$

$$(4.52)$$

with $SU(2)_R$ the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ R-symmetry and $SU(2)_F$ the residual flavor symmetry. Not that \mathbf{M}_{ψ}^{mn} are Lie algebra elements of $\mathfrak{so}(5) \cong \mathfrak{usp}(4)$ acting in the fundamental representation, which can be derived from (4.23). The group-theoretical decomposition of traces in the fundamental representation into Casimirs then yields the following constraint

$$\operatorname{tr}_{f}^{\mathfrak{so}(5)}\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{4} \stackrel{!}{=} \operatorname{tr}_{f}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_{R} \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_{F}}\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{4}$$

$$= B_{f}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_{R} \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_{F}} \operatorname{tr}_{f}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_{R} (\oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_{F})}\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{4} + C_{f}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_{R} \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_{F}} \left(\operatorname{tr}_{f}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_{R} \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_{F}}\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{2}\right)^{2}.$$

$$(4.53)$$

One can then look up the values for the Casimirs (e.g. by using the results of subsection E.2.3)

$$B_f^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_R \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_F} = 0, \qquad C_f^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_R \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_F} = \frac{1}{4}. \qquad (4.54)$$

Inserting these quantities into (4.53) we then obtain precisely the condition (4.48).

Chapter 5

General Solution for Abelian Magnetic Gaugings

In this chapter we classify all possible vacua of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity in five dimensions with

$$f_{MNP} = \xi_M = 0. (5.1)$$

In particular, for the general category of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacua we derive the spectrum of massive tensors and massive gravitini which enter via a tensorial Higgs mechanism and a super-Higgs mechanism. Finally we give the complete spectrum and parts of the effective action around the vacuum including corrections to Chern-Simons terms which are independent of the supersymmetry-breaking scale.

5.1 Vacuum Conditions

In order to find the vacua of the theory with $f_{MNP} = \xi_M = 0$ we consider the scalar potential in (4.43) which now takes the form

$$V = \frac{1}{4} \Sigma^4 \xi^{am} \xi_{am} \,, \tag{5.2}$$

where we have used (4.22). The fact that the indices a and m are raised by the Kronecker delta implies that the scalar potential is a sum of positive semi-definite terms.

Determining the minima of this potential is trivial. The derivative with respect to Σ yields

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial V}{\partial \Sigma} \right\rangle = \left\langle \Sigma^3 \xi^{am} \xi_{am} \right\rangle \stackrel{!}{=} 0.$$
 (5.3)

Since the left-hand-side of this equation is a sum of non-negative terms (Σ is always

positive), the solution simply reads¹

$$\langle \xi^{am} \rangle \stackrel{!}{=} 0 \qquad \forall a, m.$$
 (5.4)

The potential at this point takes the value

$$\langle V \rangle \big|_{\langle \xi^{am} \rangle = 0} = 0.$$
(5.5)

The remaining derivatives with respect to the scalars in the vector multiplets are trivially vanishing since the potential is positive semi-definite.

In summary, for vanishing embedding tensors f_{MNP} , ξ_M the vacua are characterized by the condition $\langle \xi^{am} \rangle = 0$ for all a, m. Due to (5.5) all such vacua are necessarily Minkowskian. The amount of preserved supersymmetry can therefore be inferred from Table 4.1 or (4.50) using

$$\mathbf{M}_{\psi}^{mn} = -\frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \xi^{mn} \,, \tag{5.6}$$

i.e. by determining the eigenvalues of $\langle \xi^{mn} \rangle$. In particular, we obtain an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum if $\langle \xi^{mn} \rangle$ can be brought into the following form using orthogonal transformations

$$\langle \xi^{mn} \rangle \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \gamma \varepsilon & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma \varepsilon & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.7)

with $\gamma > 0$.

5.2 Tensorial Higgs and Super-Higgs Mechanism

In the rest of this chapter we assume that the vacuum preserves $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry. As just mentioned, this means that $\langle \xi^{mn} \rangle$ can be brought into the form (5.7). Furthermore we note that because of the vacuum condition (5.4) the matrix of contracted embedding tensors becomes blockdiagonal

$$\left(\begin{array}{c|c} \langle \xi^{mn} \rangle & \langle \xi^{mb} \rangle \\ \hline \langle \xi^{an} \rangle & \langle \xi^{ab} \rangle \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \langle \xi^{mn} \rangle & \mathbf{0}^{mb} \\ \hline \mathbf{0}^{an} & \langle \xi^{ab} \rangle \end{array}\right) .$$
(5.8)

In order to single out the propagating degrees of freedom, as explained in section 4.2, we have to determine the full-rank part $\langle \xi^{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}} \rangle$ which we introduced in (4.34) and (4.35).

¹Let us stress once more that ξ^{am} is a field-dependent quantity.

It is easy to see that the constants $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_{n_T}$ defined in (4.35) are obtained from $\langle \xi^{mn} \rangle$ and $\langle \xi^{ab} \rangle$ by decoupled orthogonal transformations

$$\langle \xi^{mn} \rangle \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 \varepsilon & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma_2 \varepsilon & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \langle \xi^{ab} \rangle \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_3 \varepsilon & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ & & \gamma_{n_T} \varepsilon & & \vdots \\ & & & 0 & & \\ \vdots & & & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & & \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.9)

Note again that we demand

$$\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 \equiv \gamma > 0 \,, \tag{5.10}$$

which is the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ condition. We conclude that

$$n_T = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{rank} \langle \xi^{mn} \rangle + \operatorname{rank} \langle \xi^{ab} \rangle \right).$$
 (5.11)

The index split introduced in (4.34)

$$\mathcal{M} \to (\hat{\mathcal{M}}, \bar{\mathcal{M}})$$
 (5.12)

into a full-rank part and a null-part induces the corresponding split in (5.9)

$$m \to (\hat{m}, \bar{m}), \qquad a \to (\hat{a}, \bar{a}), \qquad (5.13)$$

again into full-rank parts labeled by \hat{m} , \hat{a} and null-parts labeled by \bar{m} , \bar{a} . According to the analysis in section 4.2 the propagating tensors are given by $B_{\hat{m}}$, $B_{\hat{a}}$ and the propagating vectors by $A^{\bar{m}}$, $A^{\bar{a}}$.

The part of the tensor fields in the Lagrangian (4.40) can now be simplified by using the quantities $\gamma, \gamma_3, \ldots, \gamma_{n_T}$ defined in (5.9). The appearance of the two-dimensional epsilon tensor in these expressions makes it natural to define the *complex* tensors out of the $B_{\hat{\mathcal{M}}}$

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha} := B_{2\alpha-1} + iB_{2\alpha} , \qquad \alpha = 1, 2 , \qquad (5.14a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{\check{a}} := B_{2\check{a}-1} + iB_{2\check{a}}, \qquad \check{a} = 3, \dots, n_T.$$
 (5.14b)

One can show that the α index corresponds to the fundamental representation of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ R-symmetry group $SU(2)_R$. Here and in the following we will use boldface symbols to denote complex fields. Inserting these definitions together with (5.9) into (4.40) we find for the tensor fields²

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{B} = -\frac{1}{16} \left[i \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda\sigma} \gamma \bar{\boldsymbol{B}}^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} (\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{B}_{\lambda\sigma\,\alpha} + i\gamma \boldsymbol{B}_{\lambda\sigma\,\alpha} A^{0}_{\rho}) + \Sigma^{2} \gamma^{2} \bar{\boldsymbol{B}}^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{B}^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha} \right] - \frac{1}{16} \sum_{\check{a}} \left[i \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda\sigma} \gamma_{\check{a}} \bar{\boldsymbol{B}}_{\mu\nu\,\check{a}} (\partial_{\rho} \boldsymbol{B}_{\lambda\sigma\,\check{a}} - i\gamma_{\check{a}} \boldsymbol{B}_{\lambda\sigma\,\check{a}} A^{0}_{\rho}) + \Sigma^{2} \gamma^{2}_{\check{a}} \bar{\boldsymbol{B}}_{\mu\nu\,\check{a}} \boldsymbol{B}^{\mu\nu}_{\check{a}} \right].$$

$$(5.15)$$

²In analogy to the fermions we define $\bar{\boldsymbol{B}}^{\alpha} := (\boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha})^{*}$.

 \sim

In the last step we rescale the complex tensors in order to bring the action into the standard form (2.26b)

$$(\boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{B}_{\check{a}}) \mapsto \frac{1}{2^{5/4}} \left(\sqrt{\gamma} \boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha}, \sqrt{|\gamma_{\check{a}}|} \boldsymbol{B}_{\check{a}} \right).$$
 (5.16)

We can now determine the characteristic quantities $\operatorname{sign}(m_B), |m_B|, q_B, i.e.$ the sign of the mass, its absolute value and the charge under the U(1) vector A^0

sign
$$(m_{\boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha}}) = 1$$
, $|m_{\boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha}}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \gamma$, $q_{\boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha}} = -\gamma$, (5.17a)

$$\operatorname{sign}(m_{\boldsymbol{B}_{\check{a}}}) = \operatorname{sign}(\gamma_{\check{a}}), \qquad |m_{\boldsymbol{B}_{\check{a}}}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 |\gamma_{\check{a}}|, \qquad q_{\boldsymbol{B}_{\check{a}}} = \gamma_{\check{a}}.$$
(5.17b)

This concludes our discussion of the massive tensors. We have found that evaluated around the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum there are n_T complex massive tensors $(\boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{B}_{\check{\alpha}})$ with standard action (2.26b) and characteristic data (5.17).

The propagating U(1) vector fields $A^0, A^{\bar{m}}, A^{\bar{a}}$ stay massless in the vacuum since the Stückelberg couplings to scalars in the Lagrangian (4.40) vanish due to our choice of gaugings and the vacuum condition $\langle \xi^{am} \rangle = 0$. For convenience we summarize the split of the fields induced by ξ^{MN} in Table 5.1.

	Rotation with $\langle \mathcal{V} \rangle$	ξ^{MN} -split	Physical degrees
	$(A^m B_m)$	$(A^{\bar{m}}, B_{\bar{m}})$	$A^{\bar{m}}$ massless
(A^M, B_M)	(11, 2m)	$(A^{\hat{m}}, B_{\hat{m}})$	${oldsymbol{B}}_{lpha}$ complex, massive
	$(A^a B_a)$	$(A^{\bar{a}}, B_{\bar{a}})$	$A^{\bar{a}}$ massless
		$(A^{\hat{a}}, B_{\hat{a}})$	$\boldsymbol{B}_{\check{a}}$ complex, massive

Table 5.1: We summarize the natural split of A^M and B_M induced by ξ^{MN} .

As we have already mentioned, in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ broken phase of an $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory a gravitino mass term has to be generated for half of the gravitino degrees of freedom. This mass arises in the sector of the flavor $SU(2)_F$ subgroup of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ R-symmetry group USp(4). In fact, two gravitini eat up two spin-1/2 goldstini from the gravity multiplet and become massive. In this super-Higgs mechanism the massive gravitini acquire four extra degrees of freedom. The appropriate description of the massive fields is in terms of a single Dirac spin-3/2 fermion ψ_{μ} without a symplectic Majorana condition. The massive gravitino combines with the two massive complex tensors B_{α} from the former gravity multiplet into a massive $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gravitino multiplet (ψ_{μ}, B_{α}). The construction of such a half-BPS multiplet has been investigated in [77]. In the following we will briefly discuss the super-Higgs mechanism and determine the mass and U(1) charge of the gravitino multiplet.

Let us first consider the four $\mathcal{N} = 4$ symplectic Majorana gravitini ψ^i_{μ} and the spin-1/2 fermions in the gravity multiplet χ^i . These split under the breaking

$$USp(4) \to SU(2)_R \times SU(2)_F \tag{5.18}$$

into ψ^{α}_{μ} , $\psi^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\mu}$ and χ^{α} , $\chi^{\dot{\alpha}}$, respectively. The index $\alpha = 1, 2$ refers to the fundamental representation of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ R-symmetry group $SU(2)_R$, while $\dot{\alpha} = 1, 2$ corresponds to the flavor $SU(2)_F$ part. Both indices are raised and lowered with the epsilon tensor analogous to (4.2) and (4.3). From the fermionic part of the Lagrangian [46,47] it turns out that all fermion bilinears involving ψ^{α}_{μ} and χ^{α} vanish in the vacuum leaving only the kinetic terms for these fields when one uses the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum conditions (4.46) and (5.4). Thus we find two massless spin- $^{3}/_{2}$ symplectic Majorana fermions ψ^{α}_{μ} and two massless spin- $^{1}/_{2}$ symplectic Majorana fermions χ^{α} . We note that throughout this part all massless fermionic $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fields are taken to be symplectic Majorana.

We proceed with the investigation of the remaining fields $\psi^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\mu}$ and $\chi^{\dot{\alpha}}$. The $\chi^{\dot{\alpha}}$ actually are the goldstini that render the $\psi^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\mu}$ massive and can be removed from the action by a shift of the gravitini analogous to the one performed in [45, 78]. It is furthermore convenient to merge the two symplectic Majorana fermions $\psi^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\mu}$ into a single unconstrained Dirac spinor³

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\boldsymbol{\mu}} := \psi_{\boldsymbol{\mu}}^{\dot{\alpha}=1} \,, \tag{5.19}$$

and $\psi_{\mu}^{\dot{\alpha}=2}$ is also replaced appropriately by ψ_{μ} using the symplectic Majorana condition. The Lagrangian then reads

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\text{mass grav}} = -\bar{\psi}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\nu\rho}\mathcal{D}_{\nu}\psi_{\rho} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^{2}\gamma\,\bar{\psi}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\psi_{\nu}\,,\qquad(5.20)$$

with $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\nu} + i\gamma A^{0}_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\nu}$, and γ is defined in (5.7).

To conclude this section we compare the action (5.20) with the standard form (2.26c) We find that ψ is in the $(1, \frac{1}{2})$ representation of the little group and carries mass and A^0_{μ} -charge

$$sign(m_{\psi}) = 1, \qquad |m_{\psi}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \gamma, \qquad q_{\psi} = -\gamma.$$
 (5.21)

These data will be crucial in evaluating the one-loop corrections induced by the massive gravitino multiplet in the next section. Note that the massive Dirac gravitino ψ indeed combines with the massive tensors B_{α} into a massive gravitino multiplet.

³We could also choose $\psi_{\mu} := \psi_{\mu}^{\dot{\alpha}=2}$ which flips the representation and the charge under A^{0}_{μ} since both descriptions are equivalent.

5.3 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Mass Spectrum and Effective Action

In this section we determine the complete spectrum parameterizing the fluctuations around the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum. We determine the masses and U(1)-charges of all fields and show how they reassemble into $\mathcal{N} = 2$ multiplets in subsection 5.3.1. Furthermore, we derive the low-energy effective action of the massless modes with particular focus on the data determining the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector sector. The classical truncation from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ is discussed in subsection 5.3.2. The crucial inclusion of one-loop quantum corrections due to integrating out massive fermions and tensors is discussed in subsection 5.3.3. These induce extra contributions to the metric and Chern-Simons terms that are independent of the scale of supersymmetry breaking.

5.3.1 The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Spectrum

 ξ^{ab}

The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ spectrum and its properties can be determined by evaluating the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ action in the vicinity of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum. To read off the masses and charges all kinetic terms and mass terms have to be brought into canonical form after spontaneous symmetry breaking. This diagonalization procedure is rather lengthy and therefore partially deferred to Appendix B. In the following we highlight some of the basic steps and summarize the results.

The key ingredients in the mass generation are the gaugings ξ^{MN} . Recall that in the scalar background we rotated ξ^{MN} to ξ^{mn} , ξ^{ab} and found the components

$$\xi^{mn} \to \xi^{\hat{m}\hat{n}} , \qquad \xi^{\bar{m}\hat{n}} = \xi^{\bar{m}\bar{m}} = 0 , \qquad (5.22a)$$

$$\rightarrow \xi^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}, \qquad \qquad \xi^{\bar{a}\hat{b}} = \xi^{\bar{a}\bar{b}} = 0, \qquad (5.22b)$$

where $\xi^{\hat{m}\hat{n}}$ and $\xi^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$ have maximal rank. This yielded the natural index split

$$\begin{array}{rcl} m & \rightarrow & (\bar{m}, \hat{m}) & \rightarrow & (\bar{m}, [\alpha 1], [\alpha 2]) \,, \\ a & \rightarrow & (\bar{a}, \hat{a}) & \rightarrow & (\bar{a}, [\check{a}1], [\check{a}2]) \,. \end{array}$$

$$(5.23)$$

Here the splitting of \hat{m} into $[\alpha 1], [\alpha 2]$ and the splitting of \hat{a} into $[\check{a}1], [\check{a}2]$ arise due to the block diagonalization in (5.9) with the first index α , \check{a} labeling the blocks and the second index labeling the two entries of each block. In order to extract the massless and massive scalar spectrum recall that in (4.38b) we introduced ϕ^{ma} as the unconstrained fluctuations around the vacuum value $\langle \mathcal{V} \rangle$. They constitute the scalar degrees of freedom in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ effective theory. Due to the index split (5.23) we need to apply the split also to the scalars

$$\phi^{ma} \rightarrow \left(\phi^{\bar{m}\bar{a}}, \phi^{\bar{m}[\check{a}1]}, \phi^{\bar{m}[\check{a}2]}, \phi^{[\alpha 1]\bar{a}}, \phi^{[\alpha 1][\check{a}1]}, \phi^{[\alpha 1][\check{a}2]}, \phi^{[\alpha 2]\bar{a}}, \phi^{[\alpha 2][\check{a}1]}, \phi^{[\alpha 2][\check{a}2]}\right) .$$
(5.24)

To treat these more compactly we introduce, just as for the tensors in (5.14), the

complex scalars

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}^{\alpha \bar{a}} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\phi^{[\alpha 1]\bar{a}} + i\phi^{[\alpha 2]\bar{a}}) , \qquad \boldsymbol{\phi}^{\bar{m}\check{a}} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\phi^{\bar{m}[\check{a}1]} + i\phi^{\bar{m}[\check{a}2]}) , \qquad (5.25a)$$

$$\phi_1^{\alpha\check{a}} := \frac{1}{2} (\phi^{[\alpha 1][\check{a}1]} - \phi^{[\alpha 2][\check{a}2]} + i\phi^{[\alpha 2][\check{a}1]} + i\phi^{[\alpha 1][\check{a}2]}), \qquad (5.25b)$$

$$\phi_2^{\alpha\check{a}} := \frac{1}{2} (\phi^{[\alpha 1][\check{a}2]} - \phi^{[\alpha 2][\check{a}1]} + i\phi^{[\alpha 2][\check{a}2]} + i\phi^{[\alpha 1][\check{a}1]}).$$
(5.25c)

Note that in this way all ϕ^{ma} of the split (5.24) except $\phi^{\bar{m}\bar{a}}$ are combined into complex scalars.

Similarly we proceed for the split of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ fermions λ_i^a . Note that as for the gravitino around (5.18) one splits $i \to (\alpha, \dot{\alpha})$. Together with the index split of a given in (5.23) one has

$$\lambda_i^a \to \left(\lambda_\alpha^{\bar{a}}, \lambda_\alpha^{[\check{a}1]}, \lambda_\alpha^{[\check{a}2]}, \lambda_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\bar{a}}, \lambda_{\dot{\alpha}}^{[\check{a}1]}, \lambda_{\dot{\alpha}}^{[\check{a}2]}\right) \,. \tag{5.26}$$

It turns out to be convenient to combine all components of λ_i^a except of $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\bar{a}}$ into complex Dirac fermions

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{\check{a}} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\lambda_{\alpha}^{[\check{a}1]} + i\lambda_{\alpha}^{[\check{a}2]}) , \qquad (5.27a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\bar{a}} := \lambda^{\bar{a}}_{\dot{\alpha}=1} , \quad \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\check{a}}_{1} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\lambda^{[\check{a}1]}_{\dot{\alpha}=1} + i\lambda^{[\check{a}2]}_{\dot{\alpha}=1}) , \quad \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\check{a}}_{2} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\lambda^{[\check{a}1]}_{\dot{\alpha}=1} - i\lambda^{[\check{a}2]}_{\dot{\alpha}=1}) .$$
(5.27b)

To justify the use of (5.27) we stress that the appearance of all spin-1/2 fermions can be expressed in terms of the unconstrained Dirac spinors $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}$, $\lambda^{\bar{a}}$, $\lambda_{1,2}^{\check{a}}$. Concerning (5.27a) the other linear combination $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\lambda_{\alpha}^{[\check{a}1]} - i\lambda_{\alpha}^{[\check{a}2]})$ is related to $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}$ by the symplectic Majorana condition. In (5.27b), by the same reasoning, the linear combinations with $\lambda_{\check{\alpha}=2}^{a}$ are related to those involving $\lambda_{\check{\alpha}=1}^{a}$. All degrees of freedom of the massive spin-1/2 fermions are therefore captured by the spinors (5.27) dropping the symplectic Majorana condition.

We are now in the position to summarize the spectrum. From the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gravity multiplet the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, two gravitini ψ^{α}_{μ} , two spin-1/2 fermions χ_{α} , two vectors $A^0, A^{\bar{m}}$, and one scalar Σ remain massless. These fields group into the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gravity multiplet $(g_{\mu\nu}, A^{\bar{m}}, \psi^{\alpha}_{\mu})$ and one $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet $(A^0, \Sigma, \chi_{\alpha})$. Note that the vector multiplet $(A^0, \Sigma, \chi_{\alpha})$ is special since the massive states, such as the tensors and gravitini discussed in section 5.2, carry A^0 -charges. In order to later derive the quantum effective action for the A^0 vector multiplet we need to determine these A^0 -charges. $n - 2(n_T - 2)$ vector multiplets $(A^{\bar{a}}, \phi^{\bar{m}\bar{a}}, \lambda^{\bar{a}}_{\alpha})$ remain massless. We have already discussed the massless vectors $A^{\bar{a}}$ in section 5.2. We check in Appendix B that the $\phi^{\bar{m}\bar{a}}$ and $\lambda^{\bar{a}}_{\alpha}$ are indeed massless.

Recall that an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ hypermultiplet has four real scalars and one Dirac spin-1/2 fermion. Using the definitions above (5.25) and (5.27) one can form the hypermultiplets

$$(\boldsymbol{\phi}^{\alpha \tilde{a}}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\tilde{a}}), \quad (\boldsymbol{\phi}_{1}^{\alpha \check{a}}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1}^{\check{a}}), \quad (\boldsymbol{\phi}_{2}^{\alpha \check{a}}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2}^{\check{a}}).$$
 (5.28)

The $n-2(n_T-2)$ hypermultiplets $(\boldsymbol{\phi}^{\alpha \bar{a}}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\bar{a}})$ are always massive since they receive masses $|m_{\bar{a}}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \gamma$ from a non-trivial $\xi^{\hat{m}\hat{n}}$. The hypermultiplets $(\boldsymbol{\phi}_{1,2}^{\alpha \check{a}}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1,2}^{\check{a}})$ can be either

massless or massive since their masses have two contributions from a non-trivial $\xi^{\hat{n}\hat{n}}$ and $\xi^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$, respectively. As we show in Appendix B, the ξ^{MN} -splits (5.9) yield masses given by

$$|m_{\tilde{a}}^{1}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^{2} |\gamma - \gamma_{\tilde{a}}|, \qquad |m_{\tilde{a}}^{2}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^{2} |\gamma + \gamma_{\tilde{a}}|, \qquad (5.29)$$

for the fields $(\phi_1^{\alpha\check{a}}, \lambda_1^{\check{a}})$ and $(\phi_2^{\alpha\check{a}}, \lambda_2^{\check{a}})$, respectively. This implies that one hypermultiplet is massless whenever the condition

$$\gamma_{\check{a}} = \pm \gamma \tag{5.30}$$

is satisfied. We denote the number of such massless hypermultiplets by n_H , and name their (pseudo-)real components $(h_{1,2,3,4}^{\Lambda}, \lambda_{1,2}^{\Lambda})$, with $\Lambda = 1, \ldots, n_H$. Due to the fact that the hypermultiplets appear in pairs the existence of a massless hypermultiplet implies the existence of a massive hypermultiplet with mass $\sqrt{2}\Sigma^2\gamma$. Furthermore, one can check that one can consistently choose all $\gamma_{\check{a}} > 0$ without changing the effective theory. In summary, one has $2(n_T - 2) - n_H$ massive hypermultiplets with mass (5.29) out of the set $(\boldsymbol{\phi}_{1,2}^{\alpha\check{a}}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1,2}^{\check{a}})$. Together with the $(\boldsymbol{\phi}^{\alpha\check{a}}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\check{a}})$ one finds in total $n - n_H$ massive hypermultiplets.

To complete the summary of the spectrum recall that in section 5.2 we have already identified and analyzed the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ massive gravitino multiplet comprising a massive Dirac gravitino ψ_{μ} and two complex massive tensors B_{α} . Furthermore, we found $n_T - 2$ complex massive tensors $B_{\tilde{\alpha}}$. They combine with the Dirac fermions $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}$ and the complex scalars $\phi^{\bar{m}\check{a}}$ into $n_T - 2$ complex massive tensor multiplets.

To conclude we list in Table 5.2 the decompositions of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ fields in terms of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ fields along with their masses and charges. The reorganization into $\mathcal{N} = 2$ multiplets can be found in Table 5.3.

5.3.2 General $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Action and Classical Matching

We are now in the position to derive the classical $\mathcal{N} = 2$ effective action for the massless modes. In order to do that we at first simply truncate the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ action to the massless sector. The discussion of the quantum corrections can then be found in the next subsection.

To begin with we recall the canonical form of a general $\mathcal{N} = 2$ ungauged supergravity theory. The dynamics of the gravity-vector sector is entirely specified in terms of a cubic potential

$$\mathcal{N} = \frac{1}{3!} k_{IJK} M^I M^J M^K \,, \tag{5.31}$$

where M^{I} , $I = 1, ..., n + 6 - 2n_{T}$ are very special real coordinates and k_{IJK} is a symmetric tensor. The M^{I} naturally combine with the vectors A^{I} of the theory. However, since the vector in the gravity multiplet is not accompanied by a scalar degree of freedom, the M^{I} have to satisfy one constraint. In fact, the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ scalar field space is
$\mathcal{N} = 4$ fields	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ fields	Mass	$\operatorname{sign}(m)$	A^0 -charge
$g_{\mu u}$	$g_{\mu u}$	0	-	0
A^0_μ	A^0_μ	0	-	0
A^{ij}_{μ}	$A^{ar{m}}_{\mu}$	0	-	0
	$oldsymbol{B}_{\mu ulpha}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2\gamma$	1	$-\gamma$
ψ^i_μ	ψ^{lpha}_{μ}	0	_	0
	$oldsymbol{\psi}_{\mu}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2\gamma$	1	$-\gamma$
χ_i	χ_{lpha}	0	-	0
	χ_{\dotlpha}	-	goldstino	-
Σ	Σ	0	-	0
A^a_μ	$A^{ar{a}}_{\mu}$	0	-	0
	$oldsymbol{B}_{\mu u\check{a}}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2 \gamma_{\check{a}} $	$\mathrm{sign}(\gamma_{\check{a}})$	$\gamma_{\check{a}}$
λ_i^a	$\lambda^{ar{a}}_{lpha}$	0	-	0
	$\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2 \gamma_{\check{a}} $	$\mathrm{sign}(\gamma_{\check{a}})$	$\gamma_{\check{a}}$
	$\boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\bar{a}}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2\gamma$	-1	γ
	$oldsymbol{\lambda}^{\check{a}}_{1,2}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2 \gamma \mp \gamma_{\check{a}} $	$\operatorname{sign}(\pm\gamma_{\check{a}}-\gamma)$	$\pm \gamma_{\check{a}} - \gamma$
ϕ^{ma}	$\phi^{ar{m}ar{a}}$	0	-	0
	$\boldsymbol{\phi}^{\alpha \bar{a}}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2\gamma$	singlet	γ
	$oldsymbol{\phi}^{ar{m}\check{a}}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2 \gamma_{\check{a}} $	singlet	$\gamma_{\check{a}}$
	$oldsymbol{\phi}_{1,2}^{lpha\check{a}}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2 \gamma \mp \gamma_{\check{a}} $	singlet	$\pm \gamma_{\check{a}} - \gamma$

Table 5.2: We show the decomposition of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ fields. The quantity sign(m) determines the representation of the little group for the massive fields, see (2.25).

Multiplets	Fields	Mass	Charge
1 gravity	$g_{\mu\nu}, A^{\bar{m}}_{\mu}, \psi^{\alpha}_{\mu}$	0	0
1 gravitino	$oldsymbol{\psi}_{\mu},oldsymbol{B}_{\mu ulpha}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2\gamma$	$-\gamma$
$(n+5-2n_T)$ vector	$A^0_\mu, \chi_lpha, \Sigma$	0	0
(**************************************	$A^{\bar{a}}_{\mu}, \lambda^{\bar{a}}_{\alpha}, \phi^{\bar{m}\bar{a}}$	0	0
$n_T - 2$ tensor	$oldsymbol{B}^{\check{a}}_{\mu u},oldsymbol{\lambda}^{\check{a}}_{lpha},oldsymbol{\phi}^{ar{m}\check{a}}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2 \gamma_{\check{a}} $	$\gamma_{\check{a}}$
<i>n</i> hyper	$oldsymbol{\lambda}^{ar{a}},oldsymbol{\phi}^{lphaar{a}}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2\gamma$	γ
<i></i>	$oldsymbol{\lambda}^{\check{a}}_{1,2},oldsymbol{\phi}^{lpha\check{a}}_{1,2}$	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2 \gamma \mp \gamma_{\check{a}} $	$\pm \gamma_{\check{a}} - \gamma$

Table 5.3: We depict the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ multiplets of the vacuum.

identified with the hypersurface

$$\mathcal{N} \stackrel{!}{=} 1 \ . \tag{5.32}$$

The gauge coupling function and the metric are obtained as

$$G_{IJ} = \left[-\frac{1}{2} \partial_{M^I} \partial_{M^J} \log \mathcal{N} \right]_{\mathcal{N}=1} .$$
 (5.33)

The bosonic two-derivative Lagrangian is then given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm can} = -\frac{1}{2}R - \frac{1}{2}G_{IJ}\partial_{\mu}M^{I}\partial^{\mu}M^{J} - \frac{1}{4}G_{IJ}F^{I}_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu J} + \frac{1}{48}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma\lambda}k_{IJK}A^{I}_{\mu}F^{J}_{\nu\rho}F^{K}_{\sigma\lambda} - H^{uv}_{\Lambda\Sigma}\partial_{\mu}h^{\Lambda}_{u}\partial^{\mu}h^{\Sigma}_{v} .$$
(5.34)

Here we included the kinetic term for the hypermultiplet scalars h_u^{Λ} with metric $H_{\Lambda\Sigma}^{uv}$.

The canonical Lagrangian (5.34) has to be compared with the truncated $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory. In our setup we found the vectors $A^{I} = (A^{0}, A^{\bar{m}}, A^{\bar{a}})$, which sets the index range for *I*. The *massless* scalars in the effective theory (except for Σ) are most conveniently described by SO(5, n)-rotated elements of the coset space

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}} := \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle^{-1} \mathcal{V} = \exp\left(\phi^{ma}[t_{ma}]\right).$$
(5.35)

This is in contrast to the analysis of the massive scalar spectrum, for which it is efficient to consider the fluctuations ϕ^{ma} as it was done in the last section. Restricting to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplets and truncating the massive modes $\phi^{\bar{m}\hat{a}}$ and $\phi^{\hat{m}\bar{a}}$, the only remaining elements of the coset space are

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}^{\ \bar{m}}, \quad \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}^{\ \bar{a}}, \quad \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{a}}^{\ \bar{m}}, \quad \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{a}}^{\ \bar{b}}.$$
 (5.36)

In fact, it turns out that all couplings involving the elements (5.36) can be expressed as functions of $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}}$ alone. In order to do that one uses the relations

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{m}} = \sqrt{1 + \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{a}}}, \qquad \qquad \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{a}}{}^{\bar{m}} = \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}}, \qquad (5.37)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{a}}{}^{\bar{c}} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{b}\bar{c}} = \delta_{\bar{a}\bar{b}} + \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{a}}{}^{\bar{m}} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{b}}{}^{\bar{m}}, \qquad \qquad \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{a}}{}^{\bar{b}} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{b}} = \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{m}} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{a}}{}^{\bar{m}}.$$

The element $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}}$ itself can be expanded as

$$\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}} = \exp\left(\phi^{\bar{m}\bar{a}}[t_{\bar{m}\bar{a}}]\right)_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}}, \qquad (5.38)$$

after truncating all massive modes. This implies in particular that $\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}}$ has no dependence on $\phi^{\hat{m}\hat{a}}$. Therefore, the effective action of the scalars in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplets decouples from the potentially massless scalars in the hypermultiplets as expected from $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry.

The reduced action then takes the simple form

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{class} = -\frac{1}{2}R - H^{uv}_{\Lambda\Sigma}\partial_{\mu}h^{\Lambda}_{u}\partial^{\mu}h^{\Sigma}_{v} - \frac{3}{2}\Sigma^{-2}\partial_{\mu}\Sigma\partial^{\mu}\Sigma - \frac{1}{2}\left(\delta_{\bar{a}\bar{b}} - \frac{1}{1+\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{c}}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{a}}}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{a}}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{b}}\right)\partial_{\mu}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}}\partial^{\mu}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{b}} - \frac{1}{4}\Sigma^{-4}F^{0}_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu0} + \Sigma^{2}\sqrt{1+\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{b}}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{b}}}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{a}}F^{\bar{m}}_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu\bar{a}} - \frac{1}{4}\Sigma^{2}\left(3+2\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{a}}\right)F^{\bar{m}}_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu\bar{m}} - \frac{1}{4}\Sigma^{2}\left(\delta_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}+2\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{a}}\hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}\bar{b}}\right)F^{\bar{a}}_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu\bar{b}} + \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma\tau}A^{0}_{\mu}F^{\bar{m}}_{\nu\rho}F^{\bar{m}}_{\sigma\tau} - \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma\tau}A^{0}_{\mu}F^{\bar{a}}_{\nu\rho}F^{\bar{a}}_{\sigma\tau},$$
(5.39)

where $H_{\Lambda\Sigma}^{uv}$ is the metric of the quaternionic manifold parametrized by the scalars in the massless hypermultiplets which we however do not discuss any further in the work of this thesis. Therefore by comparison of (5.39) with (5.34) we find the identifications

$$M^{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^{2} , \qquad M^{\bar{m}} = \Sigma^{-1} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{m}} , \qquad M^{\bar{a}} = \Sigma^{-1} \hat{\mathcal{V}}_{\bar{m}}{}^{\bar{a}} , \qquad (5.40)$$

and the real prepotential

$$\mathcal{N} = \frac{1}{2} k_{0\bar{m}\bar{m}} M^0 M^{\bar{m}} M^{\bar{m}} + \frac{1}{2} k_{0\bar{a}\bar{a}} M^0 M^{\bar{a}} M^{\bar{a}} = \sqrt{2} M^0 M^{\bar{m}} M^{\bar{m}} - \sqrt{2} M^0 M^{\bar{a}} M^{\bar{a}} .$$
(5.41)

This result specifies the constant tensors k_{IJK} at the classical level. It is interesting to realize that the constraint $\mathcal{N} \stackrel{!}{=} 1$ translates with the identifications (5.40) into the condition (4.12) for the elements of the coset space. We conclude that the very special real manifold is the coset space

$$SO(1,1) \times \frac{SO(1,n+4-2n_T)}{SO(n+4-2n_T)}$$
, (5.42)

which is the subspace of (4.7) spanned by the massless scalars in the vector multiplets.

5.3.3 One-loop Effects and Chern-Simons Terms

Now we determine the one-loop corrections to the gravity-vector sector of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory specified in subsection 5.3.2. We focus on this sector since the corrections due to integrating out massive fields are independent of the supersymmetry breaking scale and the masses of the fields running in the loop. Let us stress that due to the preserved $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry and the fact that the Chern-Simons terms can only receive constant corrections the integrating out process can only perturbatively correct the gravity-vector sector at the one-loop level.

To obtain the one-loop corrected \mathcal{N} an analysis of the Chern-Simons terms is sufficient. The expressions for the latter were stated in subsection 2.2.2, and we can simply apply these results to our setup. The one-loop corrections arise from integrating out massive fields that are charged under some gauge fields A^I . Since all massive fields are only charged under A^0 , the classical terms in (5.41) are unmodified. The fully quantum corrected result for these terms therefore reads (including combinatorial factors)

$$k_{0\bar{m}\bar{m}} = -k_{0\bar{a}\bar{a}} = 2\sqrt{2} \,. \tag{5.43}$$

We find that the massive states summarized in Table 5.2 induce the one-loop couplings

$$k_{000} = \frac{1}{2} \Big[(-1 - n + 2n_T) \gamma^3 - 2 \sum_{\check{a}} |\gamma_{\check{a}}|^3 + \sum_{\check{a}} |\gamma - \gamma_{\check{a}}|^3 + \sum_{\check{a}} |\gamma + \gamma_{\check{a}}|^3 \Big].$$
(5.44)

Furthermore, we find also the gravitational one-loop Chern-Simons coupling

$$k_{0} = -\left[(-1 - n + 2n_{T})\gamma + 10\sum_{\check{a}}|\gamma_{\check{a}}| + \sum_{\check{a}}|\gamma - \gamma_{\check{a}}| + \sum_{\check{a}}|\gamma + \gamma_{\check{a}}|\right], \quad (5.45)$$

which we included for completeness although we did not discuss these higher-curvature terms at the classical level.

The existence of new Chern-Simons couplings implies that the effective theory still sees remnants of the underlying $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory at arbitrarily low energy scales. In fact, the mass of the fields listed in Table 5.3 can be made arbitrarily large by choosing the VEV of the modulus Σ . The constants γ and $\gamma_{\check{a}}$ appearing in (5.44) and (5.45) are the imaginary parts of the eigenvalues of ξ^{MN} and therefore independent of the VEVs of the fields.

An interesting case is the one with

$$n = 3$$
, $\operatorname{rank}(\xi^{MN}) = 4$. (5.46)

Remarkably the quantum corrections k_{000} and k_0 both vanish for this special choice since $n_T = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{rank}(\xi^{MN})$ and the range of the index \check{a} is zero. It would be worthwhile to understand the underlying principle which enforces the vanishing of both quantum corrections at the same time. This is in the very same spirit to our upcoming discussion of effective actions from consistent truncations in section 7.1.

Chapter 6

M-Theory on SU(2)-Structure Manifolds

In this chapter we introduce one example for a gauged $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity theory in five dimensions by reducing eleven-dimensional supergravity on six-dimensional manifolds \mathcal{M}_6 with SU(2)-structure. In section 6.1 we first recall some basic properties of SU(2)structure manifolds. The introduced definitions are then used in section 6.2 to formulate the reduction ansatz specifying a consistent truncation of the full compactification on \mathcal{M}_6 to five dimensions. The five-dimensional action is derived in section 6.3 and brought into standard $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity form in section 6.4. This allows us to determine the embedding tensors induced by the SU(2)-structure and a non-trivial flux background.

6.1 Some Basics on SU(2)-Structure Manifolds

Let us begin by recalling some basics on six-dimensional SU(2)-structure manifolds \mathcal{M}_6 . See e.g. [79–83] for properties of general G-structure manifolds and [84–90, 49, 50] for SU(2)-structure manifolds. If the structure group of a manifold \mathcal{M}_6 can be reduced to SU(2), it admits two globally defined, nowhere vanishing spinors η^1 , η^2 . This can be seen from the fact that two singlets appear in the the decomposition of the spinor representation **4** of $Spin(6) \cong SU(4)$ into SU(2) representations $\mathbf{4} \to \mathbf{1} \oplus \mathbf{1} \oplus \mathbf{2}$. The existence of these two spinors gives rise to four supersymmetry generators $\xi_i^{1,2}$ (i = 1, 2) in five dimensions since we can expand the eleven-dimensional supersymmetry generator ϵ as

$$\epsilon = \xi_i^1 \otimes \eta^i + \xi_i^2 \otimes \eta^{c\,i} \,, \tag{6.1}$$

where η^{c_i} is the charge conjugate spinor to η^i and the five-dimensional spinors $\xi_i^{1,2}$ are symplectic Majorana, see Appendix A. This implies that an appropriately chosen reduction admits $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry.

By contraction with appropriate products of SO(6) γ -matrices the globally defined spinors η^i allow to define three real two-forms J^a , a = 1, 2, 3 forming an SU(2) triplet, and a complex one-form K. These fulfill the conditions

$$J^{a} \wedge J^{b} = \delta^{ab} \text{vol}_{4},$$

$$K_{m}K^{m} = 0, \quad \bar{K}_{m}K^{m} = 2, \quad K^{m}J^{a}_{mn} = 0,$$
(6.2)

where $m, n = 1, \ldots, 6$ label the local coordinates on \mathcal{M}_6 , and vol₄ is a nowhere vanishing four-form on \mathcal{M}_6 . All contractions are performed with the SU(2)-structure metric on \mathcal{M}_6 .

These forms define an almost product structure

$$P_m{}^n = K_m \bar{K}^n + \bar{K}_m K^n - \delta_m{}^n.$$
(6.3)

Indeed, it is straightforward to verify that

$$P_m{}^n P_n{}^q = \delta_m^q, \tag{6.4}$$

which means that P is a projector, and the manifold's tangent bundle can be split into the +1 and -1 eigenspaces of P

$$T\mathcal{M}_6 = T_2\mathcal{M}_6 \oplus T_4\mathcal{M}_6, \qquad (6.5)$$

where the part $T_2\mathcal{M}_6$ is spanned by $K^1 = \operatorname{Re} K$ and $K^2 = \operatorname{Im} K$ each carrying eigenvalue +1. Note that we implicitly identify the tangent and cotangent bundle.

6.2 The Reduction Ansatz

An appropriate ansatz for the dimensional reduction on manifolds with structure group SU(2) has been worked out in [49, 50]. The full spectrum of the compactified theory consists of infinitely many modes from which the choice of a particular ansatz keeps only a finite subset. Such a truncation is called consistent if any of the modes that we keep cannot excite one of the modes we exclude. This means that there are no source terms for the discarded fields in the reduced action. In this case any solution of the truncated theory can be uplifted to a solution of the full eleven-dimensional equations of motion. As explained in [50], this can be achieved by choosing the reduction ansatz to be a set of forms on \mathcal{M}_6 that it is closed under the action of the wedge product \wedge , exterior differentiation d and the Hodge star *.

In [89] it has been demonstrated how to decompose the field content of type IIA supergravity into representations with respect to the SU(2) structure group of \mathcal{M}_6 and arrange it into four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ multiplets. The same analysis can be performed for the case of eleven-dimensional supergravity reduced to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity in five dimensions. The modes transforming as singlets under SU(2) constitute the five-dimensional gravity multiplet and a pair of vector multiplets, and every SU(2)-triplet corresponds to one triplet of vector multiplets. On the other hand the components of the fields that are doublets under SU(2) form gravitino multiplets in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$

6.2. THE REDUCTION ANSATZ

theory. Since it is not known how to consistently couple gravitino multiplets to gauged $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity, these multiplets will be neglected. This is equivalent to excluding all SU(2) doublets from the reduction ansatz. We will further comment on this point in section 7.2.

Following up these considerations the reduction ansatz now consists of a basis of real one-forms v^i (i = 1, 2) acting on $T_2\mathcal{M}_6$, and real two-forms ω^I $(I = 1, \ldots, \tilde{n})$ acting on $T_4\mathcal{M}_6$. Forms of odd rank on $T_4\mathcal{M}_6$ correspond to doublets of SU(2) and are thus not included in the ansatz. These forms are normalized via

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}_6} v^1 \wedge v^2 \wedge \omega^I \wedge \omega^J = -\eta^{IJ}, \qquad (6.6)$$

where η^{IJ} is an $SO(3, \tilde{n} - 3)$ metric that will be used to raise and lower indices. For convenience we can also introduce

$$\operatorname{vol}_{2}^{(0)} = v^{1} \wedge v^{2}, \qquad \qquad -\eta^{IJ} \operatorname{vol}_{4}^{(0)} = \omega^{I} \wedge \omega^{J}, \qquad (6.7)$$

which take the role of normalized volume forms on $T_2\mathcal{M}_6$ and $T_4\mathcal{M}_6$, respectively.

The ansatz has to be chosen in such a way that it is consistent with exterior differentiation. Therefore we demand that the differentials of v^i and ω^I obey

$$dv^{i} = t^{i} v^{1} \wedge v^{2} + t^{i}_{I} \omega^{I},$$

$$d\omega^{I} = T^{I}_{iJ} v^{i} \wedge \omega^{J},$$
(6.8)

where the coefficients t^i , t^i_I and T^I_{iJ} are related to the torsion classes of \mathcal{M}_6 and have to fulfill the consistency conditions [50]

$$t^{i}t^{k}_{I}\epsilon_{kj} + t^{i}_{J}T^{J}_{jI} = 0, \quad T^{I}_{iJ}\eta^{JK}t^{i}_{K} = 0,$$

$$T^{I}_{iJ}t^{i} - T^{I}_{iK}\epsilon_{ij}T^{K}_{jJ} = 0, \quad t^{i}\eta^{IJ} - \epsilon_{ij}T^{I}_{jK}\eta^{KJ} - \epsilon_{ij}T^{J}_{jK}\eta^{KI} = 0.$$
 (6.9)

Using this basis of forms one now has to expand all fields of eleven-dimensional supergravity. In order to discuss the reduction of the eleven-dimensional action we first expand the J^a and K introduced in (6.2) as

$$J^{a} = e^{\rho_{4}/2} \zeta_{I}^{a} \omega^{I} , \qquad K = e^{\rho_{2}/2} (\operatorname{Im} \tau)^{-1/2} (v^{1} + \tau v^{2}) , \qquad (6.10)$$

where now the real ρ_4 , ρ_2 , ζ_I^a , and complex τ are promoted to five-dimensional spacetime scalars. Together with (6.2) we find $\zeta_I^a \eta^{IJ} \zeta_J^b = -\delta^{ab}$ as well as $\operatorname{vol}_4 = e^{\rho_4} \operatorname{vol}_4^{(0)}$ and $K^1 \wedge K^2 = e^{\rho_2} \operatorname{vol}_2^{(0)}$.

The action of the Hodge star on the ansatz is given by

From the requirement that $*J^a = J^a \wedge K^1 \wedge K^2$ the matrix $H^I{}_J$ can be determined to be $H_{IJ} = 2\zeta_I^a \zeta_I^a + \eta_{IJ}$. See Appendix C for a further discussion of its properties.

After this preliminary discussion we are now in a position to give the ansatz for the eleven-dimensional metric. More precisely, reflecting the split of the tangent space (6.5) the metric takes the form

$$ds_{11}^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + e^{\rho_2}g_{ij}(v^i + G^i)(v^j + G^j) + e^{\rho_4}g_{st}dx^sdx^t, \qquad (6.12)$$

with s, t = 1, ..., 4. The G^i are space-time gauge fields parameterizing the variation of $T_2\mathcal{M}_6$. The metric g_{ij} can be expressed in terms of τ

$$g = \frac{1}{\operatorname{Im} \tau} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \operatorname{Re} \tau \\ \operatorname{Re} \tau & |\tau|^2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.13)

such that $e^{\rho_2}g_{ij}v^iv^j = K\bar{K}$. Notice that we excluded possible off-diagonal terms of the form $g_{\mu s}$ and g_{is} from the ansatz for the metric since they would precisely correspond to SU(2) doublets. These terms would give rise to two doublets of additional space-time vectors and four doublets of space-time scalars.

In the following it will be useful to introduce the gauge invariant combination

$$\tilde{v}^i = v^i + G^i \,, \tag{6.14}$$

whose derivative can be calculated using (6.8)

$$d\tilde{v}^{i} = d\left(v^{i} + G^{i}\right) = \mathbf{D}G^{i} + t^{i}\tilde{v}^{1}\wedge\tilde{v}^{2} - t^{i}\epsilon_{jk}\tilde{v}^{j}\wedge G^{k} + t^{i}_{I}\omega^{I}.$$
(6.15)

The definition of the covariant derivative DG^i can be found in (6.25).

Let us next turn to the ansatz for the three form field C_3 . Using the basis \tilde{v}^i, ω^I introduced above, we expand

$$C_3 = C + C_i \wedge \tilde{v}^i + C_I \wedge \omega^I + C_{12} \wedge \tilde{v}^1 \wedge \tilde{v}^2 + c_{iI} \tilde{v}^i \wedge \omega^I.$$
(6.16)

If we had included SU(2) doublets in the reduction ansatz, we also would have had to expand C_3 in terms of odd forms on $T_4\mathcal{M}_6$, which would give rise to additional fields in five dimensions.¹ For each SU(2) doublet these would be one doublet of two-forms and two doublets of vectors and scalars. Together with the contributions from the metric we see that for every excluded SU(2) doublet this resembles precisely a doublet of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gravitino multiplets.

Furthermore, we also consider a possible internal four-form flux for which the most general ansatz is given by²

$$F_4^{\text{flux}} = n \operatorname{vol}_4^{(0)} + n_I v^1 \wedge v^2 \wedge \omega^I .$$
 (6.17)

¹To make the ansatz closed under wedge product it might be necessary in this case to include also additional two-forms on $T_4\mathcal{M}_6$ and hence additional SU(2) triplets.

²Notice that here n counts flux quanta. It is not related to the number of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ vector multiplets, also denoted by n in the previous chapters.

Notice that this is written only in terms of v^i and not in terms of the gauge invariant quantities \tilde{v}^i because this would introduce an unwanted space-time dependency. Moreover n and n_I are not completely independent since it follows from $dF_4^{\text{flux}} = 0$ that

$$n t^{i} - n^{I} t^{i}_{I} = 0. ag{6.18}$$

We finally have to expand the field strength $F_4 = F_4^{\text{flux}} + dC_3$

$$F_4 = F + F_i \wedge \tilde{v}^i + F_I \wedge \omega^I + F_{12} \wedge \tilde{v}^1 \wedge \tilde{v}^2 + F_{iI} \tilde{v}^i \wedge \omega^I + f_I \tilde{v}^1 \wedge \tilde{v}^2 \wedge \omega^I + f \operatorname{vol}_4^{(0)},$$
(6.19)

and obtain the expansion coefficients after evaluating the exterior derivative of C_3 using (6.16)

$$F = dC + C_i \wedge DG^i,$$

$$F_i = DC_i + \epsilon_{ij}C_{12} \wedge DG^j,$$

$$F_I = DC_I + c_{iI}DG^i,$$

$$F_{12} = DC_{12}, \qquad F_{iI} = Dc_{iI},$$

$$f_I = n_I + t^i c_{iI} + \epsilon_{ij}T^J_{iI}c_{jJ},$$

$$f = n - c_{iI}t^i_I\eta^{IJ}.$$

(6.20)

The four-form flux and the fact that ω^{I} and \tilde{v}^{i} are in general non-closed forms induce different non-trivial gaugings. These are encoded by the various appearing covariant derivatives which are listed in the next section.

6.3 Dimensional Reduction of the Action

Starting from the bosonic action of eleven-dimensional supergravity

$$S = \int_{11} \frac{1}{2} (*1)R - \frac{1}{4}F_4 \wedge *F_4 - \frac{1}{12}C_3 \wedge F_4 \wedge F_4, \qquad (6.21)$$

we will compute a five-dimensional action by compactifying it on \mathcal{M}_6 . We can compare the result with the general description of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity given in section 4.1 and determine the embedding tensors in terms of geometrical properties of \mathcal{M}_6 .

To compute the reduced five-dimensional action we insert the expansions (6.16) and (6.19) into the eleven-dimensional action (6.21) and integrate over the internal manifold using (6.6). The reduction of the Einstein-Hilbert term has been carried out in [50] and can be adopted without further modifications. After performing an appropriate Weyl rescaling $g_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow e^{-\frac{2}{3}(\rho_2+\rho_4)}g_{\mu\nu}$ to bring the action into the Einstein frame the final result reads

$$S_{SU(2)} = \int_{5}^{1} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} (*1)R_{5} - e^{\frac{5}{3}\rho_{2} + \frac{2}{3}\rho_{4}}g_{ij}DG^{i} \wedge *DG^{j} - \frac{1}{2}(\eta^{IJ} + \zeta^{bI}\zeta^{bJ})D\zeta^{a}_{I} \wedge *D\zeta^{a}_{J} \right.$$

$$- \frac{1}{4}(Im \tau)^{-2} D\tau \wedge *D\bar{\tau} - \frac{5}{12}D\rho_{2} \wedge *D\rho_{2} - \frac{1}{3}D\rho_{2} \wedge *D\rho_{4} - \frac{7}{24}D\rho_{4} \wedge *D\rho_{4} \\
- \frac{1}{4}e^{2(\rho_{2}+\rho_{4})} \left(dC + C_{i} \wedge DG^{i} \right) \wedge * \left(dC + C_{j} \wedge DG^{j} \right) \\
- \frac{1}{4}e^{\frac{3}{3}\rho_{2} + \frac{3}{3}\rho_{4}} \left(g^{-1} \right)^{ij} \left(DC_{i} + \epsilon_{ik}C_{12} \wedge DG^{k} \right) \wedge * \left(DC_{j} + \epsilon_{jl}C_{12} \wedge DG^{l} \right) \\
- \frac{1}{4}e^{\frac{3}{3}\rho_{2} + \frac{3}{3}\rho_{4}} H^{IJ} \left(DC_{I} + c_{iI}DG^{i} \right) \wedge * \left(DC_{J} + c_{jJ}DG^{j} \right) \\
- \frac{1}{4}e^{-\frac{4}{3}\rho_{2} + \frac{2}{3}\rho_{4}} DC_{12} \wedge *DC_{12} - \frac{1}{4}e^{-\rho_{2}-\rho_{4}} H^{IJ} \left(g^{-1} \right)^{ij} Dc_{iI} \wedge *Dc_{jJ} \\
+ \left(\frac{1}{4}dC + \frac{1}{6}C_{k} \wedge DG^{k} \right) \wedge c_{iI} \left(\epsilon^{ij}T_{jJ}^{K}C_{K} + C_{12}t_{j}^{i} + Dc_{jJ}\epsilon^{ij} \right) \eta^{IJ} \\
- \frac{1}{6}C_{i} \wedge \epsilon^{ij} \left(\left(DC_{j} + \epsilon_{jk}C_{12} \wedge DG^{k} \right) c_{kI}t_{j}^{k} + \left(DC_{I} + c_{kI}DG^{k} \right) \wedge Dc_{jJ} \right) \eta^{IJ} \\
+ \frac{1}{6}C_{I} \wedge \left(\left(DC_{i} + \epsilon_{ik}C_{12} \wedge DG^{k} \right) \wedge Dc_{jJ}\epsilon^{ij} + \left(DC_{J} + c_{lJ}DG^{l} \right) \wedge DC_{12} \right) \eta^{IJ} \\
+ \frac{1}{12}C_{12} \wedge \left(DC_{I} + c_{iI}DG^{i} \right) \wedge \left(DC_{J} + c_{lJ}DG^{j} \right) \epsilon^{iJ} \eta^{IJ} \\
- \frac{1}{6}c_{iI} \left(DC_{j} + \epsilon_{jk}C_{12} \wedge DG^{k} \right) \wedge \left(DC_{J} + c_{lJ}DG^{l} \right) \epsilon^{ij} \eta^{IJ} \\
- \frac{1}{4}n \epsilon^{ij}C_{i} \wedge \left(DC_{i} + \epsilon_{ik}C_{12} \wedge DG^{k} \right) - \left(\frac{1}{2}dC + \frac{1}{4}C_{i} \wedge DG^{i} \right) \wedge \left(nC_{12} - n^{I}C_{I} \right) \\
+ \left(*1 \right) V \right\}.$$
(6.22)

The potential term V is given by

$$V = -\frac{5}{8}e^{-\frac{5}{3}\rho_2 - \frac{2}{3}\rho_4}g_{ij}t^i t^j + 2e^{\frac{1}{3}\rho_2 - \frac{5}{3}\rho_4}g_{ij}t^i_I t^j_J \eta^{IJ} -\frac{1}{2}e^{-\frac{5}{3}\rho_2 - \frac{2}{3}\rho_4}(\eta^{IJ} + \zeta^{bI}\zeta^{bJ})\zeta^a_K\zeta^a_L g^{ij}\tilde{T}^K_{iI}\tilde{T}^L_{jJ} +\frac{1}{4}e^{-\frac{8}{3}\rho_2 - \frac{5}{3}\rho_4}H^{IJ}f_I f_J + \frac{1}{4}e^{-\frac{2}{3}\rho_2 - \frac{8}{3}\rho_4}f^2.$$
(6.23)

As mentioned above, we have defined several covariant derivatives. For the scalars they are given by

$$D\rho_{2} = d\rho_{2} - \epsilon_{ij}G^{i}t^{j},$$

$$D\rho_{2} = d\rho_{4} + \epsilon_{ij}G^{i}t^{j},$$

$$D\tau = d\tau - ((1,\tau) \cdot G)((1,\tau) \cdot t),$$

$$D\zeta_{I}^{a} = d\zeta_{I}^{a} - G^{i}\tilde{T}_{iI}^{J}\zeta_{J}^{a},$$

$$Dc_{iI} = dc_{iI} + \epsilon_{ij}t_{I}^{j}C_{12} - T_{iI}^{J}C_{J} + \epsilon_{ij}G^{j}t^{k}c_{kI} - G^{j}T_{jI}^{J}c_{iJ} + n_{I}\epsilon_{ij}G^{j},$$
(6.24)

whereas those of the vectors read

$$DG^{i} = dG^{i} - t^{i}G^{1} \wedge G^{2},$$

$$DC_{I} = dC_{I} + t^{i}_{I}C_{i} + T^{J}_{iI}C_{J} \wedge G^{i} - n_{I}G^{1} \wedge G^{2},$$

$$DC_{12} = dC_{12} + t^{i}C_{i} - \epsilon_{ij}C_{12} \wedge t^{i}G^{j}.$$
(6.25)

6.3. DIMENSIONAL REDUCTION OF THE ACTION

There is also a pair of two-forms C_i with

$$DC_i = dC_i + \epsilon_{ij}G^j \wedge t^k C_k \,. \tag{6.26}$$

In the next section we compare (6.22) with the general form of gauged $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity. For this purpose it is necessary to dualize the three-form field C into a scalar γ .³ Let us therefore collect all terms from the action containing it,

$$S_C = \int -\frac{1}{4} e^{2(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} F \wedge *F + \frac{1}{2} F \wedge L$$
(6.27)

with

$$L = \frac{1}{2}c_{iI} \left(\epsilon^{ij}T_{jJ}^{K}C_{K} + C_{12}t_{J}^{i} + Dc_{jJ}\epsilon^{ij}\right)\eta^{IJ} - nC_{12} + n^{I}C_{I}.$$
 (6.28)

The field strength $F = dC + C_i \wedge DG^i$ fulfills the Bianchi identity

$$dF = \mathcal{D}C_i \wedge \mathcal{D}G^i \,, \tag{6.29}$$

which we will impose by introducing a Lagrange multiplier γ . Accordingly we add the following term to the action

$$\delta S = -\frac{1}{2} \int \gamma \left(dF - DC_i \wedge DG^i \right) \,. \tag{6.30}$$

We can now use the equation of motion for F

$$-e^{2(\rho_2+\rho_4)} * F + L + d\gamma = 0 \tag{6.31}$$

in order to eliminate it from (6.27) and obtain

$$S_{\gamma} = -\frac{1}{4} \int e^{-2(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} (\mathrm{D}\gamma + \frac{1}{2} c_{iI} \mathrm{D} c_{jJ} \epsilon^{ij} \eta^{IJ}) \wedge * (\mathrm{D}\gamma + \frac{1}{2} c_{iI} \mathrm{D} c_{jJ} \epsilon^{ij} \eta^{IJ}) + \frac{1}{2} \int \gamma \mathrm{D} C_i \wedge \mathrm{D} G^i , \qquad (6.32)$$

where the covariant derivative of γ is defined as

$$D\gamma = d\gamma + \frac{1}{2}c_{iI}(\epsilon_{ij}T_{jJ}^{K}C_{K} + t_{J}^{i}C_{12})\eta^{IJ} - nC_{12} + n^{I}C_{I}.$$
(6.33)

Moreover in the general $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory there are no tensors with second order kinetic term. Therefore it is necessary to trade the two-form C_i for its dual vector $\tilde{C}^{\bar{i}}$. But since C_i appears additionally in the covariant derivatives of the vectors C_I and C_{12} , it will be necessary to introduce their duals \tilde{C}_I and \tilde{C}_{12} as well. These dualizations are described for the analog case of the type IIA supergravity reduction in [49] and [50], thus we will not perform the explicit calculations again.

³We stress that the scalar field γ should not be confused with the constant eigenvalues γ defined in (5.7).

6.4 Comparison with $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Supergravity

As we have described above, the reduced action possesses $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry. For this reason we will work out how to match it with the general description of gauged $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity from section 4.1.

The arrangement of the vectors into SO(5, n) representations A^M , A^0 and the form of the scalar metric M_{MN} can be worked out easiest by switching off all gaugings, *i.e.* by setting $t^i = t^i_I = T^I_{iJ} = 0$ and $n = n_I = 0$. Since in this way all covariant derivatives become trivial and some of the terms in (6.22) vanish, it is now very easy to carry out the dualization of C_i explicitly. Afterwards the theory will contain $5 + \tilde{n}$ vectors in total, which means that there are $\tilde{n} - 1$ vector multiplets and the global symmetry group is given by $SO(1, 1) \times SO(5, \tilde{n} - 1)$. It is natural to identify C_{12} , which does not carry any indices, with the $SO(5, \tilde{n} - 1)$ singlet A^0 and the other vectors with A^M , so in summary we have

$$A^{M} = \left(G^{i}, \tilde{C}^{\bar{i}}, C^{J}\right),$$

$$A^{0} = C_{12}.$$
(6.34)

The corresponding $SO(5, \tilde{n} - 1)$ metric is defined as⁴

$$\eta_{MN} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \delta_{i\bar{j}} & 0\\ \delta_{\bar{i}j} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \eta_{IJ} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(6.35)

By comparing the kinetic terms of the vectors (in the ungauged theory) with (4.18) one obtains the scalar matching

$$\Sigma = e^{\frac{1}{3}\rho_2 - \frac{1}{6}\rho_4} \tag{6.36}$$

and the non-constant coset metric

$$M_{ij} = e^{\rho_{2}+\rho_{4}}g_{ij} + H_{IJ}c_{i}^{I}c_{j}^{J} + e^{-\rho_{2}-\rho_{4}}g^{kl}(\epsilon_{ki}\gamma + \frac{1}{2}c_{kI}c_{i}^{I})(\epsilon_{lj}\gamma + \frac{1}{2}c_{lI}c_{j}^{I}),$$

$$M_{i\bar{j}} = e^{-\rho_{2}-\rho_{4}}g^{jk}\delta_{j\bar{j}}(\epsilon_{ki}\gamma + \frac{1}{2}c_{kI}c_{i}^{I}),$$

$$M_{iI} = -H_{IJ}c_{i}^{J} + e^{-\rho_{2}-\rho_{4}}g^{jk}c_{jI}(\epsilon_{ki}\gamma + \frac{1}{2}c_{kI}c_{i}^{I}),$$

$$M_{\bar{\imath}\bar{\imath}} = e^{-\rho_{2}-\rho_{4}}g^{ij}\delta_{i\bar{\imath}}\delta_{j\bar{\jmath}},$$

$$M_{\bar{\imath}I} = e^{-\rho_{2}-\rho_{4}}g^{ij}\delta_{i\bar{\imath}}c_{jI},$$

$$M_{IJ} = H_{IJ} + e^{-\rho_{2}-\rho_{4}}g^{ij}c_{iI}c_{jJ}.$$
(6.37)

From this metric one can also determine the coset representatives $\mathcal{V} = (\mathcal{V}_M{}^m, \mathcal{V}_N{}^a)$, where *m* and *a* are SO(5) or $SO(\tilde{n}-1)$ indices, respectively. \mathcal{V} is related to the scalar

⁴Note that in the standard form of gauged supergravity η is taken to be diagonal. Therefore, in order to compare fields and embedding tensors in this reduction to their standard form, one has to diagonalize η , which is easily done.

metric via $M = \mathcal{V}\mathcal{V}^T$ and carries the same amount of information. The result can be found in Appendix C.

From (6.36) and (6.37) we can determine the general covariant derivatives of the scalars using (4.15) and compare them with the results from (6.24) and (6.33) in order to derive the embedding tensors

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_i &= -\epsilon_{ij} t^j ,\\ \xi_{iI} &= \epsilon_{ij} t^j_I ,\\ f_{ij\bar{\imath}} &= \delta_{\bar{\imath}[i} \epsilon_{j]k} t^k ,\\ f_{iIJ} &= -T^K_{iI} \eta_{KJ} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{ij} t^j \eta_{IJ} , \end{aligned}$$
(6.38)

and

$$\xi_{ij} = \epsilon_{ij} n ,$$

$$f_{ijI} = -\epsilon_{ij} n_I .$$
(6.39)

All other components are either determined by antisymmetry or vanish. One can now use these expressions to calculate the covariant derivatives of the vectors from (4.15) and check that they indeed agree with (6.25).

For consistency the embedding tensors (6.38), (6.39) should fulfill the quadratic constraints which are listed for $\xi_M = 0$ in (4.17) and can be found in full generality in [47]. In order to show that the latter hold it is necessary to use the consistency relations (6.9) on the matrices t^i , t^i_I and T^I_{iI} as well as the constraint on the flux (6.18).

If we neglect the contributions coming from the four-form flux, it is possible to check that (6.38) is consistent with the results from the type IIA reduction in [50]. This is described in Appendix D.

Chapter 7

Partial Supergravity Breaking Applied to Consistent Truncations

In this chapter we elaborate on the general discussion of supersymmetry breaking in chapter 4 by investigating concrete examples given by consistent truncations of higherdimensional theories. In particular we analyze their quantum 'effective action'. In section 7.1 we start with general considerations on the effective action of consistent truncations. The analysis of one-loop Chern-Simons terms allows us to formulate necessary conditions such that a consistent truncation gives rise to a physical sensible effective theory. One class of examples, worked out in section 7.2, will be provided by the SU(2)-structure reductions of chapter 6 with Calabi-Yau vacuum. Closely related to these kind of reductions is a second class of examples, consistent truncations of type IIB supergravity on squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifolds which we investigate in section 7.3.

7.1 Quantum Effective Action of Consistent Truncations

We start by studying the quantum effective action which we obtain after $\mathcal{N} = 4 \rightarrow \mathcal{N} = 2$ spontaneous supersymmetry breaking. An effective action is obtained by fixing a certain energy scale and integrating out all modes that are heavier than this scale. In five dimensions this is particularly interesting since massive charged modes induce Chern-Simons terms at one-loop. Importantly, these corrections do not dependent on the masses of the modes in the loop and are therefore never suppressed. We are interested in evaluating these terms for the supersymmetry breaking mechanism in chapter 4. This has already been investigated for purely Abelian magnetic gaugings in subsection 5.3.3. A prominent class of more advanced examples for such a breaking pattern is given by consistent truncations of supergravity. For instance, if a Calabi-Yau manifold has SU(2)-structure, the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity from the M-theory reduction in the

previous chapter is broken to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ in the vacuum. It is an interesting question when a consistent truncation also gives rise to a proper effective theory. For example, in order to phenomenologically analyze non-Calabi-Yau reductions of string theory or M-theory one needs to deal with effective theories. As we saw in subsection 2.2.2, there are one-loop corrections to the Chern-Simons terms. The fact that these are independent of the mass scale will thus allow us in the following to investigate the question:

• What are the necessary conditions for a consistent truncation to yield the physical effective theory of the setup below a cut-off scale where all massive modes are integrated out?

Clearly a first step is to analyze compactifications of which we know the relevant parts of the effective theory, like Calabi-Yau compactifications.

In particular a necessary condition for a consistent truncation to make sense as an effective field theory after integrating out massive modes is that the one-loop Chern-Simons terms should coincide with the ones in the genuine effective action. Stated differently, the corrections to the Chern-Simons terms induced by the truncated modes must coincide with the ones which are obtained by taking the full infinite tower of massive modes into account. For the special case that the relevant parts of the effective theory are already exact at the classical level, as it is the case for the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ prepotential in Calabi-Yau threefold compactifications of M-theory, the following four possibilities can in principle occur, such that the fields in the consistent truncation do not contribute at one-loop: The massive modes

- are uncharged.
- arrange in long multiplets if the R-symmetry is not gauged.
- come in real representations.
- cancel non-trivially between different multiplets.

The contributions of long multiplets indeed cancel as one can explicitly check by using Table 2.1 and Table 7.1 for the Minkowski case. This is related to the fact that they have the structure of special $\mathcal{N} = 4$ multiplets, which induce no corrections to the Chern-Simons terms. For Minkowski space we display the two existing long multiplets in Table 7.1. Also real multiplets do not contribute since they are parity-invariant in contrast to the Chern-Simons terms.

After these general considerations let us now turn to some examples. Consider the M-theory reduction on SU(2)-structure manifolds of chapter 6. If the compactification space is also Calabi-Yau, the five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity develops an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum. This nicely fits into the general pattern of chapter 4. Indeed a Calabi-Yau threefold has SU(2)-structure if and only if its Euler number vanishes. This can be seen as follows: A Calabi-Yau threefold has SU(3) holonomy and thus allows for the existence of one covariantly constant spinor η^1 . If the manifold has in addition

Long Gravitino Multiplet		Long Vector Multiplet		
Field Type	(s_1, s_2)	Field Type	(s_1, s_2)	
1 gravitino	$(1, \frac{1}{2})$	1 vector	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	
2 tensors	$2 \times (1,0)$	4 fermions	$2 \times \left(\frac{1}{2}, 0\right)$	
2 vectors	$2 \times \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$	1 1011110115	$2 \times (0, \frac{1}{2})$	
5 fermions	$4 \times \left(\frac{1}{2}, 0\right)$	4 scalars	$4 \times (0,0)$	
0 1011110115	$(0, \frac{1}{2})$			
2 scalars	$2 \times (0,0)$			

Table 7.1: We display the long multiplets of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry in five-dimensional Minkowski space. The fields are labeled by their spins under $SU(2) \times SU(2)$.

vanishing Euler number, it follows from the Poincaré-Hopf theorem that there exists a nowhere-vanishing vector field K^1 . With this ingredients it is possible to construct a second nowhere vanishing spinor $\eta^2 = (K^1)^m \gamma_m \eta^1$, such that the structure group is reduced to SU(2). This can also be seen without reference to spinors [50]. By acting with the complex structure J on K^1 one obtains a second vector field $K^2 = JK^1$ and after writing J and the holomorphic three-form Ω as

$$J = J^3 + \frac{i}{2}K \wedge \bar{K}, \quad \Omega = K \wedge (J^1 + iJ^2), \qquad (7.1)$$

it is easy to check that $K = K^1 + iK^2$ and J^a fulfill the relations (6.2). We could now revert the argument and conclude that a SU(2) structure manifold with

$$dJ = d\Omega = 0 \tag{7.2}$$

is Calabi-Yau and therefore develops vacua with $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry. Using the expansions (6.10) of K and J^a we can translate (7.2) into conditions on the fivedimensional fields

$$(t_I^1 + \tau t_I^2)(\zeta_J^1 + i\zeta_J^2)\eta^{IJ} = 0,$$

$$(T_{1I}^K + \tau T_{2I}^K)(\zeta_J^1 + i\zeta_J^2)\eta^{IJ} = 0,$$

$$e^{\rho_4/2}T_{iI}^J\zeta_J^3 = \epsilon_{ij}t_I^j e^{\rho_2}.$$
(7.3)

These relations have to be used in the analysis of the spontaneous supersymmetry breaking to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacua. In section C.2 we use these conditions in order to derive the contracted embedding tensors (4.22) for Calabi-Yau manifolds with vanishing Euler number. Note that the expressions in section C.2 still suffer from scalar redundancies, and it is hard to eliminate the latter in general using the Calabi-Yau conditions. However, for the special example of the Enriques Calabi-Yau we were able to do so. Thus we can derive the full spectrum by inserting the contracted embedding tensors into the results of section 4.3, and we will actually do so in the next section. What we will find is that the one-loop Chern-Simons terms do indeed cancel (as in the genuine effective theory) although very trivially since there are simply no modes in the theory that are charged under a massless vector. In fact we think that this might be the generic case for Calabi-Yau manifolds because of the following two heuristic arguments:

• Since a Calabi-Yau manifold does not have isometries if the holonomy is strictly SU(3), one would think that the 'KK-vectors' become massive and the massive modes are not charged under massless gauge symmetries. In particular, the vectors G^i in the ansatz for the metric (6.12)

$$ds_{11}^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + g_{ij}(v^i + G^i)(v^j + G^j) + g_{mn}dx^m dx^n$$
(7.4)

should acquire masses.

• For Calabi-Yau manifolds with $\chi = 0$ and vanishing gaugings ξ_M there are no charged tensors. In fact, using the Calabi-Yau relations from (7.3) it is easy to show that for such manifolds we have $\xi^{MN}\xi_N{}^P = 0$. Applying also the quadratic constraints to (4.18) the vanishing of tensor charges is immediate. Note that the contributions of tensors was a crucial ingredient in chapter 5 where non-vanishing one-loop Chern-Simons terms appeared in $\mathcal{N} = 4 \rightarrow \mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity breaking to Minkowski vacua.

If massive modes carry no charges under massless vectors in general, our approach via one-loop Chern-Simons terms imposes no restrictions on the consistent truncation to yield also a proper effective theory.

Let us now turn to the second example of partial supergravity breaking in the context of consistent truncations, type IIB supergravity on a squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifold which is discussed in section 7.3 in greater detail. The geometrical reduction to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity in five dimensions was carried out in [54–56] and proceeds similarly to the M-theory SU(2)-structure reduction of chapter 6. Again the theory admits $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacua which however now constitute AdS backgrounds with gauged R-symmetry. Although it is not really clear if the concept of effective field theory makes sense on such backgrounds, we nevertheless integrate out massive modes because of the topological origin of the relevant corrections. Surprisingly the contributions to the gauge and gravitational one-loop Chern-Simons terms cancel in a non-trivial way between different multiplets. It would be extremely interesting to find an interpretation for this result.

7.2 First Example: M-Theory on the Enriques Calabi-Yau

In this section we analyze in detail the spectrum of M-theory on the Enriques Calabi-Yau around the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity using the results of section 4.3. The precise expressions for the embedding tensors in the standard form of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity and their contractions with the coset representatives for Calabi-Yau manifolds with SU(2)-structure are given in section C.2. However, as already mentioned, these quantities still suffer from redundancies of scalar fields which should be eliminated by using the Calabi-Yau conditions (7.3) in order to analyze the setup with the tools of section 4.3. Consequently we focus on the special case of the Enriques Calabi-Yau where we were able to remove the redundancies. In the following we derive the spectrum and gauge symmetry in the vacuum of the SU(2)-structure reduction and compare the results to the known Calabi-Yau effective theory. Besides the fact that the former yields massive states which are absent in the latter, the consistent truncation turns out to lack one vector multiplet and one hypermultiplet at the massless level compared to the effective theory of the Enriques, analogous to the results in [50]. Taking the missing massless vector into account the classical Chern-Simons terms of both theories may coincide in principle. Corrections at one-loop to the Chern-Simons terms vanish trivially since there are no modes charged under the massless vectors.

The gauged supergravity embedding tensors f_{MNP} , ξ_{MN} of M-theory on the Enriques Calabi-Yau are evaluated by inserting the expressions (C.23) into (6.38). In the standard basis, where η takes the form $\eta = (-1, -1, -1, -1, -1, +1, \dots, +1)$, they read

$$f_{135} = f_{245} = f_{815} = f_{925} = -f_{13\,10} = -f_{24\,10} = -f_{81\,10} = -f_{92\,10} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}},$$

$$f_{635} = f_{745} = f_{865} = f_{975} = -f_{63\,10} = -f_{74\,10} = -f_{86\,10} = -f_{97\,10} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}},$$

$$\xi_{13} = \xi_{24} = \xi_{81} = \xi_{92} = -\xi_{63} = -\xi_{74} = -\xi_{86} = -\xi_{97} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
(7.5)

As can be inferred form the covariant derivative (4.15), the gauged SO(5, n) symmetry generators t_{MN} are given by (modulo normalization of the generators)

$$t_{1} := t_{15} + t_{110} + t_{65} + t_{610}, \qquad t_{2} := t_{25} + t_{210} + t_{75} + t_{710}, t_{3} := t_{35} + t_{310} + t_{85} + t_{810}, \qquad t_{4} := t_{45} + t_{410} + t_{95} + t_{910}, t_{5} := t_{13} + t_{24} + t_{18} + t_{29} + t_{63} + t_{74} + t_{68} + t_{79}.$$

$$(7.6)$$

Since all commutators vanish, as one can check easily, the gauge group in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory is $U(1)^5$.

Let us now move to the vacuum. The structure of the embedding tensors contracted with the coset representatives is derived in section C.2. They read

$$f_{1,6\ 3,8\ 5,10} = f_{2,7\ 4,9\ 5,10} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^3 \lambda_{\xi}$$

$$\xi_{1,6\ 3,8} = \xi_{2,7\ 4,9} = \lambda_{\xi} , \qquad (7.7)$$

where for each index position of the tensors there are two options to choose from. For

Multiplet	Mass	Charge
1 real graviton multiplet $(2, 2 \times \frac{3}{2}, 1)$	0	0
9 real vector multiplets $(1, 2 \times \frac{1}{2}, 0)$	0	0
11 real hypermultiplets $(2 \times \frac{1}{2}, 4 \times 0)$	0	0
1 complex gravitino multiplet $((1, \frac{1}{2}), 2 \times (1, 0), 2 \times (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}), 4 \times (\frac{1}{2}, 0), (0, \frac{1}{2}), 2 \times (0, 0))$	m	0
1 real vector multiplet $\left(\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right), 2 \times \left(\frac{1}{2}, 0\right)\right)$	2mc	0
1 complex hypermultiplet $\left(\left(\frac{1}{2},0\right),2\times(0,0)\right)$	2m	0

Table 7.2: We depict the spectrum of the SU(2)-structure reduction of M-theory on the Enriques Calabi-Yau.

convenience we define

$$\lambda_{\xi} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \operatorname{Im} \tau \,. \tag{7.8}$$

The rotation to ξ_{MN} , f_{MNP} (4.34), which is the appropriate basis to split off the propagating degrees of freedom, gives the non-vanishing components

$$\xi_{12} = \xi_{34} = 2\,\lambda_{\xi}\,,\qquad \qquad f_{125} = f_{345} = f_{12\,10} = f_{34\,10} = \sqrt{2\,\Sigma^3\,\lambda_{\xi}}\,. \tag{7.9}$$

The spectrum is calculated by inserting the contracted embedding tensors into (4.40) and bringing the terms in the Lagrangian into standard form. The fields together with their masses and charges are listed in Table 7.2. The modes are classified according to their mass, charges under the massless vectors and their spacetime representations under $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ or $\mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)$, respectively. Fermions in complex multiplets are Dirac while fermions in real multiplets are taken to be symplectic Majorana. We set $m = \sqrt{2} \Sigma^2 \lambda_{\xi}$ and $c = \frac{(1+\Sigma^{-6})^{3/2}}{(1+\Sigma^{-12})^{1/2}}$.

The massless multiplets are uncharged and consistent with the proper Calabi-Yau effective theory apart from one missing vector multiplet and one hypermultiplet. More

precisely, the Enriques Calabi-Yau has Hodge numbers $h^{1,1} = h^{2,1} = 11$. In the effective action of M-theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds one finds $h^{1,1}-1$ vector multiplets and $h^{2,1}+1$ hypermultiplets while for our consistent truncation on the Enriques Calabi-Yau we find only 9 vector multiplets and 11 hypermultiplets. This resembles the results in [50] where the same field content was missing for the analog type IIA setup. Geometrically the corresponding missing harmonic forms are captured by SU(2)-doublets which we discarded in the reduction of chapter 6. As explained, the doublets correspond to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gravitino multiplets, for which no coupling to standard $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity is known. Having discussed the massless modes in the vacuum we now turn to the massive spectrum. We find one long gravitino multiplet, one vector multiplet and one hypermultiplet. Interestingly no massive field is charged under a massless U(1) gauge symmetry. For the massive tensors this has already been established on general grounds in the previous section. Thus we conclude that for the Enriques Calabi-Yau the Chern-Simons terms (2.22) are trivially not corrected by loops of fermions or tensors since there are no charged modes in the truncation.

Finally let us also comment on the classical Chern-Simons terms in the reduction. We denote the ten massless vectors in the vacuum of the consistent truncation by \tilde{A}^{9}_{μ} , \tilde{A}^{10}_{μ} , $\tilde{A}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mu}$ with $\mathfrak{a} = 1, \ldots, 8$. The $\tilde{A}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mu}$ originate from the E_8 nature of the Enriques surface. The classical gauge Chern-Simons couplings are found to be

$$k_{9\,10\,9}^{\text{trunc}} = 2\sqrt{2}, \qquad \qquad k_{9\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{a}}^{\text{trunc}} = 2, \qquad (7.10)$$

all others vanish. In the familiar Calabi-Yau effective action the Chern-Simons coefficients reproduce the intersection numbers of the manifold. For the Enriques Calabi-Yau they read in a suitable basis

$$k_{9\,10\,11}^{\text{eff}} = 1, \qquad \qquad k_{9\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}}^{\text{eff}} = A_{\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}}^{E_8}, \qquad (7.11)$$

where A^{E_8} denotes the Cartan matrix of E_8 . If we assume that the missing vector \tilde{A}^{11} of the consistent truncation appears together with \tilde{A}^9 and \tilde{A}^{10} in a Chern-Simons term with coefficient

$$k_{9\,10\,11}^{\text{miss}} \neq 0$$
, (7.12)

we can define

$$\hat{A}^{9}_{\mu} := \tilde{A}^{9}_{\mu} , \qquad \hat{A}^{10}_{\mu} := \tilde{A}^{10}_{\mu} , \qquad \hat{A}^{11}_{\mu} := \sqrt{2} \, \tilde{A}^{9}_{\mu} + k^{\text{miss}}_{9\,10\,11} \cdot \tilde{A}^{11}_{\mu} , \qquad (7.13)$$

such that in this basis we obtain the Chern-Simons couplings

$$k_{9\,10\,11} = 1 \,, \qquad \qquad k_{9\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{a}} = 2 \,. \tag{7.14}$$

The first one matches with (7.11). Concerning the second term we note that the Cholesky decomposition of A^{E_8} ensures that there exists a field redefinition for the $\hat{A}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mu}$ represented by a matrix T, which fulfills

$$T^T T = \frac{1}{2} A^{E_8} \,. \tag{7.15}$$

It is easy to check that under this redefinition $k_{9\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{a}}$ goes to $k_{9\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}}^{\text{eff}}$. These considerations can also be interpreted as a proposition for the Chern-Simons coefficient, which involve the missing massless vector \tilde{A}^{11} , namely $k_{91011}^{\text{miss}} \neq 0$. It should be reproduced by the SU(2)-doublets.

We conclude that for the Enriques Calabi-Yau, apart from the missing vector multiplet and hypermultiplet, the effective theory of the consistent truncation is consistent with the genuine Calabi-Yau effective action since it is in principle possible to match the classical Chern-Simons terms of both sides, and more importantly corrections at one-loop are absent in the consistent truncation because massive modes do not carry any charges. Since we think that this is the case for generic Calabi-Yau manifolds with vanishing Euler number, the analysis of the Chern-Simons terms reveals no restrictions for the consistent truncation to also yield a proper effective action. This conclusion might change significantly if the internal space has isometries and there are massive modes charged under massless vectors. We turn to an example that has these features in the next chapter.

7.3 Second Example: Type IIB Supergravity on a Squashed Sasaki-Einstein Manifold

In the following we study a second example of partial supergravity breaking in the context of consistent truncations that features a massive spectrum charged under a massless vector. More precisely, we consider type IIB supergravity on a squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifold with 5-form flux. This setup admits a consistent truncation to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity in five dimensions which has two vacua, one which breaks supersymmetry completely and one which is $\mathcal{N} = 2$ AdS. We focus on the latter in our analysis. Since the theory in the broken phase can be described with the results of section 4.3, we proceed along the lines of the last section and derive the spectrum and Chern-Simons terms. The field content turns out to be consistent with [54–56]. Although there are massive modes charged under the gauged R-symmetry in the vacuum, their corrections to the gauge and gravitational Chern-Simons terms at one-loop cancel exactly.

In [54] it was shown that in a consistent truncation of type IIB supergravity on a squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifold to five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity the non-vanishing embedding tensors f_{MNP} , ξ_{MN} take the form

$$f_{125} = f_{256} = f_{567} = -f_{157} = -2, \qquad (7.16)$$

$$\xi_{12} = \xi_{17} = -\xi_{26} = \xi_{67} = -\sqrt{2}k, \qquad \xi_{34} = -3\sqrt{2},$$

where k denotes 5-form flux on the internal manifold. They encode the gauging of the group $\text{Heis}_3 \times U(1)_R$, where a $U(1)_R$ is a subgroup of the R-symmetry group. The theory admits a vacuum that preserves $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry. If we for simplicity fix the RR-flux to k = 2, we can use the expressions for the scalar VEVs in [54] to derive

the contracted embedding tensors (4.22)

$$f_{125} = f_{675} = -f_{175} = -f_{625} = 2,$$

$$\xi_{12} = \xi_{67} = -\xi_{17} = -\xi_{62} = -2\sqrt{2},$$

$$\xi_{34} = -3\sqrt{2}.$$
(7.17)

We can now rotate into the basis of (4.34), in fact we transform $\xi_{\hat{\mathcal{M}}\hat{\mathcal{N}}}$ already into block-diagonal form. The non-vanishing gaugings $\xi_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}}$, $f_{\mathcal{M}\mathcal{N}\mathcal{P}}$ read

$$\xi_{12} = 4\sqrt{2}, \qquad \qquad \xi_{34} = 3\sqrt{2}, \qquad \qquad f_{125} = -4, \qquad (7.18)$$

and therefore

$$\hat{\mathcal{M}} = 1, 2, 3, 4, \qquad \qquad \hat{\mathcal{M}} = 5, 6, 7.$$
(7.19)

Carrying out the calculations we find the cosmological constant $\Lambda = -6$, corresponding to an AdS₅ background. Furthermore half of the supersymmetries are broken and the gauge group is reduced

$$\operatorname{Heis}_{3} \times U(1)_{R} \to U(1)_{R}, \qquad (7.20)$$

where now the full U(1) R-symmetry of minimal supersymmetry in AdS₅ is gauged with gauge coupling $g^2 = 3/2$. The complete spectrum of the consistent truncation in the vacuum is depicted in Table 7.3 where we consulted the categorization of [59]. The fields are classified according to their mass, charge under $U(1)_R$ with coupling g and their representation under the $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ part of the maximal compact subgroup of SU(2, 2|1).

For our example we find at the classical level¹

$$k_{000}^{\text{class}} = 4\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \,. \tag{7.21}$$

In order to calculate the quantum corrections, we again use Table 2.1 with the understanding that representations of $SU(2) \times SU(2) \subset SU(2,2|1)$ in AdS contribute in the same way as representations of $SU(2) \times SU(2)$ in the Minkowski case. Although the results of Table 2.1, derived in [30], were originally calculated in a Minkowski background, we believe that they are applicable to AdS as well because of their topological origin. Remarkably, the one-loop corrections of the massive charged modes to the gauge and gravitational Chern-Simons terms both cancel in a highly non-trivial way

$$k_{000}^{1-\text{loop}} = 0$$
, $k_0^{1-\text{loop}} = 0$. (7.22)

Note that the index zero is now meant to refer to the remaining massless $U(1)_R$ in the vacuum rather than to A^0 in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory.

¹We do not account for the classical gravitational Chern-Simons term.

Multiplet	Representation	Mass	Charge
	(1, 1)	0	0
1 real graviton multiplet	$(1, \frac{1}{2})$	0	-1
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},1\right)$	0	+1
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	0	0
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},0\right)$	3/2	+1
1 complex hypermultiplet	(0,0)	-3	+2
	(0, 0)	0	0
	$(\frac{1}{2}, 1)$	-5	+1
1 complex gravitino multiplet	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	8	0
	(0,1)	3	+2
	(0,1)	4	0
	$(0, \frac{1}{2})$	-5/2	+1
	$(0, \frac{1}{2})$	-7/2	+3
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	24	0
	$(\frac{1}{2}, 0)$	9/2	-1
	$(0, \frac{1}{2})$	9/2	+1
	$(0, \frac{1}{2})$	11/2	-1
1 real vector multiplet	$\left(\frac{1}{2},0\right)$	11/2	+1
	(0,0)	12	0
	(0,0)	21	-2
	(0,0)	21	+2
	(0,0)	32	0

Table 7.3: We depict the spectrum of type IIB supergravity on a squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifold in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum corresponding to an AdS₅ background.

The interpretation of this result is not as clear as in the last section concerning the Enriques Calabi-Yau. Indeed, the naive notion of an effective field theory on AdS backgrounds is not well-defined since the AdS radius is linked to the size of the internal space. We nevertheless think that the non-trivial vanishing of the one-loop Chern-Simons terms is not accidental and should have a clear interpretation. One might even suppose that there exists a general principle which ensures the nice behavior of scaleinvariant corrections in consistent truncations. It would be interesting to elaborate more on this. Related to that, it would also be worthwhile to find connections to other consistent truncations. The simplest example is certainly the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ consistent truncation to massless modes of type IIB supergravity on the five-sphere [60], which is a special Sasaki-Einstein manifold. 98

Part III

Circle-Reduced Gauge Theories, F-Theory and the Arithmetic of Elliptic Fibrations

Chapter 8 Overview

A study of the consistency of quantum field theories requires to investigate their local symmetries both at the classical and at the quantum level. In particular, even if such gauge symmetries are manifest in the classical theory, they might be broken at the quantum level and induce a violation of essential current conservation laws. Such inconsistencies manifest themselves already at one-loop level and are known as anomalies which we have already reviewed in section 2.1. Four-dimensional quantum field theories with chiral spin-1/2 fermions for example can admit anomalies which signal the breaking of the gauge symmetry. Consistency requires the cancelation of these anomalies either by restricting the chiral spectrum such that a cancelation among various contributions takes place or by implementing a generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism [21, 22]. The latter mechanism requires the presence of U(1) gauged axion-like scalars with tree-level diagrams canceling the one-loop anomalies. In six spacetime dimensions anomalies pose even stronger constraints since in addition to spin-1/2 fermions also spin-3/2 fermions and two-tensors can be chiral. Also in this case a generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism can be applied to cancel some of these anomalies.

In this part we address the manifestation of anomaly cancelation in four-dimensional and six-dimensional field theories from a Kaluza-Klein perspective when considering the theories to be compactified on a circle. Note that on a circle one can expand all higherdimensional fields into Kaluza-Klein modes yielding a massless lowest mode and a tower of massive excitations. Clearly, keeping track of this infinite set of fields one retains the full information about the higher-dimensional theory including its anomalies. In a next step one can compute the lower-dimensional effective theory for the massless modes only. This requires to integrate out all massive states. Of particular interest for the discussion of anomalies are the effective lower-dimensional couplings that are topological in nature. These do not continuously depend on the cutoff scale and might receive relevant quantum corrections from integrating out the massive states. Prominent examples are three-dimensional gauge Chern-Simons terms as well as five-dimensional gauge and gravitational Chern-Simons terms which we have introduced in section 2.2. These couplings are indeed modified at one-loop when integrating out massive states. In three dimensions only certain massive spin-1/2 fermions contribute while in five dimensions also massive spin-³/₂ and massive self-dual tensors give a non-vanishing shift. In fact, precisely those modes contribute that arise from higher-dimensional chiral fields. Therefore one expects that the Chern-Simons terms of the effective theories encode information about the higher-dimensional anomalies. This was recently investigated motivated by the study of F-theory effective actions via M-theory in [91–96]. With a different motivation similar questions were addressed in [97–104] in the study of applications of holography.

The connection between one-loop Chern-Simons terms and anomalies in the higherdimensional theory, while expected to exist, was only shown to be rather indirect. In fact, it is not at all obvious how the anomaly cancelation conditions arise for example from comparing classical and one-loop Chern-Simons terms. While for many concrete examples in the framework of F-theory, where these couplings play a prominent role, it was possible to check anomaly cancelation using the lower-dimensional effective theory and Chern-Simons terms arising from M-theory, there was no known systematics behind this as of now. In our work we will show that there is an elegant way to actually approach this for general quantum field theories by describing symmetry transformations among effective theories that exist if and only if higher-dimensional anomalies are canceled.

Let us consider an effective theory obtained after circle reduction. If the higherdimensional theory admits a gauge group one can use the Wilson-line scalars of the gauge fields around the circle to move to the lower-dimensional Coulomb branch. In other words one considers situations in which these Wilson line scalars admit a vacuum expectation value which we call Coulomb branch parameters in the following. The masses of all the massive states are now dependent both on the circle radius if they are excited Kaluza-Klein states, and on the Coulomb branch parameters if they where charged under the higher-dimensional gauge group. With this in mind one can then compute the effective theory for the massless modes and focus on the Chern-Simons terms. Since the one-loop Chern-Simons couplings are not continuous functions of the masses of the integrated-out states, they can experience discrete shifts when changing the radius or the Coulomb branch parameters. In particular, the one-loop Chern-Simons terms carry information about the representations of the higher-dimensional chiral spectrum supplemented with a table of signs for each state [91,92] which coincide with the formal signs of the Coulomb branch masses.¹ This extra information can be summarized in so-called box graphs introduced in [107, 110], see also [108, 109]. In general however, it is important to also keep track of an integer label for each dimensionally reduced state that encodes the mass hierarchy between the Kaluza-Klein mass and the Coulomb branch mass. In other words, depending on the background value of the Coulomb branch parameters and the radius, the effective theories can take different forms. One thus finds infinitely many values for the Chern-Simons coefficients due to the infinite amount of hierarchies of Kaluza-Klein masses and Coulomb branch masses. However, we show in detail that higher-dimensional large gauge transformations

¹Different gauge theory phases of such theories and their relation to geometric resolutions have been recently studied in [105,91,106–110].

along the circle identify different Coulomb branch parameters and effective theories if and only if the all gauge anomalies are canceled. Our goal is to study this in the context of four- and six-dimensional gauge theories with a focus on pure gauge anomalies and for six-dimensional theories in addition also on mixed gauge-gravitational anomalies.

Furthermore, due to the importance of large gauge transformations along the circle we provide a full classification of such maps which leave the boundary conditions of all matter fields invariant. We show that depending on the precise spectrum or global structure of the gauge group the naive set of what we would call *integer large gauge transformations* can be enlarged. Indeed for non-simply connected gauge groups the weights of the matter representations can also allow for *special fractional large gauge transformations*. It is one of the major goals of this part to identify these group structures of circle-reduced gauge theories with arithmetic structures on genus-one fibrations via the framework of F-theory and its effective physics [111–116, 93, 94]. The latter structures can then be invoked to directly show anomaly cancelation in F-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau manifolds using one-loop Chern-Simons terms.

In recent years the connection of gauge theories in various dimensions to the geometry of elliptic curves has been explored intensively by using F-theory. In F-theory two auxiliary dimensions need to be placed on a two-torus whose complex structure is identified with the Type IIB axio-dilaton. Its variations are then encoded by the geometry of a two-torus fibration in F-theory. Magnetic sources for the axio-dilaton are 7-branes that support gauge theories. Several features of these gauge theories can thus be studied using two-torus fibrations. At first, the F-theory approach seems to suggest that the connection between geometry and gauge theories is rather direct. However, it turns out that the geometry of elliptic fibrations should rather be related to gauge theories compactified on a circle. This can be understood by realizing that the volume of the two-torus is unphysical in F-theory and that there is no notion of an actual twelvedimensional background geometry. The geometry of the elliptic fibration in F-theory is only fully probed in the dual M-theory compactification. M-theory compactified on an elliptic fibration yields the effective theory of F-theory compactified on an additional circle. In particular, one is therefore forced to relate the geometry of elliptic fibrations with gauge theories on a circle. Our focus in this work will be on revealing geometric symmetry transformations that correspond to the large gauge transformations along the circle.

As a first example of such a relation we will study Abelian gauge theories on a circle. In an F-theory compactification the number of massless U(1) fields can be related to the number of rational sections (or multi-sections) minus one [113]. The section that is not counted here has to be identified with the Kaluza-Klein vector obtained from the higherdimensional metric when placing the gauge theory on the additional circle. Recent progress in understanding U(1) gauge groups in F-theory can be found for example in the references [117–122,94,123,95,124–129]. The fact that smooth geometries carry information about a circle-reduced theory becomes particularly apparent in models with rational sections in which the mentioned mass hierarchy between Kaluza-Klein masses and lower-dimensional Coulomb branch masses is non-trivial [94]. In other words, it was key in [94] that despite the fact that massive states have to be integrated out in the circle compactified effective theory some cutoff independent information about the massive tower has to be kept in order to get the right one-loop Chern-Simons terms. For models with only a multi-section, see [130–132, 127, 133, 134] for representative works, the requirement of a lower-dimensional approach is even more pressing. As discussed in [96, 135–137, 133] the multi-section should be understood as a mixing of the higherdimensional U(1)s and the Kaluza-Klein vector.

The first goal of our work is to formalize the relationship between geometries with rational sections and circle-reduced gauge theories further. We carefully identify the Mordell-Weil group acting on rational sections as large gauge transformations along the circle. The Mordell-Weil group is a discrete finitely-generated Abelian group that captures key information about the arithmetic of elliptic fibrations. We show that there is indeed a one-to-one correspondence between large gauge transformations and basis shifts in the Mordell-Weil group. Shifts along the free part of the Mordell-Weil group are identified with integer Abelian large gauge transformations while its torsion part is related to special fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations. As a byproduct we explore the geometric relationship between the existence of fractional Abelian charges of matter states and the presence of a non-Abelian gauge group.

A second goal is to use our understanding of the arithmetic for geometries with rational sections to provide evidence for the existence of a natural group law acting on fibrations with multi-sections. We call this group *extended Mordell-Weil group* despite the fact that there is formally no Mordell-Weil group for multi-sections. We also define a *generalized Shioda map* that allows to explore the physical implications of the group action. Furthermore, we rigorously establish the correspondence of the proposed group action on the divisor level with large gauge transformations around the circle. In many examples it is known that there exist geometric transitions from a model with several sections to a model with only multi-sections [132, 96, 127, 135–137, 133]. Physically this corresponds to a Higgsing of charged matter states. By construction, the group law of the extended Mordell-Weil group should be inherited from the setup with multiple sections. Accordingly, it trivially reduces to the standard Mordell-Weil group law in the presence of genuine sections.

The third goal is to extend the discussion to fully include matter-coupled non-Abelian gauge theories with gauge group G. Placing these theories on a circle we perform large gauge transformations along the circle and explore the associated arithmetic structure in the geometry. More precisely, we are interested in examining the impact of non-Abelian large gauge transformation on the $U(1)^{r+1}$ gauge theory obtained in the lower-dimensional Coulomb branch. Here r is the rank of G and the additional U(1) is the Kaluza-Klein vector of the higher-dimensional metric. We show that there indeed is a natural group structure on the set of exceptional divisors and rational sections corresponding to these large gauge transformations. We also make progress in identifying the geometric symmetry corresponding to such transformations. First, we show that the



Figure 8.1: Schematic depiction of the various geometric configurations considered in this work. The geometries are related by geometric transitions describing Higgsing and unHiggsing processes.

transformed exceptional divisors and rational sections can have a standard geometry interpretation. Second, we employ that a non-Abelian gauge theory with adjoints can be related to an Abelian theory with r U(1)s by Higgsing/unHiggsing corresponding to complex structure deformations in the geometry, at least for the case that there exists a geometric realization of this field theory transition. Using recent results in [132, 129] we show that the postulated group structure on the exceptional divisors gets mapped precisely to the usual Mordell-Weil group law of the geometry corresponding to the Abelian theory. All this hints at the existence of a symmetry directly in the geometry associated to the non-Abelian theory that is yet to be formulated explicitly. In fact, on the field theory level this is clear since the circle-compactified theories only differ by a non-Abelian large gauge transformation. This is obviously a symmetry of an anomaly free gauge theory which indicates that the corresponding geometry should be considered physically equivalent to the original elliptic fibration.

Let us note that our intuition can be summarized by using Figure 8.1 as follows. First, we are able to establish the relation of the Mordell-Weil group to large Abelian gauge transformations in elliptic fibrations with rational sections depicted in (A). Using a geometric transition which corresponds to Higgsing in field theory the resulting fibrations might only admit multi-sections, see (B). Therefore, one expects an extended Mordell-Weil group structure for such geometries. Furthermore, a geometry with rational sections might arise via a geometric transition describing a non-Abelian gauge theory. Again this is described by a Higgsing in field theory. Such transitions motivate us to transfer the Mordell-Weil group structure to a geometry with exceptional divisors. The resulting group structure corresponds to large non-Abelian gauge transformation for an F-theory effective field theory compactified on a circle and pushed to the Coulomb branch.

It is essential to notice that the investigation of arithmetic structures on the geometry which descend to large gauge transformations along the circle allows us to explicitly show anomaly cancelation in F-theory compactifications on genus-one fibered Calabi-Yau fourfolds and threefolds. This is obvious since we show at the beginning of this part that the invariance under large gauge transformations is equivalent to the cancelation of all gauge anomalies in the higher-dimensional theories. Note that the group structure for exceptional divisors which we propose is not fully established yet. In order words, at the level of homology and also by the intuition of complex structure deformations we have found convincing evidence that it exists, but up to now there is no rigorous proof that it is actually geometrically realized. The same is also true for the extended Mordell-Weil group of multi-sections. In contrast, since the genuine Mordell-Weil group of rational sections is mathematically established, the corresponding large gauge transformations are symmetries of the theory on the circle, and the associated anomalies are therefore canceled.

Finally, the discussion of arithmetic structures on elliptic fibrations and their relation to large gauge transformations is also relevant for understanding the freedom of choice for the zero-section in F-theory. Consider an F-theory compactification on an elliptic fibration which comes with multiple rational sections generating a non-trivial Mordell-Weil group. Then one of these sections has to be chosen as the zero-section and is matched to the Kaluza-Klein vector in the gauge theory on the circle. Although there should be no preferred choice for what one calls the zero-section, the effective theories on the circle seem to differ since the calculation of one-loop Chern-Simons terms yields different results. However we are able to show that different choices for picking the zerosection are again related by a large gauge transformation along the circle supplemented by redefining the higher-dimensional U(1) gauge fields.

This part is organized as follows. We review the relevant parts for circle compactifications of general four- and six-dimensional gauge theories to three and five dimensions, respectively, in chapter 9 and fix our notation. In chapter 10 we describe the action of large gauge transformations along the circle in these theories. In particular, we show that all four- and six-dimensional gauge anomaly cancelation conditions can be derived from the perspective of the circle-compactified theories by imposing that the large gauge transformations act consistently on one-loop Chern-Simons terms in three and respectively five dimensions. Before we relate these kind of settings to F-theory compactifications on genus-one fibered Calabi-Yau manifolds, we give a short introduction into the basic concepts of F-theory in chapter 11. Finally, in chapter 12 we match the field-theoretic large gauge transformations along the F-theory circle to arithmetic structures on genus-one fibrations thereby concretely conjecturing group structures for exceptional divisors and multi-sections which have not been considered before. We conclude in chapter 13 with the closely related work on the choice of picking the zero-section in F-theory compactifications on elliptic fibrations.
Chapter 9

Circle Compactification of Gauge Theories

9.1 General Setup

Let us start by introducing some general notions about Abelian and non-Abelian gauge theories in four and six spacetime dimensions. Unless stated differently our notation applies to both kinds of settings. Differences between four and six dimensions will then be highlighted at prominent positions. We denote by G a simple non-Abelian gauge group¹ with gauge bosons \hat{A} and Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Introducing the Lie algebra generators $T_{\mathcal{I}}, \mathcal{I} = 1, \ldots, \dim \mathfrak{g}$ we expand

$$\hat{A} = \hat{A}^{\mathcal{I}} T_{\mathcal{I}} = \hat{A}^{I} T_{I} + \hat{A}^{\alpha} T_{\alpha} \tag{9.1}$$

where T_I , $I = 1, ..., \text{rank } \mathfrak{g}$ are the generators of the Cartan subalgebra and T_{α} are the remaining generators labeled by the roots α . In addition, we will allow for a number $n_{U(1)}$ of Abelian gauge bosons which are denoted by \hat{A}^m with $m = 1, ..., n_{U(1)}$.

Since we are in particular interested in anomalies of four- and six-dimensional theories, let us introduce the relevant fields which induce anomalies at one-loop in the following. Furthermore, it will also become important that a classical four-dimensional or six-dimensional gauge theory does not necessarily have to be gauge invariant in order to lead to a consistent quantum theory. In fact, it is well-known that often classical gauge non-invariance is required to cancel one-loop gauge anomalies induced by chiral fields. Famously, this is done by the Green-Schwarz mechanism [21–23]. Therefore we also introduce the fields which participate in the latter.

In *four dimensions* the following modes contribute to anomalies:

¹The generalization to semi-simple gauge groups is straightforward but however omitted for convenience of presentation.

• Spin-1/2 Weyl fermions in a representation R of the non-Abelian gauge group and with U(1) charges q_m are denoted by $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q)$. The covariant derivative for left-handed $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q)$ takes the form

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu}\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q) = \left(\hat{\nabla}_{\mu} - i\hat{A}_{\mu}^{\mathcal{I}}T_{\mathcal{I}}^{R} - iq_{m}\hat{A}_{\mu}^{m}\right)\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q).$$
(9.2)

We expand $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q)$ in an eigenbasis $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(w,q)$ associated to the weights w of R. They enjoy the property

$$T_I^R \,\hat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}^{1/2}(w,q) = w_I \,\hat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}^{1/2}(w,q) \tag{9.3}$$

for the Cartan directions, where $w_I := \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_I^{\vee}, w \rangle$ are the Dynkin labels and $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_I^{\vee}$ is the simple coroot associated to T_I . We refer to section E.1 for our conventions in the theory of Lie algebras.

Finally we denote the chiral index of the fields $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q)$ by $F_{1/2}(R,q)$

$$F_{1/2}(R,q) = F_{1/2}^{\text{left}}(R,q) - F_{1/2}^{\text{right}}(R,q)$$
(9.4)

such that the effective number of chiral modes in the theory at hand is given by $\dim(R) \cdot F_{1/2}(R,q)$.

• The Green-Schwarz mechanism is mediated by axions² $\hat{\rho}_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n_{\text{ax}}$ with a gauged shift-symmetry under the U(1) vectors \hat{A}^m . More precisely, their covariant derivative reads

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}\hat{\rho}_{\alpha} = d\hat{\rho}_{\alpha} + \theta_{\alpha m}\hat{A}^m \tag{9.5}$$

with $\theta_{\alpha m}$ constant. The classical non-gauge-invariant counter-terms are given by

$$\hat{S}_{\rm GS}^{(4)} = -\frac{1}{4} \int \eta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \hat{\rho}_{\beta} \left(-\frac{1}{4} a^{\alpha} {\rm tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}} \wedge \hat{\mathcal{R}} + b^{\alpha} \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^{-1} {\rm tr}_{f} (\hat{F} \wedge \hat{F}) + b_{mn}^{\alpha} \hat{F}^{m} \wedge \hat{F}^{n} \right) , \quad (9.6)$$

where $\eta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ is a constant square matrix, and a^{α} , b^{α} and b_{mn}^{α} are the Green-Schwarz anomaly coefficients. We denote by tr_{f} the trace in the fundamental representation of the gauge algebra. The expressions \hat{F} and \hat{F}^{m} denote the field strengths of \hat{A} and \hat{A}^{m} , respectively, and $\hat{\mathcal{R}}$ is the curvature two-form. The algebra-specific coefficient is given by

$$\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\max}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\max} \rangle , \qquad (9.7)$$

where α_{max} is the root of maximal length (see section E.1).

²Note that this index α counts axions and should not be confused with α labeling the roots of \mathfrak{g} .

9.1. GENERAL SETUP

In *six dimensions* we introduce the following types of fields:

• Spin-1/2 Weyl fermions in a representation R of the non-Abelian gauge group and with U(1) charges q_m are written as $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q)$. Note that in the following we do note impose an additional symplectic Majorana condition which is in principle possible in six dimensions. We indicated this by using bold symbols. For left-handed $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q)$, *i.e.* they transform as $(\frac{1}{2},0)$ of the massless little group $SO(4) \cong SU(2) \times SU(2)$, the covariant derivative reads

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu}\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q) = \left(\hat{\nabla}_{\mu} - i\hat{A}_{\mu}^{\mathcal{I}}T_{\mathcal{I}}^{R} - iq_{m}\hat{A}_{\mu}^{m}\right)\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q).$$
(9.8)

Again, we can expand $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q)$ in an eigenbasis $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(w,q)$ associated to the weights w of R with

$$T_I^R \,\hat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}^{1/2}(w,q) = w_I \,\,\hat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}^{1/2}(w,q) \,. \tag{9.9}$$

Finally we write $F_{1/2}(R,q)$ for the chiral index of the fields $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R,q)$

$$F_{1/2}(R,q) = F_{1/2}^{\text{left}}(R,q) - F_{1/2}^{\text{right}}(R,q)$$
(9.10)

such that the effective number of chiral $(\frac{1}{2}, 0)$ -modes in the theory at hand is given by $\dim(R) \cdot F_{1/2}(R, q)$. We stress once more, that in our conventions the $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(R, q)$ are not subject to a symplectic Majorana condition.

• By $T_{\rm sd}$ and $T_{\rm asd}$ we denote the number of self-dual and anti-self-dual tensors respectively. In the following we will not treat non-Abelian tensor fields, for which no Lagrangian description is known, but only restrict to Abelian ones. These fields are indeed chiral since self-dual tensors transform as (1,0) under $SU(2) \times SU(2)$, anti-self-dual tensors as (0,1). We write \hat{B}^{α} , $\alpha = 1, \ldots, T_{\rm sd} + T_{\rm asd}$ for the two-form fields, and introduce the chiral index

$$\mathfrak{T} = T_{\rm sd} - T_{\rm asd} \,. \tag{9.11}$$

Furthermore, the \hat{B}^{α} can mediate a Green-Schwarz mechanism since on the one hand one can assign to them modified field strengths and therefore a non-trivial transformation under six-dimensional gauge transformations (see *e.g.* [93,94] for a more complete discussion)

$$\delta \hat{B}^{\alpha} = d\hat{\Lambda}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha} \operatorname{tr} \hat{l}d\hat{\omega} - 2b^{\alpha} \operatorname{tr} \hat{\Lambda} d\hat{A} - 2b^{\alpha}_{mn} \hat{\Lambda}^{m} d\hat{A}^{n} , \qquad (9.12)$$

where \hat{l} , $\hat{\Lambda}$, $\hat{\Lambda}^m$, $\hat{\Lambda}^{\alpha}$ are the parameters of local Lorentz, gauge and two-form transformations, respectively, and $\hat{\omega}$ is the spin connection. On the other hand the \hat{B}^{α} can appear with topological couplings

$$\hat{S}_{\rm GS}^{(6)} = -\int \eta_{\alpha\beta} \hat{B}^{\beta} \wedge \left(\frac{1}{4}a^{\alpha} {\rm tr}\hat{\mathcal{R}} \wedge \hat{\mathcal{R}} + b^{\alpha} \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^{-1} {\rm tr}_{f}(\hat{F} \wedge \hat{F}) + b_{mn}^{\alpha} \hat{F}^{m} \wedge \hat{F}^{n}\right), \quad (9.13)$$

where a^{α} , b^{α} and b^{α}_{mn} denote the Green-Schwarz coefficients. The matrix $\eta_{\alpha\beta}$ is constant, symmetric in its indices and its signature consists of $T_{\rm sd}$ positive signs and $T_{\rm asd}$ negative ones. The \hat{F} and \hat{F}^m denote the field strengths of \hat{A} and \hat{A}^m , respectively, and $\hat{\mathcal{R}}$ is the curvature two-form. The trace in the fundamental representation of \mathfrak{g} is written as tr_f . We also used

$$\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\max}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\max} \rangle \tag{9.14}$$

with α_{\max} the root of maximal length.

• We write $\hat{\psi}_{\mu}^{3/2}$ for spin-3/2 fermions. Left-handed $\hat{\psi}_{\mu}^{3/2}$ transform as $(1, \frac{1}{2})$ under $SU(2) \times SU(2)$, right-handed ones as $(\frac{1}{2}, 1)$. The chiral index is denoted by

$$F_{3/2} = F_{3/2}^{\text{left}} - F_{3/2}^{\text{right}} \,. \tag{9.15}$$

In the following section 9.2 we account for the anomalies which are induced by these fields in full detail. For the moment it is worthwhile to realize that both the fourdimensional and six-dimensional settings are characterized by Green-Schwarz coefficients a^{α} , b^{α} , b^{α}_{mn} . Indeed, in the following we will see that the fields $\hat{\rho}_{\alpha}$ and \hat{B}^{α} appearing in (9.6) and (9.13) are both captured by vectors A^{α} after a circle-compactification and dualization. This slight abuse of notation will allow us to investigate the fourdimensional and six-dimensional case simultaneously at once.

9.2 Anomaly Cancelation

In section 10.2 we will show in detail that if one considers the action of large gauge transformations along the circle on one-loop Chern-Simons, one can recover all gauge anomaly cancelation conditions of the uncompactified theory in a neat way. Therefore let us shortly collect the anomaly equations in four and six dimensions. For a more general recap of anomalies in quantum field theory see section 2.1 at the beginning of this thesis and the references therein.

9.2.1 Four Dimensions

Potential anomalies in four dimensions stem from loops of chiral spin-1/2 fermions as depicted in Figure 9.1. As mentioned before, a classical Green-Schwarz mechanism



Figure 9.1: The four-dimensional one-loop anomaly has gravitons or gauge bosons as external legs. The modes running in the loop are chiral fermions.



Figure 9.2: The four-dimensional Green-Schwarz mechanism is mediated by axions. The left external leg is always an Abelian gauge boson \hat{A}^m while the external legs on the right-hand side are either gauge bosons or gravitons.

mediated by axions can be exploited in order to cancel the latter. In our conventions the one-loop anomaly polynomial for left-handed Weyl fermions which transform in some representation R (which might also possibly be the singlet representation) of the

non-Abelian gauge group and with U(1) charges q_m takes the form [138]

$$I_{1/2}^{1-\text{loop}}(R,q) = -\frac{1}{24} \dim(R) q_m \hat{F}^m p_1(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) + \frac{1}{6} \text{tr}_R \hat{F}^3 + \frac{1}{2} q_m \hat{F}^m \text{tr}_R \hat{F}^2 + \frac{1}{6} \dim(R) q_m q_n q_p \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \hat{F}^p = \frac{1}{48} \dim(R) q_m \hat{F}^m \text{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2 + \frac{1}{6} \text{tr}_R \hat{F}^3 + \frac{1}{2} q_m \hat{F}^m \text{tr}_R \hat{F}^2 + \frac{1}{6} \dim(R) q_m q_n q_p \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \hat{F}^p , \qquad (9.16)$$

with tr_R the trace taken in the representation R and the first Pontryagin class given by

$$p_1(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2 \,. \tag{9.17}$$

The anomaly polynomial derived from the Green-Schwarz counterterms depicted in Figure 9.2 takes the following factorized form

$$I^{\text{GS}} = -\frac{1}{8}\theta_{m\alpha} \Big(a^{\alpha} \hat{F}^{m} p_{1}(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) + 2\frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \hat{F}^{m} \text{tr}_{f} \hat{F}^{2} + 2b^{\alpha}_{np} \hat{F}^{m} \hat{F}^{n} \hat{F}^{p} \Big)$$

$$= \frac{1}{16} a^{\alpha} \theta_{m\alpha} \hat{F}^{m} \text{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \theta_{m\alpha} \hat{F}^{m} \text{tr}_{f} \hat{F}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} b^{\alpha}_{np} \theta_{m\alpha} \hat{F}^{m} \hat{F}^{n} \hat{F}^{p} , \qquad (9.18)$$

which can be derived straightforwardly by using the anomalous variation of the classical action in the descent equations.

The vanishing condition of the full six-form anomaly polynomial I_6 then comprises the one-loop part and the Green-Schwarz contributions

$$I_6 := \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ I_{1/2}^{1-\text{loop}} + I^{\text{GS}} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$$
(9.19)

This leads to the cancelation conditions³

$$-3a^{\alpha}\theta_{m\alpha} = \sum_{R,q} \dim(R) \ F_{1/2}(R,q) \ q_m \ , \tag{9.20a}$$

$$0 = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) E_R, \qquad (9.20b)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}}\theta_{m\alpha} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) q_m A_R , \qquad (9.20c)$$

$$\frac{3}{2}b^{\alpha}_{(mn}\theta_{p)\alpha} = \sum_{R,q} \dim(R) \ F_{1/2}(R,q) \ q_m q_n q_p \,, \tag{9.20d}$$

114

³All symmetrizations over *n* indices include a factor of $\frac{1}{n!}$.

where we employed the definitions

$$tr_{R}\hat{F}^{2} = A_{R} tr_{f}\hat{F}^{2}, \qquad (9.21a)$$

$$tr_{R}\hat{F}^{3} = E_{R} tr_{f}\hat{F}^{3}, \qquad (1.2)$$

$$tr_{R}\hat{F}^{4} = B_{R} tr_{f}\hat{F}^{4} + C_{R} (tr_{f}\hat{F}^{2})^{2}.$$

The last definition is only introduced for convenience since it will be used in the sixdimensional setup later.

It will be essential in section 10.2 that we have managed to express the anomaly cancelation conditions which involve non-Abelian gauge factors by an alternative representation. This is done via replacing the Casimirs A_R and E_R by certain sums over all weights of the given representation R. As we show in section E.2, the equations (9.20) are equivalent to

$$-\frac{1}{4}a^{\alpha}\theta_{m\alpha} = \frac{1}{12}\sum_{R,q}F_{1/2}(R,q)\sum_{w\in R}q_m , \qquad (9.22a)$$

$$0 = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K, \qquad (9.22b)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}b^{\alpha}\theta_{m\alpha}\mathcal{C}_{IJ} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m w_I w_J , \qquad (9.22c)$$

$$\frac{3}{2}b^{\alpha}_{(mn}\theta_{p)\alpha} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m q_n q_p.$$
(9.22d)

Although we have in principle only rewritten those anomaly cancelation conditions which involve the non-Abelian gauge symmetry, we once more collect the full set of conditions in this box for later convenience. Note also that for the same reason all factors of dim(R) have been rewritten as a sum over weights of the non-Abelian gauge group. Furthermore, we stress that this way of writing of course involves a lot of redundancy since there are many more equations due to the appearance of new indices I, J, K. Indeed, as shown in section E.2 some equations are trivially fulfilled as a group-theoretical identity, others are equivalent to each other.

9.2.2 Six Dimensions

The chiral modes in six dimensions which induce anomalies at one-loop are spin-1/2 and spin-3/2 fermions as well as (anti-)self-dual tensors. The corresponding anomalous box diagrams are depicted in Figure 9.3. The (anti-)self-dual tensors can additionally participate in a Green-Schwarz mechanism at tree-level as illustrated in Figure 9.4.

Let us now write down the one-loop anomaly polynomials for the different types of fields in our conventions. For a left-handed spin-1/2 fermion which transforms in a



Figure 9.3: The six-dimensional one-loop anomaly has gravitons or gauge bosons as external legs. The modes running in the loop can be chiral spin-1/2 fermions, spin-3/2 fermions or (anti-)self-dual tensors.



Figure 9.4: The six-dimensional Green-Schwarz mechanism is mediated by (anti-)selfdual tensors. The external legs can be gauge bosons or gravitons.

representation R and has U(1) charge q, it reads

$$I_{1/2}^{1-\text{loop}}(R,q) = \frac{1}{360} \dim(R) \left(-4p_2(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) + 7p_1^2(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) \right) + \frac{1}{3} \text{tr}_R \hat{F}^2 p_1(\hat{\mathcal{R}})$$

9.2. ANOMALY CANCELATION

$$+\frac{1}{3}\dim(R) \ q_m q_n \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n p_1(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) + \frac{2}{3} \operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^4 + \frac{8}{3} q_m \hat{F}^m \operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^3 + 4q_m q_n \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^2 + \frac{2}{3} \dim(R) \ q_m q_n q_p q_q \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \hat{F}^p \hat{F}^q = \frac{1}{360} \dim(R) \left(\operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^4 + \frac{5}{4} (\operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2)^2 \right) - \frac{1}{6} \operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^2 \operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2 - \frac{1}{6} \dim(R) \ q_m q_n \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2 + \frac{2}{3} \operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^4 + \frac{8}{3} q_m \hat{F}^m \operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^3 + 4q_m q_n \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^2 + \frac{2}{3} \dim(R) \ q_m q_n q_p q_q \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \hat{F}^p \hat{F}^q ,$$

$$(9.23)$$

for a self-dual tensor we have

$$I_{\rm sd}^{1-\rm loop} = \frac{2}{45} \left(-7p_2(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) + p_1^2(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) \right) = \frac{28}{360} \left({\rm tr}\hat{\mathcal{R}}^4 + \frac{5}{4} ({\rm tr}\hat{\mathcal{R}}^2)^2 \right) - \frac{1}{8} ({\rm tr}\hat{\mathcal{R}}^2)^2 \,, \qquad (9.24)$$

and finally for a left-handed spin-3/2 fermion

$$I_{3/2}^{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{72} \Big(-196p_2(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) + 55p_1^2(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) \Big) \\ = \frac{245}{360} \Big(\text{tr}\hat{\mathcal{R}}^4 + \frac{5}{4} (\text{tr}\hat{\mathcal{R}}^2)^2 \Big) - (\text{tr}\hat{\mathcal{R}}^2)^2 \,.$$
(9.25)

Note that for right-handed fermions and anti-self-dual tensors one picks up a minus sign, respectively. Again for the gravitational anomalies we employed the definitions of the Pontryagin classes

$$p_1(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2, \qquad (9.26a)$$

$$p_2(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) = \frac{1}{8} \left(-2 \, \mathrm{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^4 + (\mathrm{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2)^2 \right).$$
(9.26b)

The classical Green-Schwarz counterterms contribute to the anomaly polynomial in the factorized form

$$I^{\rm GS} = \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \Big(a^{\alpha} p_1(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) - 2 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^2 - 2b^{\alpha}_{mn} \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \Big) \Big(a^{\beta} p_1(\hat{\mathcal{R}}) - 2 \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^2 - 2b^{\beta}_{pq} \hat{F}^p \hat{F}^q \Big)$$

$$= \frac{1}{8} a^{\alpha} a^{\beta} \eta_{\alpha\beta} (\operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2)^2 + a^{\alpha} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^2 \operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2 + a^{\alpha} b^{\beta}_{mn} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \operatorname{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^2$$
(9.27)
$$+ 2 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} (\operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^2)^2 + 4 b^{\alpha}_{mn} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^2 + 2 b^{\alpha}_{mn} b^{\beta}_{pq} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \hat{F}^m \hat{F}^n \hat{F}^p \hat{F}^q .$$

The cancelation of all anomalies then requires the vanishing of the full eight-form anomaly polynomial I_8 , consisting of the one-loop contributions from chiral fermions and (anti-)self-dual tensors as well as the classical Green-Schwarz part

$$I_8 := \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ I_{1/2}^{1-\text{loop}}(R,q) + \mathfrak{T} \ I_{\text{sd}}^{1-\text{loop}} + F_{3/2} \ I_{3/2}^{1-\text{loop}} + I^{\text{GS}} \stackrel{!}{=} 0.$$
(9.28)

This condition yields the following set of equations

$$0 = \sum_{R,q} \dim(R) F_{1/2}(R,q) + 28\mathfrak{T} + 245F_{3/2}, \qquad (9.29a)$$

$$a^{\alpha}a^{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \mathfrak{T} + 8F_{3/2}, \qquad (9.29b)$$

$$6a^{\alpha} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) A_R, \qquad (9.29c)$$

$$6a^{\alpha}b_{mn}^{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{R,q} \dim(R) \ F_{1/2}(R,q) \ q_m q_n \,, \tag{9.29d}$$

$$0 = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ B_R, \qquad (9.29e)$$

$$-3\frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}}\frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}}\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ C_R \,, \tag{9.29f}$$

$$0 = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ q_m E_R , \qquad (9.29g)$$

$$-b_{mn}^{\alpha} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ q_m q_n A_R \,, \tag{9.29h}$$

$$-3b_{(mn}^{\alpha}b_{pq)}^{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{R,q} \dim(R) \ F_{1/2}(R,q) \ q_m q_n q_p q_q , \qquad (9.29i)$$

with the group theoretical constants A_R , B_R , C_R , E_R defined in (9.21).

Again like in (9.20) and (9.22) there is an alternative representation of those anomaly equations which involve the non-Abelian gauge symmetry as shown in section E.2. Note that we also display the pure gravitational anomalies in a different manner such that the connection to Chern-Simons terms becomes more apparent. In particular the new representations (9.30a), (9.30b) are formed by taking appropriate linear combinations

9.3. CIRCLE COMPACTIFICATION

of the original conditions (9.29a), (9.29b).

$$4(\mathfrak{T}+11F_{3/2}) = \frac{1}{6} \left(-\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} 1 - 4\mathfrak{T} + 19F_{3/2} \right), \qquad (9.30a)$$

$$\frac{1}{4}a^{\alpha}a^{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{120} \left(-\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} 1 + 2\mathfrak{T} - 5F_{3/2} \right), \qquad (9.30b)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha}b^{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\,\mathcal{C}_{IJ} = \frac{1}{12}\sum_{R,q}F_{1/2}(R,q)\sum_{w\in R}w_Iw_J\,,$$
(9.30c)

$$\frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha}b^{\beta}_{mn}\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{12}\sum_{R,q}F_{1/2}(R,q)\sum_{w\in R}q_mq_n\,,\qquad(9.30d)$$

$$-3b^{\alpha}b^{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{C}_{(IJ}\mathcal{C}_{KL)} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K w_L , \qquad (9.30e)$$

$$0 = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m w_I w_J w_K, \qquad (9.30f)$$

$$-b_{mn}^{\alpha}b^{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{C}_{IJ} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q)\sum_{w\in R} q_m q_n w_I w_J, \qquad (9.30g)$$

$$-3b^{\alpha}_{(mn}b^{\beta}_{pq)}\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m q_n q_p q_q \,. \tag{9.30h}$$

Similar to the situation in four dimensions, demanding that these equations hold true for all index choices I, J, K, L involves of course a lot of redundancy since some equations are trivially fulfilled as group-theoretical identities and others are equivalent to each other. However note that the single type of equation (9.30e) comprises both pure non-Abelian gauge anomalies (9.29e) and (9.29f) as shown in section E.2.

9.3 Circle Compactification

In the next step we compactify the four- or six-dimensional theory on a circle and push it to the Coulomb branch by allowing for a non-vanishing Wilson line background for the gauge field component along the circle. We stress that we assume generic values for these VEVs throughout this thesis. In particular they should not be integer multiples of the radius. Note that we will not account for the full circle reduction but rather review the relevant parts. A complete treatment (with application to F-theory) can for example be found in [116,93,94].

9.3.1 Reduction of the Fields

First let us fix some notation for convenience. We stress that all four- or six-dimensional objects carry a 'hat' while the three- or five-dimensional ones which appear in the circle-reduction do not. From the metric in four or six dimensions one finds at lowest level

the three- or five-dimensional metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, the Kaluza-Klein vector A^0 , and the radius modulus r of the circle. Thus the higher-dimensional line element is expanded according to

$$d\hat{s}^{2} = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + r^{2}Dy^{2}, \qquad Dy := dy - A^{0}_{\mu}dx^{\mu}, \qquad (9.31)$$

with x^{μ} the three- or five-dimensional coordinates, respectively, and y the coordinate along the circle. Performing the Kaluza-Klein reduction of the vector fields one finds at lowest Kaluza-Klein level a number of dim \mathfrak{g} gauge fields $A^{\mathcal{I}}$ and dim \mathfrak{g} Wilson line scalars $\zeta^{\mathcal{I}}$ from reducing \hat{A} . In addition one has $n_{U(1)} U(1)$ gauge fields A^m and Wilson line scalars ζ^m from reducing \hat{A}^m . In particular the gauge fields are expanded as

$$\hat{A}^{\mathcal{I}} = A^{\mathcal{I}} - \zeta^{\mathcal{I}} r D y , \qquad \hat{A}^m = A^m - \zeta^m r D y .$$
(9.32)

The $A^{\mathcal{I}}$ constitute gauge fields of the lower-dimensional version of the gauge group G while the $\zeta^{\mathcal{I}}$ transform in the adjoint representation of G. In other words, denoting the gauge parameters by $\Lambda^{\mathcal{I}}(x)$ and $\Lambda^m(x)$ one has

$$\delta A^{\mathcal{I}} = d\Lambda^{\mathcal{I}} + f^{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathcal{J}\mathcal{K}}\Lambda^{\mathcal{J}}A^{\mathcal{K}} , \qquad \delta \zeta^{\mathcal{I}} = f^{\mathcal{I}}_{\mathcal{J}\mathcal{K}}\zeta^{\mathcal{J}}\Lambda^{\mathcal{K}} , \qquad (9.33)$$

$$\delta A^{m} = d\Lambda^{m} , \qquad \qquad \delta \zeta^{m} = 0 ,$$

where $f_{\mathcal{JK}}^{\mathcal{I}}$ are the structure constants of \mathfrak{g} . It will be crucial to realize later that there is whole class of higher-dimensional gauge transformations with gauge parameters $\hat{\Lambda}^{\mathcal{I}}(x, y)$ and $\hat{\Lambda}^{m}(x, y)$ depending non-trivially on y which are not included in (9.33). We will discuss these additional transformations in chapter 10 in more detail.

The Coulomb branch of the compactified theory is parametrized by the background values of the scalars $\zeta^{\mathcal{I}}$ and ζ^{m} by setting

$$\langle \zeta^I \rangle \neq 0 , \qquad \langle \zeta^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \rangle = 0 , \qquad \langle \zeta^m \rangle \neq 0 ,$$
 (9.34)

i.e. giving the Cartan Wilson line scalars a (generic) vacuum expectation value. This induces the breaking

$$G \times U(1)^{n_{U(1)}} \to U(1)^{\operatorname{rank}\mathfrak{g}} \times U(1)^{n_{U(1)}}$$
, (9.35)

and assigns a mass to the W-bosons A^{α} . Note that one has to include the Kaluza-Klein vector A^0 in addition, such that the full three- or five-dimensional massless gauge group is actually $U(1)^{\operatorname{rank}\mathfrak{g}+n_{U(1)}+1}$. We stress that there can be additional massless U(1) vectors which arise from the dualization of former four-dimensional axions or six-dimensional (anti-)self-dual tensors, respectively, as we will explain in a moment. However, there are no modes in the theory which carry charges under these vector fields.

The massive fields in the lower-dimensional theory then are precisely the excited Kaluza-Klein modes of all higher-dimensional states and the fields that acquire masses on the Coulomb branch. In particular, also the modes of the higher-dimensional charged

9.3. CIRCLE COMPACTIFICATION

matter states will gain a mass. The three- and five-dimensional spin-1/2 fermions⁴ $\psi^{1/2}(w,q)$, which derive from the former $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(w,q)$ in four and six dimensions having weight w under the non-Abelian group and U(1) charges q_m as introduced in section 9.1, obtain a Coulomb branch mass $m_{CB}^{w,q}$ in the background (9.34)

$$m_{\rm CB}^{w,q} = w_I \langle \zeta^I \rangle + q_m \langle \zeta^m \rangle .$$
(9.36)

In total the mass of the fields $\psi_{(n)}^{1/2}(w,q)$ at Kaluza-Klein level n in the lower-dimensional theories reads

$$m = m_{\rm CB}^{w,q} + n \, m_{\rm KK} = w_I \langle \zeta^I \rangle + q_m \langle \zeta^m \rangle + \frac{n}{\langle r \rangle} \,, \tag{9.37}$$

with $m_{\rm KK} = 1/\langle r \rangle$ being the unit Kaluza-Klein mass determined by the background value of the radius. Note that a similar analysis can be performed for the Kaluza-Klein modes of all other fields, including scalars, W-bosons, and six-dimensional tensor fields.

In particular each six-dimensional (anti-)self-dual tensor \hat{B}^{α} yields a whole tower of Kaluza-Klein states after compactification on the circle. While the massive modes are genuine tensor fields in five dimensions [27,29], the massless mode can be dualized into a massless five-dimensional vector field A^{α} . To be more precise, the Kaluza-Klein ansatz for \hat{B}^{α} reads

$$\hat{B}^{\alpha} = B^{\alpha} - \left(A^{\alpha} - 2\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^{-1}b^{\alpha}\mathrm{tr}_{f}(\zeta A) - 2b_{mn}^{\alpha}\zeta^{m}A^{n}\right) \wedge Dy + \dots, \qquad (9.38)$$

omitting contributions from the spin connection in the expansion. Note that the modification of this ansatz with terms proportional to the constant Green-Schwarz coefficients b^{α} and b^{α}_{mn} defined in (9.13) is important since the six-dimensional tensors have modified field strengths. In the classical five-dimensional Coulomb branch parametrized by (9.34) the ansatz (9.38) including only the massless fields becomes

$$\hat{B}^{\alpha} = B^{\alpha} - \left(A^{\alpha} - 2b^{\alpha}\mathcal{C}_{IJ}\zeta^{I}A^{J} - 2b^{\alpha}_{mn}\zeta^{m}A^{n}\right) \wedge Dy + \dots , \qquad (9.39)$$

where we have introduced the coroot intersection matrix $C_{IJ} = \lambda_g^{-1} \text{tr}_f(T_I T_J)$ with T_I being the Cartan generators in the coroot basis. Again, we refer to section E.1, in particular (E.3) and the following paragraph for more details. In five dimensions the B^{α} can then be eliminated from the action in favour of the dual vectors A^{α} by using the self- or anti-self-duality of \hat{B}^{α} (see [93,94] for more details).

The analog objects to \hat{B}^{α} in four dimensions are axions $\hat{\rho}_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n_{\text{ax}}$ with a gauged shift-symmetry under the U(1) vectors \hat{A}^{m} . As for the (anti-)-self-dual tensors in six dimensions, after the circle compactification the Kaluza-Klein zero-modes of $\hat{\rho}_{\alpha}$ can be dualized into three-dimensional vectors A^{α} (see *e.g.* [116, 92] for a detailed discussion).

⁴Note that as for $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}$, $\hat{\psi}^{3/2}_{\mu}$ in six dimensions we do not impose a symplectic Majorana condition on the $\psi^{1/2}$, $\psi^{3/2}_{\mu}$ in five dimensions.

4d		3d	
Field	KK-tower	Mass	(A^0, A^I, A^m) Charge
$\hat{oldsymbol{\psi}}^{^{1/2}}(w,q)$	$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{(n)}^{\scriptscriptstyle 1/2}(w,q)$	$m_{ ext{CB}}^{w,q} + rac{n}{\langle r angle}$	$(-n, w_I, q_m)$

Table 9.1: Four-dimensional Weyl spinors $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(w,q)$ induce a Kaluza-Klein tower of massive three-dimensional Dirac spinors $\psi_{(n)}^{1/2}(w,q)$, $n = -\infty, \ldots, +\infty$ with additional mass contribution on the Coulomb branch. The Lagrangian is given by (2.19).

Our main interest in the circle-reduced theories at the massive level is into parityviolating modes since they derive from chiral higher-dimensional fields and contribute to one-loop Chern-Simons terms in the effective theory. Therefore let us collect all massive parity violating modes along with their higher-dimensional origin in Table 9.1 and Table 9.2. The connection between chirality in four and six dimensions and the choice of a representation of the Clifford algebra in three and five dimensions is explained in section 2.2. The Lagrangians for the massive fields in three and five dimensions are given in (2.19) and (2.26).

Since the Chern-Simons coefficients couple gauge fields, we once more list the vectors which stay massless on the Coulomb branch along with their higher-dimensional origins in Table 9.3. Note that the massless gauge fields are all Abelian in the effective theory on the Coulomb branch and that there are no modes which are charged under A^{α} .

9.3.2 Chern-Simons Terms

Now that we have discussed the parity violating massive field content as well as the massless vectors of the theories on the circle, let us investigate in more detail the special types of topological couplings in three and five dimensions, namely Chern-Simons terms, which we already introduced in section 2.2. Recall the general form of these terms in three dimensions

$$S_{\rm CS} = \int \Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma} A^{\Lambda} \wedge F^{\Sigma} \,, \tag{9.40}$$

and in five dimensions

$$S_{\rm CS}^{\rm gauge} = -\frac{1}{12} \int k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta} A^{\Lambda} \wedge F^{\Sigma} \wedge F^{\Theta}$$
(9.41a)

$$S_{\rm CS}^{\rm grav} = -\frac{1}{4} \int k_{\Lambda} A^{\Lambda} \wedge \operatorname{tr}(\mathcal{R} \wedge \mathcal{R}), \qquad (9.41b)$$

where A^{Λ} are U(1) vectors with field strengths F^{Λ} , and \mathcal{R} is the curvature two-form. The constants $\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma}$, $k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$, k_{Λ} are called Chern-Simons coefficients, and in five dimension

6d		5d			
Field	$\mathfrak{su}(2) \times \mathfrak{su}(2)$	KK-tower	$\mathfrak{su}(2) \times \mathfrak{su}(2)$	Mass	(A^0, A^I, A^m)
1 ICIU	$\mathfrak{sa}(2) \wedge \mathfrak{sa}(2)$	III tower	$\mathcal{I}(2) \times \mathcal{I}(2)$	WIG55	Charge
$\hat{oldsymbol{\psi}}^{^{1/2}}(w,q)$	$(\frac{1}{2},0),(0,\frac{1}{2})$	$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{(n)}^{^{1/2}}(w,q)$	$(\frac{1}{2}, 0), (0, \frac{1}{2})$	$m_{\mathrm{CB}}^{w,q} + rac{n}{\langle r \rangle}$	$(-n, w_I, q_m)$
\hat{B}^{lpha}	(1,0), (0,1)	$oldsymbol{B}^lpha_{(n>0)}$	(1,0), (0,1)	$rac{n}{\langle r angle}$	(-n, 0, 0)
$\hat{oldsymbol{\psi}}_{\mu}^{^{3/2}}$	$(1,\tfrac{1}{2}), (\tfrac{1}{2},1)$	$oldsymbol{\psi}_{\mu(n)}^{3/2}$	$(1,\tfrac{1}{2}), (\tfrac{1}{2},1)$	$rac{n}{\langle r angle}$	(-n, 0, 0)

Table 9.2: Six-dimensional spin-¹/₂ Weyl fermions $\hat{\psi}^{1/2}(w,q)$ induce a Kaluza-Klein tower of massive five-dimensional spin-¹/₂ Dirac fermions $\psi_{(n)}^{1/2}(w,q)$, $n = -\infty, \ldots, +\infty$ with additional mass contribution on the Coulomb branch. The Lagrangian is given by (2.26a). Furthermore, (anti-)self-dual tensors in six dimensions \hat{B}^{α} yield a tower of massive complex tensors $B^{\alpha}_{(n)}$, $n = 1, \ldots, +\infty$ with Lagrangian (2.26b). Note that nruns only over the positive integers because of the (anti-)self-duality relation. Finally, six-dimensional spin-³/₂ Weyl fermions $\hat{\psi}^{3/2}_{\mu(n)}$, $n = -\infty, \ldots, +\infty$ with Lagrangian (2.26c). We stress that in our conventions no additional symplectic Majorana condition is imposed, neither in six nor in five dimensions.

4d (6d) fields	3d (5d) massless vectors	
\hat{g}	A^0	
\hat{A}	$A^I, I = 1, \dots, \operatorname{rank} \mathfrak{g}$	
\hat{A}^m	$A^m, m = 1, \dots, n_{U(1)}$	
$\hat{ ho}_{lpha}~(\hat{B}^{lpha})$	$A^{\alpha}, \alpha = 1, \dots, n_{\mathrm{ax}} (T_{\mathrm{sd}} + T_{\mathrm{asd}})$	

Table 9.3: There are in general four different types of massless vectors in the circlereduced theory: the Kaluza-Klein vector A^0 , vectors A^I from higher-dimensional Cartan gauge fields, vectors A^m from higher-dimensional U(1) gauge fields and dualized vectors A^{α} which stem from four-dimensional axions or six-dimensional (anti-)self-dual tensors, respectively.

one can distinguish between gauge and gravitational Chern-Simons terms. Note that the latter do not exist in three dimensions.

For the special case when the three- and five-dimensional theories arise from a circle compactification pushed to the Coulomb branch, which we introduced in subsection 9.3.1, the index Λ labeling the massless vectors splits as $\Lambda = (0, I, m, \alpha)$, as can be inferred from Table 9.3. In these settings it is crucial to distinguish in general between *classical* and *one-loop* Chern-Simons terms. We define the classical ones by the property of always being exact at the classical level and never receiving any corrections at one-loop. From Table 9.1 and Table 9.2 it is clear that they can be characterized by carrying at least one index α since there are no states in the theory which are charged under A^{α} and therefore no corrections.⁵ In general for circle-reduced theories the *classical* form

$$\Theta_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad \Theta_{\alpha0} = 0, \qquad \Theta_{\alpha I} = 0, \qquad \Theta_{\alpha m} = \frac{1}{2}\theta_{\alpha m}, \qquad (9.42)$$

and respectively

$$k_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = 0 , \qquad k_{0\alpha\beta} = \eta_{\alpha\beta} , \qquad k_{I\alpha\beta} = 0 , k_{m\alpha\beta} = 0 , \qquad k_{00\alpha} = 0 , \qquad k_{IJ\alpha} = -\eta_{\alpha\beta} b^{\beta} C_{IJ} , k_{mn\alpha} = -\eta_{\alpha\beta} b^{\beta}_{mn} , \qquad k_{0I\alpha} = 0 , \qquad k_{0m\alpha} = 0 , k_{\alpha} = -12 \eta_{\alpha\beta} a^{\beta} . \qquad (9.43)$$

All other Chern-Simons coefficients vanish at the classical level and generically receive corrections at one-loop. Thus we call them *one-loop* Chern-Simons terms. We derive the general results for all different types of these one-loop couplings in section F.1. For convenience let us display here only the most important ones which will appear in upcoming calculations

$$\Theta_{IJ} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I w_J \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.44a)$$

$$\Theta_{mn} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) q_m q_n \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.44b)$$

$$\Theta_{Im} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I q_m \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.44c)$$

as well as

$$k_{IJK} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I w_J w_K \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.45a)$$

⁵Actually this is the more accurate definition of *classical* Chern-Simons terms since in principle it is not required that there is matter which is charged under A^{I} or A^{m} .

$$k_{mnp} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) q_m q_n q_p \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.45b)$$

$$k_{IJm} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I w_J q_m \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.45c)$$

$$k_{Imn} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I q_m q_n \, \operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.45d)$$

$$k_I = -2\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.45e)$$

$$k_m = -2\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) q_m \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (9.45f)$$

where the non-negative integer $l_{w,q}$ is defined as

$$l_{w,q} := \left\lfloor \left| \frac{m_{\rm CB}^{w,q}}{m_{\rm KK}} \right| \right\rfloor. \tag{9.46}$$

This quantity was first introduced in [94] and captures the hierarchy between the Coulomb branch mass and the Kaluza-Klein mass. It will become very important later since changes in this hierarchy induce jumps of Chern-Simons terms which have crucial impact.

Let us conclude by mentioning that for four-dimensional settings on the circle it will become important later that one can obtain a non-vanishing $\Theta_{\alpha 0}$ and additional classical contributions to Θ_{mn} and Θ_{IJ} by switching on circle fluxes of the axions

$$\Theta_{\alpha 0} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{S^1} \langle d\hat{\rho}_{\alpha} \rangle , \qquad (9.47a)$$

$$\Theta_{IJ}^{\text{class}} = -\frac{1}{2} b^{\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \int_{S^1} \langle d\hat{\rho}_{\alpha} \rangle , \qquad (9.47b)$$

$$\Theta_{mn}^{\text{class}} = -\frac{1}{2} b_{mn}^{\alpha} \int_{S^1} \langle d\hat{\rho}_{\alpha} \rangle . \qquad (9.47c)$$

In particular we show around (10.11) that certain large gauge transformations can induce such non-trivial circle fluxes. Note that also in six-dimensional setups circle fluxes of gauged axions can play an important role in F-theory compactifications on manifolds without a rational section. This is however beyond the scope of this thesis and we refer to [96] for more details.

Chapter 10

Symmetries of Gauge Theories on the Circle

10.1 Classification of Large Gauge Transformations

In this subsection we discuss in detail the set of gauge transformations of an Abelian or non-Abelian theory on a circle that are later translated to a symmetry of the geometry of an elliptic fibration in chapter 12 using F-theory. Recall that after the compactification the effective theory admits (9.33) as local symmetries before pushed to the Coulomb branch. In the Coulomb branch one simply has a purely Abelian local symmetry.

In addition to the lower-dimensional gauge transformations (9.33) we could also have performed a circle-dependent gauge transformation and then reduced on the circle $y \sim y+2\pi$. If one preserves the boundary conditions of the fields in the compactification ansatz the gauge invariance of the higher-dimensional theory then implies that there exists a variety of equivalent lower-dimensional effective theories that are obtained after circle reduction of the same higher-dimensional theory. Gauge transformations that cannot be deformed continuously to the identity map are known as *large* gauge transformations. More concretely, let us consider the effect of a gauge transformation that locally takes the form

$$\hat{\Lambda}^{\mathcal{I}}(x,y) = \begin{cases} -\mathfrak{n}^{I}y \\ 0 \end{cases}, \qquad \hat{\Lambda}^{m}(x,y) = -\mathfrak{n}^{m}y , \qquad (10.1)$$

where \mathbf{n}^{I} and \mathbf{n}^{m} are constants, and we have included a minus sign for later convenience. $\mathbf{n}^{I}, \mathbf{n}^{m}$ will be further restricted below to ensure that (10.1) is in fact a large gauge transformation which preserves the boundary conditions of all fields. Using the split $\mathcal{I} = (I, \boldsymbol{\alpha})$ as in (9.1) we have set $\hat{\Lambda}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}(x, y) = 0$ to ensure that the Coulomb branch values $\langle \zeta^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \rangle = 0$ in (9.34) are unchanged.¹ This guarantees that we stay on the considered

¹We stress again that α labels the roots of the gauge algebra while α counts the axions in four dimensions and the (anti-)self-dual tensors in six dimensions, respectively.

Coulomb branch; all of the following discussions are performed on this background. The reduction ansätze (9.32) and (9.39) are also compatible with a gauge transformation (10.1) if one introduces the new quantities

$$\tilde{r} = r , \qquad \tilde{\zeta}^I = \zeta^I + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^I}{r} , \qquad \tilde{\zeta}^m = \zeta^m + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^m}{r} , \qquad (10.2)$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{A}^{0} \\ \tilde{A}^{I} \\ \tilde{A}^{m} \\ \tilde{A}^{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\mathfrak{n}^{I} & \delta^{I}_{J} & 0 & 0 \\ -\mathfrak{n}^{m} & 0 & \delta^{m}_{n} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{n}^{K}\mathfrak{n}^{L}\mathcal{C}_{KL}b^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{n}^{p}\mathfrak{n}^{q}b^{\alpha}_{pq} & -\mathfrak{n}^{K}\mathcal{C}_{KJ}b^{\alpha} & -\mathfrak{n}^{p}b^{\alpha}_{pn} & \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} A^{0} \\ A^{J} \\ A^{n} \\ A^{\beta} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(10.3)

With (10.1) being compatible with (9.32) and (9.39) we mean that the form of the reduction ansatz after a gauge transformation is unchanged when using the quantities with tildes.

Some additional remarks are expedient here. First, it is important to stress that the simple shifts in the vector fields \tilde{A}^{I} only occur for the Cartan direction. In the non-Cartan directions, *i.e.* for the vectors that are massive on the Coulomb branch, the non-Abelian structure of G modifies the transformation rule. Second, while $\langle \zeta^{\alpha} \rangle = 0$ is preserved by (10.1) the actual values for $\langle \zeta^I \rangle$ do change in the vacuum. One therefore relates theories at different points on the Coulomb branch. In fact, this is a defining property of a large gauge transformation: they relate theories at different points in the vacuum manifold of the theory with the same properties, see e.q. [139]. Third, later on we will consider six-dimensional theories with (1,0) supersymmetry arising in F-theory. These theories have $T_{\rm sd} = 1$ and $T_{\rm asd} \equiv T$. Each six-dimensional anti-self-dual tensor is accompanied by a real scalar field in the multiplet. After dimensional reduction these scalar fields combine with T of the A^{α} into vector multiplets. Importantly, it was found in [93, 94] that the redefinition of the five-dimensional scalar fields is precisely of the form compatible with (10.3) (see e.g. (3.30) in [94]). In other words, a gauge transformation (10.1) shifts both the vectors and scalars in a compatible fashion. We note that a similar story applies to circle compactifications from four to three spacetime dimensions. In fact, the transformations (10.2) and (10.3) are equally valid for this latter case. As noted above the vectors A^{α} are the three-dimensional duals of the former four-dimensional scalars $\hat{\rho}_{\alpha}$ appearing in (9.6).

Clearly, a gauge transformation (10.1) also requires to transform the Kaluza-Klein modes of all higher-dimensional charged fields. Given a general matter state $\psi_{(n)}$ (not necessarily a fermion) at Kaluza-Klein level n in the representation R of G and with charge q_m under \hat{A}^m we first proceed as described after (9.2), (9.8) and introduce eigenstates $\psi_{(n)}(w,q)$, where w are the weights of R. The transformation (10.3) mixes these states as

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{(n)}(w,q) \mapsto \boldsymbol{\psi}_{(\tilde{n})}(\tilde{w},\tilde{q}) , \qquad \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{n} \\ \tilde{w}_I \\ \tilde{q}_m \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{n}}^J & -\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{n}}^n \\ 0 & \delta_I^J & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \delta_m^n \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} n \\ w_J \\ q_n \end{pmatrix} . \tag{10.4}$$

Note that in general this transformation shifts the whole Kaluza-Klein tower, but there is still no state charged under \tilde{A}^{α} . Furthermore, imposing that (10.4) is in fact a consistent reshuffling of the Kaluza-Klein states, which is necessary for invariance of the theory, imposes conditions on the constants \mathfrak{n}^{I} and \mathfrak{n}^{m} that are dependent on the spectrum of the theory. We will discuss the various choices and conditions in the following.

Integer large gauge transformations

In (10.1) we have introduced gauge transformations that depend on the circle coordinate $y \sim y + 2\pi$. As mentioned before, these correspond to large gauge transformations around the circle if they preserve the circle boundary conditions of all fields and wind at least once around the circle. Let us now define what we mean by integer large gauge transformations. First, if we consider pure gauge theory without charged matter, we call a large gauge transformation to be integer if all \mathbf{n}^I and all \mathbf{n}^m are integers. Indeed, the degrees of freedom in (10.1) are in general characterized by elements of the homotopy groups

$$\pi_1(U(1)^{\mathrm{rk}G}) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{\mathrm{rk}G} , \qquad \pi_1(U(1)^{n_{U(1)}}) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{n_{U(1)}} .$$
 (10.5)

Clearly, (10.1) define maps from S^1 into the gauge group (which is purely Abelian on the Coulomb branch). These are precisely classified by the first homotopy group of the gauge group which in the case at hand consists of tuples of integers.

If one now includes a charged matter spectrum, the invariance of the boundary conditions of all these fields dictates the set of large gauge transformations. In these cases the space of allowed \mathbf{n}^I and \mathbf{n}^m has to be quantized. In general the \mathbf{n}^I and \mathbf{n}^m could still be integer or fractional depending on the weights and charges of the matter fields. However, for the transformations (10.1) to be an actual symmetry, *i.e.* a large gauge transformation, the following condition for each state $\hat{\psi}(R, q)$ has to be satisfied:

$$\mathbf{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathbf{n}^{m} q_{m} \quad \in \ \mathbb{Z} , \qquad (10.6)$$

where w_I are the weights of R and q_m are the U(1) charges. This condition also arises from the transformation of the Kaluza-Klein level in (10.4) and ensures that \tilde{n} is an integer, which implies equivalence of the full Kaluza-Klein towers of the compactified theory by a simple reshuffling. Now we are in the position to introduce our notion of *integer* large gauge transformations. They are spanned by pairs $(\mathfrak{n}^I, \mathfrak{n}^m)$ satisfying (10.6) and one of the conditions

- (I) $\mathfrak{n}^m = 0$ and $\mathfrak{n}^I \in \mathbb{Z}^*$,
- (II) $\mathfrak{n}^m \in \mathbb{Z}^*$ and $\mathfrak{n}^I w_I \in \mathbb{Q}$.

It is useful to comment on the class (II) of basis vectors. While all w_I reside in an integer lattice and therefore do not violate (10.6) for integer \mathbf{n}^I , the U(1) charges q_m can be fractional. However, we will also consider the set of integer \mathbf{n}^m 's that allow a compensation of this fractional contribution to (10.6) by an appropriate \mathbf{n}^I -transformation which might be fractional.

Special fractional large gauge transformations

There is another set of large gauge transformations that will be of importance for us. If the arising representations in the spectrum of matter states is special, *e.g.* if the fundamental representation does not occur, also fractional \mathbf{n}^{I} might be allowed. More precisely, we also want to consider pairs $(\mathbf{n}^{I}, \mathbf{n}^{m})$ satisfying (10.6) and

(III) $\mathfrak{n}^m = 0$ and \mathfrak{n}^I fractional.

We call large gauge transformations satisfying (III) special fractional large gauge transformations. Note that the conceptual difference between (III) and (I), (II) is that there is always at least one integer quantity $\mathbf{n}^{I}, \mathbf{n}^{m}$ in (I) or (II).

It remains to consider the cases where also \mathfrak{n}^m is fractional. As a concrete example this could be allowed if the spectrum has special charges such that $\mathfrak{n}^m q_m$ is integer for each state, although there are more general possibilities involving also the non-Abelian sector. However, later we find that models which allow for a fractional \mathfrak{n}^m do not appear in our geometric considerations of chapter 12. For instance in the known F-theory examples there are always states that have minimal charge $0 < q_m \leq 1$. Following some folk theorems (see e.g. [140, 141]) this might be true in any theory of quantum gravity. In this case the space of all large gauge transformations is spanned by $(\mathfrak{n}^I, \mathfrak{n}^m)$ satisfying (10.6) and either (I), (II) or (III). Nevertheless we stress that from a purely field-theoretical point of view there should be no restriction for also having fractional \mathfrak{n}^m in some settings.

10.2 Anomalies from Large Gauge Transformations

We now crown our field theory analysis by applying large gauge transformations to Chern-Simons terms. In particular, demanding that large gauge transformations constitute a symmetry of the theory on the circle (including the full Kaluza-Klein tower) we are able to derive all gauge anomaly conditions in four and six dimensions. Note that since there always exist transformations of type (I) and (II) for any kind of field theory spectrum, our analysis turns out to be totally general.

The guiding principle is that there are two conceptually different ways to evaluate the transformation of the Chern-Simons coefficients $\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma}$, $k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$, k_{Λ} under the large gauge transformations (10.3),(10.4). First rewrite (10.3) in components as

$$\tilde{A}^{\Lambda} = L^{\Lambda}{}_{\Lambda'} A^{\Lambda'} , \qquad (10.7)$$

then the Chern-Simons coefficients accordingly have to transform as the dual elements

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda\Sigma} = (L^{-1T})_{\Lambda}{}^{\Lambda'} (L^{-1T})_{\Sigma}{}^{\Sigma'} \Theta_{\Lambda'\Sigma'}, \qquad (10.8a)$$

$$\tilde{k}_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta} = (L^{-1T})_{\Lambda}{}^{\Lambda'}(L^{-1T})_{\Sigma}{}^{\Sigma'}(L^{-1T})_{\Theta}{}^{\Theta'}k_{\Lambda'\Sigma'\Theta'}, \qquad (10.8b)$$

$$\tilde{k}_{\Lambda} = (L^{-1T})_{\Lambda}{}^{\Lambda'} k_{\Lambda'} \,. \tag{10.8c}$$

On the other hand the transformed couplings $\tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$, $\tilde{k}_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$, \tilde{k}_{Λ} can also directly be accessed by evaluating them in the circle-reduced theory characterized by the gauge-transformed parameters. In the following we will compare both procedures first for the classical terms and then for one-loop terms.

It is obvious from (9.42), (9.43) that the classical Chern-Simons couplings (except of $\Theta_{\alpha 0}$ because of (9.47a)) only depend on data of the higher-dimensional theory and are insensitive to the precise form of the circle background. Consistently we find that both procedures of evaluating their transformation properties yield the same result, namely that they are invariant

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{\alpha\beta} = \Theta_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad \tilde{\Theta}_{\alpha I} = \Theta_{\alpha I} = 0, \qquad \tilde{\Theta}_{\alpha m} = \Theta_{\alpha m} = \frac{1}{2}\theta_{\alpha m}, \qquad (10.9)$$

and respectively

$$\tilde{k}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = k_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = 0, \qquad \tilde{k}_{0\alpha\beta} = k_{0\alpha\beta} = \eta_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \tilde{k}_{I\alpha\beta} = k_{I\alpha\beta} = 0,
\tilde{k}_{m\alpha\beta} = k_{m\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad \tilde{k}_{00\alpha} = k_{00\alpha} = 0, \qquad \tilde{k}_{IJ\alpha} = k_{IJ\alpha} = -\eta_{\alpha\beta}b^{\beta}\mathcal{C}_{IJ},
\tilde{k}_{mn\alpha} = k_{mn\alpha} = -\eta_{\alpha\beta}b^{\beta}_{mn}, \qquad \tilde{k}_{0I\alpha} = k_{0I\alpha} = 0, \qquad \tilde{k}_{0m\alpha} = k_{0m\alpha} = 0,
\tilde{k}_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha} = -12 \ \eta_{\alpha\beta}a^{\beta}.$$
(10.10)

However there is one exception to this, namely the classical Chern-Simons coupling $\Theta_{\alpha 0}$. As described in (9.47a) it is sensitive to circle-flux of the axions $\hat{\rho}_{\alpha}$. Although we initially started with a setting without such a background, *i.e.* with $\Theta_{\alpha 0} = 0$, large gauge transformations can induce a nonzero flux $\frac{1}{2} \int_{S^1} \langle d\hat{\rho}_{\alpha} \rangle$. Indeed, both of our procedures to determine $\tilde{\Theta}_{\alpha 0}$ yield the same result

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{\alpha 0} = \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{n}^m \theta_{\alpha m} \neq \Theta_{\alpha 0} = 0.$$
(10.11)

Let us now determine how the two procedures of evaluating large gauge transformations on Chern-Simons terms are related for the case of one-loop induced couplings. In contrast to the classical case, first of all the couplings are in general not invariant under large gauge transformations. This is somehow expected since the loop-calculations explicitly depend on the details of the circle background, namely the VEVs for the Wilson lines $\langle \tilde{\zeta}^I \rangle$ and $\langle \tilde{\zeta}^m \rangle$ which define the transformed Coulomb branch masses

$$\tilde{m}_{\rm CB}^{w,q} = \tilde{w}_I \langle \tilde{\zeta}^I \rangle + \tilde{q}_m \langle \tilde{\zeta}^m \rangle = w_I \langle \zeta^I \rangle + w_I \frac{\mathfrak{n}^I}{\langle r \rangle} + q_m \langle \zeta^m \rangle + q_m \frac{\mathfrak{n}^m}{\langle r \rangle} = m_{\rm CB}^{w,q} + (\mathfrak{n}^I w_I + \mathfrak{n}^m q_m) m_{\rm KK} \,.$$
(10.12)

Note that the Coulomb branch mass enters in the formulae for one-loop Chern-Simons terms (9.44), (9.45) (see also (F.11), (F.17) for the complete list of one-loop Chern-Simons terms) through sign($m_{\rm CB}$) and $l_{w,q}$ which is defined in (9.46). Thus in general these couplings indeed do transform which of course poses no problems in principle. However, if we now compare the results for $\tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$, $\tilde{k}_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$, \tilde{k}_{Λ} using the transformation rule (10.8) with the $\tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$, $\tilde{k}_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$, \tilde{k}_{Λ} which we obtain from directly evaluating the loop-calculations in the gauge transformed setting, *i.e.* using $\tilde{m}_{\rm CB}^{w,q}$ in the formulae for the loops, we seem to get different expressions. More precisely let us define

$$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda \Sigma} = \tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda \Sigma}^{\text{match}} - \tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda \Sigma}^{\text{dual}}, \qquad (10.13a)$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{\Lambda \Sigma \Theta} = \tilde{k}_{\Lambda \Sigma \Theta}^{\text{match}} - \tilde{k}_{\Lambda \Sigma \Theta}^{\text{dual}}, \qquad (10.13b)$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{\Lambda} = \tilde{k}_{\Lambda}^{\text{match}} - \tilde{k}_{\Lambda}^{\text{dual}}, \qquad (10.13c)$$

where the labels "match" and "dual" indicate whether the quantities are evaluated directly by matching to the loop expressions using the transformed $\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q}$ or by applying the dual transformation (10.8), respectively. While we have already mentioned that for all classical Chern-Simons couplings (also $\Theta_{\alpha 0}$) this difference of calculating the transformation with two types of procedures is always zero, for the one loop expressions the situation is more subtle. In particular for (9.44) we obtain

$$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{IJ} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] - \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha \theta_{q\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{IJ}, \qquad (10.14a)$$

$$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{mn} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m q_n \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] - \frac{3}{2} \mathfrak{n}^q b^{\alpha}_{(mn} \theta_{q)\alpha}, \qquad (10.14b)$$

$$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{Im} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I q_m \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] - \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{n}^L b^\alpha \theta_{m\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{IL} , \qquad (10.14c)$$

where it is important to notice that for $\tilde{\Theta}_{IJ}^{\text{match}}$ and $\tilde{\Theta}_{mn}^{\text{match}}$ there are besides the standard one-loop contributions (9.44) also the additional classical parts (9.47b) and (9.47c)

10.2. ANOMALIES FROM LARGE GAUGE TRANSFORMATIONS

because of the non-zero circle flux of the axions

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{IJ}^{\text{class}} = -\frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha \theta_{q\alpha} \, \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \,, \qquad \qquad \tilde{\Theta}_{mn}^{\text{class}} = -\frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha_{mn} \theta_{q\alpha} \,.$$

For the six-dimensional theory on the circle we obtain the following relations

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJK} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] + 3 \mathfrak{n}^L b^\alpha b^\beta \eta_{\alpha\beta} \, \mathcal{C}_{(IJ} \mathcal{C}_{KL)} \,, \tag{10.15a}$$
$$\delta \tilde{k}_{mnp} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m q_n q_p \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] + 3 \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha_{(mn} b^\beta_{pq)} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \,, \tag{10.15b}$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJm} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J q_m \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] \\ + \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha b_{mq}^\beta \eta_{\alpha\beta} \, \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \,, \tag{10.15c}$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{Imn} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I q_m q_n \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] \\ + \mathfrak{n}^L b^\alpha b_{mn}^\beta \eta_{\alpha\beta} \, \mathcal{C}_{IL} \,, \tag{10.15d}$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{I} = -2 \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_{I} \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] + 12 \mathfrak{n}^{L} a^{\alpha} b^{\beta} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{C}_{IL}, \qquad (10.15e)$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_m = -2\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m \left[\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right) \right] + 12 \mathfrak{n}^q a^\alpha b^\beta_{mq} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \,. \tag{10.15f}$$

This mismatch of evaluating the transformation of Chern-Simons couplings via different methods might seem confusing at first sight. However crucially, it is possible to rewrite (10.14) and (10.15) using the very important identity

$$\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\operatorname{sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q}\right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q}\right) = \mathfrak{n}^{L}w_{L} + \mathfrak{n}^{q}q_{q}, \qquad (10.16)$$

which we prove in section F.2. We obtain for the four-dimensional theory on the circle

$$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{IJ} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J \left[\mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^q q_q \right] - \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha \theta_{q\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{IJ} , \qquad (10.17a)$$

$$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{mn} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m q_n \left[\mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^q q_q \right] - \frac{3}{2} \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha_{(mn} \theta_{q)\alpha}$$

$$= \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m q_n \mathfrak{n}^q q_q - \frac{3}{2} \mathfrak{n}^q b^{\alpha}_{(mn} \theta_{q)\alpha}, \qquad (10.17b)$$

$$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{Im} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I q_m \left[\mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^q q_q \right] - \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{n}^L b^\alpha \theta_{m\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{IL}$$
$$= \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I q_m \mathfrak{n}^L w_L - \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{n}^L b^\alpha \theta_{m\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{IL} , \qquad (10.17c)$$

where we made also use of the algebraic identity

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I = 0, \qquad (10.18)$$

which holds for all highest weight representations R and is derived in [94]. For the circle-reduced six-dimensional theory we get

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJK} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K \left[\mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^q q_q \right] + 3 \mathfrak{n}^L b^\alpha b^\beta \eta_{\alpha\beta} \, \mathcal{C}_{(IJ} \mathcal{C}_{KL)} \,, \quad (10.19a)$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{mnp} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m q_n q_p \left[\mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^q q_q \right] + 3 \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha_{(mn} b^\beta_{pq)} \eta_{\alpha\beta}$$

$$= \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m q_n q_p \mathfrak{n}^q q_q + 3 \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha_{(mn} b^\beta_{pq)} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \,, \quad (10.19b)$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJm} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J q_m \left[\mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^q q_q \right] + \mathfrak{n}^q b^\alpha b^\beta_{mq} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{C}_{IJ}, \qquad (10.19c)$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{Imn} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I q_m q_n \left[\mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^q q_q \right] + \mathfrak{n}^L b^\alpha b^\beta_{mn} \eta_{\alpha\beta} C_{IL}$$
$$= \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I q_m q_n \mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^L b^\alpha b^\beta_{mn} \eta_{\alpha\beta} C_{IL}, \qquad (10.19d)$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_{I} = -2 \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_{I} \left[\mathfrak{n}^{L} w_{L} + \mathfrak{n}^{q} q_{q} \right] + 12 \mathfrak{n}^{L} a^{\alpha} b^{\beta} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{C}_{IL}$$

$$= -2 \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_{I} \mathfrak{n}^{L} w_{L} + 12 \mathfrak{n}^{L} a^{\alpha} b^{\beta} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{C}_{IL}, \qquad (10.19e)$$

$$\delta \tilde{k}_m = -2 \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m \left[\mathfrak{n}^L w_L + \mathfrak{n}^q q_q \right] + 12 \mathfrak{n}^q a^\alpha b^\beta_{mq} \eta_{\alpha\beta}$$
$$= -2 \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m \mathfrak{n}^q q_q + 12 \mathfrak{n}^q a^\alpha b^\beta_{mq} \eta_{\alpha\beta} . \tag{10.19f}$$

The interpretation of these potential mismatches is now completely obvious, they are the anomalies in four and six dimensions. In particular, by taking derivatives with respect to the winding numbers \mathbf{n}^L , \mathbf{n}^q of the large gauge transformations we are able to reproduce all anomalies (9.22) in four dimensions except for the mixed gauge-gravitational anomaly. Also in six dimensions we get all anomalies (9.30) except for the pure gravitational anomalies. In detail, the condition $\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda \Sigma} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$ yields

	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^L}$	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^L}\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^q}$	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^q}$
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{IJ} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.22b)	0	(9.22c)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{mn} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	0	(9.22d)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{Im} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.22c)	0	0

In six dimensions the conditions $\delta \tilde{k}_{\Lambda \Sigma \Theta} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$ and $\delta \tilde{k}_{\Lambda} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$ give

	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^L}$	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^L}\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^q}$	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^q}$
$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJK} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30e)	0	(9.30f)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{mnp} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	0	(9.30h)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJm} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30f)	0	(9.30g)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{Imn} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30g)	0	0
$\delta \tilde{k}_I \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30c)	0	0
$\delta \tilde{k}_m \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	0	(9.30d)

We have seen that this procedure misses the pure gravitational anomalies in six dimensions. This is of course expected since in our procedure we probe the spectrum with large gauge transformations and not large *Lorentz* transformations. The fact that we are able to obtain the mixed gauge-gravitational anomalies is due to the appearance of the curvature two-form in the gravitational Chern-Simons term (2.22b) which is nevertheless probed with large gauge transformations. In contrast, the mixed gaugegravitational anomaly in four dimensions can not be reproduced with our procedure because a gravitational Chern-Simons term does not exist in three dimensions. We are confident that all missing anomalies can be obtained by acting with large Lorentz transformations on Chern-Simons terms, and we collect evidence for that in section 15.1.

Finally let us clarify the intuition behind our procedure and why it has this intriguing connection to anomalies. By construction, the classical four- and six-dimensional action on the circle is of course invariant under large gauge transformations (ignoring Green-Schwarz terms). In some sense one can then interpret our first way for evaluating the transformation of the Chern-Simons couplings, namely by treating them as duals of the vectors (10.8), as exploiting the *classical* invariance under large gauge transformation in order to determine them. The second way for calculating the transformed Chern-Simons coefficients, *i.e.* by directly evaluating the loops with the transformed quantity $\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q}$, is only consistent if the invariance under large gauge transformations is also respected by the quantized theory. For this property to be satisfied it is sufficient that anomalies are canceled. The remarkable result is that the quantum invariance under large gauge transformations along the circle is actually equivalent to the cancelation of *all* higherdimensional gauge anomalies, including also mixed gauge-gravitational anomalies in six dimensions.

The techniques of this chapter were inspired by F-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau four- and threefolds which will be the main topic of the upcoming two chapters. In order to determine the effective theory in such settings one has to consider a four- or six-dimensional theory, respectively, compactified on a circle. The Chern-Simons terms then correspond to certain intersections between divisors on the manifold (and homology classes which are dual to flux). Importantly, what we found is that the precise basis of divisors one has to use in order to obtain the correct matching of intersections and Chern-Simons terms is not uniquely defined. There are rather whole groups of divisors which comprise all possible basis choices. These group structures precisely correspond to large gauge transformations in the field theory setting. Abelian large gauge transformations correspond to the well-known Mordell-Weil group of rational sections while for non-Abelian large gauge transformations we suggest a new group structure on the geometric compactification space. These groups then establish the cancelation of gauge anomalies in F-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau manifolds. We will derive these results in full detail in chapter 12. But before we do so, we have to give a short introduction into the basic concepts of F-theory in chapter 11.

Chapter 11 The Basic Concepts of F-Theory

In this chapter we provide a very short introduction into the basic ingredients of Ftheory [111–113]. We stress that our treatment is far from being complete since we are not doing justice to many in general important aspects, *e.g.* the precise derivation of the gauge group and spectrum, the construction of fluxes, the Sen limit, spectral cover constructions, the duality to heterotic string theory, the relation to superconformal field theories in six dimension, or T-branes. It is rather meant as a review of the basic ideas and concepts adjusted in such a way that the special topics of F-theory effective field theory which are treated in this thesis can be understood. Moreover, we require fundamental familiarity with superstring theory. Standard text book references for string theory in general are for instance [142–147]. For a more detailed introduction into F-theory we refer to the excellent lecture notes [115,148]. A nice review of F-theory phenomenology especially for GUT models is given by [149]. Finally, my predecessors included very well-written introductions to similar topics in F-theory effective field theory and geometric aspects in their theses [150, 151].

In section 11.1 we start with a review of the effective physics of type IIB string theory and M-theory. In particular, we highlight the issue of 7-branes and the need of a non-perturbative formulation of type IIB theory given by F-theory. We then introduce our working-definition of F-theory in section 11.2 via the duality to M-theory. The basic notion of elliptic fibrations and their implications for F-theory compactifications are finally treated in section 11.3.

11.1 Type IIB String Theory and M-Theory

Up to now there exists no satisfying fundamental description for F-theory, especially not in terms of a twelve-dimensional effective action.¹ However, there are several indirect ways of how F-theory can be defined. The most straightforward approach towards this theory is given by considering it as the non-perturbative generalization of type IIB string theory with 7-branes and varying axio-dilaton background. The latter parametrizes an

¹See [152] for a recent approach into this direction.

10d Fields	SO(8) Representations	Sector
ϕ, B_2, G	${f 1} \oplus {f 28}_V \oplus {f 35}_V$	NS-NS
λ^1,ψ^1	${\bf 8}_S \oplus {\bf 56}_S$	NS-R
λ^2,ψ^2	${\bf 8}_S \oplus {\bf 56}_S$	R-NS
C_0, C_2, C_4	$oldsymbol{1} \oplus oldsymbol{28}_C \oplus oldsymbol{35}_C$	R-R

Table 11.1: The massless field content of type IIB string theory in the different sectors of the worldsheet. The index V labels vector-like representations while S, C refer to (left- or right-handed) chiral representations of the massless little group SO(8).

auxiliary two-torus, which is why F-theory is often considered as a twelve-dimensional theory. Sometimes the duality between type IIB string theory and M-theory is invoked in order to actually define F-theory as M-theory on a torus-fibration with vanishing fiber. As we will see, the vanishing of the two-torus grows the one additional dimension which is needed for F-theory (via T-duality). It is unknown if the approach via M-theory captures all aspects of F-theory, for example it is not clear how a compactification of F-theory on a Calabi-Yau sixfold could be treated, or if it is even a consistent background. In this thesis however our approach to F-theory precisely proceeds through this duality to M-theory. Note that there is also the important duality of F-theory on an elliptically-fibered K3 to $E_8 \times E_8$ heterotic string theory on a two-torus (with specification of a vector bundle), which however won't be of importance for the work in this thesis.

11.1.1 Low-Energy Description of Type IIB String Theory

Let us start reviewing the perturbative description of type IIB string theory. In Table 11.1 we list the massless fields in the different sectors of left- and right-movers on the worldsheet. The NS-NS sector consists of the dilaton ϕ , the Kalb-Ramond field B_2 and the metric G. The bosonic spectrum is completed by the differential form fields C_0, C_2, C_4 in the R-R sector accompanied by their magnetic duals. The fermionic spectrum contains the dilatini λ^1 , λ^2 and the gravitini ψ^1 , ψ^2 . We will omit terms which involve the fermionic fields since they can be inferred by invoking supersymmetry. It is convenient to redefine the bosonic fields according to

$$H_3 := dB_2, \qquad F_p := dC_{p-1} \quad (p = 1, 3, 5), \qquad \tau := C_0 + ie^{-\phi},$$

$$G_3 := F_3 - \tau H_3, \qquad \tilde{F}_5 := F_5 - \frac{1}{2}C_2 \wedge H_3 + \frac{1}{2}B_2 \wedge F_3. \qquad (11.1)$$

The low-energy effective action of the massless fields is given by $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ super-

gravity in ten dimensions, whose pseudo-action reads in the Einstein frame

$$S_{\text{IIB}}^{\text{pseudo}} = \frac{2\pi}{l_s^8} \int_{M_{10}} R * 1 - \frac{1}{2} \frac{d\tau \wedge *d\bar{\tau}}{(\text{Im}\tau)^2} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{G_3 \wedge *\bar{G}_3}{\text{Im}\tau} - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{F}_5 \wedge *\tilde{F}_5 - \frac{1}{2} C_4 \wedge H_3 \wedge F_3$$
(11.2)

with $l_s = 2\pi \sqrt{\alpha'}$ the string length and R the ten-dimensional Ricci scalar derived from the metric G. It is crucial to keep in mind that we have written down only a pseudoaction. In fact, one has to additionally impose the self-duality condition

$$*\tilde{F}_5 = \tilde{F}_5 \tag{11.3}$$

after deriving the equations of motion from the pseudo-action. Note that no manifestly covariant action for such a self-dual tensor field is available. It is well-known that the action² (11.2) is classically invariant under the group $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$. Indeed, if we assign the following transformation properties to the individual fields

for
$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$$
: $\begin{pmatrix} C_2 \\ B_2 \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} C_2 \\ B_2 \end{pmatrix}$, (11.4a)

$$\tau \mapsto \frac{a\tau + b}{c\tau + d}$$
, (11.4b)

and all other fields invariant, it is easy to see that this constitutes a symmetry. Note that since D(-1) instantons contribute with a factor of $e^{2\pi i \tau}$, the classical $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ is broken at the quantum level down to $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. This behavior is very similar to the S-duality of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory in four dimensions, in particular it can be invoked to relate regimes of strong and weak string coupling $g_s = e^{\phi}$.

The supergravity action (11.2) also allows for in general non-perturbative solutions which correspond to (electric or magnetic) sources for the generalized gauge potentials B_2 , C_0 , C_2 , C_4 . The R-R fields are sourced by D-branes while for the Kalb-Ramond field the fundamental string and the NS5-brane constitute the electric and magnetic sources, respectively. We summarize the fields together with their respective sources in Table 11.2.

The following discussion now is essential in order to understand the nature and necessity for F-theory. We focus in more detail on the different types of branes and we elaborate on the fundamental difference between codimension-two branes on the one hand and lower-dimensional branes on the other hand. Already at this stage we draw attention to the following fact: Because of the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformation properties (11.4) of the massless fields the sources for the latter, *i.e.* the branes and strings, mix in general under the action of $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. In the following we will therefore generally denote the sources which extend over p + 1 dimensions as p-branes. It is important to recognize the special asymptotic behavior of 7-branes in contrast to p-branes with

²We will omit the prefix pseudo in the following.

Gauge Potential		Electric Source	Magnetic Source
	B_2	fundamental string	NS5-brane
	C_0	D(-1)-brane	D7-brane
	C_2	D1-brane	D5-brane
	C_4	D3-brane	D3-brane

Table 11.2: We display the generalized gauge potentials of type IIB supergravity with the corresponding electric and magnetic sources.

p < 7. More precisely, consider general codimension-n p-branes, *i.e.* p = 9 - n. In the n directions normal to the brane the latter looks like a point-like source and we find a Poisson equation for the sourced fields Φ

$$\Delta^{(n)}\Phi(r) \sim \delta^{(n)}(r) \tag{11.5}$$

with r the radial coordinate in the n normal directions to the brane. The solutions to this equation are of course well-known and depend crucially on n

$$\Phi(r) \sim \frac{1}{r^{n-2}} \quad \text{for } n > 2,$$
(11.6a)

$$\Phi(r) \sim \log(r) \quad \text{for } n = 2. \tag{11.6b}$$

From this heuristic discussion one realizes that for n > 2 the effect of backreaction of the branes drops off as long as one moves away from the brane far enough. For a more detailed discussion see for instance [148]. However, this is not true anymore for n = 2, *i.e.* for 7-branes, since the logarithm has a totally different asymptotic behavior and, what seems even more severe, a branch cut.

Let us investigate in detail how this puzzle concerning 7-branes in type IIB is resolved. We start with a D7-brane, which constitutes a magnetic source for C_0 . In terms of $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ representations C_0 combines together with the string coupling g_s into the complex axio-dilaton τ

$$\tau = C_0 + \frac{i}{g_s} \,. \tag{11.7}$$

From supersymmetry considerations it is known that τ must be a holomorphic function in $z := x^8 + ix^9$ with x^8, x^9 parameterizing the space perpendicular to the brane. It can be shown that in the vicinity of the D7-brane located at z_0 the solution for τ takes the form

$$\tau(z) = \tau_0 + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \ln(z - z_0) + \dots$$
(11.8)

omitting regular terms. As already mentioned, the solution exhibits a branch cut which means that it is a multivalued function. Indeed, when we circle once around this D7-brane at z_0 , we find the monodromy

$$\tau \mapsto \tau + 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad C_0 \mapsto C_0 + 1. \tag{11.9}$$

Although this behavior might seem odd, we stress that using the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ symmetry of type IIB (11.4) resolves the puzzle in a very elegant fashion. In fact, we define the transformation T

$$T := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$$
(11.10)

such that it precisely acts on τ as in (11.9).

This special interplay between the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ symmetry and the monodromy behavior of the D7-brane is actually only the tip of the iceberg. We have seen that the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ symmetry mixes the fields C_2 and B_2 . Thus we should combine the electric sources of these fields, *i.e.* the fundamental string and the D1-brane, into an $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ doublet, the (p,q)-string carrying charge p under B_2 and charge q under C_2 . Thus the fundamental string is represented by (1,0) and the D1-brane is written as (0,1). A (p,q)-7-brane is then defined as the object on which a (p,q)-string can end, generalizing the notion of the D7-brane. The monodromy around a (p,q)-7-brane takes the general form

$$M_{p,q} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - pq & p^2 \\ -q^2 & 1 + pq \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{Z}).$$
(11.11)

Note that for each single (p, q)-7-brane in the theory it is possible to transform it into a D7-brane using $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ transformations. However, globally this does not work for all 7-branes at the same time, at least in the generic case.

In the following we will show how the standard type IIB setup with conventional D7-branes and O7-planes fits into this pattern. For type IIB orientifold compactifications one usually places four D7-branes on top of one O7-plane in order to achieve tadpole cancelation locally (a D7 brane carries one unit of charge while an O7-plane contributes -4 units). This special configuration results in a constant τ over the whole compactification space, and since τ_0 is a modulus, the string coupling can be chosen to be perturbatively small $g_s = e^{\phi} \ll 1$ everywhere. In fact, the O7-plane is described by the combination of a (3, -1)-7-brane and a (1, -1)-7-brane as one can check by evaluating the corresponding monodromy (11.11) around the brane system.

Generically however, tadpole cancelation does not necessarily have to be accomplished locally which then results in a non-constant axio-dilaton. However, it is still possible to find a weak-coupling limit in complex structure moduli space, *i.e.* by a limit on τ_0 . For this rewrite the solution (11.8) as (ignoring regular terms)

$$\tau(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \ln \frac{z - z_0}{\lambda}, \quad \text{with} \quad \ln \lambda := -2\pi i \tau_0.$$
(11.12)

For the string coupling we find

$$\frac{1}{g_s} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \ln \left| \frac{z - z_0}{\lambda} \right|. \tag{11.13}$$

In particular, if $|z - z_0| \ll |\lambda|$, then g_s becomes small. So the limit of weak coupling in complex structure moduli space is given by $|\lambda| \to \infty$ since, loosely speaking, the region with $|z - z_0| \ll |\lambda|$ becomes large. Note however that the axio-dilaton still has a varying profile generically since the latter depends on the configuration of branes. For a more detailed analysis of the weak coupling limit we refer to the original paper of Sen [153].

Finally, we are now in the position to formulate the F-theory conjecture: The framework of F-theory interprets the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ as the parametrization symmetry of an actual two-torus T^2 (in the limit of vanishing volume). The axio-dilaton τ constitutes the complex-structure modulus of this T^2 , and a varying background for τ corresponds to a non-trivial torus-fibration structure over some base space. The problem of finding consistent axio-dilaton profiles is then geometrically recast into the task of constructing genuine T^2 -fibrations. As we will see later in more detail, the whole information about 7-branes and their backreaction is encoded in the geometry of the elliptic fibration. In this thesis we are mainly concerned with compactifications down to effective fourand six-dimensional supergravity theories with minimal supersymmetry. These effective settings can be obtained by considering F-theory compactifications on T^2 -fibred, compact Calabi-Yau four- and threefolds, respectively. They describe (non-perturbative) type IIB compactifications on the complex-three- or two-dimensional base spaces of the T^2 -fibrations.

From (11.8) it is easy to see how one can locate the position of 7-branes in the base space since the axio-dilaton, *i.e.* the complex structure of the torus, diverges at the 7-brane loci. In order to find the latter we therefore have to look for degenerations of the T^2 -fibration, *i.e.* for loci in the base over which the torus pinches as depicted in Figure 11.1. This is part of subsection 11.3.1 where we sketch how the information of the gauge group, matter and Yukawa couplings is encoded in the geometry. Before we come to that, we first explain in section 11.2 the duality between F-theory and M-theory which is also sometimes referred to as the definition of F-theory. As a preparation we shortly review the low-energy effective physics of M-theory.

11.1.2 Low-Energy Description of M-Theory

At low energies M-theory can be approximated by eleven-dimensional supergravity. The field content of the latter is summarized in Table 11.3. It consists of the metric G, the gravitino ψ and a three-form field C_3 (accompanied by the dual six-form field) with field strength $G_4 = dC_3$. The bosonic effective action of M-theory is given by

$$S_M = \frac{2\pi}{l_M^9} \int_{M_{11}} R * 1 - \frac{1}{2} G_4 \wedge * G_4 + \frac{1}{12} C_3 \wedge G_4 \wedge G_4 + l_M^6 C_3 \wedge I_8(\mathcal{R}) + \dots, \quad (11.14)$$



Figure 11.1: We schematically depict a T^2 -fibration over some base space. Degenerations of the fiber indicate the presence of 7-branes. These pinching tori can in principle appear over isolated points in the base or over higher-dimensional submanifolds (indicated by the red curves). The crosses denote rational sections of the fibration. We will introduce T^2 -fibrations in section 11.3 in more detail.

11d Fields	SO(9) Representations
G, C_3	$f 44 \oplus f 84$
ψ	128

Table 11.3: We display the field content of eleven-dimensional supergravity in terms of representations of the massless little group SO(9).

with l_M the Planck length in eleven dimensions. Note that the part of the action which involves the gravitino ψ can be derived by invoking the power of supersymmetry. Furthermore, in addition to the standard two-derivative supergravity action we also included the higher-curvature contribution $I_8(\mathcal{R})$ [154,155] in the effective action. $I_8(\mathcal{R})$ is a polynomial of degree four in the curvature two-form \mathcal{R} , and it plays a crucial role in anomaly and tadpole cancelation In particular, for compactifications on Calabi-Yau threefolds $I_8(\mathcal{R})$ induces a gravitational Chern-Simons term (2.22b) which lifts to a Green-Schwarz counterterm in six dimensions canceling gravitational anomalies.

Finally the electric sources for C_3 are given by M2-branes whose world-volume theory can be described by the famous ABJM theory [156]. The magnetic sources constitute M5-branes whose world-volume theories are the mysterious six-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ superconformal field theories [157, 158]. For a single M5-brane one faces a free theory of an (Abelian) (2,0) tensor multiplet which is well-understood. In the case of a stack of M5-branes the situation is much more subtle since one expects an interacting theory of non-Abelian tensors for which the existence of an action is not expected. Although few is known about such theories, let us collect at least some properties that have been derived:

- They follow an *ADE*-pattern.
- There are some results about the conformal anomalies and its relations to R-symmetry anomalies [159–161, 13, 162, 14]. In particular the conformal anomaly of N M5-branes scales like N^3 .
- The effective theory on a circle is given by $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory in five dimensions. The gauge algebra is of the ADE-type of the higher-dimensional theory. For some first steps towards investigating properties of six-dimensional superconformal field theories via a circle-compactification to five dimensions exploiting the Kaluza-Klein tower and the power of Chern-Simons terms we refer to *e.g.* [163, 20].
- Classical string constructions are type IIB compactifications on \mathbb{C}^2/Γ with Γ a discrete subgroup of SU(2) [164].
- The F-theory realization is given by compactifications on non-compact Calabi-Yau threefolds of the form $B \times T^2$ with $B = \mathbb{C}^2/\Gamma$. Again Γ is a discrete subgroup of SU(2). There are also attempts to classify and investigate six-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ and $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ superconformal field theories by constructing non-compact elliptically-fibered Calabi-Yau threefolds for F-theory compactifications, for recent work in this direction see [165–178].
11.2 Defining F-Theory via M-Theory

In the previous section we approached F-theory via generalizing type IIB with a generic configuration of 7-branes which takes their backreaction into account. However, often the duality between type IIB string theory and M-theory is actually invoked in order to define F-theory compactifications as M-theory compactified on torus fibrations whose fiber volume vanishes in a certain limit to be explained later. While it is not clear if all compactifications of F-theory can be approached via M-theory,³ in many instances it serves as a more convenient definition to work with. Also in this thesis F-theory compactifications on torus-fibered Calabi-Yau manifolds are always understood in the dual M-theory setting. In the following we will shortly review this important duality.

11.2.1 Fibering the Duality

Obviously, M-theory on a two-torus is dual to type IIB theory on a circle since the compactification of M-theory on one circle gives type IIA theory and T-duality along the second circle leads to type IIB theory on the circle with dual radius. We now explain how this procedure can be applied also fiberwise for non-trivial torus fibrations. We closely follow the excellent treatment in [115] where more details can be found.

Let us consider an M-theory compactification on an elliptic fibration over some ninedimensional spacetime manifold M_9 . Technically an elliptic fibration is a T^2 -fibration with a rational section. We will introduce the notions of elliptic fibrations and rational sections together with their nice mathematical properties in more detail in section 11.3. However, for the moment it is only important to know that, if the T^2 -fibration has a rational section (*i.e.* constitutes an elliptic fibration), the metric does not have offdiagonal components between base and fiber, and it thus takes the form⁴

$$ds_M^2 = \frac{v}{\tau_2} \Big((dx + \tau_1 dy)^2 + \tau_2^2 dy^2 \Big) + ds_9^2$$
(11.15)

with x and y parameterizing the torus with complex structure $\tau = \tau_1 + i\tau_2$ and volume v. For a non-trivial fibration structure both moduli τ and v depend on the coordinates of M_9 . We stress that also T^2 -fibrations without sections are consistent backgrounds. Indeed, in [132, 96, 127, 135–137, 133] it is shown that fibrations without sections signal the presence of discrete symmetries in the effective theory. Note that except for section 12.2 we will restrict to only elliptic fibrations in this thesis.

Let us now proceed by applying the duality between M-theory and type IIB string theory fiberwise to (11.15). In order to do so we choose the cycle parametrized by xas the circle which mediates the duality between M-theory and type IIA string theory. Afterwards we then T-dualize to type IIB string theory along the second cycle

³For example it is not clear how to treat compactifications on torus-fibered Calabi-Yau sixfolds or if they are consistent at all.

⁴This ansatz is only correct in the limit $v \to 0$ which we are however going to take in the end.

M-theory Object	Fiber Cycle	Type IIB Object
M2-brane	none	D3-brane
	(p,q)	(p,q)-string
M5-brane	none	Kaluza-Klein-monopole
	(p,q)	(p,q)-5-brane
	T^2	D3-brane
Kaluza-Klein-monopole	(p,q)	(p,q)-7-brane

Table 11.4: We depict the mapping between brane wrappings/degenerations of cycles in the fiber of M-theory compactifications and branes in type IIB string theory.

parametrized by y. Suppose moreover that M_9 is a product of a compact complexn-dimensional Kähler manifold B_n and (9 - 2n)-dimensional Minkowski space. We choose the torus fibration over B_n to be a Calabi-Yau (n + 1)-fold in order to preserve supersymmetry. A careful analysis gives the following relations between the different quantities of type IIB string theory and M-theory on the elliptic fibration:

$$ds_{IIB}^2 = -(dx^0)^2 + (dx^1)^2 + \dots + (dx^{8-2n})^2 + \frac{l_M^6}{v^2} dy^2 + ds_{B_n}^2, \qquad C_0 + \frac{i}{g_s} = \tau$$
(11.16)

with τ the complex structure of the torus and ds_{IIB} the line element in the Einstein frame. The matching of the remaining differential form fields can also be derived straightforwardly by expanding the M-theory three-form in harmonic forms which represent the cycles of the elliptic fiber and again tracing their fate under the duality chain fiberwise. Note that different type IIB fluxes enjoy a uniform description in the dual M-theory setting in terms of G_4 -flux [179].⁵ We finally summarize the mapping of sources between type IIB string theory and M-theory in Table 11.4. For the precise correspondence between all fields on both sides of the duality see *e.g.* [115]. In the next step we send $v \to 0$. This limit somehow mysteriously grows an additional non-compact dimension, and at the same time it implements full Poincaré invariance of the resulting (10 - n)-dimensional Minkowski spacetime. Although there has been some progress in recent years, this limit is still not understood in full detail.

⁵Since most of the time the construction of appropriate G_4 -fluxes won't play any crucial role in this thesis, we refrain from treating this vast and poorly understood subject in our introduction. At prominent positions we will only mention the facts which we need for our work.

11.3 F-Theory and Elliptic Fibrations

In this section we introduce the important mathematical notion of elliptic fibrations, which are the most important geometric objects of interest in F-theory compactifications. It is unavoidable that the following discussion requires some basic knowledge in algebraic geometry and topology.

Elliptic fibrations are defined as fibrations of elliptic curves over a fixed base space, thus we need to define elliptic curves first. An elliptic curve is a non-singular (in our setups *complex*) algebraic curve of genus one with one marked point, the base point \mathcal{O} . Loosely speaking, it is a T^2 with a special point singled out. A convenient way to represent elliptic curves is by embedding them as hypersurfaces into weighted projective space. Since they are in particular Calabi-Yau onefolds, the degree of the hypersurface equation has to match the sum of all scaling weights.⁶ The three most prominent representations are the cubic $\mathbb{P}_{1,1,1}[3]$, the quartic $\mathbb{P}_{1,1,2}[4]$ and the sextic $\mathbb{P}_{2,3,1}[6]$. We will work with the sextic in the following since it is the most common one in the physics literature. One can show that after a suitable coordinate redefinition every hypersurface of degree six in $\mathbb{P}_{2,3,1}$ can be transformed into what is called *Weierstrass form*

$$y^2 - x^3 - fxz^4 - gz^6 = 0 (11.17)$$

with general complex coefficients f, g, and x, y, z are the homogenous coordinates of $\mathbb{P}_{2,3,1}$. It is easy to see that one can specify a base point \mathcal{O} with *rational* coordinates independently of f and g, namely $\mathcal{O} := [1, 1, 0]$. This point will become important when we pass to elliptic fibrations. Furthermore, we have already mentioned that in the framework of F-theory one also has to consider degenerations of elliptic curves, since they indicate the presence of 7-branes. The procedure to figure out from a given Weierstrass equation (11.17) if the associated elliptic curve degenerates is in fact not very complicated. One can show that Weierstrass model is singular if and only if the discriminant Δ , given by

$$\Delta = 27g^2 + 4f^3 \,, \tag{11.18}$$

vanishes for the given values of f and g. In this case the elliptic curve indeed pinches as depicted in Figure 11.2.

Now we pass to fibrations of elliptic curves over a complex-*n*-dimensional Kähler base space B_n with local coordinates u_i . In order to define the fibration structure the former constants f, g in (11.17) are promoted to functions in the local coordinates u_i , or more accurately formulated, they become global sections of certain line bundles over the base B_n . The line bundles corresponding to the different variables are fixed by demanding that we want the total space to be Calabi-Yau. One finds, as for example

⁶This property implements the vanishing of the first Chern class. It therefore holds for all Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces in weighted projective space. Compare for instance the *Quintic* in \mathbb{P}^4 .



Figure 11.2: We depict a singular elliptic curve where a certain (p, q)-cycle has collapsed to zero size.

nicely explained in [148, 127], that

$$x \in H^{0}(B_{n}, K_{B_{n}}^{-2}), \qquad y \in H^{0}(B_{n}, K_{B_{n}}^{-3}), \qquad z \in H^{0}(B_{n}, \mathcal{O}_{B_{n}}), \qquad (11.19a)$$

$$f \in H^0(B_n, K_{B_n}^{-4}), \qquad g \in H^0(B_n, K_{B_n}^{-6}),$$
(11.19b)

with $K_{B_n}^{-p}$ the (-p)-th power of the canonical bundle of the base space, and \mathcal{O}_{B_n} is the trivial bundle over B_n . In fact, the former hypersurface in the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}_{2,3,1}$ is promoted to a hypersurface in the weighted projective bundle $\mathbb{P}_{2,3,1}(K_{B_n}^{-2} \oplus K_{B_n}^{-3} \oplus K_{B_n}^{-3})$ \mathcal{O}_{B_n}). The conditions (11.19) are then the global generalizations of the local necessity that the degree of the hypersurface has to coincide with the sum over all scaling weights in the ambient projective space. Finally, we consider the analog object of the base point \mathcal{O} for elliptic fibrations, the (rational) zero-section. We have mentioned earlier that a genus-one fibration is called an elliptic fibration if it admits at least one rational section, *i.e.* the section has to cut out a rational point in each elliptic fiber, and one of the (maybe multiple) rational sections has to be picked as the zero-section. The physical significance of this choice and the remaining rational sections will be explained in section 12.1 and chapter 13. Note that fibrations which are defined by a Weierstrass equation (11.17) always constitute elliptic fibrations since the (z = 0)-locus defines a rational section independently of f and q. Conversely, one can show that up to flop transitions any elliptic fibration can be described by (11.17). Note that if a "section" does not cut out rational points in each fiber but irrational roots of an algebraic equation, there will be branch cuts. Thus as one moves around the fibration, monodromies exchange the different roots, and the "section" actually cuts out several points in the fiber whose number is given by the degree of the defining algebraic equation. These objects are therefore from now on referred to as multi-sections. They will become important later when we consider F-theory compactifications on geometries without rational section in section 12.2, but for now we restrict to elliptic fibrations. We stress that nevertheless elliptic fibrations do indeed possess besides of rational sections also multi-sections, and we will take a first step towards uncovering their significance in section 14.2.

11.3.1 Gauge Symmetry, Matter and Yukawas

In F-theory the main interest is usually in locating the degenerations of the elliptic fiber since they indicate the presence of 7-branes. Therefore we have to look for vanishing loci of the discriminant $\Delta = 27g^2 + 4f^3$, which depends on the local coordinates of the base u_i . Suppose that the discriminant vanishes to order N over a complexcodimension-one locus $S^{\rm b}$ in the base, *i.e.* a divisor of the base. This indicates that there are, formulated in the language of type IIB, N coincident 7-branes wrapping $S^{\rm b}$. For the case of K3, *i.e.* Calabi-Yau twofolds, Kodaira investigated the different types of fiber degenerations resulting in the famous ADE-classification of singularities. In the following we will explain how this classification is to be understood by looking at resolutions of the degenerate fibers. Along the way we will argue that the singularity types over complex-codimension-one in the base precisely constitute the gauge algebras of the F-theory model. For higher-dimensional Calabi-Yau manifolds than Calabi-Yau twofolds additional monodromies come into play, and the possible singularity types are extended to the non-simply laced B- and C-series as well as F_4 and G_2 , see *e.g.* [180].

To work directly with singular elliptic fibrations in F-theory is quite hard, partly because we do not understand M-theory on singular spaces very well. Therefore we will in the rest of this thesis always resolve the singularities in the fiber, assuming implicitly that there exists a resolution which preserves the Calabi-Yau condition. Following the duality of section 11.2 M-theory compactified on the resolved elliptic fibration (with still finite fiber size) corresponds to going to the Coulomb branch of the F-theory setting on the circle of finite size.⁷ Importantly, the blow-up of the singularities over complex-codimension-one in the base introduces a tree of \mathbb{P}^1 s in the fiber, which intersect (together with the original fiber component) as the (affine extension of the) Dynkin diagram of a simple Lie algebra. This explains the classification of singularities started by Kodaira. Note that there can also be codimension-one singularities which only lead to a degeneration of the fiber but do not render the total space singular. These so-called I_1 -singularities are therefore not part of the resolution process and do not introduce blow-up \mathbb{P}^1 s. In the framework of F-theory the singularity type directly corresponds to the non-Abelian gauge algebra induced by the stack of 7-branes wrapping the divisor $S^{\rm b}$. Expanding the M-theory three-form along the resolution \mathbb{P}^1 s (fibered over $S^{\rm b}$) gives the Cartan fields of the gauge theory while wrapping chains of \mathbb{P}^1 s by M2-branes provides amongst others the massive W-bosons. When the \mathbb{P}^1 s collapse to zero size, the W-bosons actually become massless as it should be for the singular geometry. We depict the resolution process for a specific example in Figure 11.3. In principle it is possible that there are singular fibers over several different complex-codimension-one loci in the base, which corresponds to a product of simple non-Abelian gauge algebras. For simplicity we will assume in this thesis that there is only one simple non-Abelian gauge algebra in the F-theory compactification at hand. The generalization to semi-simple gauge algebras

⁷Note that one can also deform the singularities in order to obtain a smooth geometry. This would correspond to a Higgsing of the gauge group.



Figure 11.3: The singular elliptic fiber of type A_4 is blown up by introducing a tree of four \mathbb{P}^1 s. The original fiber component is marked in red and constitutes the affine node of the extended Dynkin diagram of A_4 . The cross marks the zero-section.

is straightforward but the additional index would reduce the readability. Note that the global structure of the gauge group is encoded in torsional rational sections which will be introduced in subsection 12.1.3. To complete our discussion of codimensionone singular fibers note that at this stage not only non-Abelian gauge multiplets are induced, but also a certain sets of so-called bulk matter states which are counted by sheaf extension groups can arise, see *e.g.* [148] for more details.

In a general F-theory compactification one can also find a number of U(1) gauge symmetries. Their nature is rather different from the one of non-Abelian gauge symmetries since they are not localized on divisors in the base but in contrast depend explicitly on the global structure of the geometry. In fact, the number of independent rational sections (minus the zero-section) of the elliptic fibration gives the number of Abelian gauge factors. We will discuss this in more detail in section 12.1 when we introduce the Mordell-Weil group of rational sections. In particular we will clarify what we mean by "independent rational sections". Moreover, for compactifications of F-theory on Calabi-Yau fourfolds there are still additional U(1)s which do not correspond to rational sections but are counted by $h^{2,1}$. These so-called bulk U(1)s will be neglected in this thesis since there is no matter which is charged under them, and they never enter in the discussions of this work. However, they nevertheless encode interesting physics and have also recently attracted renewed attention [181,182].

So far we have only considered fiber degenerations over a divisor S^{b} in the base, which corresponds to a non-Abelian gauge algebra in the F-theory effective field theory. Let us now pass to higher codimension degenerations, which also encode interesting physics. We have to distinguish between two different cases. First, the singularity at complex-codimension-two could arise at the intersection of two divisors S_1^{b} , S_2^{b} in the base on which non-Abelian gauge symmetries are located. Note that actually S_1^{b} and S_2^{b} can be identical, and for our restriction to one simple non-Abelian algebra they indeed are. Second, the singularity could be isolated at complex-codimension-two in the base. These two cases lead to different physical behaviors:

• From the intuition of intersecting branes it seems clear that colliding $S_1^{\rm b}$ and $S_2^{\rm b}$ should correspond to an intersecting stack of 7-branes inducing matter states. The

11.3. F-THEORY AND ELLIPTIC FIBRATIONS

easiest way to see what exactly happens is to work with the resolved geometry in the M-theory picture. The \mathbb{P}^1 s over S_1^b and S_2^b intersect as dictated by the the gauge algebras \mathfrak{g}_1 and \mathfrak{g}_2 , respectively. We denote their adjoint representations by $\mathrm{ad}_{\mathfrak{g}_1}$, $\mathrm{ad}_{\mathfrak{g}_2}$. At the intersection of S_1^b and S_2^b the number of \mathbb{P}^1 s enhances, and the latter intersect according to the (affine extension of the) Dynkin diagram of an enhanced simple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_3 with the rank given by the sum of the ranks of \mathfrak{g}_1 and \mathfrak{g}_2 . In M-Theory M2-branes can wrap the \mathbb{P}^1 s at the intersection yielding formally the adjoint representation of the enhanced algebra $\mathrm{ad}_{\mathfrak{g}_3}$. The latter however does not correspond to an actual gauge theory, and the states therefore have to be decomposed into representations of the true gauge algebras $\mathfrak{g}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_2$

$$\mathfrak{g}_{3} \to (\mathfrak{g}_{1} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{2}) \tag{11.20}$$
$$\mathrm{ad}_{\mathfrak{g}_{3}} \to (\mathrm{ad}_{\mathfrak{g}_{1}}, 1) \oplus (1, \mathrm{ad}_{\mathfrak{g}_{2}}) \oplus \sum_{i} (R_{1}^{i}, R_{2}^{i}),$$

with R_1^i , R_2^i denoting the representations which complete the decomposition. These precisely provide the additional matter states at the intersection. Recall that the adjoint representation of the gauge theory is located at complexcodimension-one.

• Isolated singularities at complex-codimension-two are conifold singularities. Once they get resolved by a single \mathbb{P}^1 , an M2-brane can wrap the latter and induce matter states in this way. These however are generically singlets under the non-Abelian gauge group but carry non-trivial U(1)-charge.

Starting with Calabi-Yau fourfolds there can also appear complex-codimension-three singularities. It his not hard to verify that these induce Yukawa couplings. This can be derived in the M-theory picture by again considering an enhanced gauge algebra of now three colliding divisors S^{b} in the base. We will not further comment on this topic since it is not important for this thesis. Yukawa couplings are nevertheless extremely interesting (in particular for model building purposes), but unfortunately they are poorly understood in global models though some results exist for local settings. Again we refer to [148] for more details and references.

At this point it is crucial to draw attention to a very important point. While compactifications on Calabi-Yau threefolds to six-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ theories are always necessarily chiral, this is not true for compactifications on Calabi-Yau fourfolds to four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories. In the former the chiral index of a matter state over codimension-two in the base is simply given by the homology class of the codimension-two locus in the base, *i.e.* by counting a number of points. In contrast, in four dimensions chirality is only introduced in the presence of G_4 -flux. In particular, for a matter state in a representation (R, q), which is located on a surface $\mathcal{S}_{(R,q)}$ at codimension-two in the base, the chiral index is given by

$$\chi(R,q) = \int_{\mathcal{S}_{(R,q)}} G_4 \,. \tag{11.21}$$

Furthermore, in compactifications on Calabi-Yau threefolds (anti-)self-dual tensors arise from M5-branes wrapping vertical divisors which are pullbacks from divisors in the base to the whole fibration. Indeed this leads to string states in six dimensions. In compactifications on Calabi-Yau fourfolds the same setting yields a number of axions.

Before we conclude let us stress that F-theory allows for richer possibilities concerning the gauge groups and matter states than the standard type II D-brane settings. Since in the latter only two-index representations can occur (strings begin and end on D-branes), the only possible gauge algebras are the classical ones of type A, B, Cor D. In contrast, the richer monodromy structure of (p,q)-strings ending on (p,q)branes allows one to form so-called string junctions in a well-defined manner. These then give rise to more general gauge algebras and representations than in the type II case [183, 184].

11.3.2 The Topology of Elliptic Fibrations in F-Theory

We now investigate in detail how topological quantities of Calabi-Yau fourfolds and threefolds enter in the effective field theory of the corresponding F-theory compactification. We stress that the results which we review in here are crucial for the original work in this thesis.

As already mentioned, in order to derive the effective theory of F-theory compactifications on elliptically-fibered Calabi-Yau manifolds we first consider M-theory on the resolved spaces, and obtain three-dimensional or five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity theories, respectively. These are matched to general four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ or sixdimensional $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ supergravities on a circle of finite radius. The resolution of the geometry further forces us to move to Coulomb branch of the circle-compactified theories [111–116, 93, 94]. For convenience we depict the duality in Figure 11.4. Via this matching procedure the parameters of the unknown four-dimensional and sixdimensional effective theories can be obtained in terms of the data describing the elliptic fibration. In this thesis we only restrict to the topological sector of the matching procedure, more precisely we consider in detail matchings of Chern-Simons terms in field theory with intersection numbers on Calabi-Yau manifolds.

In chapter 9 we already discussed the compactification of general four- and sixdimensional gauge theories on a circle. This of course also includes the minimal supergravity theories in these dimensions which appear in F-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau manifolds. Moreover, we described large gauge transformations along the circle as additional symmetries. Assuming that the M-theory to F-theory duality provides a correct approach to understand the system, we have to suspect that the smooth Calabi-Yau geometry should share the symmetries of the gauge theories on a circle as well. Thus let us start with describing the M-theory compactifications and specify the matching to the circle-reduced theories.

First we establish some geometric notions of the Calabi-Yau manifold which we compactify on. We denote the resolved Calabi-Yau space by \hat{Y} , and assume that it



Figure 11.4: We show a schematic diagram of how the duality between F-theory and Mtheory can be used to infer the effective action of F-theory on elliptically-fibered singular Calabi-Yau manifolds Y. The circle compactification of a general minimal (10 - 2n)dimensional supergravity theory is pushed to the Coulomb branch and matched to M-theory compactified on the resolved space \hat{Y} . Sending the volume of the blow-up \mathbb{P}^1 s to zero corresponds to going to the origin of the Coulomb branch in the dual picture. The limit of vanishing elliptic fiber on the M-theory side corresponds to the decompactification limit of the circle on the F-theory side.

constitutes an elliptic fibration over some base space B_n , with the corresponding projection given by $\pi: \hat{Y} \to B_n$. As announced, we will assume that the fibration has at least one rational section. A set of linearly independent (minimal) rational sections of the elliptic fibration is denoted by s_0 , s_m , t_r where one arbitrary section s_0 is singled out as the so-called zero-section. The sections t_r will be purely torsional, while the s_m are assumed to be non-torsional. We will have to say more about rational sections and this distinction in section 12.1. Furthermore, there might exist a divisor S^b in the base B_n of the resolved space \hat{Y} over which the fiber becomes reducible with the individual irreducible components intersecting as the (affine extension of the) Dynkin diagram of the gauge algebra. Fibering these over the corresponding codimension-one locus S^b in B_n yields the blow-up divisors of \hat{Y} which we denote by D_I .

In the following we define a basis of divisors $D_{\Lambda} = (D_0, D_I, D_m, D_{\alpha})$ on the resolved space \hat{Y} in the correct frame such that the corresponding gauge fields obtained from the expansion of the M-theory three-form

$$C_{3} = A^{0} \wedge [D_{0}] + A^{m} \wedge [D_{m}] + A^{I} \wedge [D_{I}] + A^{\alpha} \wedge [D_{\alpha}]$$
(11.22)

can be matched properly to the gauge fields in the circle-reduced theory in Table 9.3. In this expression [D] denotes the Poincaré-dual two-form to the divisor D in \hat{Y} .

• Divisors $D^{\rm b}_{\alpha}$ of the base B_n define the vertical divisors $D_{\alpha} := \pi^{-1}(D^{\rm b}_{\alpha})$ via pullback. For each $D^{\rm b}_{\alpha}$ in B_n there is an axion in the four-dimensional F-theory compactification and an (anti-)self-dual tensor in the six-dimensional setting, respectively. Supersymmetry implies $T_{\rm sd} = 1$ (this is the tensor in the gravity multiplet) and thus we find

$$n_{\text{ax}} = h^{1,1}(B_3) \text{ in four dimensions }, \qquad (11.23)$$

$$T_{\text{asd}} \equiv T = h^{1,1}(B_2) - 1 \text{ in six dimensions },$$

with $T_{\rm sd}, T_{\rm asd}, n_{\rm ax}$ as defined in section 9.1, and T denotes the number of sixdimensional tensor multiplets.

For Calabi-Yau fourfolds it is also necessary to introduce vertical four-cycles $C^{\alpha} := \pi^{-1}(C_{\rm b}^{\alpha})$ which are the pullbacks of curves $C_{\rm b}^{\alpha}$ in the base intersecting the $D_{\alpha}^{\rm b}$ as

$$\eta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = D_{\alpha}^{\mathbf{b}} \cdot \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{b}}^{\beta} \tag{11.24}$$

with $\eta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ a full-rank matrix. For Calabi-Yau threefolds the analogous intersection matrix

$$\eta_{\alpha\beta} := D^{\mathbf{b}}_{\alpha} \cdot D^{\mathbf{b}}_{\beta} \tag{11.25}$$

is used to raise and lower indices α, β . The matrices (11.24) and (11.25) are matched to the corresponding expressions in the four- and six-dimensional Green-Schwarz terms (9.6) and (9.13), respectively.

11.3. F-THEORY AND ELLIPTIC FIBRATIONS

For later convenience we also define the projection of two arbitrary divisors D, D' as

$$\pi(D \cdot D') := \begin{cases} \left(D \cdot D' \cdot \mathcal{C}^{\beta}\right) \eta^{-1}{}_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} D_{\alpha} & \text{in three dimensions,} \\ \left(D \cdot D' \cdot D_{\beta}\right) \eta^{-1}{}^{\beta\alpha} D_{\alpha} & \text{in five dimensions.} \end{cases}$$
(11.26)

Furthermore we write $\pi_{\mathcal{M}I}$ for the intersection number of a section $s_{\mathcal{M}}$ with a blow-up divisor D_I restricted to the elliptic fiber \mathcal{E}

$$\pi_{\mathcal{M}I} := \cap (s_{\mathcal{M}}, D_I) \Big|_{\mathcal{E}}.$$
(11.27)

• We denote the divisor associated to the zero-section s_0 by $S_0 \equiv Div(s_0)$. The divisor D_0 is then defined by shifting S_0 as

$$D_0 = S_0 - \frac{1}{2}\pi(S_0 \cdot S_0) . \qquad (11.28)$$

The corresponding vector A^0 in (11.22) is identified with the Kaluza-Klein vector in the circle-reduced F-theory setting, i.e. with A^0 in (9.31).

We stress that since all rational section enjoy the property that they always square to the canonical class of the base, we have

$$\pi(S_0 \cdot S_0) = K, \tag{11.29}$$

with K the canonical class of the base.

- The D_I denote the blow-up divisors and yield the Cartan gauge fields A^I in (11.22). This implies that $I = 1, ..., \operatorname{rank} G$.
- Given a set of rational sections s_m the U(1) divisors D_m are defined via the socalled Shioda map. Denote by $S_m \equiv Div(s_m)$ the divisor associated to s_m . The Shioda map $D(\cdot)$ reads

$$D(s_m) \equiv D_m = S_m - S_0 - \pi \left((S_m - S_0) \cdot S_0 \right) + \pi_{mI} \, \mathcal{C}^{-1 \, IJ} D_J \,, \tag{11.30}$$

where C_{IJ} is the coroot intersection matrix (E.3) of the gauge algebra \mathfrak{g} derived from the intersection of the blow-up divisors. Via (11.22) the D_m yield the Abelian gauge fields in the F-theory setting such that $m = 1, \ldots, n_{U(1)}$.

• The crucial property of the purely torsional sections t_r is that they have no nontrivial image under the Shioda map. Denoting the divisors associated to t_r by $T_r = Div(t_r)$ one has [185]

$$D(t_r) = T_r - S_0 - \pi \left((T_r - S_0) \cdot S_0 \right) + \pi_{rI} \, \mathcal{C}^{-1 \, IJ} D_J = 0 \,, \qquad (11.31)$$

which, as the other expressions above, should be read in homology.

By the Shioda-Tate-Wazir theorem $(D_0, D_I, D_m, D_\alpha)$ indeed form a basis of the Nerón-Severi group of divisors⁸ (times \mathbb{Q}). Let us briefly mention that with this basis of divisors the charges and weights of matter states can be computed in a very simple fashion geometrically. Suppose that a holomorphic curve \mathcal{C} is wrapped by an M2-brane, they are precisely given by the intersections

$$(n, w_I, q_m) = (D_0 \cdot \mathcal{C}, D_I \cdot \mathcal{C}, D_m \cdot \mathcal{C})$$
(11.32)

with n the Kaluza-Klein level, w_I the Dynkin labels and q_m the U(1)-charges of the state.

It is important to realize that the definition of the base divisor ensures in contrast to (11.29) that

$$\pi(D_0 \cdot D_0) = 0, \qquad (11.33)$$

and the Shioda map enjoys the orthogonality properties

$$\pi(D_m \cdot D_\alpha) = \pi(D_m \cdot D_I) = \pi(D_m \cdot D_0) = 0, \qquad (11.34)$$

which are essential in order to perform the F-theory limit correctly. The blow-up divisors D_I and the vertical divisors D_{α} further satisfy the properties

$$\pi(D_I \cdot D_{\alpha}) = \pi(D_I \cdot D_0) = \pi(D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta}) = 0.$$
(11.35)

Via the matching of the M-theory compactification to the circle-reduced theory some intersections of the divisor basis $\pi(D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma}) \equiv \pi(D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma})^{\alpha} D_{\alpha}$ can be nicely related to four- and six-dimensional supergravity data

$$\pi (D_I \cdot D_J)^{\alpha} = -\mathcal{C}_{IJ} \ b^{\alpha} \,, \tag{11.36a}$$

$$\pi (D_m \cdot D_n)^{\alpha} = -b_{mn}^{\alpha}, \qquad (11.36b)$$

$$\pi (D_0 \cdot D_\beta)^\alpha = \delta^\alpha_\beta, \qquad (11.36c)$$

where the last equality implicitly encodes the matching of the intersection matrices $\eta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, $\eta_{\alpha\beta}$ in (11.24), (11.25) with the corresponding objects in the Green-Schwarz-terms because of the definitions (11.26). The b^{α} , b^{α}_{mn} are the Green-Schwarz couplings appearing in (9.6) and (9.13). These relations hold both for Calabi-Yau three- and fourfolds. The Green-Schwarz coefficients b^{α} are equivalently obtained as

$$S^{\mathbf{b}} = b^{\alpha} D^{\mathbf{b}}_{\alpha} , \qquad (11.37)$$

where $S^{\rm b}$ was the divisor in B_n supporting the non-Abelian gauge group.

Since we are in particular interested in the matching of Chern-Simons terms between the circle-reduced theory and the M-theory compactification, let us approach this topic

⁸For Calabi-Yau manifolds the Nerón-Severi group coincides with the Picard group which is why we will identify both groups throughout this thesis.

in the following. The origin of Chern-Simons terms gauge theories on the circle has already been investigated in subsection 9.3.2. In particular recall that there are classical contributions as well as quantum corrections at one-loop which have to be included for a proper matching procedure [91, 93, 92, 94–96]. In contrast, in the M-theory compactifications all Chern-Simons terms are on equal footing, and the massive modes are automatically integrated out since we are already facing an effective theory. In terms of geometrical and flux data the Chern-Simons couplings are given by

$$\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma} = -\frac{1}{4} D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma} \cdot [G_4], \qquad (11.38)$$

for compactifications on Calabi-Yau fourfolds with $[G_4]$ the Poincaré-dual to four-form flux, and

$$k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta} = D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma} \cdot D_{\Theta} \,, \tag{11.39a}$$

$$k_{\Lambda} = D_{\Lambda} \cdot [c_2], \qquad (11.39b)$$

for compactifications on Calabi-Yau threefolds with $[c_2]$ the Poincaré-dual to the second Chern class of the resolved total space. Note that the special set of Chern-Simons couplings $k_{\alpha\Lambda\Sigma}$ has already been discussed since they appear in the expressions $\pi(D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma})$. For convenience we list the one-loop Chern-Simons terms for the circle-reduced theory in section F.1 and the relevant intersection numbers along with their matching to Chern-Simons terms and supergravity data in Appendix G.

We highlight that, since one-loop induced Chern-Simons terms carry information about the number of matter fields, the matching to M-theory allows to translate information about the spectrum into the geometric data of the resolved space. This is the underlying reason why will be able in the following chapter to relate field-theoretic large gauge transformations to geometric symmetries on elliptic fibrations, and in particular show anomaly cancelation in F-theory compactifications on elliptically-fibered Calabi-Yau manifolds. 158

Chapter 12

Arithmetic Structures on Genus-One Fibrations

In this chapter we finally connect the results of chapter 10 with the general considerations in subsection 11.3.2. In particular we identify arithmetic structures on genus-one fibrations with large gauge transformations of gauge theories on the circle in F-theory.

In section 12.1 we focus on geometries with rational sections and the corresponding Abelian parts of the gauge theory. The Mordell-Weil group action is introduced and mapped to large gauge transformations along the circle. We also discuss the impact of torsion from this perspective. In section 12.2 we then turn to geometries with multisections. Insights obtained by using Higgs transitions allow us to define an extended Mordell-Weil group of multi-sections and a generalized Shioda map. In section 12.3 we extend the analysis further to cover non-Abelian gauge groups. We argue for the existence of a group law on the exceptional divisors and rational sections that is shown to be induced by large gauge transformations of the Cartan gauge fields. We geometrically motivate its existence by explicitly considering Higgsings to Abelian gauge theories.

12.1 Arithmetic Structures on Fibrations with Rational Sections

In this section we argue that the arithmetic structures of elliptic fibrations with multiple rational sections correspond to certain large gauge transformations introduced in section 10.1. The considered arithmetic is encoded by the so-called *Mordell-Weil group* of rational sections which we introduce in more detail in subsection 12.1.1. In the same subsection we also discuss how the geometric Mordell-Weil group law translates to a general group law for rational sections in terms of homological cycles. The free generators of the Mordell-Weil group correspond to Abelian gauge symmetries in the effective F-theory action. In subsection 12.1.2 we show that group actions of the free part of the Mordell-Weil group are in one-to-one correspondence to specific integer large gauge transformations along the F-theory circle. A similar analysis for the torsion subgroup is performed in subsection 12.1.3. We find that it precisely captures special fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations introduced in section 10.1 due to the presence of a non-simply connected non-Abelian gauge group.

12.1.1 On the Mordell-Weil Group and its Divisor Group Law

The most famous arithmetic structure on an elliptic curve is encoded by the Mordell-Weil group. The Mordell-Weil group is formed by the rational points of an elliptic curve endowed with a certain geometric group law (see *e.g.* [186]). The rational points on the generic elliptic fiber of an elliptic fibration Y directly extend to rational sections and form a finitely generated Abelian group which is called the Mordell-Weil group of rational sections MW(Y). Thus it splits into a free part and a torsion subgroup

$$\mathrm{MW}(Y) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{\mathrm{rank}\,\mathrm{MW}(Y)} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{k_1} \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{k_{n_{\mathrm{tor}}}}.$$
(12.1)

Having chosen one (arbitrary) zero-section as the neutral element of the Mordell-Weil group, rank MW(Y) rational sections generate the free part and n_{tor} rational sections generate the torsion subgroup. The precise group law on the generic fiber (in Weierstrass form) may be looked up for example in [186]. We denote the addition of sections s_1, s_2 using the Mordell-Weil group law by ' \oplus ', *i.e.* we write $s_3 = s_1 \oplus s_2$ with s_3 being the new rational section. Since, as noted before, the rational sections $s_{\mathcal{M}}$ of an elliptic fibration define divisors $S_{\mathcal{M}} \equiv Div(s_{\mathcal{M}})$, we will investigate how the group law is translated to divisors. More precisely, we will derive the divisor class

$$Div(s_1 \oplus \mathfrak{n}s_2), \quad \mathfrak{n} \in \mathbb{Z},$$
 (12.2)

where $\mathfrak{n}_{s_2} = s_2 \oplus \ldots \oplus s_2$ with \mathfrak{n} summands. In contrast the addition in homology of divisor classes associated to sections is denoted by '+'. Extending the treatment in [119] the group law written in homology is uniquely determined by the three conditions:

1. The Shioda map $D(s_{\mathcal{M}})$ introduced in (11.30) is a homomorphism from the Mordell-Weil group to the Nerón-Severi group (times \mathbb{Q})

$$D(s_1 \oplus \mathfrak{n} s_2) = D(s_1) + \mathfrak{n} D(s_2).$$
(12.3)

2. A section $s_{\mathcal{M}}$ intersects the generic fiber \mathcal{E} exactly once

$$S_{\mathcal{M}} \cdot \mathcal{E} = 1. \tag{12.4}$$

3. In the base B_n a divisor $S_{\mathcal{M}}$ associated to a section squares to the canonical class of the base K, i.e.

$$\pi(S_{\mathcal{M}} \cdot S_{\mathcal{M}}) = K.$$
(12.5)

Taking these constraints into account the group law for two sections s_1, s_2 on the level of divisors can then be derived to be of the following form

$$Div(s_1 \oplus \mathfrak{n}s_2) = S_1 + \mathfrak{n}(S_2 - S_0) - \mathfrak{n}\pi \Big((S_1 - \mathfrak{n}S_0) \cdot (S_2 - S_0) \Big), \qquad (12.6)$$

where S_0 denotes the divisor associated to the zero-section s_0 . We stress that we assumed that blow-up divisors do not contribute to the group-law. This can be derived easily in a general ansatz by enforcing that $Div(s_1 \oplus s_0) = Div(s_0 \oplus s_1) = Div(s_1)$. In other words, the appearance of blow-up divisors in the ansatz always violates the Abelian structure of the group.

It is well known that the Shioda map as an injective homomorphism (11.30) transfers this group structure to the Nerón-Severi group (times \mathbb{Q}) of divisors modulo algebraic equivalence. Therefore it is reasonable to ask how a Mordell-Weil group action on the elliptic fibration effects the circle-reduced supergravity. We will find that the free part of the Mordell-Weil group corresponds to certain Abelian large gauge transformations while the torsion subgroup manifests in special fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations. As we discussed in section 10.2 these arithmetic structures allow to establish the cancelation of all pure Abelian and mixed Abelian-non-Abelian gauge anomalies in the effective field theory of F-theory (as well as Abelian gauge-gravitational anomalies in six-dimensional models).

12.1.2 The Free Part of the Mordell-Weil Group

Let us first consider the free part of the Mordell-Weil group. On the elements of the Mordell-Weil basis, consisting of the zero-section s_0 , the free generators s_m , and the torsional generators t_r , we now perform a number of $\mathfrak{n}^m \in \mathbb{Z}$ shifts into the directions of the free generators s_m , *i.e.* we find a new Mordell-Weil basis given by

$$\tilde{s}_0 := s_0 \oplus \mathfrak{n}^n s_n, \qquad \tilde{s}_m := s_m \oplus \mathfrak{n}^n s_n, \qquad \tilde{t}_r := t_r \oplus \mathfrak{n}^n s_n, \qquad (12.7)$$

where $\mathbf{n}^n s_n = \mathbf{n}^1 s_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbf{n}^{n_{U(1)}} s_{n_{U(1)}}$ and each summand $\mathbf{n}^1 s_1, \mathbf{n}^2 s_2, \ldots$ is evaluated using the Mordell-Weil group law. For illustration we depict the transformation in Figure 12.1. Our goal will be to translate these shifts to the divisor basis $D_{\Lambda} = (D_0, D_I, D_m, D_{\alpha})$ introduced in subsection 11.3.2, and then identify the corresponding large gauge transformation.

We use the formula (12.6) to derive the change in the definition of the U(1) divisors D_m , the Cartan divisors D_I and the base divisor D_0 . Note that the divisors $\tilde{D}_{\alpha} = D_{\alpha}$ are unchanged under this transformation. Explicitly we find

$$\tilde{D}_m = D_m - \mathfrak{n}^n \, \pi (D_n \cdot D_m), \tag{12.8a}$$

$$\tilde{D}_I = D_I - \mathfrak{n}^K \, \pi (D_K \cdot D_I) \,, \tag{12.8b}$$

$$\tilde{D}_0 = D_0 + \mathfrak{n}^n D_n + \mathfrak{n}^J D_J - \frac{\mathfrak{n}^n \mathfrak{n}^p}{2} \pi (D_n \cdot D_p) - \frac{\mathfrak{n}^J \mathfrak{n}^L}{2} \pi (D_J \cdot D_L) .$$
(12.8c)



Figure 12.1: We depict the process of shifting the basis of the free Mordell-Weil group by a vector $\mathbf{n}^n s_n$. Note that in addition also possible torsional generators t_r get shifted.

where we have defined

$$\mathfrak{n}^I := -\mathfrak{n}^n \, \pi_{nJ} \, \mathcal{C}^{-1 \, JI} \, . \tag{12.9}$$

Using the expressions (11.36) one further evaluates

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{D}_{0} \\ \tilde{D}_{I} \\ \tilde{D}_{m} \\ \tilde{D}_{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathfrak{n}^{J} & \mathfrak{n}^{n} & \frac{\mathfrak{n}^{p}\mathfrak{n}^{q}}{2}b_{pq}^{\beta} + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^{K}\mathfrak{n}^{L}}{2}\mathcal{C}_{KL}b^{\beta} \\ 0 & \delta_{I}^{J} & 0 & \mathfrak{n}^{K}\mathcal{C}_{IK}b^{\beta} \\ 0 & 0 & \delta_{m}^{n} & \mathfrak{n}^{p}b_{mp}^{\beta} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} D_{0} \\ D_{J} \\ D_{n} \\ D_{\beta} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(12.10)

It is now straightforward to check that, using (12.10) and the large gauge transformations (10.3) with $(\mathfrak{n}^m, \mathfrak{n}^I)$ as in (12.7) and (12.9), one finds

$$C_3 = A^{\Lambda} \wedge [D_{\Lambda}] = \tilde{A}^{\Lambda} \wedge [\tilde{D}_{\Lambda}] . \qquad (12.11)$$

This implies that the Mordell-Weil shift (12.7) indeed induces a large gauge transformation as discussed in section 10.1. More precisely, the pair $(\mathfrak{n}^m, \mathfrak{n}^I)$ are in general the basis vectors of type (II) and realize an Abelian large gauge transformation combined with a fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformation. It is also straightforward to check that the quantization condition (10.6) is satisfied for the pair $(\mathfrak{n}^m, \mathfrak{n}^I)$ inferred from the geometry. In fact, one finds

$$\mathfrak{n}^{I}w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{n}q_{n} = \mathfrak{n}^{n}(-\pi_{nJ}\mathcal{C}^{-1JI}w_{I} + q_{n}) = \mathfrak{n}^{n}\Big(S_{n} - S_{0} - \pi\big((S_{n} - S_{0}) \cdot S_{0}\big)\Big) \cdot \mathcal{C} , \quad (12.12)$$

where we have used that $w_I = D_I \cdot C$ and $q_m = D_m \cdot C$ are the charges of a matter state $\hat{\psi}(w_I, q_m)$ arising from an M2-brane wrapped on the curve C. The condition (10.6) then follows from the fact that $\mathfrak{n}^m \in \mathbb{Z}$ and the appearing intersections between divisors S_n, S_0 and the curve \mathcal{C} are always integral. From its definition (12.9) it is also clear that \mathfrak{n}^I are either zero or fractional due to the appearance of the inverse \mathcal{C}^{-1IJ} .

Let us make a few comments concerning the derivation and interpretation of (12.8) and (12.10). First, it seems from counting the number of conditions (12.7) and (12.8) that the former conditions cannot suffice to fix the complete transformation law. In fact, the shift of the non-Abelian Cartan divisors D_I to \tilde{D}_I is not immediately inferred from (12.7) but appears to be crucial to make the transformation well-defined. To derive (12.8) one first starts with the transformation to \tilde{D}_0 by evaluating $\tilde{S}_0 = Div(s_0 \oplus \mathfrak{n}^n s_n)$ and using (11.28) which is straightforward. If one tries to proceed in a similar fashion for \tilde{D}_m one realizes that the evaluation of the Shioda map (11.30) for \tilde{D}_m in the transformed divisors formally requires also to use new \tilde{D}_I , which is not fixed by (12.7). However, note that the shift (12.8b) is uniquely fixed by requiring that the \tilde{D}_I again behave as genuine blow-up divisors. More precisely, we find that (12.8b) is fixed if the three conditions

$$\pi(\tilde{D}_I \cdot \tilde{D}_\alpha) \stackrel{!}{=} 0, \qquad \pi(\tilde{D}_I \cdot \tilde{D}_J) \stackrel{!}{=} \pi(D_I \cdot D_J), \qquad \pi(\tilde{D}_I \cdot \tilde{D}_0) \stackrel{!}{=} 0.$$
(12.13)

are to be satisfied for the new divisors. These are simply the conditions (11.35) and (11.36) in the \tilde{D}_{Λ} basis. Having fixed \tilde{D}_{I} the transformed \tilde{D}_{m} in (12.8a) are determined uniquely.

Let us again emphasize that the non-Abelian part of this gauge transformation is absolutely essential. On the one hand it is non-zero if and only if $\pi_{mI} \neq 0$ for some D_I . On the other hand we find fractional U(1)-charges if and only if $\pi_{mI} \neq 0$. This can easily be seen in the Shioda map (11.30). The U(1) charge q_m of an M2-brane state wrapping a holomorphic curve C is given by the intersection of C with D_m . A fractional contribution to the charge therefore can only arise from the last term in (11.30) since \mathcal{C}^{-1IJ} in general has fractional components proportional to det $(\mathcal{C})^{-1}$. In fact, since a section can only intersect nodes with Coxeter label equal to one, the last term in (11.30) always vanishes for the simple Lie algebras E_8, F_4, G_2 , which do not have nodes with Coxeter label one, and they are precisely the only simple Lie algebras having integer \mathcal{C}^{-1IJ} , or equivalently det $(\mathcal{C}) = 1$.¹ The Coxeter labels for the simple Lie algebras can be found in Table E.1. To put it in a nutshell, if and only if there are fractional U(1) charges, the free Mordell-Weil group action induces Abelian large gauge transformations supplemented by non-zero fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations. Effectively, in the presence of fractional U(1) charges a pure Abelian large gauge transformation with integer winding $\mathfrak{n}^m \in \mathbb{Z}$ is in general illdefined. What makes it well-behaved is precisely the additional contribution from the fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformation (which is by itself also ill-defined) which compensates for the fractional part in the Abelian sector. This matches the gauge theory discussion of section 10.1.

¹This is related to the fact that the center of the corresponding universal covering group is trivial. We will elaborate more on this fact in the part about the torsion subgroup of the Mordell-Weil group.

It should be stressed that not all redefinitions (12.8) have an immediate geometric interpretation. Away from the singular loci over B_n that are resolved the transformation $D_m \to D_m$ is induced by the action of the Mordell-Weil group, which has a known geometric origin as addition of points in the fiber (see e.g. [186]). We are not familiar of how the latter geometric group law is extended to the non-Abelian singularities or to their resolutions. This prevents us from identifying a geometric interpretation of $D_I \to D_I$. Nevertheless the considered arithmetic operations are well-defined on the level of divisors and consistently include also the blow-up divisors for example in the Shioda map. This suffices to infer information about the effective theory after compactification on this space. We will encounter similar transformations in the general discussion of non-Abelian large gauge transformations in section 12.3. A possible way to resolve this puzzle could be provided by the theory of schemes in connection with the minimal model program. In particular for the resolved space the Mordell-Weil group could be only well-defined as an arithmetic structure on a whole scheme rather than on individual algebraic varieties. Or loosely speaking, there exists a branched cover of the elliptic fibration on which the arithmetic structure is properly defined. See e.g. [187] for more details.

Finally, we conclude the discussion about the free part of the Mordell-Weil group with a comment about G_4 -flux. As we have seen around (10.11), Abelian large gauge transformations of four-dimensional theories generically induce circle-fluxes $\frac{1}{2} \int_{S^1} \langle d\hat{\rho}_{\alpha} \rangle$ resulting in a non-vanishing Chern-Simons coupling $\tilde{\Theta}_{\alpha 0} \neq 0$. Note that we started with $\Theta_{\alpha 0} = 0$. In F-theory compactifications this coefficient is given by

$$\Theta_{\alpha 0} = -\frac{1}{4} D_{\alpha} \cdot D_0 \cdot [G_4], \qquad (12.14)$$

and the vanishing of it constrains the choices for G_4 -flux. If we now also want $\Theta_{\alpha 0}$ to vanish, we should manually switch on in field theory additional compensating flux $-\frac{1}{2}\int_{S^1} \langle d\hat{\rho}_{\alpha} \rangle$ after the large gauge transformation such that the net flux adds up to zero. In the F-theory picture this corresponds to imposing that also the G_4 -flux transforms after a Mordell-Weil shift according to

$$\tilde{G}_4 = G_4 - \mathfrak{n}^n \left(D_\alpha \cdot D_n \cdot [G_4] \right) \eta^{-1}{}_\beta{}^\alpha \mathcal{C}^\beta \,. \tag{12.15}$$

It is then easy to show that this compensates for the unwanted contributions of (9.47), *i.e.* setting them to zero.

12.1.3 The Torsion Part of the Mordell-Weil Group

In a similar spirit we can show that a non-trivial torsion subgroup in (12.1) is connected to special fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations, *i.e.* to the basis vectors $(\mathbf{n}^{I}, \mathbf{n}^{m})$ of type (III) introduced in section 10.1. For a torsional section t_{r} , $r = 1, \ldots, n_{tor}$, we use the key fact that its image under the Shioda map vanishes, cf. (11.31). As discussed in subsection 11.3.2 this implies that they do not define divisors that appear in the Kaluza-Klein expansion (11.22) and thus do not give rise to massless gauge fields in the effective theory.

Despite the fact that torsional sections do not define massless gauge fields in the effective field theory, the Mordell-Weil group action along these sections nevertheless results in a non-trivial transformation in the circle-reduced theory. In order to show this we perform $\mathbf{n}^r \in \mathbb{Z}$ shifts along the torsional generators t_r using the Mordell-Weil group law (12.6). The derivation proceeds in a similar fashion as the one in subsection 12.1.2. In fact, keeping in mind that $D(t_r) = 0$ one can use (12.8) to infer

$$\tilde{D}_m = D_m av{12.16}$$

$$\tilde{D}_I = D_I - \mathfrak{n}^K \pi (D_K \cdot D_I) , \qquad (12.17)$$

$$\tilde{D}_0 = D_0 + \mathfrak{n}^J D_J - \frac{\mathfrak{n}^J \mathfrak{n}^L}{2} \pi (D_J \cdot D_L), \qquad (12.18)$$

where we have defined, similar to (12.9), that

$$\mathbf{n}^I := -\mathbf{n}^r \ \pi_{rJ} \, \mathcal{C}^{-1 \, JI} \ . \tag{12.19}$$

Just as in subsection 12.1.2, in general \mathbf{n}^{I} will be fractional due to the appearance of the inverse matrix $\mathcal{C}^{-1 JI}$. In other words the transformations induced by \mathbf{n}^{r} correspond to special fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations parametrized by pairs $(\mathbf{n}^{I}, \mathbf{n}^{m} = 0)$, introduced as case (III) in section 10.1.

The fact that torsion in the Mordell-Weil group allows for the presence of special fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations is not unexpected. As discussed in [188, 185], torsion in the Mordell-Weil group indicates that the gauge group is not simply connected, and therefore certain representations of the Lie algebra do not appear on the level of the group, *i.e.* the weight lattice of the group is coarser. Because of this fact also certain fractional non-Abelian large gauge transformations are compatible with the circle boundary conditions. Indeed the torsional shifts exhaust all possible fractional large gauge transformations, which is evident from considering the center of the universal covering group as in section 3.3 of [185]. Note that since the adjoint representation is always present in terms of gaugini, the possible set of special fractional large gauge transformations, which might be restricted by the global structure of the group, can be derived by demanding

$$\mathbf{n}^{I} w_{I}^{\mathrm{adj}} \in \mathbb{Z} \tag{12.20}$$

with w^{adj} the weights of the adjoint representation.

12.2 Arithmetic Structures on Fibrations with Multi-Sections

In this section we aim to generalize the discussion of section 12.1 to Calabi-Yau geometries that admit a genus-one fibration that does not have a rational section. These setups always come with multi-sections that no longer cut out rational points of the genus-one fiber but rather roots which are exchanged over branch cuts in the base B_n . On such genus-one fibrations with only multi-sections there is no known arithmetic structure analog to the Mordell-Weil group. However, our understanding of the F-theory effective action associated to such geometries, which will have U(1) gauge group factors if there is more than one independent multi-section, and the possibility to perform Abelian large gauge transformations in these setups suggest that an arithmetic structure should equally exist on genus-one fibrations without section. We will collect evidence for the existence of this structure which we name the *extended Mordell-Weil group* and study its key properties.

Our considerations will be driven by two facts. First, we will make use of the fact that a genus-one fibration with only multi-sections can often be related by a geometric transition to elliptic fibrations with multiple rational sections. Physically this corresponds to an unHiggsing of Abelian gauge fields [132, 96, 127, 135–137, 133]. Following the divisors through this transition we are able to reverse-engineer on the level of divisor classes the group law on the geometry without rational sections from the Mordell-Weil group law in the unHiggsed geometry. We note that at this point we can only determine the extended Mordell-Weil group law up to vertical divisors, which will be the task of subsection 12.2.1. This definition however will allow us to uniquely define a generalized Shioda map in subsection 12.2.2. The latter defines divisors associated to massless Abelian gauge symmetries from the generators of the postulated extended Mordell-Weil group, *i.e.* from the multi-sections. Finally, in subsection 12.2.3 we show that translations in the extended Mordell-Weil group correspond to Abelian large gauge transformations.

12.2.1 A Group Action for Fibrations with Multi-Sections

We now present an extension of the results from the last subsection to F-theory compactified on genus-one fibrations without section. These geometries come with multi-sections which mark points in the elliptic fiber that are exchanged over branch cuts in the base B_n . If they mark a set of *n* points in the fiber, we call the multi-section an *n*-section. For a genus-one fibration one can always birationally move to the Jacobian fibration, which replaces each independent *n*-section by a rational section and therefore constitutes an elliptic fibration. Importantly the genus-one fibration and its Jacobian describe the same F-theory effective action in four or six dimensions [130, 131]. It is therefore clear that the presence of at least two homologically independent multi-sections indicates the existence of massless U(1) gauge fields in the four- or six-dimensional F-theory effective field theory.² In particular, the associated Jacobian fibration of a genus-one fibration with more than one multi-section will have a non-trivial Mordell-Weil group. One can therefore ask how to identify the divisor classes associated to massless U(1) gauge sym-

²A single multi-section gives one massless U(1) in the three- or five-dimensional effective theory, which captures the degree of freedom of the circle Kaluza-Klein vector.

metries already in the genus-one fibrations. This is relevant *e.g.* for the computation of U(1)-charges or the computation of anomaly coefficients. Furthermore, we will argue for the existence of a group law for multi-sections.

To address these issues we first have to introduce some additional facts about fibrations with multi-sections and state our assumptions. First, recall that an *n*-section $s^{(n)}$ with divisor class $S^{(n)} = Div(s^{(n)})$ fulfills

$$S^{(n)} \cdot f = n \,, \tag{12.21}$$

where f is the class of the genus-one fiber. This implies that

$$S^{(n)} \cdot D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta} = n D^{b}_{\alpha} \cdot D^{b}_{\beta}, \qquad S^{(n)} \cdot D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta} \cdot D_{\gamma} = n D^{b}_{\alpha} \cdot D^{b}_{\beta} \cdot D^{b}_{\gamma}, \qquad (12.22)$$

where the first equation applies for threefolds and the second for fourfolds. Second, note that it is always possible to find a basis of multi-sections in homology that are all of the same degree [131], *i.e.* they cut out the same number of points in the fiber. We denote the number of such multi-sections by $n_{\rm ms}$ and assume $n_{\rm ms} \ge 2$. We denote such a basis of *n*-sections by $s_0^{(n)}, s_m^{(n)}, m = 1, \ldots, n_{\rm ms} - 1$ and demand that it is minimal in the sense that there does not exist any multi-section in the geometry that cuts out n-1 or fewer points.³ We have also singled out an arbitrary multi-section which we labeled by 0. The divisors associated to these sections are denoted by $S_0^{(n)} = Div(s_0^{(n)})$ and $S_m^{(n)} = Div(s_m^{(n)})$ in accord with our previous notation.

To propose a group law we will work with the following assumption for genus-one fibrations throughout this section:

• We assume that there exists a specialization of the complex structure of the fibration such that each *n*-section $s_0^{(n)}$ and $s_m^{(n)}$ splits into *n* rational sections s_0^1, \ldots, s_0^n and s_m^1, \ldots, s_m^n . After resolving the singularities in the new geometry we will denote the resulting space by \hat{Y}_{uH} , where we indicate that this geometry captures the unHiggsing from a field-theoretic point of view. In the following we impose that the rational sections s_0^1, \ldots, s_0^n and s_m^1, \ldots, s_m^n are the generators of the Mordell-Weil group supplemented by the zero-section of the elliptic fibration \hat{Y}_{uH} . We expect however that the following discussion can be extended to the more general situation in which these rational sections only generate a sublattice of the Mordell-Weil lattice. With this simplification the divisor homology groups of \hat{Y} and \hat{Y}_{uH} are generated as follows:

$$H_p(\hat{Y}) = \langle S_0^{(n)}, S_m^{(n)}, D_\alpha \rangle , \qquad H_p(\hat{Y}_{uH}) = \langle S_0^1, \dots, S_0^n, S_m^1, \dots, S_m^n, D_\alpha' \rangle , \quad (12.23)$$

where p = 4 for Calabi-Yau threefolds and p = 6 for Calabi-Yau fourfolds. Note that we will in the following assume that the theory has no non-Abelian gauge groups. In other words, we do not include exceptional divisors in (12.23).

³From now on we will always require that the considered basis of multi-sections is of this type.

• We also introduce an unHiggsing map φ from the divisors of \hat{Y} , *i.e.* the fibrations admitting multi-sections, to the divisors of \hat{Y}_{uH} ,

$$\varphi: \quad H_p(\hat{Y}) \, \hookrightarrow \, H_p(\hat{Y}_{\mathrm{uH}}) \,. \tag{12.24}$$

Here we have indicated that the map is injective. In addition, we require it to be an injective ring homomorphism from the full intersection ring on \hat{Y} into that of \hat{Y}_{uH} . This map is defined to identify the *n*-sections with *n* rational sections on the divisor level:

$$\varphi(S_0^{(n)}) = S_0^1 + \dots + S_0^n, \qquad \varphi(S_m^{(n)}) = S_m^1 + \dots + S_m^n.$$
 (12.25)

We do not consider torsional sections in the following discussion. We furthermore assume that the map φ acts trivially on the remaining divisors D_{α} and is linear on the vector space of divisors, i.e.

$$\varphi(\nu^{i}S_{i}^{(n)} + \nu^{\alpha}D_{\alpha}) = \nu^{i}S_{i}^{1} + \dots + \nu^{i}S_{i}^{n} + \nu^{\alpha}D_{\alpha}', \qquad (12.26)$$

for some constants (ν^i, ν^{α}) . Note that D_{α} and D'_{α} actually define the same divisor classes since they both ascend from the same divisors in the base B_n common to both \hat{Y} and \hat{Y}_{uH} .

Note that only a single example of a geometry with more than one independent multi-section has been studied in the literature [127] which is given by an embedding of the fiber as a hypersurface into $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. In these setups one finds two independent two-sections which do indeed split into four sections in the prescribed way by blowing up the fiber ambient space to dP_3 .⁴

Let us make the following preliminary ansatz for a group structure placed on the set of multi-sections written down in homology similar to (12.6): Choose one *n*-section $s_0^{(n)}$ as what we call the *zero-n-section* or *zero-multi-section*. Then two arbitrary *n*-sections $s_1^{(n)}, s_2^{(n)}$ are added according to

$$Div(s_1^{(n)} \oplus \mathfrak{n}s_2^{(n)}) := S_1^{(n)} + \mathfrak{n}(S_2^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)}) + \lambda^{\alpha} D_{\alpha}.$$
(12.27)

Making the definition (12.27) precise would require to determine the constants λ^{α} . However, we will argue in the following that these are not uniquely determined, which can be traced back to the fact that there exist divisor classes corresponding to genuine multi-sections that differ only in their vertical parts induced by the base homology. This implies that we need to talk about equivalence classes [·] of divisors associated to multi-sections defined modulo vertical part. Furthermore, we will in the following provide evidence that $Div(s_1^{(n)} \oplus \mathfrak{n} s_2^{(n)})$ defines a divisor class representing an actual *n*-section in the geometry when neglecting the vertical part. Let us stress again that our approach just allows us to investigate how the group law for multi-section is defined in terms of homology classes.

⁴It is important to notice that the two toric two-sections of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ do not exclusively split into the four toric sections of dP_3 . One rather has to pick four appropriate elements of the Mordell-Weil lattice of the blow-up that are not necessarily torically realized.



Figure 12.2: The zero-*n*-section is chosen to contain the zero-section after unHiggsing to a setting with rational sections only.

We first want to provide evidence that there is indeed a multi-section associated to $\tilde{S}^{(n)} \equiv Div(s_1^{(n)} \oplus \mathfrak{n}s_2^{(n)})$ as defined in (12.27). In order to do that we will check in which ways $\varphi(\tilde{S}^{(n)})$ can split into a sum of n sections in the homology of \hat{Y}_{uH} . Let us denote such a set of n linear independent sections of \hat{Y}_{uH} by $\{\hat{s}^i\}$, and demand that

$$\varphi \left(S_1^{(n)} + \mathfrak{n} (S_2^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)}) + \lambda^{\alpha} D_{\alpha} \right) \stackrel{!}{=} \sum_{i=1}^n \hat{S}^i , \qquad (12.28)$$

where $\{\hat{S}^i = Div(\hat{s}^i)\}$ is the associated set of linearly independent divisors in \hat{Y}_{uH} . It turns out that there are infinitely many possibilities to define an appropriate set of sections $\{\hat{s}^i\}$. For example, choosing one arbitrary element s_0^l (for fixed l) as the zero-section (see Figure 12.2 where *e.g.* l = 2), there is the very simple choice

$$\hat{s}^i := s_1^i \oplus \mathfrak{n} s_2^i \ominus \mathfrak{n} s_0^i \,, \tag{12.29}$$

which gives the right structure (12.28) upon using (12.26) and the conventional Mordell-Weil group law (12.6). Clearly, the ansatz (12.29) allows us to fix the λ^{α} specifying the vertical part in (12.27). The existence of an appropriate set of \hat{s}^i indicates that there is indeed a multi-section in the divisor class $Div(s_1^{(n)} \oplus \mathfrak{n} s_2^{(n)})$ when fixing the λ^{α} via (12.28), (12.29) and (12.6).

However, using merely the existence of sections \hat{s}^i in \hat{Y}_{uH} satisfying (12.28) does not seem to fix the class $Div(s_1^{(n)} \oplus \mathfrak{n}s_2^{(n)})$ uniquely. In fact, other appropriate sets $\{\hat{s}'^i\}$ can be obtained if one picks two arbitrary sections out of $\{\hat{s}^i\}$ and adds a third arbitrary chosen section to one of the latter while subtracting it from the other one by using the Mordell-Weil group law on \hat{Y}_{uH} . Such a freedom of choice is schematically depicted in Figure 12.3. The set $\{\hat{s}'^i\}$ can be used to satisfy (12.28) but will generally yield a different set of constants λ^{α} compared to the choice (12.29). In other words, the contribution from vertical divisors in (12.27) is a priori not uniquely fixed by the compatibility conditions that we impose. This should be contrasted with the situation



Figure 12.3: Moving from \hat{Y} to the unHiggsed phase \hat{Y}_{uH} there are in general many ways to add the individual sections. We schematically indicate two choices in (1) and (2), which in general differ by their vertical parts when considering the associated multi-section.

for genuine sections (*i.e.* n = 1) in which this part is fixed by demanding that the section squares to the canonical class in the base of the elliptic fibration. For multi-sections this relation to the canonical class of the base is in general not valid.⁵ In fact, for concrete examples one can verify that there exist multi-sections that differ only by their vertical parts.⁶ Therefore there is no immediate way that we are aware of to infer the possible vertical parts of a multi-section. As stressed above this also reflects our inability to give a unique choice for the splitting (12.28) and the fixation of the constants λ^{α} in (12.27).

It is therefore natural to define the group law (12.27) only in terms of equivalence classes of multi-sections modulo vertical divisors as

$$\widehat{Div}([s_1^{(n)}] \oplus \mathfrak{n}[s_2^{(n)}]) := \left[S_1^{(n)} + \mathfrak{n}(S_2^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)})\right].$$
(12.30)

In this expression we indicate that the divisors as well as the multi-sections should only be considered modulo vertical parts. \widehat{Div} maps between equivalence classes of multi-sections and equivalence classes of divisors and reduces on representatives to Div. Let us stress that this does not imply that one can add arbitrary vertical divisors to the right-hand side of this equation and find an actual multi-section in the geometry. The formulation in (12.30) loses some information about divisor classes supporting

⁵This can also be understood after applying the map φ to \hat{Y} , since two of the individual sections s_i^1 , s_i^2 arising from the *i*th *n*-section can have non-trivial intersection.

⁶One can consider for example fibrations where the fiber is embedded as a hypersurface into $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. In these setups one can find four toric multi-sections from which two are independent, and the other two do indeed differ by vertical parts from the latter in certain examples.

multi-sections. Crucially, this information turns out to be irrelevant in the discussion of the generalized Shioda map and therefore does not affect the considered physical implications of the setup.

12.2.2 The Generalized Shioda Map

In order to investigate the physical implications of the group law studied in subsection 12.2.1 for the effective field theory we first need to define a generalized Shioda map for multi-sections. Recall that the considered multi-sections were arbitrarily subdivided as $s_0^{(n)}$, $s_m^{(n)}$, $m = 1, \ldots, n_{\rm ms} - 1$, where we called $s_0^{(n)}$ the zero-*n*-section. The generalized Shioda map associates divisors $D_m^{(n)} \equiv D(s_m^{(n)})$ to the *n*-sections $s_m^{(n)}$. In addition one has to define a map from $s_0^{(n)}$ to a divisor $D_0^{(n)}$ generalizing (11.28), also to be defined below. The Poincaré-dual two-forms $[D_0^{(n)}]$ and $[D_m^{(n)}]$ can then appear in the Kaluza-Klein expansion of the M-theory three-form C_3 generalizing (11.22) as

$$C_3 = A^{\alpha} \wedge [D_{\alpha}] + A^0 \wedge [D_0^{(n)}] + A^m \wedge [D_m^{(n)}] , \qquad (12.31)$$

where we recall that we assume the absence of exceptional divisors D_I associated to a non-Abelian gauge group in this section. The vectors A^m correspond to massless linear combinations of former U(1) gauge fields in the six- or four-dimensional effective theory, while A^0 will contain (in a massless linear combination) the degree of freedom arising from the Kaluza-Klein vector along the circle when performing the F-theory uplift from three or five to four or six dimensions.

If we have $n_{\rm ms} \geq 2$, as we will assume in the following, we have to define generalized Shioda maps yielding the U(1) divisors $D_m^{(n)}$. To this end, we once again borrow results from the unHiggsed geometry $\hat{Y}_{\rm uH}$. As was explained in [132, 96, 127, 135–137, 133] the transition from the unHiggsed geometry $\hat{Y}_{\rm uH}$ to the genus-one fibration is described by a Higgsing in the effective five- or three-dimensional field theory of certain matter states charged under a linear combination of the $n \times n_{\rm ms}$ Abelian gauge fields. We aim to find the proper linear combinations of these U(1)s that constitute the massless U(1) vectors after the Higgsing. To begin with we consider the divisor classes $D'_{m,l}$ on $\hat{Y}_{\rm uH}$ given by

$$D'_{m,l} := \sum_{i=1}^{n} D^{i}_{m} - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq l}}^{n} D^{i}_{0}, \qquad (12.32)$$

where $D_m^i \equiv D(s_m^i)$, $D_0^i = D(s_0^i)$ denote the Shioda maps of s_m^i, s_0^i , with $i \neq l$, and we have chosen an element s_0^l (fixed l) as the zero-section on \hat{Y}_{uH} . We want our ansatz to be invariant under exchanging individual sections which come from the same multisection since we aim to write all expressions in terms of the map φ as defined in (12.25). Note that the ansatz (12.32) is invariant under the exchange of the components $s_m^i, s_0^{i\neq l}$ of a given multi-section $s_m^{(n)}$ and the zero-multi-section $s_0^{(n)}$, respectively, and it is therefore almost consistent with the map (12.25). However, the definition (12.32) of $D'_{m,l}$ still depends on the choice of the zero-section s_0^l and is thus not invariant under the exchange of *all* the components of the zero-multi-section $s_0^{(n)}$ in this respect. We therefore included an additional index l in the notation. Inserting the explicit expressions for the Shioda maps D_m^i, D_0^i and using (12.25) we obtain

$$D'_{m,l} = \varphi(S_m^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)}) - \pi \left(\varphi(S_m^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)}) \cdot S_0^l\right).$$
(12.33)

Thus it is clear that the expression (12.33) is still problematic if one wants to move solely to the phase of the genus-one fibration since (12.33) manifestly depends on the choice of the zero-section s_0^l on \hat{Y}_{uH} . However, as it follows from the upcoming discussion in chapter 13, different choices of the zero-section are just related by large gauge transformations in the effective field theory. Therefore it seems logical to treat all phases with different zero-section s_0^l on equal footing. We thus average over all these choices and use again (12.25) to obtain

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{l}D'_{m,l} = \varphi(S_m^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)}) - \frac{1}{n}\pi\big(\varphi(S_m^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)}) \cdot \varphi(S_0^{(n)})\big) .$$
(12.34)

Since φ is a ring homomorphism and all pieces lie in the image of φ , we can now drop the map φ in this expression and consistently define a generalized Shioda map $D_m^{(n)}$ for the multi-section $s_m^{(n)}$ without reference to an unHiggsed phase

$$D_m^{(n)} := S_m^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)} - \frac{1}{n} \pi \left(\left(S_m^{(n)} - S_0^{(n)} \right) \cdot S_0^{(n)} \right).$$
(12.35)

By construction it is evident that U(1) charges q_m of matter in the genus-one fibration without rational sections are calculated by intersecting the associated curves with $D_m^{(n)}$. Note that this intersection is independent of the vertical contribution in D_m . Furthermore (12.35) is a generalization of the map given in [127] (without the factor $\frac{1}{n}$), where the authors consider fibers embedded into $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. We expect that our definition of $D_m^{(n)}$ yields the correct U(1) divisors in order to study the effective field theory of F-theory on genus-one fibrations directly without explicit reference to an unHiggsed geometry \hat{Y}_{uH} or the Jacobian of \hat{Y} . Exploring this effective theory in detail is however beyond the scope of the work in this thesis.

Further indication that $D_m^{(n)}$ is an important object of the genus-one fibration is provided by the fact that the definition (12.35) only depends on the equivalence classes $[S_m^{(n)}], [S_0^{(n)}]$. Indeed, it is easy to check that (12.35) even provides a homomorphism from the generalized Mordell-Weil group (12.30) to the Nerón-Severi group. Note that both of these conditions are extremely restrictive.

In a similar fashion we can construct the divisor $D_0^{(n)}$ appearing in (11.22). It is the cycle that is dual to the massless linear combination of the Kaluza-Klein vector and a set of n-1 U(1) vectors that are massive in the higher-dimensional theory [96]. These correspond to the individual constituents of the zero-multi-section under the splitting

(12.25). In analogy to (12.32) we first make the ansatz

$$D'_{0,l} := n D_0 + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq l}}^n D_0^i, \qquad (12.36)$$

where $D_0^i = D(s_0^i)$ are the Shioda maps with a chosen zero-section s_0^l . This expression is again as before invariant under the exchange of the individual sections $s_0^{i\neq l}$ modulo vertical divisors. We stress that D_0 denotes the divisor yielding the Kaluza-Klein vector in \hat{Y}_{uH} and is therefore given as in (11.28) by

$$D_0 = S_0^l - \frac{1}{2}\pi (S_0^l \cdot S_0^l).$$
(12.37)

Using in (12.36) the explicit expressions for the Shioda maps as well as (12.37) and (12.25) we obtain

$$D'_{0,l} = \varphi(S_0^{(n)}) + \frac{n}{2}K - \pi \left(\varphi(S_0^{(n)}) \cdot S_0^l\right)$$
(12.38)

with K the canonical class of the base. Averaging over all zero-section choices as in (12.34) we get

$$\frac{1}{n}\sum_{l}D'_{0,l} = \varphi(S_0^{(n)}) + \frac{n}{2}K - \frac{1}{n}\pi\big(\varphi(S_0^{(n)})\cdot\varphi(S_0^{(n)})\big).$$
(12.39)

Now we can drop the map φ using the similar arguments as above, and are therefore able to define $D_0^{(n)}$ as

$$D_0^{(n)} := S_0^{(n)} + \frac{n}{2}K - \frac{1}{n}\pi \left(S_0^{(n)} \cdot S_0^{(n)}\right), \qquad (12.40)$$

which is a generalization of (11.28).

12.2.3 Extended Mordell-Weil Group and Large Gauge Transformations

In this final subsection we show that, similar to the genuine Mordell-Weil group of rational sections, translations in the extended Mordell-Weil lattice are in one-to-one correspondence with Abelian large gauge transformations in the effective field theory. As before, the formulation of this group law on the divisor level will be completely sufficient for the question we aim to address due to the uniqueness of the generalized Shioda maps.

We begin by shifting the basis of multi-sections by \mathfrak{n}^m -times the *n*-section $s_m^{(n)}$ as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{s}_{0}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} s_{0}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^{m} \begin{bmatrix} s_{m}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{s}_{m}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} s_{m}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^{m} \begin{bmatrix} s_{m}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(12.41)$$

Using the group law (12.30) and inserting the resulting divisor classes into the generalized Shioda map (12.35) we then find that the transformation of $D_m^{(n)}$ is given by

$$D_m^{(n)} \mapsto D_m^{(n)} - \frac{\mathfrak{n}^p}{n} \pi \left(D_p^{(n)} \cdot D_m^{(n)} \right),$$
 (12.42)

which differs by a factor of $\frac{1}{n}$ in the vertical part from (12.8a). We emphasize that in this evaluation the ambiguity in the vertical parts is absent after applying the generalized Shioda map.

Let us now analyze the large gauge transformations from a field theory perspective. Recall that in general the actual Kaluza-Klein vector mixes in the Higgsed phase with other U(1)s as dictated by the zero-multi-section $s_0^{(n)}$ [96, 135–137, 133]. While there are n-1 massive U(1)s parametrized by $s_0^{(n)}$ only a single U(1) remains massless. To simplify the treatment of the large gauge transformations in such a situation, we again can consider the unHiggsed phase. This will allow us to show that (12.42) is induced by large gauge transformations. In particular we consider the different splits corresponding to the divisor $D_m^{(n)}$. Note that $D_m^{(n)}$ was obtained in (12.34) by averaging over all divisors $D'_{m,l}$, defined in (12.32), which together represent the different choices for the zero-section. Focusing now on a particular divisor $D'_{m,l}$ with zero-section s_0^l , we find that the dual gauge field in the unHiggsed phase reads

$$A'^{m,l} = \frac{1}{n} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i^m - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq l}}^{n} A_i^0 \right), \qquad (12.43)$$

with A_i^0, A_i^m dual to D_0^i, D_m^i . Our main interest is in the form of the large gauge transformation for this vector field $A'^{m,l}$. Therefore let us apply large gauge transformations with winding \mathbf{n}_i^m of the individual constituents $A_i^{m,l}$. We find

$$A_i^m \mapsto A_i^m - \mathfrak{n}_i^m A_l^0, \qquad \qquad A_i^0 \mapsto A_i^0, \qquad (12.44)$$

where A_l^0 denotes the Kaluza-Klein vector. We conclude that the large gauge transformations act on $A'^{m,l}$ as

$$A'^{m,l} \mapsto A'^{m,l} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathfrak{n}_{i}^{m}}{n} A_{l}^{0} .$$
(12.45)

Using the results from section 12.1 we conclude that the dual divisors transform as

$$D'_{m,l} \mapsto D'_{m,l} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathfrak{n}_{i}^{p}}{n} \pi \left(D'_{p,l} \cdot D'_{m,l} \right).$$
(12.46)

Averaging now as in (12.34) over the different choices for the zero-section we can finally infer that the genuine U(1) divisors $D_m^{(n)}$ in the Higgsed phase transform as

$$D_m^{(n)} \mapsto D_m^{(n)} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \mathfrak{n}_i^p}{n} \pi \left(D_p^{(n)} \cdot D_m^{(n)} \right).$$
(12.47)

This is precisely what we get from (12.42) for appropriate choices of the \mathbf{n}_i^m . We finally conclude that shifts in the generalized Mordell-Weil group correspond to Abelian large gauge transformations in the Higgsed phase.

12.3 Arithmetic Structures on Fibrations with Exceptional Divisors

In this section, we focus on elliptic fibrations \hat{Y} with codimension-one singularities leading to non-Abelian gauge groups with matter in F-theory. The resolution of singularities of the elliptic fibration at codimension-one in the base B_n requires introducing a set of blow-up divisors. In subsection 12.3.1 we define a novel group action on the set of these divisors in \hat{Y} . We are guided by two principles in defining this group structure, one geometric and one field-theoretic one.

First, we employ the geometric fact that many geometries \hat{Y} with a Higgsable non-Abelian gauge group can be connected by a number of extremal transitions, corresponding to Higgsing in field theory, to a geometry $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ with a purely Abelian gauge group, *i.e.* a number of rational sections. Under this transition, the Cartan U(1)s inside the non-Abelian gauge group are mapped to U(1)s associated to the free generators of the Mordell-Weil group of the Higgsed geometry $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$. The postulated group structure on the blow-up divisors of the non-Abelian theory is then nothing but the translational symmetry in the Mordell-Weil group of the Higgsed theory that has been shown to be a geometric symmetry in section 12.1. In subsection 12.3.1 we will assume that such a Higgs transition exists and exploit it to define the group structure on \hat{Y} . We show this correspondence explicitly in the simplest case of an adjoint Higgsing of SU(2) to U(1) in subsection 12.3.2 and use induction on the number of U(1)s to generalize to higher rank groups. Thus, we see that the non-Abelian group structure is required by consistency under motion in the moduli space of F-theory.

Second, we show in subsection 12.3.1 that in the effective field theory the postulated group action manifests itself simply as non-Abelian large gauge transformations and is therefore trivially a symmetry in an anomaly-free theory. Thus, we claim that the non-Abelian group action should have a direct geometric interpretation on \hat{Y} and does generally exist for any non-Abelian setup, even for those lacking Higgsings to Abelian theories.

We note that application of the results from section 10.2 implies that the geometric symmetries postulated here imply the cancelation of all pure and mixed non-Abelian gauge anomalies in the effective action of F-theory compactifications on elliptically fibered Calabi-Yau three- and fourfolds.

12.3.1 A Group Action for Exceptional Divisors

As outlined at the beginning of this section, we define in the following a group structure on the set of resolution divisors of codimension-one singularities of an elliptic fibration \hat{Y} . We first motivate the group structure geometrically by the connection between Abelian and non-Abelian gauge groups via (un)Higgsing. Then we show that the postulated group law is identified with non-Abelian large gauge transformations, which are automatically a symmetry of the effective theory. Furthermore, we show that the postulated group law leaves key classical intersections on \hat{Y} invariant. In particular the intersections of the transformed exceptional divisors yield the same Cartan matrix as before and the transformed rational sections obey again the defining intersection properties of rational sections discussed in subsection 11.3.2.

We will start with a purely Abelian theory specified by an elliptic fibration $Y_{\rm H}$ with a Mordell-Weil group generated by elements s'_m , $m = 1, \ldots, n_{U(1)}$. Although the following arguments hold in general, we will assume that the Mordell-Weil group has no torsion elements. We consider an unHiggsing to a geometry \hat{Y} where a subset of the rational sections are turned into exceptional divisors D_I corresponding to a non-Abelian gauge group G. As discussed systematically in [132, 129], such an unHiggsing is a tuning in the complex structure of $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ such that certain rational sections coincide globally in the tuned geometry. Thus \hat{Y} will have a lower-rank Mordell-Weil group with generators denoted by s_n , $n = 1, \ldots, \tilde{n}_{U(1)}$ for $\tilde{n}_{U(1)} < n_{U(1)}$.

We focus here on the simplest situation possible corresponding to a rank preserving unHiggsing, *i.e.* a situation with $\operatorname{rk}(G) = n_{U(1)} - \tilde{n}_{U(1)}$. Then the non-Abelian gauge theory associated to \hat{Y} is Higgsed back to the original Abelian gauge theory specified by $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ via matter in the adjoint representation. Thus the divisor groups of $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ and \hat{Y} are of the same dimension and generated by the following elements, respectively:

$$H_p(\hat{Y}_{\rm H}) = \langle S'_0, S'_n, S'_I, D'_\alpha \rangle, \qquad H_p(\hat{Y}) = \langle S_0, S_n, D_I, D_\alpha \rangle, \qquad (12.48)$$

where p = 4 for Calabi-Yau threefolds and p = 6 for Calabi-Yau fourfolds. Here S'_0 , S'_n and S'_I are divisor classes associated to the rational sections on \hat{Y}_H , S_0 and S_n are divisor classes of the sections on \hat{Y} . D'_{α} and D_{α} are divisors that ascent from divisors in B_n and define in fact the same classes in \hat{Y}_H and \hat{Y} . The index $I = 1, \ldots, n_{U(1)} - \tilde{n}_{U(1)}$ is the same for both geometries and labels the sections on \hat{Y}_H that are mapped to exceptional divisors D_I associated to the group G on \hat{Y} .

We propose that the unHiggsing $\hat{Y}_{\rm H} \to \hat{Y}$ induces a map φ from the divisor group of $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ to that of \hat{Y} ,

$$\varphi: \quad H_p(\hat{Y}_{\mathrm{H}}) \rightarrow H_p(\hat{Y}), \qquad (12.49)$$

with certain properties to be defined next. We we will argue explicitly in subsection 12.3.2 that the (un)Higgsing processes described in [119, 132, 129] implies the existence of a map φ as described now.

We require φ to be a bijective ring homomorphism from the full intersection ring on $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ to that on \hat{Y} , *i.e.* to commute with the intersection pairing of divisors and to be linear. The image of φ on the generators of $H_p(\hat{Y}_{\rm H})$ with p = 4 (for threefolds) or p = 6(for fourfolds) is given by

$$\varphi(S'_0) = S_0, \quad \varphi(S'_n) = S_n, \quad \varphi(D(s'_I)) = D_I, \quad \varphi(D'_\alpha) = D_\alpha.$$
(12.50)

We emphasize that φ maps the Shioda map $D(s'_I)$ of the rational section s'_I to a Cartan divisor D_I of the unHiggsed gauge group G on \hat{Y} . Note however that (12.50) implies that φ does not necessarily map the Shioda map $D(s'_n)$ of a section s'_n on \hat{Y}_H to the Shioda map $D(s_n)$ of s_n on \hat{Y} . This is clear as the formula for $D(s_n)$ according to (11.30) involves the Cartan divisors on \hat{Y} that are absent on $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ and consequently do not appear in the formula for $D(s'_n)$.

We are now in the position to investigate the image of a translation in the Mordell-Weil group of $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ under the map φ to the unHiggsed geometry \hat{Y} . We are particularly interested in shifts by rational sections s'_I , whose associated Shioda maps $D(s'_I)$ map to Cartan divisors D_I in \hat{Y} . To this end we recall the action of a Mordell-Weil translation on $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ on its divisor group. First, we express the Mordell-Weil translations on $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ conveniently in terms of the $D(s'_I)$. Shifting the Mordell-Weil lattice on $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ by a vector $\oplus \mathfrak{n}^I s'_I$ we rewrite (12.6) for all sections $s'_{\mathcal{M}} := \{s'_0, s'_m\}$ as

$$Div(s'_{\mathcal{M}} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^{I}s'_{I}) = S'_{\mathcal{M}} + \sum_{I} \mathfrak{n}^{I}D(s'_{I}) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{I,J} \mathfrak{n}^{I}\mathfrak{n}^{J}\pi \left(D(s'_{I}) \cdot D(s'_{J})\right) - \sum_{I} \mathfrak{n}^{I}\pi \left(S'_{\mathcal{M}} \cdot D(s'_{I})\right).$$
(12.51)

We also recall the general Mordell-Weil group action on a Shioda map $D(s'_m) \equiv D'_m$ of a section s'_m as given in (12.8a). We now perform the unHiggsing by applying the ring homomorphism φ , employing (12.50), to the formulae in (12.51) and (12.8a). We find the following transformation of divisor classes of sections and Cartan divisors on \hat{Y} by lifting the Mordell-Weil translations on $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$:

$$\tilde{S}_0 = S_0 + \sum_I \mathfrak{n}^I D_I - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{I,J} \mathfrak{n}^I \mathfrak{n}^J \pi (D_I \cdot D_J), \qquad (12.52a)$$

$$\tilde{S}_n = S_n + \sum_I \mathfrak{n}^I D_I - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{I,J} \mathfrak{n}^I \mathfrak{n}^J \pi (D_I \cdot D_J) - \sum_I \mathfrak{n}^I \pi (S_n \cdot D_I), \qquad (12.52b)$$

$$\tilde{D}_I = D_I - \sum_J \mathfrak{n}^J \pi (D_J \cdot D_I) \,. \tag{12.52c}$$

We note that the map φ simply amounts to $\sum_{I} \mathfrak{n}^{I} D(s'_{I}) \mapsto \sum_{I} \mathfrak{n}^{I} D_{I}$, as follows from (12.50). Then, we have additionally used $\pi(S_{0} \cdot D_{I}) = 0$ in the first equation since the zero section does not pass through the Cartan divisors on \hat{Y} as expected and $\pi(D_{n} \cdot D_{I}) = 0$ by definition of the Shioda map on the unHiggsed geometry \hat{Y} .

From a field theory point of view it is clear that the shifted classes (12.52) correspond to non-Abelian large gauge transformations along the Cartan subalgebra. Indeed one finds that under (12.52) the natural F-theory divisor basis on \hat{Y} transform as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{D}_{0} \\ \tilde{D}_{I} \\ \tilde{D}_{n} \\ \tilde{D}_{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathfrak{n}^{J} & 0 & \frac{\mathfrak{n}^{K}\mathfrak{n}^{L}}{2}\mathcal{C}_{KL}b^{\beta} \\ 0 & \delta_{I}^{J} & 0 & \mathfrak{n}^{K}\mathcal{C}_{IK}b^{\beta} \\ 0 & 0 & \delta_{n}^{k} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} D_{0} \\ D_{J} \\ D_{k} \\ D_{\beta} \end{pmatrix} ,$$
(12.53)

where we have used (11.36) and again recall that $\pi(D_n \cdot D_I) = 0$. Indeed, (12.53) is precisely the formula for a non-Abelian large gauge transformation given in (10.2) along the non-Abelian Cartan gauge fields A^I with windings \mathfrak{n}^I , i.e. for $\mathfrak{n}^m = 0$, so that the combination $C_3 = A^{\Lambda} \wedge [D_{\Lambda}]$ remains invariant.

In the following we will impose these shifts in F-theory compactifications with non-Abelian gauge symmetry independently of an existing adjoint Higgsing to the maximal torus of G. We conclude this by showing that the transformed divisor classes (12.52) on \hat{Y} obey the key properties (11.34) and (11.35) of new Cartan divisors and new rational sections, respectively, so that the gauge algebra and the rank of the Mordell-Weil group are invariant. First of all let us note that the $\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{M}} = {\tilde{S}_0, \tilde{S}_n}$ define good divisor classes for sections. Indeed we find that

$$\tilde{S}_0 \cdot \tilde{D}_I = 0 \tag{12.54}$$

$$\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{M}} \cdot \mathcal{E} = 1 \tag{12.55}$$

$$\pi(\tilde{S}_{\mathcal{M}} \cdot \tilde{S}_{\mathcal{M}}) = K.$$
(12.56)

Second we check that also the other classical intersection numbers such as (11.36) for the divisors \tilde{D}_I are not changed. This indicates that there might exist a new geometric interpretation of the transformed divisors $(\tilde{S}_0, \tilde{S}_n, \tilde{D}_I)$ as sections and exceptional divisors in an associated geometry. It also hints to the existence of a geometric interpretation for the Mordell-Weil translations lifted from $\hat{Y}_{\rm H}$ to \hat{Y} .

To close this subsection, let us note that we can push the analogy to the elliptic fibration with rational sections even further by defining a so-called *zero-node* Σ_0 . We introduce Σ_0 as

$$\Sigma_0 := \sum_I \mathfrak{n}^I D_I \ . \tag{12.57}$$

Using this definition the transformations (12.52) can be rewritten in a simpler form eliminating all explicit \mathbf{n}^{I} -dependence. The freedom to make a shift by a large non-Abelian gauge transformation then translates to 'picking a zero-node' in the lattice which is spanned by the blow-up divisors. This is analogous to determining the origin in the Mordell-Weil lattice. For the latter case we have argued in section 12.1 that this should constitute an actual symmetry of the M-theory to F-theory limit and therefore implies cancelation of Abelian anomalies. We will also discuss a closely related topic in chapter 13. For the non-Abelian large gauge transformations and the group action introduced here such a geometric symmetry principle has yet to be established but would guarantee the cancelation of all non-Abelian anomalies.

12.3.2 Arithmetic Group Structures from Higgs Transitions

Given a gauge theory with non-Abelian gauge group G and matter in the adjoint representation, we can Higgs to $U(1)^r$ with r = rk(G) by switching on VEVs along the Cartan generators in the adjoint. The inverse process is called unHiggsing a U(1) symmetry. Various examples of unHiggsing U(1) symmetries in F-theory have been considered, see *e.g.* the most recent works [119, 132, 127, 129] on unHiggsings of up to two U(1)s. We will employ the unHiggsing of U(1) symmetries to non-Abelian groups in the following in order to provide further geometrical evidence for the existence of the group structure on the exceptional divisors postulated in subsection 12.3.1. For simplicity we focus here on the simplest case of the unHiggsing of one U(1) to SU(2) as studied in [119,132]. By induction over the number of U(1)s, as suggested in [129], the obtained results are expected to generalize to higher-rank non-Abelian gauge groups. Note that basic knowledge of toric geometry is required to understand the following discussion.

It has been shown by Morrison and Park in [119] that the normal form of a general elliptic fibration with a Mordell-Weil group of rank one, *i.e.* a single U(1), is a Calabi-Yau hypersurface \hat{Y}_H with elliptic fiber given as the quartic hypersurface in the blow-up of $\mathbb{P}^2(1,1,2)$, denoted $\mathrm{Bl}_1\mathbb{P}^2(1,1,2)$. This space has a toric description. Denoting the projective coordinates on $\mathrm{Bl}_1\mathbb{P}^2(1,1,2)$ by [u:v:w:e], where e = 0 is the exceptional divisor of the blow-up (with map $[u:v:w:e] \mapsto [ue:v:we]$ to $\mathbb{P}^2(1,1,2)$), the hypersurface equation which defines the elliptic fibration can be brought into the form⁷

$$ew^{2} + bv^{2}w = u(c_{0}u^{3}e^{3} + c_{1}u^{2}e^{2}v + c_{2}uev^{2} + c_{3}v^{3}).$$
(12.58)

The coefficients c_i , i = 0, 1, 2, 3, are sections in specific line bundles that are determined by the the requirement that (12.58) defines a well-defined section of a line bundle on the base B_n and obeys the Calabi-Yau condition:

Section	Class	
$[c_0]$	-4K-2[b]	
$[c_1]$	-3K - [b]	(12.59
$[c_2]$	-2K	(12.00
$[c_3]$	-K + [b]	
[b]	[b]	

Here, we denote the divisor class of a section by $[\cdot]$ and -K is the anti-canonical divisor of B_n . Note that the class [b] of the divisor b = 0 is a free parameter of the Calabi-Yau manifold \hat{Y} .

The two rational sections of the elliptic fibration are given by

$$s'_0: [0:1:1:-b], \quad s'_1: [b:1:c_3:0], \quad (12.60)$$

⁷Note that the coefficient of ew^2 is set to one in order to avoid the \mathbb{Z}_2 -singularity at u = v = 0 which would give rise to a codimension-one singularity of type I_2 , *i.e.* an SU(2) gauge group in F-theory, see [96,127] for an analysis of the geometry with this additional singularity.

where we picked s'_0 as the zero-section.⁸ The Shioda map (11.30) of the section s'_1 reads

$$D(s_1') = S_1' - S_0' + K - [b] = S_1' - S_0' - [c_3], \qquad (12.61)$$

where we denoted the homology class of the two sections by $S'_0 = Div(s'_0)$ and $S'_1 = Div(s'_1)$.

The divisor $D(s'_1)$ supports the U(1) of the F-theory compactification on (12.58) as can be seen from the expansion (11.22) of the M-theory three-form. Shifting the origin in the Mordell-Weil lattice, as discussed in subsection 12.1.2, yields the new divisor classes (12.8a) that were shown to correspond to large Abelian gauge transformations.

The unHiggsing of the U(1) to an SU(2) is performed by tuning $b \mapsto 0$ in the elliptic fibration (12.58), as discussed in [119, 132], so that the rational sections in (12.60) coincide globally except for the locus $c_3 = 0$. As the fiber is toric, we blow up at u = e = 0, which amounts to replacing

$$u \mapsto ue_1, \qquad e \mapsto ee_1, \tag{12.62}$$

where $e_1 = 0$ is a new divisor. The hypersurface equation for the unHiggsed geometry \hat{Y} after blow-up reads

$$ew^{2} = u(c_{0}u^{3}e^{3}e_{1}^{6} + c_{1}u^{2}e^{2}e_{1}^{4}v + c_{2}uee_{1}^{2}v^{2} + c_{3}v^{3}).$$
(12.63)

The single remaining section on \hat{Y} , now denoted by s_0 , is described by $e_1 = 0$ after blow-up, with coordinates $[u : v : w : e : e_1]$ reading

$$s_0: \quad [1:1:1:c_3:0] \tag{12.64}$$

showing that s_0 is holomorphic. We note that the blown-up hypersurface has a Kodaira singularity of type I_2 at $c_3 = 0$ corresponding to an SU(2) gauge group in F-theory. Indeed, by setting $c_3 = 0$ in (12.63) we obtain

$$e\left(w^2 - u(c_0u^2e^2e_1^6 + c_1uee_1^4v + c_2e_1^2v^2)\right) = 0, \qquad (12.65)$$

which describes two \mathbb{P}^1 s intersecting at two points. Thus we identify $S^{SU(2)} = \{c_3 = 0\}$ as the divisor supporting the SU(2) gauge group. As the zero-section s_0 passes through the \mathbb{P}^1 given by e = 0, we determine the class of the Cartan divisor D_1 as

$$D_1 = [c_3] - [e]. (12.66)$$

Furthermore, we see that the divisor u = 0 does not intersect the hypersurface (12.63), *i.e.* $\hat{Y} \cap \{u = 0\} = 0$, due to the Stanley-Reisner ideal of the blown-up ambient space. Using these observations, we infer that the pull-back of the Shioda map (12.61) of the original rational section s'_1 to the unHiggsed geometry \hat{Y} reads

$$D(s'_1) \mapsto [e] - [c_3] = -D_1.$$
 (12.67)

180

⁸This convention deviates from the one chosen in [119] but is physically equivalent as we show in chapter 13.
Clearly, we have $S'_0 \mapsto S_0$ while vertical divisor D_{α} map trivially. These are, up to the irrelevant sign in the map of $D(s'_1)$, precisely the properties of the map φ defined in (12.50).

In summary, we see that the Shioda map of the rational sections is mapped, up to sign, to the Cartan divisor of the unHiggsed SU(2) gauge group on \hat{Y}_{uH} . Consequently, the Mordell-Weil shift of a rank one Mordell-Weil group, as introduced in subsection 12.1.2, is mapped under the transition corresponding to the unHiggsing to SU(2) to a similar shift of divisors, where the Shioda map is replaced by the Cartan divisor of the SU(2) (the sign can be absorbed by the integer \mathfrak{n} in (12.7)). In addition, a similar replacement should apply for unHiggsing a higher rank Mordell-Weil group by induction on its rank as discussed in [129]. This is expected to establish the existence of the group law postulated in subsection 12.3.1 on the Cartan divisors of any non-Abelian gauge group in F-theory that can be Higgsed in an adjoint Higgsing to a purely Abelian gauge group. We propose that this group law exists even for those non-Abelian groups that can not be Higgsed, such as the non-Higgsable clusters in [189]. 182

Chapter 13

The Freedom of Picking the Zero-Section in F-Theory

Finally, let us conclude this part by presenting the work and results which actually had served as the inspiration for what we have discussed up to now. The original aim was to clarify the implication of the fact that one is free to choose the zero-section in Ftheory in any way. More precisely, given a full set of independent sections of an elliptic fibration one has to single out one as the zero-section. F-theory does not seem to impose constraints on which section has to be chosen, they are rather all on equal footing. On the other hand it has been known that the intersection numbers which are matched to data in the circle-reduced supergravity are not invariant when comparing different choices. In order to understand how F-theory deals with this fact we investigate how the basis of divisors defined in subsection 11.3.2 transforms.

We start with a setting that has s_0 as the chosen zero-section and generating sections s_m which correspond to Abelian gauge symmetries. Let us now consider the same geometry but with a different choice for the zero-section \hat{s}_0 and the generating sections \hat{s}_m . We denote the quantities in the new F-theory setup by a 'hat'. In order to compare both choices we first have to split the index labeling the generating sections, *i.e.* the higher-dimensional U(1)s, in the old setting

$$m \to m^{\circ}, m^c,$$
 (13.1)

where m° refers to the single section $s_{m^{\circ}}$ which we pick as the new zero-section \hat{s}_0 , and $s_{m^{\circ}}$ denotes the remaining generating sections, the complement to $s_{m^{\circ}}$ in $\{s_m\}$. We set

$$\hat{s}_0 = s_{m^\circ}, \qquad \hat{s}_{m^\circ} = s_0, \qquad \hat{s}_{m^c} = s_{m^c}.$$
 (13.2)

Before we infer the transformation of the basis of divisors which we defined in subsection 11.3.2, let us introduce the following notation

$$A_{I}{}^{J} := \delta_{I}^{J} - \pi_{m^{\circ}I}(\delta_{I}^{J} + a_{I}{}^{J}), \qquad (13.3a)$$

$$a_I^{\ J} := a^J \quad \forall I \,, \tag{13.3b}$$

$$\mathfrak{n}^J := -\pi_{m^\circ K} \mathcal{C}^{-1\,KJ} \tag{13.3c}$$

with a^{J} the Coxeter labels defined in (E.7). Using (11.28), (11.30) we then obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{D}_{0} \\ \hat{D}_{I} \\ \hat{D}_{m^{\circ}} \\ \hat{D}_{m^{$$

redefinition of lattice generators, redefinition of blow-up divisors \equiv redefinition of 4d/6d gauge fields basis shift in the Mordell-Weil lattice \equiv large gauge transformation

Using the results of subsection 12.1.2 we see immediately that this map factorizes into the large gauge transformation (12.10), corresponding to a shift in the Mordell-Weil lattice with $\mathbf{n}^n = \delta_{m^\circ}^n$, and a simple redefinition of U(1) divisors. We explain in Figure 13.1 in detail why this form is indeed to be expected from the perspective of the Mordell-Weil lattice. We stress that also the definition of the blow-up divisors changes if $\pi_{m^\circ I} = 1$ for some index I. In this case the new zero-section \hat{s}_0 intersects the blow-up divisor D_I in the old basis. However, the zero-section should not intersect a blow-up node but rather the affine node which is why we have to perform the following redefinition for $\pi_{m^\circ I} = 1$

$$\hat{D}_{\text{affine}} = D_I \,, \tag{13.5a}$$

$$\hat{D}_I = D_{\text{affine}} \equiv S - a^J D_J \tag{13.5b}$$

with a^J the Coxeter labels and D_{affine} the divisor which corresponds to the affine node of the extended Dynkin diagram. We note that the components of the tuple of blow-up divisors in the new basis $(\hat{D}_1, \ldots, \hat{D}_{\text{rank g}})$ still has to be permuted in order to get the standard intersections in terms of the coroot intersection matrix.

Let us conclude by mentioning that using the results of section 10.2 and subsection 12.1.2 it is obvious that the freedom of the choice for the zero-section is equivalent



Figure 13.1: In the first line we depict the change of the zero-section choice from s_0 to $\hat{s}_0 := s_{m^\circ}$. In the original setting the generators of the Mordell-Weil lattice are defined by s_{m° and s_{m^c} while in the new setting they are given by \hat{s}_{m° and \hat{s}_{m^c} . The crucial observation is that this map factorizes in a convenient way. In particular we first shift the whole basis of the lattice by s_{m° . These shifts were investigated in subsection 12.1.2 and were shown to correspond to integer Abelian large gauge transformations in the theory on the circle. The second map leaves the zero-section invariant and only redefines the generators. Since the Shioda map is a homomorphism, this corresponds just to a simple redefinition of four- or six-dimensional U(1) gauge fields. Finally note that $\widetilde{\ominus}$ indicates that the Mordell-Weil group law is defined with respect to the zero-section \tilde{s}_0 .

to the cancelation of pure and mixed Abelian gauge anomalies in F-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau fourfolds and threefolds.

Part IV Unpublished Results and Ideas

Chapter 14

More on the Arithmetic Structure of Genus-One Fibrations

The treatment in this chapter mainly refers to the results of chapter 12 concerning arithmetic structures on genus-one fibrations and their connection to F-theory effective physics.

14.1 Constraints on the F-Theory Spectrum

It was pointed out in section 10.1 that there is another possibility how one might fulfill (10.6). In fact, the spectrum could be such that some of the \mathfrak{n}^m can be chosen to be fractional. We illustrate this in the following examples:¹

• $SU(2) \times U(1)$ with matter $\mathbf{2_1}$

Choose the windings $(\mathfrak{n}^I) = (\mathfrak{n}^m) = (\frac{1}{2}).$

We can now easily verify that (10.6) is fulfilled for all states:

adjoint representation $(w^{\pm} = \pm 2, w^0 = 0, q = 0)$

$$\mathbf{n}^m q_m + \mathbf{n}^I w_I^{\pm} = \pm 1 \quad \in \mathbb{Z}$$
$$\mathbf{n}^m q_m + \mathbf{n}^I w_I^0 = 0 \quad \in \mathbb{Z}$$

fundamental matter $(w^{\pm}=\pm 1,\,q=1)$

$$\mathbf{n}^m q_m + \mathbf{n}^I w_I^+ = 1 \quad \in \mathbb{Z} \\ \mathbf{n}^m q_m + \mathbf{n}^I w_I^- = 0 \quad \in \mathbb{Z}$$

¹One might include additional singlets and a Green-Schwarz mechanism in order to cancel potential anomalies in our examples, and obtain a consistent effective theory. For the considered cases this should always be possible.

U(1)² with matter 1_(1,1)
Choose the windings (n^m) = (¹/₂, ¹/₂).
Then, (10.6) takes the form:
charged matter (q = (1,1))

$$\mathfrak{n}^m q_m = 1 \quad \in \mathbb{Z}$$

• $SU(3) \times U(1)$ with matter $\mathbf{3_1}$

Choose the windings
$$(\mathfrak{n}^m) = (-\frac{1}{3}), \ (\mathfrak{n}^I) = (\frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}).$$

Investigating (10.6) we obtain:

adjoint representation

One can check that $\mathbf{n}^I w_I \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all weights of the adjoint representation. This is clear since $(\mathbf{n}^I) = (\frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3})$ are precisely the fractional numbers which parametrize the *special fractional large gauge transformations* for a non-simply connected gauge group $SU(3)/\mathbb{Z}_3$ as introduced in section 10.1 and along with torsion in the Mordell-Weil group in subsection 12.1.3. Both gauge groups of course share the same adjoint representation since the algebra is identical.

fundamental matter $(w^+ = (1,0), w^- = (0,-1), w^0 = (-1,1))$

$$\mathbf{n}^m q_m + \mathbf{n}^I w_I^+ = 0 \quad \in \mathbb{Z}$$

$$\mathbf{n}^m q_m + \mathbf{n}^I w_I^- = -1 \quad \in \mathbb{Z}$$

$$\mathbf{n}^m q_m + \mathbf{n}^I w_I^0 = 0 \quad \in \mathbb{Z}$$

As already mentioned in section 10.1, we conjecture that the F-theory spectrum is always such that fractional values for \mathfrak{n}^m can never lead to

$$\mathfrak{n}^m q_m + \mathfrak{n}^I w_I \in \mathbb{Z} \,. \tag{14.1}$$

The indication that this might be true is twofold:

- By checking the generic spectra of [127] we have verified that in all these cases fractional values for \mathfrak{n}^m are not possible.
- From (12.8) and its connection to (12.7) it is obvious that a fractional value of \mathfrak{n}^m would correspond in the Mordell-Weil group to the addition of a fraction of a generating section. However, the Mordell-Weil generators are minimal, and it seems hard to make sense out of the addition of *fractional generators*.

Indeed, there are many known compactifications in F-theory which share the same gauge groups with our three examples. However, in the F-theory setting there seems to be always additional matter which forbids the use of fractional \mathfrak{n}^m . These enlarged settings generically look like

190

- $SU(2) \times U(1)$ with matter $\mathbf{2_1}, \mathbf{2_0}, \mathbf{1_1}$
- $U(1)^2$ with matter $\mathbf{1}_{(1,1)}, \mathbf{1}_{(1,0)}, \mathbf{1}_{(0,1)}$
- $SU(3) \times U(1)$ with matter $\mathbf{3_1}, \mathbf{3_0}, \mathbf{1_1}$

We have also mentioned in section 10.1 that there might exist precise physical reasons for why the spectrum in F-theory seems to be always such that fractional \mathbf{n} are not allowed. Indeed, folk theorems about the consistency of quantum gravity theories constrain especially the U(1)-charges of states in the theory. They have attracted recent attention in terms of the Weak Gravity Conjecture [190] and its extensions. Particularly interesting seems to be the (Sub)Lattice Weak Gravity Conjecture [191–194] which might be connected to the seemingly forbidden fractional shifts in the Mordell-Weil lattice. This could be subject to future research.

14.2 Towards a Graded Mordell-Weil Pseudo-Ring

In this section we take a first step towards combining the arithmetic structures for rational sections and multi-sections, *i.e.* the genuine Mordell-Weil group and the conjectured extended Mordell-Weil group, into a single mathematical structure which we call the *graded Mordell-Weil pseudo-ring*.

In section 12.2 we defined the extended Mordell-Weil group of multi-sections only for fibrations which lack a rational section. This was inspired geometrically by Higgs transitions to geometries with rational sections, and field-theoretically by investigating large gauge transformations. However, typically fibrations which do have rational sections also admit multi-sections though their associated homology classes are not linearly independent from the ones of genuine sections. For instance, realizing the fiber as the sextic $\mathbb{P}_{2,3,1}[6]$ the fibration generically admits one toric rational section, one toric two-section and one toric three-section. They correspond to the three edges of the defining reflexive polytope. Another interesting example is given by embedding the fiber as a generic hypersurface into dP_1 . It was found in [127] that this setting has two independent rational sections, one of which is non-torically realized. Thus the Mordell-Weil group has rank one. It is easy to verify in this example that already on the toric level there are two two-sections and one three-section which correspond to the remaining edges of the polytope. It seems plausible to suspect that also in such settings there exists for each $n \leq n_{\text{max}}$ an extended Mordell-Weil group of n-sections as defined in section 12.2. We will call the latter the *n*-extended Mordell-Weil group, and we assume that n is bounded by some natural number n_{max} which should depend on the precise geometrical setting one is considering. The reason why we think that such structures could be present and also useful is twofold. First, writing down the group law in terms of cycles for the extended Mordell-Weil group in section 12.2 can be done without reference to the non-existence of rational sections. However, this time the arguments of Higgs transitions and large gauge transformations don't seem to apply immediately. Second, multi-sections in settings without section were shown to capture the information about massive U(1)s. Our intuitions of type IIB setups let us suppose that massive Abelian gauge symmetries should be generically present in F-theory compactifications, whether or not the geometry admits a section. We think that this information is precisely encoded in the multi-sections of the fibration even in the presence of genuine sections.

We are now in the position to define the graded Mordell-Weil pseudo-ring \mathcal{MW} as the formal direct sum of all *n*-extended Mordell-Weil groups $\mathrm{MW}^{(n)}$

$$\mathcal{MW} := \bigoplus_{n=1}^{n_{\max}} \mathrm{MW}^{(n)}.$$
 (14.2)

As in section 12.2 we assume for simplicity that there are now exceptional divisors present in the geometry.

Having written down \mathcal{MW} as a set we now define the pseudo-ring operations. We start with the addition ' \oplus ' of two elements $s_1, s_2 \in \mathcal{MW}$. Expanding

$$s_1 = \bigoplus_{n=1}^{n_{\max}} [s_1^{(n)}], \quad \text{with } [s_1^{(n)}] \in \mathrm{MW}^{(n)},$$
 (14.3a)

$$s_2 = \bigoplus_{n=1}^{n_{\max}} [s_2^{(n)}], \quad \text{with } [s_2^{(n)}] \in \mathrm{MW}^{(n)},$$
 (14.3b)

we set

$$s_1 \oplus s_2 := \bigoplus_{n=1}^{n_{\max}} \left([s_1^{(n)}] \oplus [s_2^{(n)}] \right).$$
 (14.4)

Note that the expression $[s_1^{(n)}] \oplus [s_1^{(n)}]$ denotes the addition in the *n*-extended Mordell-Weil group which we introduced in subsection 12.2.1. This operation on elements of the pseudo-ring inherits the individual Abelian group structures of the *n*-extended Mordell-Weil groups. The zero-element of the addition s_0 is obviously given by the sum of all zero-multi-sections $[s_0^{(n)}]$ of the individual *n*-extended Mordell-Weil groups

$$s_0 := \bigoplus_{n=1}^{n_{\max}} [s_0^{(n)}].$$
(14.5)

We now sketch how the ring multiplication, denoted by ' \otimes ', should look like. Let $s_1, s_2 \in \mathcal{MW}$ with expansions (14.3), then we set

$$s_1 \otimes s_2 := \bigoplus_{n=2}^{n_{\max}} \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \left([s_1^{(p)}] \otimes [s_2^{(q)}] \right).$$

$$(14.6)$$

Note that without extending this structure there is no multiplicative identity element, *i.e.* we only have a pseudo-ring, and we still have to specify how the operation $[s_1^{(p)}] \otimes [s_2^{(q)}]$ is defined on equivalence classes of *n*-sections. We conjecture that

$$\otimes: \mathrm{MW}^{(p)} \times \mathrm{MW}^{(q)} \to \mathrm{MW}^{(p+q)} \tag{14.7}$$

is indeed well-defined and fulfills the following condition

$$\widehat{Div}\left([s_1^{(p)}] \otimes [s_2^{(q)}]\right) = \begin{cases} \left[S_1^{(p)} + S_2^{(q)}\right] \\ \left[0\right] \end{cases}$$
(14.8)

with $[S_1^{(p)}]$ and $[S_2^{(q)}]$ the divisors classes (modulo vertical divisors) associated to $[s_1^{(p)}]$ and $[s_2^{(q)}]$. In particular, ' \otimes ' should be commutative. We have also assumed that it might happen that this product vanishes at some point in order to get a finite value for n_{max} . Note that it is not clear if there actually exists a (p+q)-section in the geometry with divisor class $[S_1^{(p)} + S_2^{(q)}]$ or how the multiplication looks like algebraically (not in terms of homology). One might also again suspect, similar to the discussion at the end of subsection 12.1.2, that one has to consider some kind of branched cover or scheme of the fibration where \mathcal{MW} is well-defined. However we stress again that, although the *n*-extended Mordell-Weil group structure was strongly motivated in settings without rational sections, there is no evidence that it is also realized geometrically (beyond homology level) in setups that do have rational sections. These questions along with the physical implications of the full suggested pseudo-ring structure have to be investigated in future research.

Chapter 15

More on Anomalies

This chapter provides a first step towards generalizing the results of chapter 10 and especially section 10.2.

15.1 Gravitational Anomalies

We managed to derive all gauge anomaly cancelation conditions in four and six dimensions from large gauge transformations in section 10.2. In particular we derived these constraints from demanding that after an additional circle compactification gauge transformations act in a consistent way. In six dimensions we were even able to derive the mixed gauge-gravitational anomaly equations. Thus we are still missing two kind of anomaly equations:

• The mixed gauge-gravitational anomaly in four dimensions (9.22a)

$$-\frac{1}{4}a^{\alpha}\theta_{m\alpha} = \frac{1}{12}\sum_{R,q}F_{1/2}(R,q)\sum_{w\in R}q_m.$$
 (15.1)

• The two pure gravitational anomalies in six dimensions (9.30a), (9.30b)

$$4(\mathfrak{T}+11F_{3/2}) = \frac{1}{6} \left(-\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} 1 - 4\mathfrak{T} + 19F_{3/2} \right), \quad (15.2a)$$

$$\frac{1}{4}a^{\alpha}a^{\beta}\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{120} \left(-\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} 1 + 2\mathfrak{T} - 5F_{3/2} \right).$$
(15.2b)

The reason why our procedure so far misses these conditions is obvious since gravitational anomalies should be probed with large local Lorentz transformations rather than with large gauge transformations.¹

¹Note that it was possible to derive the mixed gauge-gravitational anomaly in six dimensions only because of the presence of gravitational Chern-Simons terms in five dimensions. Such terms do not exist for three-dimensional theories.

Indeed, the form of certain one-loop Chern-Simons couplings already reveals the structure of these anomalies, and suggests that we might be able to extract the latter by acting with large local Lorentz transformations:

• For the mixed gauge-gravitational anomaly in four dimensions we have

$$\Theta_{0m} = \frac{1}{12} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right) \ q_m \,. \tag{15.3}$$

• For the two pure gravitational anomalies in six dimensions we have

$$k_{0} = \frac{1}{6} \left(-\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right) - 4\mathfrak{T} + 19F_{3/2} \right), \quad (15.4a)$$

$$k_{000} = \frac{1}{120} \left(-\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 - 30 \ l_{w,q}^{2} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right)^{2} \right) + 2\mathfrak{T} - 5F_{3/2} \right). \quad (15.4b)$$

To be more precise, using the notation of (10.13) we describe in Table 15.1 which anomaly cancelation condition we expect to obtain from which Chern-Simons coupling.

Finally let us note that, although this reasoning seems to proceed in a straightforward manner, there are a lot of subtleties involved. For instance one has to keep track of how precisely the spacetime representations of the matter fields, the Wilson line moduli and the radius change under a local Lorentz transformation. Furthermore, comparing the Chern-Simons terms with the anomaly equations, we are already familiar of how the structure of the left-hand sides of (15.1) and (15.2b) can in principle be obtained from geometry, namely via intersections of divisors D_{α} . In contrast it is not at all clear how to obtain the left-hand side of (15.2a), and there might be some higher-derivative couplings involved which have not been considered before.

In the spirit of chapter 12 it would be extremely interesting to uncover the symmetry structure of elliptically-fibered Calabi-Yau manifolds which corresponds to large local Lorentz transformations in F-theory compactifications, and therefore ensures the expected cancelation of gravitational anomalies beyond the treatment in [92,94] where this is shown using a different argument.

15.2 Chern-Simons Terms and Anomalies Revisited

This section does not provide completely new ideas but makes some of our results in section 10.2 more precise. We have shown that demanding that large gauge transformations act consistently on Chern-Simons terms is equivalent to the cancelation of gauge anomalies in the higher-dimensional theory. In fact, it is now even possible to

	Large Lorentz Transf.		Large Lorentz Transf.
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{00} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	$\delta \tilde{k}_{000} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30b)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{0I} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	$\delta \tilde{k}_{00I} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{0m} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.22a)	$\delta \tilde{k}_{00m} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{IJ} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	$\delta \tilde{k}_{0IJ} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30c)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{mn} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	$\delta \tilde{k}_{0mn} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30d)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{Im} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	$\delta \tilde{k}_{0Im} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0
		$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJK} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0
		$\delta \tilde{k}_{mnp} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0
		$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJm} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0
		$\delta \tilde{k}_{Imn} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0
		$\delta \tilde{k}_0 \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30a)
		$\delta \tilde{k}_I \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0
		$\delta \tilde{k}_m \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0

Table 15.1: We depict which anomaly equations we expect to obtain from a consistent action of large local Lorentz transformations on Chern-Simons couplings in the respective theory on the circle.

write down the higher-dimensional anomaly polynomial in terms of the variation of Chern-Simons couplings (10.13) in the theory on the circle. We find using

$$\operatorname{tr}_{R}\hat{F}^{k} = \sum_{w \in R} w_{I_{1}} \dots w_{I_{k}} \,\hat{F}^{I_{1}} \dots \hat{F}^{I_{k}}$$
(15.5)

and introducing the generalized index $\hat{I} = (I, m)$ labeling gauge fields

$$I_{6} = \frac{1}{6} \partial_{\mathfrak{n}\hat{I}} \left(\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{\hat{J}\hat{K}} \right) \hat{F}^{\hat{I}} \hat{F}^{\hat{J}} \hat{F}^{\hat{K}} + \dots , \qquad (15.6a)$$

$$I_{8} = \frac{1}{12} \partial_{\mathfrak{n}^{\hat{I}}} \left(\delta \tilde{k}_{\hat{J}} \right) \hat{F}^{\hat{I}} \hat{F}^{\hat{J}} \mathrm{tr} \hat{\mathcal{R}}^{2} + \frac{2}{3} \partial_{\mathfrak{n}^{\hat{I}}} \left(\delta \tilde{k}_{\hat{J}\hat{K}\hat{L}} \right) \hat{F}^{\hat{I}} \hat{F}^{\hat{J}} \hat{F}^{\hat{K}} \hat{F}^{\hat{L}} + \dots , \qquad (15.6b)$$

where we are missing the contribution from mixed gauge-gravitational anomalies in four dimensions and the one from pure gravitational anomalies in six dimensions indicated by the 'dots'.

What makes the precise relations (15.6) so powerful is the fact that we now have access to global anomalies. Note that in section 10.2 we have only shown that the anomaly *cancelation conditions* can be derived from one-loop Chern-Simons terms rather than the precise form of the anomaly polynomial. Global anomalies however do not necessarily have to be canceled in the effective theory in order to obtain a consistent quantum theory, and one is often interested in the precise form of the anomaly rather than a cancelation condition. Using (15.6) this is now possible. Indeed, in order to compute the anomaly polynomial of the global symmetry group one is interested in, one introduces associated background gauge fields and evaluates the one-loop Chern-Simons terms in the theory on the circle pushed to the Coulomb branch of the background gauge fields.

With this procedure it is for instance for some theories straightforward to compute R-symmetry anomalies. However, we stress that there might appear complications when the structure of the Kaluza-Klein tower is unclear. This happens for example for interacting six-dimensional (2,0) SCFTs. Although we know that the effective theory on the circle is a five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory. The precise dualization prescription and the charges of the Kaluza-Klein modes are still speculative. One might indeed go the other way round and use the established conjecture for the global anomalies [10–20] in order to understand the structure of the Kaluza-Klein tower. For convenience we list the different six-dimensional supermultiplets along with the spacetime representation and R-symmetry representation of their component fields in Appendix H.

Part V Conclusions

Chapter 16

Closing Remarks and Future Directions

In this thesis we investigated topological aspects of quantum field theory and string theory. Furthermore a deep connection between gauge theories on the circle and the arithmetic of genus-one fibrations was uncovered using the framework of F-theory. Of particular importance were corrections to Chern-Simons couplings at one-loop in three and five dimensions since these turned out to capture crucial features of the underlying theories.

In the first part we considered supersymmetry breaking of five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity. We derived essential quantities in the theory around the respective vacuum without aiming at a classification of vacua. Special emphasis was put on $\mathcal{N}=2$ vacua of the $\mathcal{N}=4$ theories, and for the case of solely Abelian magnetic gaugings we were even able to derive the complete $\mathcal{N} = 2$ effective theory in the gravity-vector sector. The latter includes one-loop corrections to the Chern-Simons terms, *i.e.* corrections to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ prepotential. Importantly, since they are independent of the supersymmetry breaking scale, they have to be included at any energy. We found that for a special choice of the Abelian magnetic gaugings and the spectrum these corrections can vanish. The same cancelation occurs for more general $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gaugings with $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacua. Indeed, such breaking patterns naturally arise in consistent truncations of supergravity and string theory. Therefore we derived a consistent truncation of M-theory on SU(2)structure manifolds to five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauged supergravity. The latter theory (with different gaugings) also arises in a well-studied truncation of type IIB supergravity on squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifolds. Both examples allow for $\mathcal{N}=2$ vacua, and we studied them in the context of effective field theory. More precisely, although consistent truncations originally had been developed to derive particular solutions to the higherdimensional theories, recently they have also been used in the literature as effective theories arguing that quantum corrections can be safely neglected at low energies. In principle this can be in conflict with the scale-invariant corrections we just described. Therefore, the latter should better coincide for consistent truncations and their genuine effective actions in order for this procedure to make sense. We formulated necessary conditions for this non-trivial obstruction. Surprisingly, in our two examples of consistent truncations with breaking pattern $\mathcal{N} = 4 \rightarrow \mathcal{N} = 2$ the scale-invariant corrections vanish. For M-theory on SU(2)-structure manifolds this is trivial since there are simply no charged states in the $\mathcal{N}=2$ vacuum of the consistent truncation. The latter is a Calabi-Yau manifold of which we know the genuine effective theory. In particular, since one-loop correction are also absent there, the consistent truncation is in this respect consistent with the genuine effective theory. In contrast, for type IIB supergravity on a squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifold there are charged states in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vacuum. Nevertheless integrating them out does not induce scale-invariant corrections because a very non-trivial cancelation between all contributions takes place. Note that the notion of an effective theory is not so clear here since we are in anti-de Sitter space. It would be interesting to find out if it constitutes a general feature of consistent truncations that scale-invariant corrections are well-behaved. Turning this argument around, one could identify field-theoretically cancelations of scale-invariant corrections in gauged supergravity and try to find a corresponding consistent truncation. For instance, for purely Abelian magnetic gaugings we found a non-trivial cancelation of the gauge and the gravitational Chern-Simons term for the special choice n = 3 and $\operatorname{rank}(\xi^{MN}) = 4$. We suspect that there is an underlying principle to be uncovered for this case.

The topological properties of Chern-Simons couplings were then used in the second part of this thesis to investigate anomaly cancelation in higher-dimensional gauge theories. More precisely, we considered general matter-coupled four- and six-dimensional theories on a circle pushed to the Coulomb branch, and classified large gauge transformations which preserve the boundary conditions of the matter fields along the circle. It was easy to see that there exist in principle two different approaches to evaluate the mapping of one-loop Chern-Simons couplings under these non-trivial transformations. The *classical* way is to treat these coefficients as the duals the the vector fields. The quantum way to infer their mapping is to directly evaluate the loop-calculation with the gauge-transformed quantities, in particular the gauge-transformed Wilson lines. Demanding consistency of both approaches we were able to derive all four- and sixdimensional gauge anomaly cancelation conditions. By probing one-loop corrections to the gravitational Chern-Simons term we even obtained the six-dimensional mixed gauge-gravitational anomaly constraints. We then applied our findings to the framework of F-theory and genus-one fibrations. In particular, the fact that the F-theory effective action is determined by matching a circle-reduced gauge-theory with M-theory on a genus-one fibration allowed us to derive a detailed dictionary between boundary conditions preserving large gauge transformations along the circle on the one hand and arithmetic structures of genus-one fibrations on the other hand. Indeed, integer Abelian large gauge transformations were identified with the free part of the Mordell-Weil group of rational sections. For the case that the genus-one fibration does not admit a section there can still be Abelian large gauge transformations in the associated theory on the circle. Accordingly we conjectured the new arithmetic structure called extended Mordell-Weil group, and formulated the group law in terms of homological cycles. While a general algebraic proof of the existence of this group is still missing, we found further evidence by investigating Higgs transitions of example geometries. In the non-Abelian sector we were able to match so-called special fractional large gauge transformations to the torsion subgroup of the Mordell-Weil group. Ordinary integer non-Abelian large gauge transformations again led us to defining a novel associated arithmetic structure on the elliptic fibration. We again wrote down the group operation in terms of homological cycles. As for the extended Mordell-Weil group there is yet no proof of this structure beyond homology level, but we once more gathered further evidence by considering geometric examples of Higgs transitions. For future research it would be extremely interesting to verify this group structures on an algebraic level, *i.e.* to find a general proof for geometric transitions associated to the conjectured group operations. This would fully proof the cancelation of the corresponding anomalies. We think that in general to achieve this one has to investigate branched covers of genus-one fibrations in terms of schemes, and define the group structures on these more abstract objects. In fact there seems to be a striking relation to the minimal model program in algebraic geometry. This goes however beyond the work in this thesis. Let us mention that in this respect it could be fruitful to extend our results to F-theory compactifications to two or eight dimensions. In the latter case one has to consider K3 manifolds which are quite well understood, and one might even be able to prove the existence of some of the conjectured group structures there as a first step.

In Part IV we already highlighted some directions into which one could proceed from this. Let us shortly collect them again here. First of all, it seems that F-theory spectra are always such that fractional Abelian large gauge transformations in the effective theory are not possible. We argued that this might be due to constraints from quantum gravity, and it is also hard to imagine a group structure on genus-one fibrations which would realize them as a geometric symmetry. One might get some new insights by making these points more precise. In particular there might even be a connection to the recently investigated (Sub)Lattice Weak Gravity Conjecture. Second, we made a first step in unifying the Mordell-Weil group of rational sections with the conjectured extended Mordell-Weil groups of multi-sections into a single framework called graded Mordell-Weil pseudo-ring. We think that this might be key to understanding massive U(1)s in F-theory much better. Moreover, the quintessence of our discussion on geometric symmetries is that arithmetic structures on genus-one fibrations are mapped to gauge theories on the circle and vice versa. This fact is very constraining since the dictionary has to make use of homomorphisms. Note that we discussed only Calabi-Yau compactifications of F-theory in this thesis, but enforcing that such a dictionary always exists might give us a tool to go beyond Calabi-Yau level. In fact, although we had known the effective theory for Calabi-Yau compactifications before we carried out our analysis, much of the structure turned out to be directly dictated by the homomorphisms.

Finally, field-theoretically we proposed an idea how one could approach gravitational

anomalies via Chern-Simons terms, but there are still a lot of subtleties which need to be worked out. Much more settled is the application of our results to global anomalies and in particular R-symmetries. However, in order to treat them for superconformal field theories like the 6d (2,0) non-Abelian tensor theories, there is always the issue that one has to fully understand the complete Kaluza-Klein tower after circle-compactification. Another direction to continue could be to investigate other kinds of topological terms like Wess-Zumino terms, and find out if a similar analysis can teach us new lessons.

Part VI Appendices

Appendix A

Spacetime Conventions and Identities

We shortly state the conventions of differential geometry in five dimensions used in this thesis. Curved five-dimensional spacetime indices are denoted by Greek letters μ, ν, \ldots . Antisymmetrizations of any kind are always done with weight one, *i.e.* include a factor of 1/n!. We use the (-, +, +, +, +) convention for the five-dimensional metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, and we adopt the negative sign in front of the Einstein-Hilbert term. Moreover we set

$$\kappa^2 = 1. \tag{A.1}$$

The Levi-Civita tensor with curved indices $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\lambda\sigma}$ reads

$$\epsilon_{01234} = +e, \qquad , \epsilon^{01234} = -e^{-1}, \qquad (A.2)$$

where $e = \sqrt{-\det g_{\mu\nu}}$.

The five-dimensional spacetime gamma matrices are denoted by γ_{μ} and satisfy

$$\{\gamma_{\mu}, \gamma_{\nu}\} = 2g_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{A.3}$$

Antisymmetrized products of gamma matrices are defined as

$$\gamma_{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_k} := \gamma_{[\mu_1}\gamma_{\mu_2}\dots\gamma_{\mu_k]}. \tag{A.4}$$

The convention for the charge conjugation matrix C is such that

$$C^T = -C = C^{-1} (A.5)$$

and it fulfills

$$C\gamma_{\mu}C^{-1} = (\gamma_{\mu})^T \,. \tag{A.6}$$

All massless spinors in five dimensions are meant to be symplectic Majorana, that is in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theory they are subject to the condition

$$\bar{\chi}^i := (\chi_i)^\dagger \gamma_0 = \Omega^{ij} \chi_j^T C \,, \tag{A.7}$$

where i, j = 1, ..., 4 and Ω^{ij} is the symplectic form of USp(4) defined in (4.2). In the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory the symplectic Majorana condition reads

$$\bar{\chi}^{\alpha} := (\chi_{\alpha})^{\dagger} \gamma_0 = \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \chi^T_{\beta} C \,, \tag{A.8}$$

where $\alpha, \beta = 1, 2, \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}$ is the two-dimensional epsilon tensor.

Appendix B

Derivation of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Mass Terms and Couplings

In this chapter we explicitly derive the masses for the spin-1/2 fermions and scalars induced by the supergravity breaking in chapter 5. We also evaluate the charges of the spin-1/2 fermions under the Abelian gauge field A^0 . Note that the Lagrangian of a massive spin-1/2 Dirac spinor is given in (2.26a).

B.1 Fermion Masses

Let us now investigate the masses which the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gaugini acquire from supersymmetry breaking. The relevant mass terms can be found in [46,47]. In our notation they take the following form

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\lambda,\,\mathrm{mass}} = i \left(\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \xi_{ab} \delta^j_i - \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{M}_{\psi i}{}^j \delta_{ab}\right) \bar{\lambda}^{ia} \lambda^b_j$$

$$= 0 \cdot \bar{\lambda}^{\alpha \bar{a}} \lambda^{\bar{b}}_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} i \Sigma^2 \xi_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \bar{\lambda}^{\alpha \hat{a}} \lambda^{\hat{b}}_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} i \mathbf{M}_{\psi \dot{\alpha}}{}^{\dot{\beta}} \delta_{\bar{a}\bar{b}} \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}\bar{a}} \lambda^{\bar{b}}_{\dot{\beta}}$$

$$+ i \left(\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \xi_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \delta^{\dot{\beta}}_{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{M}_{\psi \dot{\alpha}}{}^{\dot{\beta}} \delta_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}\right) \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}\hat{a}} \lambda^{\hat{b}}_{\dot{\beta}}. \tag{B.1}$$

We proceed by diagonalizing these terms. In order to do so we discuss the four different types of fields separately.

• $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\bar{a}}$

We observe that the $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\bar{a}}$ stay massless. Thus all together we find a number of $2(n+4-2n_T)$ massless spin-1/2 fermions supplemented by a symplectic Majorana condition. They constitute the fermionic part of massless vector multiplets in the vacuum.

• $\lambda^{\hat{a}}_{\alpha}$

For the fermions $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\hat{a}}$ we write the mass terms using the split (5.26) as

$$\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}i\Sigma^{2}\xi_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}\bar{\lambda}^{\alpha\hat{a}}\lambda_{\alpha}^{\hat{b}} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}i\Sigma^{2}\sum_{\check{a}}\gamma_{\check{a}}\varepsilon_{kl}\bar{\lambda}^{\alpha[\check{a}k]}\lambda_{\alpha}^{[\check{a}l]} \\
= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^{2}\sum_{\check{a}}\gamma_{\check{a}}\bar{\lambda}^{\alpha\check{a}}\lambda_{\alpha}^{\check{a}},$$
(B.2)

with k, l both taking values 1, 2. Here we redefined the fermions by introducing $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}$ as in (5.27a) and drop the symplectic Majorana condition such that the mass terms become diagonal. Let us now have a look at how the corresponding kinetic terms transform under this redefinition

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\check{a}}\left(\bar{\lambda}^{\alpha[\check{a}1]}\partial\!\!\!/\lambda_{\alpha}^{[\check{a}1]} + \bar{\lambda}^{\alpha[\check{a}2]}\partial\!\!\!/\lambda_{\alpha}^{[\check{a}2]}\right) = -\sum_{\check{a}}\bar{\lambda}^{\alpha\check{a}}\partial\!\!\!/\lambda_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}.$$
 (B.3)

The computation of the charge under A^0 proceeds as for the mass terms. The covariant derivatives can be found in [46,47]. We find

$$|m_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^{2} |\gamma_{\check{a}}|, \qquad \operatorname{sign}(m_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}}) = \operatorname{sign}\gamma_{\check{a}}, \qquad q_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{\alpha}^{\check{a}}} = \gamma_{\check{a}}. \tag{B.4}$$

λ^ā
 λ^ā

The structure of mass terms of the fermions $\lambda_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\bar{a}}$ is similar to those of the massive gravitini. In particular, the diagonalization procedure of the gravitino mass terms automatically diagonalizes the mass terms of the $\lambda_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\bar{a}}$. Again we move from symplectic Majorana spinors to Dirac spinors $\lambda^{\bar{a}}$ using (5.27b). We find

$$|m_{\lambda^{\bar{a}}}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \gamma , \qquad \operatorname{sign}(m_{\lambda^{\bar{a}}}) = -1 , \qquad q_{\lambda^{\bar{a}}} = \gamma .$$
 (B.5)

• $\lambda^{\hat{a}}_{\dot{\alpha}}$

The mass terms after the split (5.26) become

$$i\sum_{\check{a}} \left(\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}\Sigma^2 \gamma_{\check{a}}\varepsilon_{kl}\delta_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\dot{\beta}} - \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{M}_{\psi\,\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\dot{\beta}}\delta_{kl}\right)\bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}[\check{a}k]}\lambda_{\dot{\beta}}^{[\check{a}l]}.$$
(B.6)

We redefine and use Dirac spinors $\lambda_1^{\check{a}}$ and $\lambda_2^{\check{a}}$ given in (5.27b). The mass terms then become

$$\sum_{\check{a}} \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \gamma_{\check{a}} (\bar{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}_1^{\check{a}} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_1^{\check{a}} - \bar{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}_2^{\check{a}} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2^{\check{a}}) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \gamma (\bar{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}_1^{\check{a}} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_1^{\check{a}} + \bar{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}_2^{\check{a}} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2^{\check{a}}) \right].$$
(B.7)

The kinetic terms are unaffected. We conclude that

$$|m_{\lambda_1^{\check{a}}}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 |\gamma - \gamma_{\check{a}}|, \qquad \qquad |m_{\lambda_2^{\check{a}}}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 |\gamma + \gamma_{\check{a}}|, \qquad (B.8a)$$

$$\operatorname{sign}(m_{\lambda_1^{\check{a}}}) = \operatorname{sign}(\gamma_{\check{a}} - \gamma), \qquad \operatorname{sign}(m_{\lambda_2^{\check{a}}}) = \operatorname{sign}(-\gamma_{\check{a}} - \gamma), \qquad (B.8b)$$

$$q_{\lambda_1^{\check{a}}} = \gamma_{\check{a}} - \gamma , \qquad \qquad q_{\lambda_2^{\check{a}}} = -\gamma_{\check{a}} - \gamma . \qquad (B.8c)$$

210

B.2 Scalar Masses

Lastly we investigate the scalar degrees of freedom in the vacuum (except of Σ). In order to derive the scalar masses we insert the expansion (4.38b) into the scalar potential written down in (4.18)

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\text{pot}} = -\frac{1}{16}\xi^{MN}\xi^{PQ}\Sigma^{4} \Big[\langle \mathcal{V} \rangle \exp\left(\sum_{m,a} \phi^{ma}[t_{ma}]\right) \exp\left(\sum_{n,b} \phi^{nb}[t_{nb}]\right)^{T} \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle^{T} \Big]_{MP} \times \Big[\langle \mathcal{V} \rangle \exp\left(\sum_{p,c} \phi^{pc}[t_{pc}]\right) \exp\left(\sum_{q,d} \phi^{qd}[t_{qd}]\right)^{T} \langle \mathcal{V} \rangle^{T} \Big]_{NQ}. \quad (B.9)$$

To read off the mass terms of the scalars, we focus on the terms quadratic in ϕ^{ma}

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\,\text{mass}} = -\frac{1}{16}\Sigma^4 \phi^{ma} \phi^{nb} (8\xi_{mn}\xi_{ab} + 4\delta_{mn}\xi_{ac}\xi_b^{\ c} + 4\delta_{ab}\xi_{mp}\xi_n^{\ p}) \,. \tag{B.10}$$

According to the index split (5.23) the scalar fields arrange in four different groups:

• $\phi^{\bar{m}\bar{a}}$

The mass terms for these fields vanish:

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\,\mathrm{mass}} = 0\,.\tag{B.11}$$

Thus we find $n + 4 - 2n_T$ massless real scalar fields $\phi^{\bar{m}\bar{a}}$.

• $\phi^{\hat{m}\bar{a}}$

The mass terms of these modes receive one contribution from the gauging ξ^{mn}

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\,\mathrm{mass}} = -\frac{1}{4}\gamma^2 \Sigma^4 \phi^{\hat{m}\bar{a}} \phi_{\hat{m}\bar{a}} \,. \tag{B.12}$$

We can now complexify the scalars as in (5.25a) into the $2(n + 4 - 2n_T)$ massive complex scalars $\phi^{\alpha \bar{a}}$ with mass¹

$$m_{\phi^{\alpha\bar{a}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 \gamma \,. \tag{B.13}$$

• $\phi^{\bar{m}\hat{a}}$

There is now solely a mass contribution from the gaugings ξ^{ab}

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\,\mathrm{mass}} = -\frac{1}{4}\Sigma^4 \sum_{\hat{a}} \gamma_{\check{a}}^2 \phi^{\bar{m}\hat{a}} \phi^{\bar{m}\hat{a}} \,. \tag{B.14}$$

Using the definition (5.25a) one identifies $n_T - 2$ massive complex scalar fields $\phi^{\bar{m}\check{a}}$ with mass

$$m_{\phi^{\bar{m}\check{a}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 |\gamma_{\check{a}}| \,. \tag{B.15}$$

¹We stress that the kinetic terms for the scalars here and in the following are always automatically canonically normalized, even after the field redefinitions carried out in this section. This one can check explicitly by inserting the expansion (4.38b) into the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ scalar kinetic terms.

• $\phi^{\hat{m}\hat{a}}$

We now face mass contributions both from ξ^{mn} and ξ^{ab}

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{\phi,\,\mathrm{mass}} = -\frac{1}{16}\Sigma^4 \sum_{\check{a},\alpha} (8\gamma\gamma_{\check{a}}\varepsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\varepsilon_{kl} + 4\gamma^2\delta_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\delta_{kl} + 4\gamma^2_{\check{a}}\delta_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\delta_{kl})\phi^{[\alpha\dot{\alpha}][\check{a}k]}\phi^{[\alpha\dot{\alpha}][\check{a}k]}\phi^{[\alpha\dot{\alpha}][\check{a}k]} \,.$$
(B.16)

One can check that the mass terms are diagonalized by the redefinitions (5.25b) and (5.25c) to $4n_T - 8$ complex scalars $\phi_1^{\alpha\check{a}}$ and $\phi_2^{\alpha\check{a}}$ with masses

$$m_{\phi_1^{\alpha\check{a}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 |\gamma - \gamma_{\check{a}}|, \qquad m_{\phi_2^{\alpha\check{a}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Sigma^2 |\gamma + \gamma_{\check{a}}|. \tag{B.17}$$

Appendix C

The Coset Representatives and Contracted Embedding Tensors for SU(2)-Structure Manifolds

C.1 The Coset Representatives \mathcal{V}

From the expressions for M_{MN} in (6.37) we can extract representatives $\mathcal{V} = (\mathcal{V}_M{}^m, \mathcal{V}_M{}^a)$ of the coset space

$$\frac{SO(5,\tilde{n}-1)}{SO(5)\times SO(\tilde{n}-1)},\tag{C.1}$$

where m = 1, ..., 5 and a = 6, ..., 5 + n denote SO(5) and SO(n) indices.¹ These coset representatives are related to the scalar metric via

$$(M_{MN}) = \mathcal{V}\mathcal{V}^T = \mathcal{V}^m\mathcal{V}^m + \mathcal{V}^a\mathcal{V}^a$$
(C.2)

and have to fulfill

$$(\eta_{MN}) = -\mathcal{V}^m \mathcal{V}^m + \mathcal{V}^a \mathcal{V}^a \,. \tag{C.3}$$

Before we can determine \mathcal{V} , it is necessary to diagonalize g_{ij} and H_{IJ} . First we observe that g_{ij} can be expressed as

$$g_{ij} = e^{-\rho_2} k_i^k k_j^l \delta_{kl} \,, \tag{C.4}$$

where $k = e^{\rho_2/2} (\operatorname{Im} \tau)^{-1/2} (1, \tau)$.

In (6.11) we have introduced H_{IJ} via $*\omega^I = -H^I{}_J\omega^J \wedge \mathrm{vol}_2^{(0)}$, and as described in [90] it only depends on ζ_I^a

$$H_{IJ} = 2\zeta_I^a \zeta_J^a + \eta_{IJ} \,. \tag{C.5}$$

From (6.2) and (6.10) one sees that

$$\zeta_I^a \eta^{IJ} \zeta_J^b = -\delta^{ab} \,. \tag{C.6}$$

¹Note that the indices n, defined around (4.6), and \tilde{n} , defined around (6.6), are related by $n = \tilde{n} - 1$.

Therefore $\zeta_I^a H^I{}_J = -\zeta_J^a$, which means that the three ζ_I^a are eigenvectors of $H^I{}_J$ with eigenvalue -1. If we now introduce an orthonormal basis ξ_I^α ($\alpha = 1, \ldots, \tilde{n} - 3$) of the subspace orthogonal to all ζ_I^a (*i.e.* $\xi_I^\alpha \eta^{IJ} \xi_J^\beta = \delta^{\alpha\beta}$ and $\zeta_I^a \eta^{IJ} \xi_J^\beta = 0$), we can write

$$H_{IJ} = \zeta_I^a \zeta_J^a + \xi_I^\alpha \xi_J^\alpha \tag{C.7}$$

since we can deduce from (C.5) that the ξ_I^{α} are eigenvectors of $H^I{}_J$ with eigenvalue +1. Moreover it follows that $\xi_I^{\alpha}\xi_J^{\alpha} = \zeta_I^a\zeta_J^a + \eta_{IJ}$ and so

$$\eta_{IJ} = -\zeta_I^a \zeta_J^a + \xi_I^\alpha \xi_J^\alpha \,. \tag{C.8}$$

We can shorten the notation by defining

$$E_I^{\mathcal{I}} = \left(\zeta_I^a, \xi_J^\alpha\right), \quad \mathcal{I} = \left(a, \alpha\right), \tag{C.9}$$

which allows us to write

$$H_{IJ} = E_I^{\mathcal{I}} E_J^{\mathcal{J}} \delta_{\mathcal{I}\mathcal{J}} \quad \text{and} \quad \eta_{IJ} = E_I^{\mathcal{I}} E_J^{\mathcal{J}} \eta_{\mathcal{I}\mathcal{J}} \,, \tag{C.10}$$

with $\eta_{\mathcal{I}\mathcal{J}} = \text{diag}(-1, -1, -1; +1, \dots, +1).$

After this preparation we are able to write down \mathcal{V} ,

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{V}_{i}^{j} &= e^{\rho_{4}/2} k_{i}^{j}, \\
\mathcal{V}_{i}^{\bar{j}} &= e^{-\rho_{4}/2} \delta^{j\bar{j}} (k^{-1})_{j}^{k} (\epsilon_{ki}\gamma + \frac{1}{2} c_{kI} c_{i}^{I}), \\
\mathcal{V}_{i}^{\mathcal{I}} &= -E_{I}^{\mathcal{I}} c_{i}^{I}, \\
\mathcal{V}_{i}^{\bar{j}} &= e^{-\rho_{4}/2} \delta^{j\bar{j}} \delta_{i\bar{\imath}} (k^{-1})_{j}^{i}, \\
\mathcal{V}_{I}^{\bar{\imath}} &= e^{-\rho_{4}/2} \delta^{i\bar{\imath}} (k^{-1})_{i}^{j} c_{jI}, \\
\mathcal{V}_{I}^{\mathcal{I}} &= E_{I}^{\mathcal{I}},
\end{aligned} \tag{C.11}$$

such that

$$M_{MN} = (\mathcal{V}\mathcal{V}^T)_{MN} = \mathcal{V}_M{}^i \mathcal{V}_N{}^i + \mathcal{V}_M{}^{\bar{\imath}} \mathcal{V}_N{}^{\bar{\imath}} + \mathcal{V}_M{}^{\mathcal{I}} \mathcal{V}_N{}^{\mathcal{I}}, \qquad (C.12)$$

and

$$\eta_{MN} = 2\delta_{i\bar{\imath}} \mathcal{V}_M{}^i \mathcal{V}_N{}^{\bar{\imath}} + \eta_{\mathcal{I}\mathcal{J}} \mathcal{V}_M{}^{\mathcal{I}} \mathcal{V}_N{}^{\mathcal{J}} .$$
(C.13)

In the end it is necessary to split (C.11) into \mathcal{V}^m and \mathcal{V}^a , which corresponds to bringing (C.13) into diagonal form. The result reads

$$\mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ m} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(-\mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ 1} + \mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ \bar{1}} \right) \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(-\mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ 2} + \mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ \bar{2}} \right) \\ \mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ \mathcal{I}=1,2,3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ a} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ 1} + \mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ \bar{1}} \right) \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ 2} + \mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ \bar{2}} \right) \\ \mathcal{V}_{M}^{\ \mathcal{I}\neq1,2,3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(C.14)

Using (C.12) and (C.13) one can easily check that these combinations fulfill (C.2) and (C.3).

C.2 The Contracted Embedding Tensors for Calabi-Yau Manifolds with $\chi = 0$

Using the results from (C.11) we can compute the contractions of the embedding tensors (6.38) with the coset representatives as introduced in (4.22). Hereby we restrict to the special case of Calabi-Yau manifolds with vanishing Euler number and use the relevant relations from (7.3) that follow to simplify the resulting expressions. We also restrict to the case without four-form flux and set $n = n_I = 0$.

For (ξ^{mn}) we find that it takes the general form

$$(\xi^{mn}) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{2\times2} & - \xi^{1n} & -\\ & - \xi^{2n} & -\\ \hline & & \\ \xi^{m1} & \xi^{m2} & \mathbf{0}_{3\times3} \\ & & \\ & & \\ \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (C.15)$$

where its non-vanishing components are given by

$$\xi^{1,m=3,4,5} = -\xi^{m1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \sqrt{\operatorname{Im}\tau} t^{2I} \zeta_I^{a=1,2,3},$$

$$\xi^{2,m=3,4,5} = -\xi^{m2} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Im}\tau}} \left(t^{1I} + \operatorname{Re}\tau t^{2I}\right) \zeta_I^{a=1,2,3}.$$
(C.16)

Similarly we have

$$\xi^{ab} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{2\times2} & -\xi^{6b} & -\\ & -\xi^{7b} & -\\ \hline & \\ \xi^{a6} & \xi^{a7} & \mathbf{0}_{(n-2)\times(n-2)} \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ \end{pmatrix},$$
(C.17)

with

$$\xi^{6,a=8,\dots,5+n} = -\xi^{a6} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \sqrt{\operatorname{Im}\tau} t^{2I} \xi_I^{\alpha=1,\dots,\tilde{n}-3} ,$$

$$\xi^{7,a=8,\dots,5+n} = -\xi^{a7} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Im}\tau}} \left(t^{1I} + \operatorname{Re}\tau t^{2I} \right) \xi_I^{\alpha=1,\dots,\tilde{n}-3} ,$$
(C.18)

and finally for the mixed-index part

$$\xi^{ma} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{2\times2} & -\xi^{1a} & -\\ & -\xi^{2a} & -\\ \hline & & \\ \xi^{m6} & \xi^{m7} & \mathbf{0}_{3\times(n-2)} \\ & & \\ & & \\ \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (C.19)$$

where its entries are again given by (C.16) and (C.18).

Following the notation introduced in (C.9) we obtain for the non-vanishing components of the contracted f_{MNP}

$$f^{m=1,\mathcal{I}\mathcal{J}} = f^{a=6,\mathcal{I}\mathcal{J}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_{2}+\rho_{4})} \sqrt{\operatorname{Im}\tau} \left(T_{1K}^{J}\eta^{KI} + \frac{1}{2}t^{2}\eta^{IJ}\right) E_{I}^{\mathcal{I}}E_{J}^{\mathcal{J}},$$

$$f^{m=2,\mathcal{I}\mathcal{J}} = f^{a=7,\mathcal{I}\mathcal{J}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_{2}+\rho_{4})} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Im}\tau}} \left(\left(T_{2I}^{J} - \operatorname{Re}\tau T_{1I}^{J}\right)\eta^{IK} + \frac{1}{2}\left(t^{1} + \operatorname{Re}\tau t^{2}\right)\eta^{IJ}\right) E_{K}^{\mathcal{I}}E_{J}^{\mathcal{J}}.$$
(C.20)

For completeness we also give the contracted versions of ξ_M although they vanish for the special case of the Enriques Calabi-Yau,

$$\xi^{m=1} = \xi^{a=6} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \sqrt{\operatorname{Im} \tau} t^2 ,$$

$$\xi^{m=2} = \xi^{a=7} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Im} \tau}} \left(t^1 + \operatorname{Re} \tau t^2 \right) .$$
(C.21)

It is important to notice that these expression are still subject to a set of constraints since there are redundancies in the scalar sector. One has to use the relations in [50] in order to extract the proper unconstrained contracted embedding tensors. For the Enriques Calabi-Yau we find²

$$f_{1,6\ 3,8\ 5,10} = f_{2,7\ 4,9\ 5,10} = \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^3 e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \operatorname{Im} \tau$$

$$\xi_{1,6\ 3,8} = \xi_{2,7\ 4,9} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\rho_2 + \rho_4)} \operatorname{Im} \tau , \qquad (C.22)$$

where there are two options for each index position. We explicitly inserted the quantities

 $^{^{2}}$ The geometrical analysis of the Enriques Calabi-Yau was also carried out in [50].
C.2. CALABI-YAU MANIFOLDS WITH $\chi = 0$

 $t_{I}^{i},\,T_{iJ}^{I}$ for the Enriques Calabi-Yau [50]

$$(t_I^i) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(T_{1J}^I) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ \mathbf{0}_{8\times 1} & \mathbf{0}_{8\times 8} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(T_{2J}^I) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 8} \\ \mathbf{0}_{8\times 1} & \mathbf{0}_{8\times 8} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that the general elimination of redundancies is far from being straightforward.

Appendix D

Comparison with Type IIA Supergravity on SU(2)-Structure Manifolds

Another way of reproducing the results from chapter 6 is to take the four-dimensional theory obtained in [50] by reducing type IIA string theory on SU(2)-structure manifolds, and relate it to the five-dimensional case. Since type IIA string theory can be obtained from M-theory by compactifying it on a circle, our results should be connected to the four-dimensional theory in the same way. Thus it is possible to take the dictionary from [47] where exactly the relevant compactification of $\mathcal{N} = 4$, d = 5 supergravity is described, and uplift the existing results to five dimensions.

It has been worked out in [49] how to group the vectors in four dimensions into $SO(6, \tilde{n})$ representations

$$A^{\tilde{M}+} = \left(G^{i}, \tilde{B}^{\bar{i}}, A, \tilde{C}_{12}, C^{J}\right),$$

$$A^{\tilde{M}-} = \left(B^{i}, \tilde{G}^{\bar{i}}, C_{12}, \tilde{A}, \tilde{C}^{J}\right),$$
(D.1)

where $A^{\tilde{M}-}$ is the magnetic dual of $A^{\tilde{M}+.1}$ The $SO(6, \tilde{n})$ metric is given by

$$\eta_{\tilde{M}\tilde{N}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \delta_{i\bar{j}} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \delta_{\bar{i}j} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \eta_{IJ} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(D.2)

¹ We use indices $\tilde{M}, \tilde{N}, \dots = 1, \dots, 6 + \tilde{n}$ for the $SO(6, \tilde{n})$ to distinguish them from the $SO(5, \tilde{n}-1)$ indices M, N, \dots Notice also that the d = 4 theory contains one additional vector multiplet compared to d = 5, so $SO(5, \tilde{n}-1)$ in five dimensions corresponds indeed to $SO(6, \tilde{n})$ in four dimensions.

It is now necessary to determine how to break $A^{\tilde{M}+}$ and $A^{\tilde{M}-}$ into $SO(5, \tilde{n}-1)$ representations. Therefore we will write $\tilde{M} = \{M, \oplus, \ominus\}$. Obviously A does not appear in the five-dimensional case. When tracing back its origin from the reduction of M-theory to IIA supergravity, it is clear that it is the Kaluza-Klein vector coming from reducing the five-dimensional metric to four dimensions. Thus according to [47] we have to identify it with $A^{\Theta+}$ and its magnetic dual with $A^{\oplus-}$. This makes it furthermore possible to fix $A^{\oplus+} = \tilde{C}_{12}$ and $A^{\Theta-} = C_{12}$. Lastly B^i and $\tilde{B}^{\bar{i}}$ do not appear in the five-dimensional theory as well, but since they originate from C^i and $\tilde{C}^{\bar{i}}$, they can simply be replaced by the latter. Using this information, the correct identification of the five-dimensional vectors with A^M and A^0 is

$$A^{M} = A^{M+} = \left(G^{i}, \tilde{C}^{\bar{i}}, C^{J}\right) ,$$

$$A^{0} = A^{\ominus -} = C_{12} ,$$
(D.3)

which reproduces our original results. Furthermore we can obtain (6.35) by crossing out the fifth and sixth row and line from (D.2).

Note that we can also get Σ and the scalar metric M_{MN} from the four-dimensional results in [49]. Namely (6.37) can be obtained from the four-dimensional $M_{\tilde{M}\tilde{N}}$ by replacing β with γ and removing all scalars that do not exist in the five-dimensional theory. Σ is related to the M_{66} component in four dimensions whereby here the additional factor of Im τ and the different Weyl rescalings of the metric in four and five dimensions have to be taken into account.

Furthermore in [47] formulae are provided for the reduction of the embedding tensors which together with the expressions from [50] yield

$$\xi_{i} = 2f_{+i\oplus\ominus} = -2f_{+i56} = -\epsilon_{ij}t^{j},$$

$$\xi_{iI} = f_{-\ominus iI} = f_{-5IJ} = \epsilon_{ij}t_{I}^{j},$$

$$f_{ij\bar{\imath}} = f_{+ij\bar{\imath}} = \delta_{\bar{\imath}[i}\epsilon_{j]k}t^{k},$$

$$f_{iIJ} = f_{+iIJ} = -T_{iI}^{K}\eta_{KJ} - \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{ij}t^{j}\eta_{IJ}.$$

(D.4)

For ξ_i one can equally well use the relation

$$\xi_i = \xi_{+i} = -\epsilon_{ij} t^j \,. \tag{D.5}$$

Appendix E

Lie Theory

Lie Theory Conventions E.1

In this appendix we summarize our conventions for the Lie algebra theory used in this thesis.

We consider a simple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} associated to the Lie group G. The definition of a (preliminary) basis of Cartan generators $\{T_I\}$ with

$$\operatorname{tr}_f(\tilde{T}_I \tilde{T}_J) = \delta_{IJ} , \qquad (E.1)$$

will allow us to fix the normalization of the root lattice. The trace tr_f is taken in the fundamental representation. We denote the simple roots by α_I , $I = 1, \ldots$, rank \mathfrak{g} , the simple coroots are denoted by $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{I}^{\vee} := \frac{2\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{I}}{\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{I}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{I} \rangle}$. In order to match with the geometric setup it is important to introduce a coroot-

basis $\{T_I\}$ for the Cartan-subalgebra. It is defined by

$$T_I := \frac{2 \, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_I^J \tilde{T}_J}{\langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_I, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_I \rangle} \tag{E.2}$$

with $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{I}^{J}$ the components of the simple roots. We furthermore define the (normalized) coroot intersection matrix C_{IJ} as

$$\mathcal{C}_{IJ} = \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^{-1} \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{I}^{\vee}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{J}^{\vee} \rangle , \qquad (E.3)$$

with

$$2\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^{-1} = \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\max}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\max} \rangle , \qquad (E.4)$$

where α_{\max} is the root of maximal length. The normalization of the Cartan generators T_I (in the coroot basis) is then given by

$$\operatorname{tr}_f(T_I T_J) = \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} \, \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \,. \tag{E.5}$$

Furthermore for some weight w the Dynkin labels are defined as

$$w_I := \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}_I^{\vee}, w \rangle \,. \tag{E.6}$$

The Coxeter labels a^{I} denote the components of the highest root θ in the expansion

$$\theta =: \sum_{I} a^{I} \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{I} \,. \tag{E.7}$$

Finally, in Table E.1 we display the numbering of the nodes in the Dynkin diagrams, the Coxeter labels and the definition of the fundamental representations of all simple Lie algebras as well as the values for the normalization factors λ_{g} in our conventions.

E.2 Trace Identities

In the following we show that the factors appearing in trace reductions of highest weight representations of simple Lie algebras can be related to certain sums over the weights in that representation. This will allow us to relate one-loop Chern-Simons terms to non-Abelian anomaly cancelation conditions since sums over weights are evaluated in the former while factors of trace reductions appear in the latter. It also gives a general tool to evaluate trace factors in a straightforward way.

E.2.1 Quadratic Trace Identities

We start with the evaluation of the quadratic trace identity, *i.e.* we relate the quantity A_R defined by

$$\operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^2 = A_R \operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^2 \tag{E.8}$$

to a sum over weights. This was done in [94], and in contrast to the cubic and quartic trace identities the result takes a very simple form

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J = A_R \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \,. \tag{E.9}$$

This equation holds for all highest weight representations of any simple Lie algebra.

E.2.2 Cubic Trace Identities

We now show that the conditions (9.22b) and (9.30f)

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K = 0, \qquad (E.10a)$$

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} q_m w_I w_J w_K = 0, \qquad (E.10b)$$

Type	Dynkin diagram	Coxeter labels	Fund. rep.	$\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}$
A_n	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	$(1, 1, 1, \ldots, 1, 1)$	$(1, 0, 0, \dots, 0, 0)$	1
B_n	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$(1, 2, 2, \dots, 2, 2)$	$(1, 0, 0, \dots, 0, 0)$	2
C_n	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	$(2, 2, 2, \ldots, 2, 1)$	$(1, 0, 0, \dots, 0, 0)$	1
D_n	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$(1, 2, 2, \dots, 2, 1, 1)$	$(1, 0, 0, \ldots, 0, 0, 0)$	2
E_6	$ \begin{array}{c} $	(1, 2, 2, 3, 2, 1)	(0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1)	6
E_7	$\begin{array}{c} \bullet 2 \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ 1 & 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 & 7 \end{array}$	(2, 2, 3, 4, 3, 2, 1)	(0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1)	12
E_8	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(2, 3, 4, 6, 5, 4, 3, 2)	(0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1)	60
F_4	$\begin{array}{c c} \bullet & \bullet \\ \hline 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \end{array}$	(2, 3, 4, 2)	(0, 0, 0, 1)	6
G_2		(3,2)	(1,0)	2

Table E.1: We display our conventions for the simple Lie algebras.

are, depending on the choice of indices, either trivially fulfilled (as a group theoretical identity) or equivalent to the four- and six-dimensional anomaly conditions (9.20b) and (9.29g)

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) E_R = 0, \qquad (E.11a)$$

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ q_m E_R = 0 , \qquad (E.11b)$$

where E_R appears in the trace reduction

$$\operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^3 = E_R \operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^3. \tag{E.12}$$

Expanding the traces we can write (E.12) as

$$\hat{F}^{I}\hat{F}^{J}\hat{F}^{K}\sum_{w\in R}w_{I}w_{J}w_{K} = \hat{F}^{I}\hat{F}^{J}\hat{F}^{K}E_{R}\sum_{w^{f}}w_{I}^{f}w_{J}^{f}w_{K}^{f}, \qquad (E.13)$$

where $\hat{F} = \hat{F}^I T_I$ and we sum over all weights, in particular w^f denote the weights of the fundamental representation. Considering this equation as a generating function we find

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K = E_R \sum_{w^f} w_I^f w_J^f w_K^f.$$
 (E.14)

The key point is now to try to generally evaluate the sum over the fundamental weights on the right hand side. This procedure indeed will allow us to relate the factor E_R to a certain sum over the weights in the representation R which appears in the calculation of one-loop Chern-Simons terms. In the following we carry this out for all simple Lie algebras.

$\mathbf{A_1, \, B_{n \geq 3}, \, C_{n \geq 2}, \, D_{n \geq 4}, \, E_6, \, E_7, \, E_8, \, F_4, \, G_2}$

For these algebras there exists no cubic Casimir operator which is why non-Abelian anomalies are always trivially absent and one therefore defines $E_R = 0$. Via (E.14) the conditions from the one-loop Chern-Simons matchings (E.10) are then equivalent to the anomaly cancelation conditions (E.11).¹

224

¹Note also that the condition $\sum_{w^f} w_I^f w_J^f w_K^f = 0 \quad \forall I, J, K$ precisely means that there is no cubic Casimir and one then also has by definition $E_R = 0$.

$\mathbf{A_{n \neq 1}}$

For $A_{n\neq 1}$ there exists a cubic Casimir and we start by explicitly evaluating the traces over the fundamental weights for different index choices.

(a) I = J = K

We calculate

$$\sum_{w^f} (w_I^f)^3 = 0$$
 (E.15)

such that we can conclude using (E.14)

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^3 = 0.$$
 (E.16)

The corresponding Chern-Simons matchings (E.10) are therefore trivial and impose no restrictions on the spectrum.

(b) $I = K \neq J$

Now we evaluate

$$\sum_{w^f} (w_I^f)^2 w_J^f = (I - J) \mathcal{C}_{IJ} .$$
 (E.17)

With (E.14) the Chern-Simons matchings (E.10) in this case become

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) E_R (I-J) C_{IJ} = 0, \qquad (E.18a)$$

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) q_m E_R (I-J) \mathcal{C}_{IJ} = 0, \qquad (E.18b)$$

which are equivalent to the anomaly conditions (E.11).

(c) $I \neq J \neq K$

Finally it turns out that

$$\sum_{w^f} w_I^f w_J^f w_K^f = 0 , \qquad (E.19)$$

which is why the Chern-Simons matchings are again trivial like in the case I = J = K.

To put it in a nutshell we have shown that the Chern-Simons matchings (E.10) are completely equivalent to the anomaly cancelation conditions (E.11) for all simple Lie algebras.

We stress that here and in the following writing down the kind of expansions $\operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^3 = \hat{F}^I \hat{F}^J \hat{F}^K \sum_{w \in \mathbb{R}} w_I w_J w_K$ would already suffice in order to show that the consistent action of large gauge transformations on Chern-Simons couplings is equivalent to the cancelation of anomalies. This is easy to see since $\operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^3$ appears in the anomaly polynomial and $\sum_{w \in \mathbb{R}} w_I w_J w_K$ in the variation of Chern-Simons terms. However, as usually these conditions are written down by using the Casimir E_R and all traces are transferred to the fundamental representation, we take a little more effort and relate Casimir operators to sums over weights. This procedure also yields convenient formulae for the latter which are quite useful.

E.2.3 Quartic Trace Identities

Let us perform the same steps as in the last subsection now for quartic traces. More precisely we show that the condition (9.30e)

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K w_L = -3b^{\alpha} b^{\beta} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{C}_{(IJ} \mathcal{C}_{KL)}$$
(E.20)

is equivalent to the six-dimensional pure non-Abelian gauge anomalies (9.29e) and (9.29f)

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) B_R = 0, \qquad (E.21a)$$

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q)C_R = -3\frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}}\frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}}\eta_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (E.21b)$$

where the constants B_R, C_R are defined as

$$\operatorname{tr}_R \hat{F}^4 = B_R \operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^4 + C_R (\operatorname{tr}_f \hat{F}^2)^2.$$
 (E.22)

Expanding the traces on both sides of (E.22) and taking derivatives with respect to \hat{F}^{I} we obtain in analogy to (E.14)

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K w_L$$

$$= B_R \sum_{w^f} w_I^f w_J^f w_K^f w_L^f + \frac{C_R}{3} \left[\left(\sum_{w^f} w_I^f w_J^f \right) \left(\sum_{w'^f} w_K'^f w_L'^f \right) + \left(\sum_{w^f} w_I^f w_K^f \right) \left(\sum_{w'^f} w_J'^f w_L'^f \right) + \left(\sum_{w^f} w_I^f w_L^f \right) \left(\sum_{w'^f} w_I'^f w_K'^f \right) \right]. \quad (E.23)$$

E.2. TRACE IDENTITIES

Like in the preceding subsection we now explicitly evaluate the sums over the fundamental weights in order to rewrite (E.23). For the different simple Lie algebras and all possible choices of indices (E.23) then becomes:

$$\begin{array}{l} \underline{\mathbf{A}}_{\mathbf{n}}, \quad \mathbf{n} \geq \mathbf{1} \\ \text{(a)} \quad I = J = K = L \\ \\ \sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^4 = B_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} + C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II}^2 \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \end{array}$$
(E.24)

(b)
$$I = K = L, I \neq J$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^3 w_J = B_R \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} + C_R \mathcal{C}_{II} \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \qquad (E.25)$$

(c)
$$I = L, I \neq J \neq K$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^2 w_J w_K = \frac{1}{3} C_R \left(2 \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \mathcal{C}_{IK} + \mathcal{C}_{II} \mathcal{C}_{JK} \right) \lambda_g^2, \quad (E.26)$$

(d)
$$I \neq J \neq K \neq L$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K w_L = C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{(IJ} \ \mathcal{C}_{KL)} \ \lambda_g^2. \tag{E.27}$$

We can now insert these equations into the Chern-Simons matching (E.20) and find two linearly independent equations

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \left(\frac{1}{2} B_R + C_R\right) = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (E.28)$$

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ C_R = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \,. \tag{E.29}$$

These equations are in fact equivalent to the gauge anomaly conditions (E.21).

$$B_n\,,\quad n\geq 3$$

(a)
$$I = J = K = L$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^4 = \frac{1}{4} B_R C_{In}^2 C_{II} \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} + C_R C_{II}^2 \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \qquad (E.30)$$

(b)
$$I = K = L, I \neq J$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^3 w_J = \frac{1}{4} B_R C_{In}^2 C_{IJ} \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} + C_R C_{II} C_{IJ} \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \qquad (E.31)$$

(c)
$$I = L, I \neq J \neq K$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^2 w_J w_K = \frac{1}{3} C_R \left(2 \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \mathcal{C}_{IK} + \mathcal{C}_{II} \mathcal{C}_{JK} \right) \lambda_g^2, \quad (E.32)$$

(d)
$$I \neq J \neq K \neq L$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K w_L = C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{(IJ} \ \mathcal{C}_{KL)} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2. \tag{E.33}$$

Insertion into (E.20) yields

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \left(\frac{1}{4} B_R + C_R\right) = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (E.34)$$

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ C_R = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} , \qquad (E.35)$$

which is equivalent to (E.21).

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{C_n}, \quad \mathbf{n} \ge \mathbf{2} \\ \text{(a)} \quad I = J = K = L \\ & \sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^4 = B_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} + C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II}^2 \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \end{aligned} \tag{E.36} \\ \text{(b)} \quad I = K = L, \ I \neq J \\ & \sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^3 \ w_J = B_R \ \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} + C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II} \ \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \end{aligned} \tag{E.37}$$

228

(c)
$$I = L, I \neq J \neq K$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^2 w_J w_K = \frac{1}{3} C_R \left(2 C_{IJ} C_{IK} + C_{II} C_{JK} \right) \lambda_g^2, \quad (E.38)$$

(d)
$$I \neq J \neq K \neq L$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K w_L = C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{(IJ} \ \mathcal{C}_{KL)} \ \lambda_g^2, \qquad (E.39)$$

which can be inserted into (E.20)

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \left(\frac{1}{4} B_R + C_R\right) = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (E.40)$$

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ C_R = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \,. \tag{E.41}$$

These equations are equivalent to the anomaly conditions (E.21).

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{n}}, \quad \mathbf{n} \geq \mathbf{4}} \\ \text{(a)} \quad I = J = K = L \\ & \sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^4 = B_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} + C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II}^2 \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \qquad (E.42) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(b)} \quad I = K = L, \ I \neq J \\ & \sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^3 \ w_J = B_R \ \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}} + C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II} \ \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \qquad (E.43) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(c)} \quad I = L, \ I \neq J \neq K \\ & \sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^2 \ w_J \ w_K = \alpha_{IJK} \ B_R + \frac{1}{3} \ C_R \left(2 \ \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \ \mathcal{C}_{IK} + \mathcal{C}_{II} \ \mathcal{C}_{JK} \right) \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \qquad (E.44) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(d)} \quad I \neq J \neq K \neq L \\ & \sum_{w \in R} w_I \ w_J \ w_K \ w_L = C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{(IJ} \ \mathcal{C}_{KL} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2, \qquad (E.45) \end{aligned}$$

with the definition

$$\alpha_{IJK} := 4 \left(\delta_{I,n-2} \,\delta_{(J,n} \,\delta_{K),n-1} - \delta_{I,n-1} \,\delta_{(J,n} \,\delta_{K),n-2} - \delta_{I,n} \,\delta_{(J,n-1} \,\delta_{K),n-2} \right) \tag{E.46}$$

Inserting into (E.20) we obtain

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \left(\frac{1}{4} B_R + C_R\right) = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (E.47)$$

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ C_R = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \ \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} , \qquad (E.48)$$

which is equivalent to the anomaly conditions (E.21).

$E_6,\,E_7,\,E_8,\,F_4,\,G_2$

For these algebras there is no fourth-order Casimir, therefore by definition $B_R = 0$ for all representations. We find by explicit calculation

(a)
$$I = J = K = L$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^4 = C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II}^2 \ \lambda_g^2 \qquad (E.49)$$

(b)
$$I = K = L, I \neq J$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^3 w_J = C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{II} \ \mathcal{C}_{IJ} \ \lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}^2 \tag{E.50}$$

(c)
$$I = L, I \neq J \neq K$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} (w_I)^2 w_J w_K = \frac{1}{3} C_R \left(2 C_{IJ} C_{IK} + C_{II} C_{JK} \right) \lambda_g^2 \qquad (E.51)$$

(d)
$$I \neq J \neq K \neq L$$

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I w_J w_K w_L = C_R \ \mathcal{C}_{(IJ} \ \mathcal{C}_{KL)} \ \lambda_g^2 \qquad (E.52)$$

Plugging this in into the Chern-Simons matching (E.20) we get

$$\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \ C_R = -3 \frac{b^{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \frac{b^{\beta}}{\lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}} \eta_{\alpha\beta} , \qquad (E.53)$$

230

which is again equivalent to the cancelation of anomalies since the first equation in (E.21) is trivial due to the absence of a fourth-order Casimir.

Thus we have shown that the matching condition from one-loop Chern-Simons terms (E.20) is fully equivalent to the cancelation of non-Abelian gauge anomalies (E.21) for all simple Lie algebras.

Appendix F

Identities for Circle-Reduced Theories

F.1 One-Loop Chern-Simons Terms

In this section we derive the special form of one-loop corrections to the Chern-Simons terms in three- and five-dimensional Abelian gauge theories when the latter arise from a circle compactification of four- and six-dimensional theories, respectively. We stress that generic VEVs for the Wilson line scalars are assumed. The following discussions and formulae do not hold *e.g.* for integer Wilson line backgrounds. This setup is described in chapter 9 and we will use the notation which is introduced there. Before we go into the details let us in general introduce zeta function regularization which will be exploited in our calculations.

F.1.1 Zeta Function Regularization

Since we are analyzing circle-compactified theories in this thesis, the full contributions to the one-loop Chern-Simons terms are generically infinite sums over Kaluza-Klein modes, which need to be regularized. In the following calculations four different types of infinite sums do appear

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} \operatorname{sign}(x+n), \qquad \sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} n \operatorname{sign}(x+n), \qquad (F.1)$$
$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} n^2 \operatorname{sign}(x+n), \qquad \sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} n^3 \operatorname{sign}(x+n),$$

with some generic constant x which is to be specified but is *not integer*. Note that the zeta function is defined as

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-s}, \quad \text{Re}(s) > 1.$$
 (F.2)

Analytic continuation of this expression yields in particular

$$\zeta(-1) = -\frac{1}{12},$$
 $\zeta(-3) = \frac{1}{120},$ (F.3)

such that we can use the following regularization scheme

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \mapsto \zeta(-1) = -\frac{1}{12}, \qquad \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^3 \mapsto \zeta(-3) = \frac{1}{120}.$$
(F.4)

The sums in (F.1) then become

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} \operatorname{sign}(x+n) = 2\left(l+\frac{1}{2}\right)\operatorname{sign}(x), \qquad (F.5)$$

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} n \operatorname{sign}(x+n) = -\frac{1}{6} - l(l+1), \qquad (F.6)$$

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} n^2 \operatorname{sign}(x+n) = \frac{2}{3} l \left(l+1 \right) \left(l+\frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign}(x) , \qquad (F.7)$$

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} n^3 \operatorname{sign}(x+n) = \frac{1}{60} - \frac{1}{2} l^2 (l+1)^2, \qquad (F.8)$$

with the definition $l := \lfloor |x| \rfloor$, where we make use of the floor function $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$.

F.1.2 Three Dimensions

We are now in a position to evaluate the one-loop Chern-Simons terms of a fourdimensional gauge theory on a circle which is pushed to the Coulomb branch (generic VEVs). Recall from section 2.2 that the general correction from a massive charged spin-1/2 Dirac fermion reads

$$\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma}^{\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{2} q_{\Lambda} q_{\Sigma} \operatorname{sign}(m) , \qquad (F.9)$$

and in Table 9.1 we have already listed the spectrum of massive modes. We depict it here once more for convenience

4d	3d		
Field	KK-tower	Mass	(A^0, A^I, A^m) Charge
$\hat{oldsymbol{\psi}}^{{}^{1/2}}(w,q)$	$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{(n)}^{\scriptscriptstyle 1/2}(w,q)$	$m_{\mathrm{CB}}^{w,q} + rac{n}{\langle r \rangle}$	$(-n, w_I, q_m)$

With the definition

$$l_{w,q} := \left\lfloor \left| \frac{m_{\rm CB}^{w,q}}{m_{\rm KK}} \right| \right\rfloor \tag{F.10}$$

the one-loop corrections now are evaluated by using zeta function regularization [94,95]

$$\Theta_{00} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} l_{w,q} \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (F.11a)$$

$$\Theta_{0I} = \frac{1}{12} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right) w_I$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) w_I, \qquad (F.11b)$$

$$\Theta_{0m} = \frac{1}{12} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right) \ q_m \,, \tag{F.11c}$$

$$\Theta_{IJ} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I w_J \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right),$$
(F.11d)

$$\Theta_{mn} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) q_m q_n \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right)$$
(F.11e)

$$\Theta_{Im} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I q_m \, \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} \right), \tag{F.11f}$$

where the sums are over all representations R of the non-Abelian gauge group and the U(1) charges q, as well as all weights w of a given representation R. In (F.11b) we used the relation

$$\sum_{w \in R} w_I = 0, \qquad (F.12)$$

which holds for all highest weight representations R and is proven in [94].

Finally, as an application, note that for deriving the effective action of F-theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau fourfolds one has to consider a circle-reduced fourdimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity theory. Since the spin-1/2 fermions in these settings are provided by chiral multiplets, we find

$$F_{1/2}(R,q) = C(R,q),$$
 (F.13)

where C(R,q) is defined as the number of chiral multiplets transforming in the representation R and with U(1) charges q.

F.1.3 Five Dimensions

Let us now turn to circle-compactified six-dimensional theories on the Coulomb branch (generic VEVs). Recall the general form of the one-loop correction to the Chern-Simons terms in five dimensions as already introduced in section 2.2

$$k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}^{\text{loop}} = c_{AFF} q_{\Lambda} q_{\Sigma} q_{\Theta} \operatorname{sign}(m), \qquad (F.14)$$

$$k_{\Lambda}^{\text{loop}} = c_{A\mathcal{R}\mathcal{R}} q_{\Lambda} \operatorname{sign}(m), \qquad (F.15)$$

with $c_{AFF}, c_{A\mathcal{R}\mathcal{R}}$ given by

	Spin-1/2 fermion	Self-dual tensor	$Spin-^{3/2}$ fermion
c_{AFF}	$\frac{1}{2}$	-2	$\frac{5}{2}$
c_{ARR}	-1	-8	19

We also display once more the spectrum of massive modes from Table 9.2

.

	6d		5d		
Field	$\mathfrak{su}(2) \times \mathfrak{su}(2)$	KK-tower	$\mathfrak{su}(2) \times \mathfrak{su}(2)$	Mass	(A^0, A^I, A^m) Charge
$\hat{oldsymbol{\psi}}^{^{1/2}}(w,q)$	$(\frac{1}{2},0),(0,\frac{1}{2})$	$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{(n)}^{^{1/2}}(w,q)$	$(\frac{1}{2},0),(0,\frac{1}{2})$	$m_{\mathrm{CB}}^{w,q} + rac{n}{\langle r \rangle}$	$(-n, w_I, q_m)$
\hat{B}^{lpha}	(1,0), (0,1)	$oldsymbol{B}^lpha_{(n>0)}$	(1,0), (0,1)	$rac{n}{\langle r angle}$	(-n, 0, 0)
$\hat{oldsymbol{\psi}}_{\mu}^{3/2}$	$(1,\frac{1}{2}), (\frac{1}{2},1)$	$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mu(n)}^{\scriptscriptstyle 3/2}$	$(1,\frac{1}{2}), (\frac{1}{2},1)$	$rac{n}{\langle r angle}$	(-n, 0, 0)

As before we define

$$l_{w,q} := \left\lfloor \left| \frac{m_{\rm CB}^{w,q}}{m_{\rm KK}} \right| \right\rfloor \tag{F.16}$$

and use zeta function regularization in order to obtain [94]

$$k_{000} = \frac{1}{120} \left(-\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 - 30 \ l_{w,q}^2 \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right)^2 \right) + 2\mathfrak{T} - 5F_{3/2} \right), \quad (F.17a)$$

$$k_{00I} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} l_{w,q} \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (F.17b)$$

$$k_{00m} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} l_{w,q} \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) q_m \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} \right), \qquad (F.17c)$$

$$k_{0IJ} = \frac{1}{12} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right) w_I w_J , \qquad (F.17d)$$

F.1. ONE-LOOP CHERN-SIMONS TERMS

$$k_{0mn} = \frac{1}{12} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right) \ q_m q_n \,, \tag{F.17e}$$

$$k_{0Im} = \frac{1}{12} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right) \ w_I q_m$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \ w_I q_m , \qquad (F.17f)$$

$$k_{IJK} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I w_J w_K \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right),$$
(F.17g)

$$k_{mnp} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) q_m q_n q_p \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right),$$
(F.17h)

$$k_{IJm} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I w_J q_m \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right),$$
(F.17i)

$$k_{Imn} = \sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_I q_m q_n \, \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} \right), \tag{F.17j}$$

$$k_0 = \frac{1}{6} \left(-\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \ \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right) - 4\mathfrak{T} + 19F_{3/2} \right), \qquad (F.17k)$$

$$k_{I} = -2\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) w_{I} \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right),$$
(F.17l)

$$k_m = -2\sum_{R,q} F_{1/2}(R,q) \sum_{w \in R} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) q_m \operatorname{sign} \left(m_{CB}^{w,q} \right),$$
(F.17m)

where we made use of (F.12) in (F.17f).

Once more let us specify these general formulae to F-theory compactifications. Putting the latter theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds one has to investigate a circlereduced six-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ supergravity theory in order to derive the effective action. We denote the number of six-dimensional tensor multiplets by T, vector multiplets by V and hypermultiplets by H. We find

$$F_{1/2}(R,q) = (n_{U(1)} - T) \,\delta_{R,1} \cdot \delta_{q,0} + \delta_{R,\text{adj}} \cdot \delta_{q,0} - H(R,q) \,, \tag{F.18a}$$

$$\mathfrak{T} = 1 - T, \qquad (F.18b)$$

$$F_{3/2} = 1$$
. (F.18c)

The factor $\delta_{R,1} \cdot \delta_{q,0}$ is only non-vanishing for uncharged singlets and implements the contribution of tensorini and U(1) gaugini while $\delta_{R,adj} \cdot \delta_{q,0}$ is different from zero for the adjoint representation, thus taking care of non-Abelian gaugini.

237

F.2 Coulomb Branch Identities

In this section we show the central identity

$$\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\operatorname{sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q}\right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\operatorname{sign}\left(m_{CB}^{w,q}\right) = \mathfrak{n}^{I}w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m}q_{m}$$
(F.19)

under the transformation (10.2). It again only holds for generic Wilson line backgrounds, *i.e.* no integer multiples of the radius.

Consider a massive mode with weight w under a non-Abelian gauge group and charges q_m under Abelian gauge bosons A^m , Coulomb branch mass $m_{CB}^{w,q}$ and KK-level n. We pick vectors $\mathbf{n}^{I}, \mathbf{n}^{m}$ and perform the basis change (10.2). It is important to notice that this transformation leaves all VEVs invariant except of

$$\langle \zeta^I \rangle \mapsto \langle \zeta^I \rangle + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^I}{\langle r \rangle},$$
 (F.20)

$$\langle \zeta^m \rangle \mapsto \langle \zeta^m \rangle + \frac{\mathfrak{n}^m}{\langle r \rangle} \,.$$
 (F.21)

One can then easily show that the sign function fulfills

$$\operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} + n \, m_{\operatorname{KK}}\right) = \operatorname{sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} + \left(n - \mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} - \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m}\right) m_{\operatorname{KK}}\right).$$
(F.22)

Depending on the sign of the Coulomb branch masses we have to investigate four different cases:

 $\operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q}\right) > 0$

The integer quantity $l_{w,q}$ is then defined via the following property

$$\operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} - l_{w,q} \, m_{\operatorname{KK}}\right) > 0 \quad \wedge \quad \operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} - (l_{w,q} + 1) \, m_{\operatorname{KK}}\right) < 0 \,. \tag{F.23}$$

Using (F.22) we find

$$\operatorname{sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{\mathrm{CB}}^{w,q} - \left(l_{w,q} + \mathfrak{n}^{I}w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m}q_{m}\right)m_{\mathrm{KK}}\right) > 0, \qquad (F.24)$$
$$\operatorname{sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{\mathrm{CB}}^{w,q} - \left(l_{w,q} + \mathfrak{n}^{I}w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m}q_{m} + 1\right)m_{\mathrm{KK}}\right) < 0.$$

Depending on the sign of $\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q}$ we can now read off $\tilde{l}_{w,q}$

$$\tilde{l}_{w,q} = l_{w,q} + \mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} \qquad \text{for sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q}\right) > 0, \qquad (F.25a)$$

$$\tilde{l}_{w,q} = -l_{w,q} - \mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} - \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} - 1 \qquad \text{for sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) < 0.$$
(F.25b)

 $\boxed{\text{sign}(m_{\text{CB}}^{w,q}) < 0}$ Now $l_{w,q}$ is defined as

$$\operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} + (l_{w,q} + 1) \, m_{\operatorname{KK}}\right) > 0 \quad \wedge \quad \operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} + l_{w,q} \, m_{\operatorname{KK}}\right) < 0 \,. \tag{F.26}$$

F.2. COULOMB BRANCH IDENTITIES

With (F.22) we get

$$\operatorname{sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} + \left(l_{w,q} - \mathfrak{n}^{I}w_{I} - \mathfrak{n}^{m}q_{m} + 1\right)m_{\operatorname{KK}}\right) > 0, \qquad (F.27)$$

$$\operatorname{sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q} + \left(l_{w,q} - \mathfrak{n}^{T}w_{I} - \mathfrak{n}^{m}q_{m}\right)m_{\operatorname{KK}}\right) < 0.$$

From this we can again determine $l_{w,q}$

$$\tilde{l}_{w,q} = -l_{w,q} + \mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} - 1 \qquad \text{for sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q}\right) > 0, \qquad (F.28a)$$

$$l_{w,q} = l_{w,q} - \mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} - \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} \qquad \text{for sign} \left(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q} \right) < 0. \qquad (F.28b)$$

It is now easy to check that the relations (F.25), (F.28) are indeed summarized as

$$\left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\operatorname{sign}\left(\tilde{m}_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q}\right) - \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\operatorname{sign}\left(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q}\right) = \mathfrak{n}^{I}w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m}q_{m}.$$
 (F.29)

As shown in section 10.2, this expression plays a crucial role when one investigates the relation between one-loop Chern-Simons terms which have been calculated in different frames (related by large gauge transformations). Indeed, the characteristic factor $\left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2}\right)$ sign $\left(m_{CB}^{w,q}\right)$ directly appears in the formulae for

$$\delta\Theta_{IJ}, \,\delta\Theta_{mn}, \,\delta\Theta_{Im}, \,\delta k_{IJK}, \,\delta k_{mnp}, \,\delta k_{IJm}, \,\delta k_{Imn}, \,\delta k_{I}, \,\delta k_{m},$$

as one can see by looking at their explicit expressions in section F.1. In order to perform a similar analysis for the other types of one-loop Chern-Simons terms we will need additional identities which however can be derived from (F.29) straightforwardly. In particular, in order to relate

$$\delta \Theta_{0I}, \, \delta \Theta_{0m}, \, \delta k_{0IJ}, \, \delta k_{0mn}, \, \delta k_{0Im}, \, \delta k_0,$$

to anomalies one has to use the relation

$$\tilde{l}_{w,q} \left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + 1 \right) - l_{w,q} \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) = 2 \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} \right) \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign}(m_{\operatorname{CB}}^{w,q}) + \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} \right)^{2},$$
(F.30)

since these are the type of factors which appear in the loop calculations section F.1. Similarly for $\delta\Theta_{00}$, δk_{00I} , δk_{00m} we exploit

$$\tilde{l}_{w,q} \left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + 1 \right) \left(\tilde{l}_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign}(\tilde{m}_{CB}^{w,q}) - l_{w,q} \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign}(m_{CB}^{w,q})
= \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} \right) \left(1 + 6 \ l_{w,q} \left(l_{w,q} + 1 \right) \right)
+ 3 \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} \right)^{2} \left(l_{w,q} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \operatorname{sign}(m_{CB}^{w,q}) + \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m} \right)^{3},$$
(F.31)

and finally for δk_{000} the relevant identity is

$$\tilde{l}_{w,q}^{2} \left(\tilde{l}_{w,q}+1\right)^{2} - l_{w,q}^{2} \left(l_{w,q}+1\right)^{2} \tag{F.32}$$

$$= 4 \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m}\right) l_{w,q} \left(l_{w,q}+1\right) \left(l_{w,q}+\frac{1}{2}\right) \operatorname{sign}(m_{CB}^{w,q})$$

$$+ \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m}\right)^{2} \left(1 + 6 l_{w,q} \left(l_{w,q}+1\right)\right)$$

$$+ 4 \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m}\right)^{3} \left(l_{w,q}+\frac{1}{2}\right) \operatorname{sign}(m_{CB}^{w,q}) + \left(\mathfrak{n}^{I} w_{I} + \mathfrak{n}^{m} q_{m}\right)^{4}.$$

We will comment on the precise relation of the individual Chern-Simons couplings to anomalies in the upcoming section.

F.3 Large Gauge Transformations of Chern-Simons Terms

In section 10.2 we conveyed how one can obtain all gauge anomaly cancelation conditions in four and six dimensions (and also mixed gauge-gravitational anomalies in six dimensions) by considering two different ways of evaluating large gauge transformations on one-loop induced Chern-Simons couplings and demanding consistency of both approaches. We showed there that it suffices to consider only a subset of all one-loop Chern-Simons terms in order to obtain all anomalies. In this section we provide the complete list of which anomaly cancelation conditions one obtains from the large gauge transformations of all possible one-loop Chern-Simons terms. These calculations are straightforward, however besides of the identity (F.29), which we used in section 10.2 in order to evaluate $\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{IJ}$, $\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{mn}$, $\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{Im}$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{IJK}$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{mnp}$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{IJm}$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{I}$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{m}$, one now also has to make use of the additional relations (F.30), (F.31), (F.32) which however can be derived from (F.29) as we have just shown. In four-dimensional theories on the circle we have

	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^L} \partial_{\mathfrak{n}^M} \dots$	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^L} \dots \partial_{\mathfrak{n}^q} \dots$	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^q}\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^r}\dots$
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{00} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.22b)	(9.22c)	(9.22d)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{0I} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.22b)	(9.22c)	0
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{0m} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.22c)	0	(9.22d)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{IJ} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.22b)	0	(9.22c)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{mn} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	0	(9.22d)
$\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{Im} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.22c)	0	0

while in the circle-reduced six-dimensional settings the full list is

	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^L}\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^M}\dots$	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^L} \dots \partial_{\mathfrak{n}^q} \dots$	$\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^q}\partial_{\mathfrak{n}^r}\dots$
$\delta \tilde{k}_{000} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30e)	(9.30f), (9.30g)	(9.30h)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{00I} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30e)	(9.30g)	0
$\delta \tilde{k}_{00m} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30f)	(9.30g)	(9.30h)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{0IJ} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30e)	(9.30f)	(9.30g)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{0mn} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30g)	0	(9.30h)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{0Im} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30f)	(9.30g)	0
$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJK} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30e)	0	(9.30f)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{mnp} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	0	(9.30h)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{IJm} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30f)	0	(9.30g)
$\delta \tilde{k}_{Imn} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30g)	0	0
$\delta \tilde{k}_0 \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30c)	0	(9.30d)
$\delta \tilde{k}_I \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	(9.30c)	0	0
$\delta \tilde{k}_m \stackrel{!}{=} 0$	0	0	(9.30d)

Let us explain these tables: In order to obtain the indicated anomaly conditions one has to take an appropriate number of derivatives of the equations $\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda\Sigma} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{\Lambda} \stackrel{!}{=} 0$ with respect to \mathfrak{n}^{L} and \mathfrak{n}^{q} , *i.e.* in the non-Abelian and Abelian directions, respectively. The total number of derivatives one has to take is given by one plus the number of 0-indices in $\delta \tilde{\Theta}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$, $\delta \tilde{k}_{\Lambda}$, *e.g.* three derivatives for k_{00I} and one derivative for Θ_{mn} . In the first column we only take derivatives in the Cartan directions of the non-Abelian gauge group, though possibly different directions, while in the third column the derivatives are only with respect to U(1) large gauge transformation parameters, also possibly different ones. In the second column we assume derivatives with respect to both Cartan and U(1) directions.

Appendix G Intersection Numbers

In this chapter we list useful intersection numbers of elliptically-fibered Calabi-Yau fourand threefolds along with their matched quantity in the M-theory to F-theory duality. Special emphasis is put on Chern-Simons couplings $\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma}$, $k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta}$, k_{Λ} .

For Calabi-Yau fourfolds we consider the specific intersections

$$\pi (D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma})^{\alpha} := (D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma} \cdot \mathcal{C}^{\beta}) \eta^{-1}{}_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}$$
(G.1)

and the induced Chern-Simons couplings

$$\Theta_{\Lambda\Sigma} = -\frac{1}{4} D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma} \cdot [G_4], \qquad (G.2)$$

where $\eta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ is the full-rank intersection matrix (11.24). One finds

$$\pi (D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta})^{\gamma} = 0, \qquad \pi (D_m \cdot D_{\alpha})^{\beta} = 0, \qquad \pi (D_I \cdot D_{\alpha})^{\beta} = 0, \qquad (G.3)$$

$$\pi (D_0 \cdot D_0)^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad \pi (D_0 \cdot D_m)^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad \pi (D_0 \cdot D_I)^{\alpha} = 0,$$

$$\pi (D_0 \cdot D_{\alpha})^{\beta} = \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}, \qquad \pi (D_I \cdot D_J)^{\alpha} = -b^{\alpha} \mathcal{C}_{IJ}, \qquad \pi (D_m \cdot D_n)^{\alpha} = -b_{mn}^{\alpha}$$

and

$$D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta} \cdot [G_4] = 0, \qquad D_{\alpha} \cdot D_0 \cdot [G_4] = 0, \qquad (G.4)$$
$$D_{\alpha} \cdot D_I \cdot [G_4] = 0, \qquad D_{\alpha} \cdot D_m \cdot [G_4] = -2\theta_{\alpha m}.$$

The remaining Chern-Simons couplings are one-loop expressions which are evaluated field-theoretically in section F.1.

Finally for Calabi-Yau threefolds all relevant intersection numbers correspond to Chern-Simons couplings

$$k_{\Lambda\Sigma\Theta} = D_{\Lambda} \cdot D_{\Sigma} \cdot D_{\Theta}, \qquad k_{\Lambda} = D_{\Lambda} \cdot [c_2], \qquad (G.5)$$

and one evaluates

$$D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta} \cdot D_{\gamma} = 0 , \qquad D_{0} \cdot D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta} = \eta_{\alpha\beta} , \quad D_{I} \cdot D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta} = 0 ,$$

APPENDIX G. INTERSECTION NUMBERS

$$D_{m} \cdot D_{\alpha} \cdot D_{\beta} = 0 , \qquad D_{0} \cdot D_{\alpha} = 0 , \qquad D_{I} \cdot D_{J} \cdot D_{\alpha} = -\eta_{\alpha\beta} b^{\beta} C_{IJ} ,$$

$$D_{m} \cdot D_{n} \cdot D_{\alpha} = -\eta_{\alpha\beta} b^{\beta}_{mn} , \qquad D_{0} \cdot D_{I} \cdot D_{\alpha} = 0 , \qquad D_{0} \cdot D_{m} \cdot D_{\alpha} = 0 ,$$

$$D_{\alpha} \cdot [c_{2}] = -12 \eta_{\alpha\beta} a^{\beta} . \qquad (G.6)$$

Finally let us collect some useful geometrical facts about elliptic fibrations. For any divisor which corresponds to a rational section S we have

$$\pi(S \cdot S) = K \tag{G.7}$$

where the map π is defined in (11.26) and K is the canonical class of the base. The same quantity appears in connection with the second Chern class for Calabi-Yau threefolds

$$\left(D_{\alpha} \cdot [c_2]\right) \eta^{-1\,\alpha\beta} \, D_{\beta} = -12K \,. \tag{G.8}$$

Furthermore, the pullback of the divisor $S^{\rm b}$ over which the elliptic fiber degenerates fulfills

$$\pi(D_I \cdot D_J) = -\mathcal{C}_{IJ} S.$$
 (G.9)

Finally for the case of a *holomorphic* zero-section one can explicitly evaluate some intersections which are matched to one-loop Chern-Simons terms. One finds for Calabi-Yau fourfolds

$$D_0 \cdot D_m \cdot [G_4] = -\frac{1}{2} K \cdot D_m \cdot [G_4], \quad D_0 \cdot D_I \cdot [G_4] = 0, \quad D_0 \cdot D_0 \cdot [G_4] = 0, \quad (G.10)$$

and for Calabi-Yau threefolds

$$D_{0} \cdot D_{m} \cdot D_{n} = -\frac{1}{2}K \cdot D_{m} \cdot D_{n}, \quad D_{0} \cdot D_{0} \cdot D_{m} = 0, \quad D_{0} \cdot D_{m} \cdot D_{I} = 0,$$

$$D_{0} \cdot D_{I} \cdot D_{J} = -\frac{1}{2}K \cdot D_{I} \cdot D_{J}, \quad D_{0} \cdot D_{0} \cdot D_{I} = 0, \quad D_{0} \cdot D_{0} \cdot D_{0} = \frac{1}{4}K \cdot K \cdot D_{0},$$

$$D_{0} \cdot [c_{2}] = 52 - 4h^{1,1}(B_{2}).$$
(G.11)

Note that the condition of holomorphicity is absolutely crucial here.

Appendix H Six-Dimensional Supermultiplets

In the following we display the six-dimensional supermultiplets. The first two factors encode the representation under the little group in terms of spins whereas the second two entries label the representation under the R-symmetry group $USp(2N_L) \times USp(2N_R)$ in terms of the dimension of the representation. The table is taken from [195] and adjusted to our chirality conventions.

Multiplet	Bosons	Fermions
(1,0) hyper	$ig(0,0;2,1ig)\oplus ext{h.c.}$	$\left(0, rac{1}{2}; 1, 1 ight) \oplus ext{h.c.}$
(1,0) tensor	$ig(0,1;1,1ig)\oplusig(0,0;1,1ig)$	$(0, \frac{1}{2}; 2, 1)$
(1,0) vector	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2};1,1\right)$	$\left(\frac{1}{2}, 0; 2, 1\right)$
(1,0) graviton	$ig(1,1;1,1ig)\oplusig(1,0;1,1ig)$	$(1, \frac{1}{2}; 2, 1)$
(2,0) tensor	$ig(0,1;1,1ig)\oplusig(0,0;5,1ig)$	$\left(0, \frac{1}{2}; 4, 1\right)$
(2,0) graviton	$ig(1,1;1,1ig)\oplusig(1,0;5,1ig)$	$\left(1, \frac{1}{2}; 4, 1\right)$
(1,1) vector	$\left(rac{1}{2},rac{1}{2};1,1 ight)\oplus\left(0,0;2,2 ight)$	$\left(0,rac{1}{2};1,2 ight)\oplus\left(rac{1}{2},0;2,1 ight)$
(1,1) graviton	$\left(1,1;1,1 ight)\oplus\left(rac{1}{2},rac{1}{2};2,2 ight)\oplus$	$\left(\frac{1}{2},1;1,2 ight)\oplus\left(1,\frac{1}{2};2,1 ight)\oplus$
	$ig(1,0;1,1ig)\oplusig(0,1;1,1ig)\oplusig(0,0;1,1ig)$	$\left(rac{1}{2},0;1,2 ight)\oplus\left(0,rac{1}{2};2,1 ight)$
(2,1) graviton	$(1,1;1,1)\oplus \left(rac{1}{2},rac{1}{2};4,2 ight)\oplus$	$\left(\frac{1}{2},1;1,2 ight)\oplus\left(1,\frac{1}{2};4,1 ight)\oplus$
	$ig(1,0;5,1ig)\oplusig(0,1;1,1ig)\oplusig(0,0;5,1ig)$	$\left(rac{1}{2},0;5,2 ight)\oplus\left(0,rac{1}{2};4,1 ight)$
(2,2) graviton	$(1,1;1,1)\oplus \left(rac{1}{2},rac{1}{2};4,4 ight)\oplus$	$\left(\frac{1}{2},1;1,4\right)\oplus\left(1,\frac{1}{2};4,1\right)\oplus$
	$ig(1,0;5,1ig)\oplusig(0,1;1,5ig)\oplusig(0,0;5,5ig)$	$\left(\frac{1}{2}, 0; 5, 4\right) \oplus \left(0, \frac{1}{2}; 4, 5\right)$

Bibliography

- T. W. Grimm and A. Kapfer, "Self-Dual Tensors and Partial Supersymmetry Breaking in Five Dimensions," *JHEP* 03 (2015) 008, 1402.3529.
- [2] T. W. Grimm, A. Kapfer, and S. Lust, "Partial Supergravity Breaking and the Effective Action of Consistent Truncations," JHEP 02 (2015) 093, 1409.0867.
- [3] T. W. Grimm and A. Kapfer, "Anomaly Cancelation in Field Theory and F-theory on a Circle," 1502.05398.
- [4] T. W. Grimm, A. Kapfer, and D. Klevers, "The Arithmetic of Elliptic Fibrations in Gauge Theories on a Circle," *JHEP* 06 (2016) 112, 1510.04281.
- [5] M. Nakahara, "Geometry, topology and physics,".
- [6] S. Weinberg, "The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications,".
- [7] J. Zinn-Justin, "Chiral anomalies and topology," *Lect.Notes Phys.* 659 (2005) 167–236, hep-th/0201220.
- [8] J. A. Harvey, "TASI 2003 lectures on anomalies," hep-th/0509097.
- [9] A. Bilal, "Lectures on Anomalies," 0802.0634.
- [10] M. Bershadsky and C. Vafa, "Global anomalies and geometric engineering of critical theories in six-dimensions," hep-th/9703167.
- [11] D. Freed, J. A. Harvey, R. Minasian, and G. W. Moore, "Gravitational anomaly cancellation for M theory five-branes," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 601–618, hep-th/9803205.
- K. A. Intriligator, "Anomaly matching and a Hopf-Wess-Zumino term in 6d, N=(2,0) field theories," Nucl. Phys. B581 (2000) 257-273, hep-th/0001205.
- [13] P. Yi, "Anomaly of (2,0) theories," Phys. Rev. D64 (2001) 106006, hep-th/0106165.
- [14] T. Maxfield and S. Sethi, "The Conformal Anomaly of M5-Branes," JHEP 06 (2012) 075, 1204.2002.

- [15] S. Monnier, "The global anomaly of the self-dual field in general backgrounds," Annales Henri Poincare 17 (2016), no. 5, 1003–1036, 1309.6642.
- [16] S. Monnier, "Global gravitational anomaly cancellation for five-branes," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 19 (2015) 701–724, 1310.2250.
- [17] S. Monnier, "The global anomalies of (2,0) superconformal field theories in six dimensions," JHEP 09 (2014) 088, 1406.4540.
- [18] K. Intriligator, "6d, $\mathcal{N} = (1, 0)$ Coulomb branch anomaly matching," *JHEP* **10** (2014) 162, 1408.6745.
- [19] K. Ohmori, H. Shimizu, and Y. Tachikawa, "Anomaly polynomial of E-string theories," JHEP 08 (2014) 002, 1404.3887.
- [20] K. Ohmori, H. Shimizu, Y. Tachikawa, and K. Yonekura, "Anomaly polynomial of general 6d SCFTs," *PTEP* 2014 (2014), no. 10, 103B07, 1408.5572.
- [21] M. B. Green and J. H. Schwarz, "Anomaly Cancellation in Supersymmetric D=10 Gauge Theory and Superstring Theory," *Phys.Lett.* B149 (1984) 117–122.
- [22] A. Sagnotti, "A Note on the Green-Schwarz mechanism in open string theories," *Phys.Lett.* B294 (1992) 196–203, hep-th/9210127.
- [23] V. Sadov, "Generalized Green-Schwarz mechanism in F theory," *Phys.Lett.* B388 (1996) 45–50, hep-th/9606008.
- [24] A. Niemi and G. Semenoff, "Axial Anomaly Induced Fermion Fractionization and Effective Gauge Theory Actions in Odd Dimensional Space-Times," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* 51 (1983) 2077.
- [25] A. Redlich, "Parity Violation and Gauge Noninvariance of the Effective Gauge Field Action in Three-Dimensions," *Phys. Rev.* D29 (1984) 2366–2374.
- [26] O. Aharony, A. Hanany, K. A. Intriligator, N. Seiberg, and M. Strassler, "Aspects of N=2 supersymmetric gauge theories in three-dimensions," *Nucl. Phys.* B499 (1997) 67–99, hep-th/9703110.
- [27] P. K. Townsend, K. Pilch, and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, "Selfduality in Odd Dimensions," *Phys. Lett.* B136 (1984) 38. [Addendum: Phys. Lett.B137,443(1984)].
- [28] E. Witten, "Phase transitions in M theory and F theory," Nucl. Phys. B471 (1996) 195-216, hep-th/9603150.
- [29] F. Bonetti, T. W. Grimm, and S. Hohenegger, "A Kaluza-Klein inspired action for chiral p-forms and their anomalies," *Phys.Lett.* B720 (2013) 424–427, 1206.1600.

- [30] F. Bonetti, T. W. Grimm, and S. Hohenegger, "One-loop Chern-Simons terms in five dimensions," JHEP 1307 (2013) 043, 1302.2918.
- [31] S. Cecotti, L. Girardello, and M. Porrati, "Two into one won't go," *Phys.Lett.* B145 (1984) 61.
- [32] S. Cecotti, L. Girardello, and M. Porrati, "Constraints on partial superhiggs," Nucl. Phys. B268 (1986) 295–316.
- [33] S. Cecotti, L. Girardello, and M. Porrati, "An Exceptional N = 2 Supergravity With Flat Potential and Partial Superhiggs," *Phys.Lett.* **B168** (1986) 83.
- [34] S. Ferrara, L. Girardello, and M. Porrati, "Minimal Higgs branch for the breaking of half of the supersymmetries in N=2 supergravity," *Phys.Lett.* B366 (1996) 155–159, hep-th/9510074.
- [35] I. Antoniadis, H. Partouche, and T. Taylor, "Spontaneous breaking of N=2 global supersymmetry," *Phys.Lett.* B372 (1996) 83–87, hep-th/9512006.
- [36] P. Fre, L. Girardello, I. Pesando, and M. Trigiante, "Spontaneous N=2 → N=1 local supersymmetry breaking with surviving compact gauge group," Nucl. Phys. B493 (1997) 231–248, hep-th/9607032.
- [37] E. Kiritsis and C. Kounnas, "Perturbative and nonperturbative partial supersymmetry breaking: $N=4 \rightarrow N=2 \rightarrow N=1$," *Nucl.Phys.* B503 (1997) 117–156, hep-th/9703059.
- [38] L. Andrianopoli, R. D'Auria, S. Ferrara, and M. Lledo, "Super Higgs effect in extended supergravity," Nucl. Phys. B640 (2002) 46–62, hep-th/0202116.
- [39] J. Louis, P. Smyth, and H. Triendl, "Spontaneous N=2 to N=1 Supersymmetry Breaking in Supergravity and Type II String Theory," *JHEP* **1002** (2010) 103, 0911.5077.
- [40] J. Louis, P. Smyth, and H. Triendl, "The N=1 Low-Energy Effective Action of Spontaneously Broken N=2 Supergravities," *JHEP* 1010 (2010) 017, 1008.1214.
- [41] T. Hansen and J. Louis, "Examples of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry breaking," *JHEP* **1311** (2013) 075, **1306.5994**.
- [42] H. Samtleben, "Lectures on Gauged Supergravity and Flux Compactifications," Class. Quant. Grav. 25 (2008) 214002, 0808.4076.
- [43] B. de Wit, H. Samtleben, and M. Trigiante, "On Lagrangians and gaugings of maximal supergravities," Nucl. Phys. B655 (2003) 93-126, hep-th/0212239.

- [44] B. de Wit, H. Samtleben, and M. Trigiante, "Magnetic charges in local field theory," JHEP 0509 (2005) 016, hep-th/0507289.
- [45] O. Hohm and J. Louis, "Spontaneous $N = 2 \rightarrow N = 1$ supergravity breaking in three- dimensions," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **21** (2004) 4607–4624, hep-th/0403128.
- [46] G. Dall'Agata, C. Herrmann, and M. Zagermann, "General matter coupled N=4 gauged supergravity in five-dimensions," *Nucl. Phys.* B612 (2001) 123–150, hep-th/0103106.
- [47] J. Schon and M. Weidner, "Gauged N=4 supergravities," JHEP 0605 (2006) 034, hep-th/0602024.
- [48] D. R. Morrison and N. Seiberg, "Extremal transitions and five-dimensional supersymmetric field theories," *Nucl. Phys.* B483 (1997) 229–247, hep-th/9609070.
- [49] T. Danckaert, J. Louis, D. Martinez-Pedrera, B. Spanjaard, and H. Triendl, "The N=4 effective action of type IIA supergravity compactified on SU(2)-structure manifolds," *JHEP* **1108** (2011) 024, 1104.5174.
- [50] A.-K. Kashani-Poor, R. Minasian, and H. Triendl, "Enhanced supersymmetry from vanishing Euler number," *JHEP* 1304 (2013) 058, 1301.5031.
- [51] A. Cadavid, A. Ceresole, R. D'Auria, and S. Ferrara, "Eleven-dimensional supergravity compactified on Calabi-Yau threefolds," *Phys.Lett.* B357 (1995) 76–80, hep-th/9506144.
- [52] G. Papadopoulos and P. Townsend, "Compactification of D = 11 supergravity on spaces of exceptional holonomy," *Phys.Lett.* B357 (1995) 300-306, hep-th/9506150.
- [53] S. Ferrara, R. R. Khuri, and R. Minasian, "M theory on a Calabi-Yau manifold," *Phys.Lett.* B375 (1996) 81–88, hep-th/9602102.
- [54] D. Cassani, G. Dall'Agata, and A. F. Faedo, "Type IIB supergravity on squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifolds," *JHEP* 1005 (2010) 094, 1003.4283.
- [55] J. T. Liu, P. Szepietowski, and Z. Zhao, "Consistent massive truncations of IIB supergravity on Sasaki-Einstein manifolds," *Phys. Rev.* D81 (2010) 124028, 1003.5374.
- [56] J. P. Gauntlett and O. Varela, "Universal Kaluza-Klein reductions of type IIB to N=4 supergravity in five dimensions," *JHEP* **1006** (2010) 081, **1003.5642**.
- [57] T. Tsikas, "Consistent Truncations of Chiral N = 2D = 10 Supergravity on the Round Five Sphere," *Class.Quant.Grav.* **3** (1986) 733.

- [58] H. Lu, C. Pope, and T. A. Tran, "Five-dimensional N=4, SU(2) x U(1) gauged supergravity from type IIB," *Phys.Lett.* B475 (2000) 261–268, hep-th/9909203.
- [59] A. Ceresole, G. Dall'Agata, R. D'Auria, and S. Ferrara, "Spectrum of type IIB supergravity on AdS(5) x T**11: Predictions on N=1 SCFT's," *Phys.Rev.* D61 (2000) 066001, hep-th/9905226.
- [60] M. Cvetic, H. Lu, C. Pope, A. Sadrzadeh, and T. A. Tran, "Consistent SO(6) reduction of type IIB supergravity on S**5," *Nucl. Phys.* B586 (2000) 275–286, hep-th/0003103.
- [61] P. Hoxha, R. Martinez-Acosta, and C. Pope, "Kaluza-Klein consistency, Killing vectors, and Kahler spaces," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **17** (2000) 4207–4240, hep-th/0005172.
- [62] A. Buchel and J. T. Liu, "Gauged supergravity from type IIB string theory on Y**p,q manifolds," Nucl. Phys. B771 (2007) 93-112, hep-th/0608002.
- [63] J. P. Gauntlett and O. Varela, "Consistent Kaluza-Klein reductions for general supersymmetric AdS solutions," *Phys. Rev.* D76 (2007) 126007, 0707.2315.
- [64] K. Skenderis, M. Taylor, and D. Tsimpis, "A Consistent truncation of IIB supergravity on manifolds admitting a Sasaki-Einstein structure," *JHEP* 1006 (2010) 025, 1003.5657.
- [65] D. Cassani and A. F. Faedo, "A Supersymmetric consistent truncation for conifold solutions," Nucl. Phys. B843 (2011) 455–484, 1008.0883.
- [66] I. Bena, G. Giecold, M. Grana, N. Halmagyi, and F. Orsi, "Supersymmetric Consistent Truncations of IIB on T^{1,1}," JHEP **1104** (2011) 021, 1008.0983.
- [67] I. Bah, A. Faraggi, J. I. Jottar, and R. G. Leigh, "Fermions and Type IIB Supergravity On Squashed Sasaki-Einstein Manifolds," *JHEP* **1101** (2011) 100, 1009.1615.
- [68] J. T. Liu, P. Szepietowski, and Z. Zhao, "Supersymmetric massive truncations of IIb supergravity on Sasaki-Einstein manifolds," *Phys.Rev.* D82 (2010) 124022, 1009.4210.
- [69] J. T. Liu and P. Szepietowski, "Supersymmetry of consistent massive truncations of IIB supergravity," *Phys.Rev.* D85 (2012) 126010, 1103.0029.
- [70] N. Halmagyi, J. T. Liu, and P. Szepietowski, "On N = 2 Truncations of IIB on $T^{1,1}$," *JHEP* **1207** (2012) 098, **1111.6567**.

- [71] J. P. Gauntlett, D. Martelli, J. Sparks, and D. Waldram, "Supersymmetric AdS(5) solutions of M theory," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **21** (2004) 4335–4366, hep-th/0402153.
- [72] J. P. Gauntlett, E. O Colgain, and O. Varela, "Properties of some conformal field theories with M-theory duals," JHEP 0702 (2007) 049, hep-th/0611219.
- [73] J. P. Gauntlett and O. Varela, "D=5 SU(2) x U(1) Gauged Supergravity from D=11 Supergravity," JHEP 0802 (2008) 083, 0712.3560.
- [74] E. O Colgain and O. Varela, "Consistent reductions from D=11 beyond Sasaki-Einstein," *Phys.Lett.* B703 (2011) 180–185, 1106.4781.
- [75] K. Sfetsos and D. C. Thompson, "New $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric AdS_5 backgrounds in Type IIA supergravity," 1408.6545.
- [76] D. Cassani, G. Dall'Agata, and A. F. Faedo, "BPS domain walls in N=4 supergravity and dual flows," JHEP 1303 (2013) 007, 1210.8125.
- [77] C. Hull, "BPS supermultiplets in five-dimensions," JHEP 0006 (2000) 019, hep-th/0004086.
- [78] C. Horst, J. Louis, and P. Smyth, "Electrically gauged N=4 supergravities in D=4 with N=2 vacua," JHEP 1303 (2013) 144, 1212.4707.
- [79] N. J. Hitchin, "The Geometry of three forms in six-dimensions," J.Diff.Geom. 55 (2000) 547-576, math.DG/0010054.
- [80] N. Hitchin, "Stable forms and special metrics," Contemporary Mathematics 288 (2001) 70-89, math.DG/0107101.
- [81] S. Chiossi and S. Salamon, "The intrinsic torsion of SU (3) and G2 structures," Differential Geometry, Valencia 2001 (2002) 115–133, math.DG/0202282.
- [82] J. P. Gauntlett, D. Martelli, S. Pakis, and D. Waldram, "G structures and wrapped NS5-branes," *Commun.Math.Phys.* 247 (2004) 421–445, hep-th/0205050.
- [83] J. P. Gauntlett, D. Martelli, and D. Waldram, "Superstrings with intrinsic torsion," *Phys.Rev.* D69 (2004) 086002, hep-th/0302158.
- [84] G. Dall'Agata, "On supersymmetric solutions of type IIB supergravity with general fluxes," Nucl. Phys. B695 (2004) 243–266, hep-th/0403220.
- [85] K. Behrndt and M. Cvetic, "General N=1 supersymmetric fluxes in massive type IIA string theory," Nucl. Phys. B708 (2005) 45–71, hep-th/0407263.
- [86] J. Bovy, D. Lust, and D. Tsimpis, "N = 1,2 supersymmetric vacua of IIA supergravity and SU(2) structures," JHEP 0508 (2005) 056, hep-th/0506160.
- [87] R. Reid-Edwards and B. Spanjaard, "N=4 Gauged Supergravity from Duality-Twist Compactifications of String Theory," JHEP 0812 (2008) 052, 0810.4699.
- [88] D. Lust and D. Tsimpis, "Classes of AdS(4) type IIA/IIB compactifications with SU(3) x SU(3) structure," JHEP 0904 (2009) 111, 0901.4474.
- [89] H. Triendl and J. Louis, "Type II compactifications on manifolds with SU(2) x SU(2) structure," JHEP 0907 (2009) 080, 0904.2993.
- [90] J. Louis, D. Martinez-Pedrera, and A. Micu, "Heterotic compactifications on SU(2)-structure backgrounds," JHEP 0909 (2009) 012, 0907.3799.
- [91] T. W. Grimm and H. Hayashi, "F-theory fluxes, Chirality and Chern-Simons theories," JHEP 1203 (2012) 027, 1111.1232.
- [92] M. Cvetic, T. W. Grimm, and D. Klevers, "Anomaly Cancellation And Abelian Gauge Symmetries In F-theory," JHEP 1302 (2013) 101, 1210.6034.
- [93] F. Bonetti and T. W. Grimm, "Six-dimensional (1,0) effective action of F-theory via M-theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds," JHEP 1205 (2012) 019, 1112.1082.
- [94] T. W. Grimm, A. Kapfer, and J. Keitel, "Effective action of 6D F-Theory with U(1) factors: Rational sections make Chern-Simons terms jump," *JHEP* 1307 (2013) 115, 1305.1929.
- [95] M. Cvetic, A. Grassi, D. Klevers, and H. Piragua, "Chiral Four-Dimensional F-Theory Compactifications With SU(5) and Multiple U(1)-Factors," *JHEP* 1404 (2014) 010, 1306.3987.
- [96] L. B. Anderson, I. García-Etxebarria, T. W. Grimm, and J. Keitel, "Physics of F-theory compactifications without section," *JHEP* 1412 (2014) 156, 1406.5180.
- [97] K. Landsteiner, E. Megias, L. Melgar, and F. Pena-Benitez, "Holographic Gravitational Anomaly and Chiral Vortical Effect," *JHEP* **1109** (2011) 121, 1107.0368.
- [98] R. Loganayagam and P. Surowka, "Anomaly/Transport in an Ideal Weyl gas," JHEP 1204 (2012) 097, 1201.2812.
- [99] S. Golkar and D. T. Son, "Non-Renormalization of the Chiral Vortical Effect Coefficient," 1207.5806.

- [100] K. Landsteiner, E. Megias, and F. Pena-Benitez, "Anomalous Transport from Kubo Formulae," *Lect. Notes Phys.* 871 (2013) 433–468, 1207.5808.
- [101] K. Jensen, R. Loganayagam, and A. Yarom, "Thermodynamics, gravitational anomalies and cones," *JHEP* 1302 (2013) 088, 1207.5824.
- [102] K. Jensen, R. Loganayagam, and A. Yarom, "Anomaly inflow and thermal equilibrium," JHEP 1405 (2014) 134, 1310.7024.
- [103] K. Jensen, R. Loganayagam, and A. Yarom, "Chern-Simons terms from thermal circles and anomalies," *JHEP* 1405 (2014) 110, 1311.2935.
- [104] L. Di Pietro and Z. Komargodski, "Cardy formulae for SUSY theories in d = 4 and d = 6," *JHEP* **1412** (2014) 031, 1407.6061.
- [105] K. A. Intriligator, D. R. Morrison, and N. Seiberg, "Five-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories and degenerations of Calabi-Yau spaces," *Nucl. Phys.* B497 (1997) 56–100, hep-th/9702198.
- [106] H. Hayashi, C. Lawrie, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Phases, Flops and F-theory: SU(5) Gauge Theories," JHEP 1310 (2013) 046, 1304.1678.
- [107] H. Hayashi, C. Lawrie, D. R. Morrison, and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Box Graphs and Singular Fibers," JHEP 1405 (2014) 048, 1402.2653.
- [108] M. Esole, S.-H. Shao, and S.-T. Yau, "Singularities and Gauge Theory Phases," 1402.6331.
- [109] M. Esole, S.-H. Shao, and S.-T. Yau, "Singularities and Gauge Theory Phases II," 1407.1867.
- [110] A. P. Braun and S. Schafer-Nameki, "Box Graphs and Resolutions I," 1407.3520.
- [111] C. Vafa, "Evidence for F theory," Nucl. Phys. B469 (1996) 403-418, hep-th/9602022.
- [112] D. R. Morrison and C. Vafa, "Compactifications of F theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. 1," Nucl. Phys. B473 (1996) 74–92, hep-th/9602114.
- [113] D. R. Morrison and C. Vafa, "Compactifications of F theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. 2.," Nucl. Phys. B476 (1996) 437–469, hep-th/9603161.
- [114] S. Ferrara, R. Minasian, and A. Sagnotti, "Low-energy analysis of M and F theories on Calabi-Yau threefolds," *Nucl. Phys.* B474 (1996) 323–342, hep-th/9604097.

- [115] F. Denef, "Les Houches Lectures on Constructing String Vacua," 0803.1194.
- [116] T. W. Grimm, "The N=1 effective action of F-theory compactifications," Nucl. Phys. B845 (2011) 48–92, 1008.4133.
- [117] T. W. Grimm and T. Weigand, "On Abelian Gauge Symmetries and Proton Decay in Global F-theory GUTs," *Phys. Rev.* D82 (2010) 086009, 1006.0226.
- [118] D. S. Park, "Anomaly Equations and Intersection Theory," JHEP 1201 (2012) 093, 1111.2351.
- [119] D. R. Morrison and D. S. Park, "F-Theory and the Mordell-Weil Group of Elliptically-Fibered Calabi-Yau Threefolds," *JHEP* **1210** (2012) 128, 1208.2695.
- [120] V. Braun, T. W. Grimm, and J. Keitel, "New Global F-theory GUTs with U(1) symmetries," *JHEP* **1309** (2013) 154, 1302.1854.
- [121] J. Borchmann, C. Mayrhofer, E. Palti, and T. Weigand, "Elliptic fibrations for $SU(5) \times U(1) \times U(1)$ F-theory vacua," *Phys.Rev.* D88 (2013), no. 4, 046005, 1303.5054.
- [122] M. Cvetic, D. Klevers, and H. Piragua, "F-Theory Compactifications with Multiple U(1)-Factors: Constructing Elliptic Fibrations with Rational Sections," *JHEP* 1306 (2013) 067, 1303.6970.
- [123] V. Braun, T. W. Grimm, and J. Keitel, "Geometric Engineering in Toric F-Theory and GUTs with U(1) Gauge Factors," *JHEP* **1312** (2013) 069, 1306.0577.
- [124] J. Borchmann, C. Mayrhofer, E. Palti, and T. Weigand, "SU(5) Tops with Multiple U(1)s in F-theory," *Nucl. Phys.* B882 (2014) 1–69, 1307.2902.
- [125] M. Cvetič, D. Klevers, and H. Piragua, "F-Theory Compactifications with Multiple U(1)-Factors: Addendum," JHEP 12 (2013) 056, 1307.6425.
- [126] M. Cvetic, D. Klevers, H. Piragua, and P. Song, "Elliptic fibrations with rank three Mordell-Weil group: F-theory with U(1) x U(1) x U(1) gauge symmetry," *JHEP* 1403 (2014) 021, 1310.0463.
- [127] D. Klevers, D. K. Mayorga Pena, P.-K. Oehlmann, H. Piragua, and J. Reuter, "F-Theory on all Toric Hypersurface Fibrations and its Higgs Branches," *JHEP* 1501 (2015) 142, 1408.4808.
- [128] C. Lawrie, S. Schafer-Nameki, and J.-M. Wong, "F-theory and All Things Rational: Surveying U(1) Symmetries with Rational Sections," 1504.05593.

- [129] M. Cvetic, D. Klevers, H. Piragua, and W. Taylor, "General U(1)xU(1) F-theory Compactifications and Beyond: Geometry of unHiggsings and novel Matter Structure," 1507.05954.
- [130] J. de Boer, R. Dijkgraaf, K. Hori, A. Keurentjes, J. Morgan, D. R. Morrison, and S. Sethi, "Triples, fluxes, and strings," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (2002) 995–1186, hep-th/0103170.
- [131] V. Braun and D. R. Morrison, "F-theory on Genus-One Fibrations," JHEP 08 (2014) 132, 1401.7844.
- [132] D. R. Morrison and W. Taylor, "Sections, multisections, and U(1) fields in F-theory," 1404.1527.
- [133] M. Cvetič, R. Donagi, D. Klevers, H. Piragua, and M. Poretschkin, "F-theory vacua with Z₃ gauge symmetry," *Nucl. Phys.* B898 (2015) 736–750, 1502.06953.
- [134] V. Braun, T. W. Grimm, and J. Keitel, "Complete Intersection Fibers in F-Theory," JHEP 03 (2015) 125, 1411.2615.
- [135] I. García-Etxebarria, T. W. Grimm, and J. Keitel, "Yukawas and discrete symmetries in F-theory compactifications without section," *JHEP* 11 (2014) 125, 1408.6448.
- [136] C. Mayrhofer, E. Palti, O. Till, and T. Weigand, "Discrete Gauge Symmetries by Higgsing in four-dimensional F-Theory Compactifications," *JHEP* 12 (2014) 068, 1408.6831.
- [137] C. Mayrhofer, E. Palti, O. Till, and T. Weigand, "On Discrete Symmetries and Torsion Homology in F-Theory," *JHEP* 06 (2015) 029, 1410.7814.
- [138] L. Alvarez-Gaume and E. Witten, "Gravitational Anomalies," Nucl. Phys. B234 (1984) 269.
- [139] J. A. Harvey, "Magnetic monopoles, duality and supersymmetry," in Fields, strings and duality. Proceedings, Summer School, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics, TASI'96, Boulder, USA, June 2-28, 1996. 1996. hep-th/9603086.
- [140] T. Banks and N. Seiberg, "Symmetries and Strings in Field Theory and Gravity," Phys. Rev. D83 (2011) 084019, 1011.5120.
- [141] S. Hellerman and E. Sharpe, "Sums over topological sectors and quantization of Fayet-Iliopoulos parameters," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 15 (2011) 1141–1199, 1012.5999.

- [142] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz, and E. Witten, SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 1: INTRODUCTION. 1988.
- [143] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz, and E. Witten, *SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL.* 2: LOOP AMPLITUDES, ANOMALIES AND PHENOMENOLOGY. 1988.
- [144] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string. Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- [145] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond. Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- [146] K. Becker, M. Becker, and J. H. Schwarz, String theory and M-theory: A modern introduction. Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- [147] R. Blumenhagen, D. Lüst, and S. Theisen, *Basic concepts of string theory*. Theoretical and Mathematical Physics. Springer, Heidelberg, Germany, 2013.
- [148] T. Weigand, "Lectures on F-theory compactifications and model building," Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 214004, 1009.3497.
- [149] J. J. Heckman, "Particle Physics Implications of F-theory," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 60 (2010) 237–265, 1001.0577.
- [150] F. Bonetti, Effective actions for F-theory compactifications and tensor theories. PhD thesis, Munich U., Math. Dept.
- [151] J. Keitel, The Geometry and Physics of Abelian Gauge Groups in F-Theory. PhD thesis, Munich U., 2015.
- [152] D. S. Berman, C. D. A. Blair, E. Malek, and F. J. Rudolph, "An Action for F-theory: SL(2) × ℝ⁺ Exceptional Field Theory," 1512.06115.
- [153] A. Sen, "Orientifold limit of F theory vacua," Phys. Rev. D55 (1997) 7345-7349, hep-th/9702165.
- [154] C. Vafa and E. Witten, "A One loop test of string duality," Nucl. Phys. B447 (1995) 261–270, hep-th/9505053.
- [155] M. J. Duff, J. T. Liu, and R. Minasian, "Eleven-dimensional origin of string-string duality: A One loop test," *Nucl. Phys.* B452 (1995) 261–282, hep-th/9506126.
- [156] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D. L. Jafferis, and J. Maldacena, "N=6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals," *JHEP* 10 (2008) 091, 0806.1218.

- [157] A. Strominger, "Open p-branes," Phys. Lett. B383 (1996) 44–47, hep-th/9512059.
- [158] E. Witten, "Five-branes and M theory on an orbifold," Nucl. Phys. B463 (1996) 383–397, hep-th/9512219.
- [159] M. Henningson and K. Skenderis, "The Holographic Weyl anomaly," JHEP 07 (1998) 023, hep-th/9806087.
- [160] J. A. Harvey, R. Minasian, and G. W. Moore, "NonAbelian tensor multiplet anomalies," JHEP 09 (1998) 004, hep-th/9808060.
- [161] F. Bastianelli, S. Frolov, and A. A. Tseytlin, "Conformal anomaly of (2,0) tensor multiplet in six-dimensions and AdS / CFT correspondence," JHEP 02 (2000) 013, hep-th/0001041.
- [162] D. Gaiotto, "N=2 dualities," JHEP 08 (2012) 034, 0904.2715.
- [163] F. Bonetti, T. W. Grimm, and S. Hohenegger, "Non-Abelian Tensor Towers and (2,0) Superconformal Theories," *JHEP* 05 (2013) 129, 1209.3017.
- [164] E. Witten, "Some comments on string dynamics," in Future perspectives in string theory. Proceedings, Conference, Strings'95, Los Angeles, USA, March 13-18, 1995. 1995. hep-th/9507121.
- [165] J. J. Heckman, D. R. Morrison, and C. Vafa, "On the Classification of 6D SCFTs and Generalized ADE Orbifolds," *JHEP* 05 (2014) 028, 1312.5746. [Erratum: JHEP06,017(2015)].
- [166] M. Del Zotto, J. J. Heckman, A. Tomasiello, and C. Vafa, "6d Conformal Matter," JHEP 02 (2015) 054, 1407.6359.
- [167] J. J. Heckman, "More on the Matter of 6D SCFTs," Phys. Lett. B747 (2015) 73–75, 1408.0006.
- [168] B. Haghighat, A. Klemm, G. Lockhart, and C. Vafa, "Strings of Minimal 6d SCFTs," *Fortsch. Phys.* 63 (2015) 294–322, 1412.3152.
- [169] M. Del Zotto, J. J. Heckman, D. R. Morrison, and D. S. Park, "6D SCFTs and Gravity," JHEP 06 (2015) 158, 1412.6526.
- [170] J. J. Heckman, D. R. Morrison, T. Rudelius, and C. Vafa, "Atomic Classification of 6D SCFTs," *Fortsch. Phys.* 63 (2015) 468–530, 1502.05405.
- [171] M. Del Zotto, J. J. Heckman, D. S. Park, and T. Rudelius, "On the Defect Group of a 6D SCFT," *Lett. Math. Phys.* **106** (2016), no. 6, 765–786, 1503.04806.

- [172] A. Gadde, B. Haghighat, J. Kim, S. Kim, G. Lockhart, and C. Vafa, "6d String Chains," 1504.04614.
- [173] J. J. Heckman, D. R. Morrison, T. Rudelius, and C. Vafa, "Geometry of 6D RG Flows," JHEP 09 (2015) 052, 1505.00009.
- [174] M. Bertolini, P. R. Merkx, and D. R. Morrison, "On the global symmetries of 6D superconformal field theories," 1510.08056.
- [175] L. Bhardwaj, M. Del Zotto, J. J. Heckman, D. R. Morrison, T. Rudelius, and C. Vafa, "F-theory and the Classification of Little Strings," *Phys. Rev.* D93 (2016), no. 8, 086002, 1511.05565.
- [176] J. J. Heckman, T. Rudelius, and A. Tomasiello, "6D RG Flows and Nilpotent Hierarchies," 1601.04078.
- [177] A. Font, I. García-Etxebarria, D. Lust, S. Massai, and C. Mayrhofer, "Heterotic T-fects, 6D SCFTs, and F-Theory," 1603.09361.
- [178] D. R. Morrison and T. Rudelius, "F-theory and Unpaired Tensors in 6D SCFTs and LSTs," 1605.08045.
- [179] E. Witten, "On flux quantization in M theory and the effective action," J. Geom. Phys. 22 (1997) 1–13, hep-th/9609122.
- [180] M. Bershadsky, K. A. Intriligator, S. Kachru, D. R. Morrison, V. Sadov, and C. Vafa, "Geometric singularities and enhanced gauge symmetries," *Nucl. Phys.* B481 (1996) 215–252, hep-th/9605200.
- [181] S. Greiner and T. W. Grimm, "On Mirror Symmetry for Calabi-Yau Fourfolds with Three-Form Cohomology," 1512.04859.
- [182] P. Corvilain, T. W. Grimm, and D. Regalado, "Shift-symmetries and gauge coupling functions in orientifolds and F-theory," 1607.03897.
- [183] M. R. Gaberdiel and B. Zwiebach, "Exceptional groups from open strings," Nucl. Phys. B518 (1998) 151–172, hep-th/9709013.
- [184] O. DeWolfe and B. Zwiebach, "String junctions for arbitrary Lie algebra representations," Nucl. Phys. B541 (1999) 509–565, hep-th/9804210.
- [185] C. Mayrhofer, D. R. Morrison, O. Till, and T. Weigand, "Mordell-Weil Torsion and the Global Structure of Gauge Groups in F-theory," *JHEP* 10 (2014) 16, 1405.3656.
- [186] J. H. Silverman, The arithmetic of elliptic curves, vol. Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer, 1986.

- [187] J. H. Silverman, Advanced Topics in the Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves, vol. Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer, 1994.
- [188] P. S. Aspinwall and D. R. Morrison, "Nonsimply connected gauge groups and rational points on elliptic curves," JHEP 07 (1998) 012, hep-th/9805206.
- [189] D. R. Morrison and W. Taylor, "Classifying bases for 6D F-theory models," Central Eur.J.Phys. 10 (2012) 1072–1088, 1201.1943.
- [190] N. Arkani-Hamed, L. Motl, A. Nicolis, and C. Vafa, "The String landscape, black holes and gravity as the weakest force," *JHEP* 06 (2007) 060, hep-th/0601001.
- [191] B. Heidenreich, M. Reece, and T. Rudelius, "Sharpening the Weak Gravity Conjecture with Dimensional Reduction," JHEP 02 (2016) 140, 1509.06374.
- [192] B. Heidenreich, M. Reece, and T. Rudelius, "Axion Experiments to Algebraic Geometry: Testing Quantum Gravity via the Weak Gravity Conjecture," 1605.05311.
- [193] B. Heidenreich, M. Reece, and T. Rudelius, "Evidence for a Lattice Weak Gravity Conjecture," 1606.08437.
- [194] M. Montero, G. Shiu, and P. Soler, "The Weak Gravity Conjecture in three dimensions," 1606.08438.
- [195] B. de Wit, "Supergravity," in Unity from duality: Gravity, gauge theory and strings. Proceedings, NATO Advanced Study Institute, Euro Summer School, 76th session, Les Houches, France, July 30-August 31, 2001, pp. 1–135. 2002. hep-th/0212245.